
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Sakinah Sutherland 
Governance Officer 

Democracy@enfield.gov.uk  
 

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 at 7.00 pm in the Conference Room, 
Civic Centre, Silver Street, Enfield, EN1 3XA 

 
Membership: 
 
co :Nia Stevens (Chair), Sabri Ozaydin (Vice-Chair), Josh Abey, Nicki Adeleke, 
Alessandro Georgiou, Destiny Karakus, Joanne Laban, Elisa Morreale, 
Julian Sampson and Peter Nwosu 
 
 

AGENDA – PART 1 
 
1. WELCOME & APOLOGIES   
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 Members of the committee are invited to identify any disclosable pecuniary, 

other pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests relevant to the items on the 
agenda. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2024. 

 
4. ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT AND COUNTER FRAUD REPORT FOR 

2023/24  (Pages 5 - 48) 
 
 To note the work completed by the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud teams 

during the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 and the key themes and 
outcomes arising from this work. 
 

5. ANNUAL SCHOOLS INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT FOR 2023/24  (Pages 49 
- 62) 

 
 To note the contents on the Annual School Audit Report 2023-24.  

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:Democracy@enfield.gov.uk


2 

6. REVIEW OF THE MEMBER T&D PROGRAMME  (Pages 63 - 70) 
 
 To provide an update on the implementation of Member Development 

programme 2022 – 2025. 
 

7. ANNUAL REPORT ON CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES, WAIVERS 
AND PROCUREMENT SERVICES UPDATE FOR 2023/24  (Pages 71 - 
110) 

 
 To provide the annual update to the General Purposes Committee on 

Procurement Services’ activity, services compliance with Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPRs), waivers approved and information on the Council’s 
procurement spend. This report covers the period April 2023 to March 2024.  
 

8. UPDATE AND AMENDMENT OF THE COUNCILS CONTRACT 
PROCEDURE RULES  (Pages 111 - 320) 

 
 To provide an overview of the changes needed to the Contract Procedure 

Rules in response to changes in Procurement legislation coming into effect in 
2024. 
 

9. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   
 
 To note the dates of the future meetings: 

  
Tuesday 10 September 2024 
Wednesday 23 October 2024 
Wednesday 29 January 2025 
Wednesday 26 March 2025 
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
 If necessary, to consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the 

Local Government Act 1972 excluding the press and public from the meeting 
for any items of business moved to part 2 of the agenda on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in those 
paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006).  
(Members are asked to refer to the part 2 agenda) 
 

11. MERIDIAN WATER RISKS AND ISSUES REPORT  (Pages 321 - 338) 
 
 To provide an update on the Meridian Water programme risk and issue 

registers. 
 
(This item contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
(information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person – including the authority holding that information) of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended). 
 



3 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE - 26.6.2024 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES 
COMMITTEE HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 26TH JUNE, 2024 

 
 

MEMBERS: Councillors Sabri Ozaydin (Chair), Suna Hurman (Vice Chair) 
Josh Abey, Nicki Adeleke, Patricia Gregory Destiny Karakus, Joanne Laban, 
Andy Milne and Elisa Morreale  
 
Absent: 
 
Cllr Nia Stevens (Chair), Cllr Alessandro Georgiou, Cllr Julian Sampson, and Peter 
Nwosu 
 
Officers: 
 
Fay Hammond (Executive Director Resources), Annette Trigg (Interim Director of 
Finance), Claire Johnson (Head of Governance and Scrutiny) and Sakinah 
Sutherland (Governance Officer) 
 
Also Attending:  
 
Ciaran McLaughlin (BDO) and Matt Dean (Grant Thornton) 
 

 
1. WELCOME & APOLOGIES  

 
The meeting was Chaired by Cllr Sabri Ozaydin due to the Chair’s absence. 
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from the following: 
Cllr Nia Stevens who was substituted by Cllr Suna Hurman 
Cllr Alessandro Georgiou who was substituted by Cllr Andy Milne 
Cllr Julian Sampson who was substituted by Cllr Patricia Gregory 
Peter Nwosu (Independent Advisor) 
 
Apologies for lateness were received by Cllr Elisa Morreale who had a 
conflicting meeting within the Council. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were received. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes from the previous meeting held on 27 March 2024 were 
AGREED. 
 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE - 26.6.2024 

4. GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2024/25  
 
Claire Johnson (Head of Governance and Scrutiny) provided a brief overview 
of the 2024/25 Work Programme. 
 
Members questioned how the Work Programme items were chosen. 
 
In response, the Officer confirmed items usually follow on yearly. Members 
are welcome to raise potential work programme items for the committee to 
vote on to implement.  
 
The update was NOTED. 
 

5. BDO PROGRESS REPORT ON THE EXTERNAL AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS 
FOR 2019/20  

Ciaran McLaughlin (BDO) provided a verbal update on the 2019/20 audit, 
reporting that the audit is nearing completion, with BDO being 85-90% 
confident it will be finalised by the end of July. He noted that a Limitation of 
Scope notice has been issued due to historically natured assets, but the 
report is expected to present a true and fair view of the authority's financial 
position. The work on infrastructure assets is complete, and the current focus 
is on prior period adjustments and the Value for Money assessment for 
2019/20. 

The audit will undergo BDO's internal quality review on 2nd July 2024, with no 
issues anticipated. Upon finalising the 2019/20 accounts, attention will shift to 
the 2020/21 and subsequently the 2022/23 accounts. 

Members questioned the likelihood of meeting the July deadline. BDO 
confirmed his confidence and agreed to be held accountable but noted that 
the audit would not meet the governance deadline of 12th July 2024 for the 
General Purposes Committee meeting on 24th July 2024.  
 
Members also enquired about governance weaknesses noted in the Value for 
Money conclusion. BDO assured the committee that Enfield Council’s current 
financial team is meeting the necessary requirements. However, the 2019/20 
accounts provided incomplete financial information, undermining informed 
decision-making, and consequently affecting the audit. Fay Hammond 
(Executive Director Resources) explained that the most significant areas 
impacting the 2019/20 accounts were due to staff capacity and the asset 
register. She noted that over the past two years, the Council has had a stable 
and resourced corporate team, changed its valuers, and continues to review 
the quality of information held on the asset register. 
 
ACTION: Fay Hammond to email committee members of Governance 
changes in the Resources Team. 
 
ACTION: Governance Team to add a single item meeting in early September 
to review BDO 2019/20 Audit. 
 
The update was NOTED. 

Page 2



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE - 26.6.2024 

 
 

6. DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2023/24  
 
Annette Trigg (Interim Director Finance) informed the committee that the draft 
statements of accounts for 2023/24 were completed on schedule. A formal 
review of these statements will take place during the General Purposes 
Committee meeting in July, where members will have the opportunity to 
conduct an in-depth examination of selected topics. 
 
ACTION: Committee members to review the statement of accounts and email 
the Governance Team with questions or preferred areas of focus. 
 
The update was NOTED. 
 
 

7. GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PLAN FOR EXTERNAL AUDIT OF 
ACCOUNTS 2023/24  
 
Matt Dean from Grant Thornton (GT) provided an overview of the Audit Plan 
for the 2023/24 accounts. He informed committee members that the key areas 
of focus in the external audit plan are broadly similar to those in previous 
audits and comparable to any London borough of similar size and scale. He 
noted that the planned materiality for this year's accounts audit is lower than 
usual for the Council. This adjustment reflects the fact that previous accounts 
are unaudited, leading to a greater degree of uncertainty. Consequently, 
Grant Thornton has reduced their materiality threshold by 5-10%. Despite this 
reduction, the figures remain reasonably healthy. 
 
The Value for Money report is currently undergoing internal review and will be 
shared with officers once finalised. The group accounts and group audits 
related to subsidiaries are progressing alongside the main accounts and are 
expected to be completed by the end of September 2024. 
 
GT also presented the second document, the Pension Fund Indicative Audit 
Plan. Key areas of focus for this plan include level 3 assets and investments. 
 
Committee members questioned the following points: 
 
Deadline Confidence: Committee members asked if GT was confident that the 
report would be produced on time and meet the deadline. Dean responded 
that they are 99% confident of meeting the deadline, provided there are no 
disruptions. 
 
Indicative Materiality: Committee members inquired about the meaning of 
"indicative materiality." Matt Dean explained that materiality is the threshold 
amount set by GT. If an error exceeds this amount, it could potentially alter 
the audit opinion on the accounts. 
  
 

Page 3



GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE - 26.6.2024 

Backstop: Fay Hammond asked GT to update committee members on how 
they are addressing the audit backlog. She noted that BDO completed the 
2019/20 audit, but the intervening years, including 2023/24, have not been 
audited. This provided Grant Thornton the opportunity to explain how they are 
managing this situation and the backstop. 

GT updated committee members, noting that there is a proposal to introduce 
statutory backstops to address the national backlog of audit opinions and 
initiate the process of restoring timely audits. The proposal involves changing 
legislation to require external auditors to clear the backlog of historical audit 
opinions up to and including the financial year 2022/23 by 30 September 
2024. However, progress has been delayed by the election. 

Despite this delay, GT is continuing with the existing timetable for the 2023/24 
audit, aiming to complete the work by September. The expectation is to gain 
confidence in the 2022/23 opening balances in the Statement of Accounts 
over the five-year contract period, focusing on different areas each year. 

The update was NOTED. 

 
8. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  

 
NOTED that the next meeting of the General Purposes Committee is 
Wednesday 24 July 2024. 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
London Borough of Enfield 

 
 
 

Report Title: Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Annual Report 2023-
24 

Report to: General Purposes Committee 

Date of Meeting: 24 July 2024 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Tim Leaver, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Procurement 

Directors:  Terry Osborne, Director of Law & Governance 

Report Author: Marion Cameron, Head of Internal Audit 
Marion.Cameron@Enfield.gov.uk 

Wards affected: All 

Classification: Part I Public  

 
 
Purpose of Report  
 
1. The Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Annual Report 2023-24 (Annex A) 

summarises: 
 

 the results of the work that the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud teams 
undertook during 2023-24 

 the continued work of the Head of Internal Audit to target limited resources 
at the highest priority services 

 the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit that there is Reasonable 
assurance over the arrangements for governance, risk management and 
internal control in the London Borough of Enfield 

 the actions the Internal Audit team will implement to ensure the continuous 
improvement of the service 

 
 
Recommendations 
 

I. To note the work completed by the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
teams during the period 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 and the key 
themes and outcomes arising from this work. 

 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

Report Author: Marion Cameron 
 Head of Internal Audit  
 Marion.Cameron@Enfield.gov.uk 
 Tel: 0208 132 1065 
 
Appendices 
Annex A – Internal Audit Annual Report 2023-24 
 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
 
 
 
CE24/009 
 
  

Page 6



Annex A 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Internal Audit 
Annual Report 
2023-24 
 
July 2024 
 

Page 7



  
Summary of Internal Audit Work 
 

Internal Audit 
 
This report summarises the internal audit work undertaken during 2023-24 and 
provides an overview of the effectiveness of controls in place during the year. 
 
In 2023-24, 38 assignments were undertaken, and audit opinions were given for 27 of 
these assignments.  The remaining assignments included grant certifications and 
standalone advisory assignments for which no opinion was stated. 
  
A summary of all audits completed during the year is included in Appendix 1. 
 

Internal Audit Purpose and Mission 
 
The purpose of London Borough of Enfield’s Internal Audit team is to provide 
independent, objective assurance and consulting services designed to add value and 
improve the London Borough of Enfield’s operations. The mission of Internal Audit is 
to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 
assurance, advice, and insight. The Internal Audit team helps the London Borough of 
Enfield accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of governance, risk management and control 
processes. 
 

Governance 
 
The Head of Internal Audit reports directly to the Director of Law and Governance 
and Monitoring Officer but is also required to report on certain matters to those 
charged with governance which, at Enfield includes the General Purposes 
Committee.  Additionally, the Assurance Board takes a key role in governance and 
assurance and receives regular reports from the Head of Internal Audit and key areas 
of activity undertaken  by the Internal Audit team.  Briefly the functions carried out by 
the General Purposes Committee and the Assurance Board are: 
 

General Purposes Committee 
 

 reviews and approves the Internal Audit Charter annually 

 reviews and approves the Internal Audit Plan annually 

 receives regular progress reports on the Internal Audit Plan and 
implementation of agreed audit actions 

 
Assurance Board 

 

 reviews the Internal Audit Plan annually 

 reviews progress against the Internal Audit Plan 

 reviews the implementation of agreed audit actions 

Page 8



 receives verbal updates from owners of Limited or No assurance audits and 
from owners of overdue audit actions 

 
 
 

Internal Audit Plan 2023-24 
 
An Internal Audit Plan covering the financial year 2023-24 was agreed with the 
General Purposes Committee on 16 March 2023.  As the year progressed, Internal 
Audit continued to liaise with Executive Directors, Directors and Heads of Service 
and changes to the plan were made as a result.  These changes are outlined in 
Appendix 2. 
 

Internal Audit Methodology 
 
Our audits are conducted in accordance with the Council’s internal audit methodology 
which is in compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  
 

Terms of reference are agreed with the audit owner for each piece of work, 
identifying the scope and objectives of the audit as well as identifying key risks and 
controls. This approach is designed to enable us to give assurance on the risk 
management and internal control processes in place to mitigate the risks identified.  
 

Our reporting methodology is based on four assurance levels in respect of our overall 
conclusions as to the design and operational effectiveness of controls within the 
process reviewed - Substantial, Reasonable, Limited or No assurance. An element of 
judgement will always be required when deciding on the appropriate assurance level. 
Details of the assurance levels used during the year are given in Appendix 3.  
 
Draft reports are reviewed and agreed with audit stakeholders before final reports are 
issued.   
 

Page 9



Where it is not appropriate to provide an opinion, audit work is reported in the form of 
a management letter, which, depending on the nature of the review, may include an 
action plan for improvement.  Types of assignment reported by management letter 
are: 

 reviews of grant claims and the Mayor’s charity financial statements 

 follow-ups of managers’ progress with the implementation of 
recommendations from previous audit work 

 where the system of control has changed recently, such that there was 
insufficient evidence of current controls in operation to facilitate testing of their 
effectiveness 

 where management requests internal audit advice to assist in the design of a 
new or improved control framework 

 where management requests an internal audit review to analyse or investigate 
areas of concern or known weakness and advise on the improvements 
needed. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit has responsibility for services which, although related, are 
outside of the remit of the Internal Audit team.  These services are Counter Fraud 
and  Insurance. To avoid potential impairment of objectivity, these services are risk 
assessed alongside other Council services in formulating the Internal Audit Plan.  
Where reviews were required, these were undertaken by the Councils co-source 
partner, PwC. 
 

Audit Actions Implementation 
 
During the review of draft reports, audit actions and implementation target dates are 
agreed.  The Internal Audit team follow up with action owners to ensure actions are 
implemented by the agreed target dates and report implementation progress to the 
Assurance Board and the General Purposes Committee. 
 

Annual School Internal Audit Report 
 

As part of the annual Internal Audit Plan, a number of schools’ audits are carried out 
each year.  Our aim is to audit all maintained schools every 4 to 5 years.  The 
schools’ audit programme covers: 
 

 compliance with the Scheme for Financing Schools  
 

 compliance with the Council’s Finance Manual for Schools, including the 
Contract Procedure Rules 
 

 ensuring good financial, data security, asset management and business 
continuity practices are in place.  

 
Each year we prepare a separate Annual Schools’ Internal Audit Report that is 
shared with school stakeholders, the Assurance Board, and the General Purposes 
Committee. 

Page 10



 

Page 11



Annual Audit Opinion 

Introduction 

The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require the chief audit executive 
(who at the London Borough of Enfield is the Head of Internal Audit) to deliver an 
annual internal audit opinion and a report that can be used by the organisation to 
inform its governance statement. 

The annual internal audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and 
control. 

The annual report must also include a statement on conformance with the PSIAS and 
the results of the quality assurance and improvement programme. 

At the London Borough of Enfield, this is achieved through a risk-based plan of work 
agreed with management and approved by the General Purposes Committee, which 
should provide an appropriate level of assurance, subject to the inherent limitations 
described below and set out in Appendix 4. The opinion does not imply that Internal 
Audit has reviewed all risks relating to the organisation. 

This report forms an important input to the Annual Governance Statement, which is a 
key requirement of the Council’s annual accounts.  

 

Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion  

The General Purposes Committee agreed to an internal audit plan covering 49 
subject areas.  The work programme was targeted at the Council’s highest risk areas 
of operation. I am satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to 
allow an opinion to be given as to the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, 
risk management and control.  It should be noted that assurance can never 
absolutely state that there are no major weaknesses in the system of internal control.  

My opinion for 2023-24 is as follows: 

 

Basis of the opinion 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

Reasonable Assurance 

The opinion of the Head of Internal Audit is that the arrangements for governance, 
risk management and internal control provided Reasonable assurance that 
material risks, which could impact upon the achievement of the Council’s services 
or objectives, were being identified and managed effectively. Improvements are 
required in the areas identified in our reports to enhance the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the framework of governance, risk management and internal 
control. 

 
 

Page 12



 an assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning assurance 
framework and supporting processes 

 
 an assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based 

audit assignments delivered during the year 
 

 an assessment of management’s progress in addressing control weaknesses 
both this year and carried forward from 2022-23 

 

 any reliance that is being placed on third party assurances 
 

 the effects of any significant changes in the Council’s objectives or systems 
 

 cumulative audit knowledge and intelligence gathered through attendance at 
key meetings and other working groups 
 

 any limitations which may have been placed on the scope or resources of 
internal audit. 

 

In summary, the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion is Reasonable which is consistent 
with 2022-23. The principal reasons for this opinion are: 

 the profile of audit opinions given in individual audit reports during the year 
remains within parameters consistent with 2022-23 

 

 there has been a continued focus on implementing audit actions resulting in 
consistently high implementation rates 
 

 the risk management culture in the Council continues to improve. 
 

A detailed analysis of the audit work performed is given below. 
  

Page 13



Analysis of Internal Audit Work 

 

Overview of work done 

The internal audit plan was designed to be flexible, and reviews have moved in and 
out of the work programme during the year to accommodate the Council’s changing 
risk profile and ability to obtain assurances from other reliable sources. This resulted 
in a reduction of 15 reviews from the agreed audit plan of 49 audits. However, 4 new 
assignments were undertaken to substitute for some of the cancelled or deferred 
audits, resulting in a total of 38 assignments undertaken in 2023-24. The changes 
were notified to the General Purposes Committee during the year and have not 
impacted the assurance opinion. Full details of changes to the audit plan are given in 
Appendix 2.  

Key points to note from the delivery of the 2023-24 audit plan are: 

 internal auditors were independent of the areas audited  
 

 no significant limitations or restrictions were placed on the scope or resources 
of Internal Audit 
 

 the Head of Internal Audit and her predecessor attended departmental 
management team meetings and Assurance Board meetings during the year 
to present ongoing and planned internal audit work, including the 
implementation of agreed audit actions. This enabled Internal Audit to provide 
early input on risk management and internal control matters for key activities 
and projects 
 

 Internal Audit operated a co-sourced model in partnership with PwC. This 
provided the Council with the ability to access specialist resources especially 
in the areas of Finance and Digital Services 
 

 Internal Audit follows the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The 
PSIAS require an independent peer review to be carried out every 5 years. 
This was last carried out in January 2020. There is also a requirement for 
Internal Audit to undertake an annual self-assessment and from this to 
develop a Quality Assessment Improvement Plan (QAIP).  
 
In January 2024, revised Global Internal Audit Standards were issued. These 
standards are to be implemented by January 2025 and PSIAS will be revised 
in line with the global standards. 
 
This year we have undertaken an internal self-assessment against the revised 
Global Internal Audit Standards using a template designed by the Chartered 
Institute of Internal Auditors. Details of the QAIP are given in Appendix 5. 
 

 This report also includes the work undertaken by  the Council’s Counter Fraud 
team.  

Page 14



Conscious of the significant pressure on resources that the Council faces, internal 
auditors continued to support management by identifying potential process 
efficiencies and streamlining controls wherever possible. 

 

Audit outcomes 

The Council’s Internal Audit Plan covered the Council’s key processes and systems 
and those operating in Enfield’s schools. 

In 2023-24, 49 audits (2022-23: 64) were commissioned through the Council and 
monitored by the Assurance Board, of which 26 (2022-23: 42) received an assurance 
rating. 

 

                   

                  

20 of the audits that received an assurance opinion were targeted at key corporate 
services and 6 were schools’ audits. This compares to 34 corporate audits and 8 
schools’ audits in 2022-23.  

The assurance opinions given for 2023-24 compared to 2022-23 are summarised as 
follows: 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

2022-23 2023-24

34 

20 

8 
6 

Audits with Assurance Opinion 

Corporate Schools

Page 15



                  
 
                                
                      
The following chart shows the assurance opinions given as a percentage of audits 
carried out: 
 
 

                       
 
                                         
           
In arriving at our view that the overall audit opinion for 2023-24 is Reasonable, we 
have taken into account the fact that we did not issue any No assurance opinions in 
2023-24 and, while there was a decrease in in Substantial assurance opinions 
compared to 2022-23, the majority of opinions issued were Reasonable assurance.  

Analysis of audit assurance opinions for each of the Council’s Departments is 
provided in the following chart: 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

2022-23 2023-24

7 

2 

14 
15 

21 

9 

0 0 

Assurance Opinions 

Substantial Reasonable Limited No

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2022-23 2023-24

17% 
8% 

33% 58% 

50% 
34% 

0% 0% 

Assurance Opinions (%) 

Substantial Reasonable Limited No

Page 16



         

 

9 Limited assurance opinions were issued in 2023-24. These audits were: 

 

Dept. Audit Assurance 
Level 

Actions 

  Critical High Medium Low 

Chief 
Executive’s 

Additional Payments Limited - 2 1 - 

Cross 
Cutting 

Direct Payments Limited - 2 6 1 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
& 
Development 

Housing Conditions Limited - 1 4 - 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
& 
Development 

Housing Repairs & 
Maintenance - Disrepairs 

Limited - 2 - - 

People Home Care Support Limited - 1 2 1 

Resources Adult Social Care Debt 
Collection 

Limited - 2 6 2 

Resources Education Funding Limited - 2 1 - 

Resources Facilities Management & 
Compliance 

Limited - 1 2 - 

Schools Freezywater St Georges 
CE Primary School 

Limited - 1 6 8 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Chief
Executive's

Cross Cutting Env & Comm HRD People Resources Schools

Assurance Opinion by Department 

Substantial Reasonable Limited No

Page 17



Key findings from the audits not yet presented to the General Purposes Committee 
are provided in Appendix 6.  

 

Agreed actions 

In total, 172 actions for improvement have been discussed and agreed with 
management, including 17 actions addressing high risk findings. No critical risk 
actions were identified in 2023-24. The actions are broken down by Department in 
the following chart: 

 

 

                

Due to the nature of the schools’ audit programme, it is not unexpected that a higher 
number of actions are allocated to schools.   

 

Action implementation 

The implementation of agreed actions is tracked by the Internal Audit team and 
reported to the Assurance Board and the General Purposes Committee.  

As can be seen from the following chart, the Assurance Board’s focus on action 
implementation has resulted in a continuing low number of overdue actions. This is 
also a factor in the overall Reasonable opinion for the year. 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Chief
Executive's

Cross Cutting Env & Comm HRD People Resources Schools

Agreed Actions by Department 

Low Medium High Critical

Page 18



               

                    

             

Open audit actions at 31 March 2024 by Corporate Department are shown in the 
chart below: 

 

 

  

The chart for schools also shows a positive action implementation rate: 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

2022 2023 2024

Overdue Corporate Actions - Year on Year 
Comparison 

High Medium

0

2

4

6

8

10

C
ro

ss
 C

u
tt

in
g

En
v 

&
 C

o
m

m
s

H
R

D

P
e

o
p

le

R
e

so
u

rc
es

C
ro

ss
 C

u
tt

in
g

En
v 

&
 C

o
m

m
s

H
R

D

P
e

o
p

le

R
e

so
u

rc
es

High Risk Medium Risk

Corporate Open Actions  

Overdue Not Due

Page 19



 

     

Key Themes Identified 

 

During 2023-24 a good level of engagement between Internal Audit and senior 
management has continued. This has enabled the Internal Audit team to focus on 
key areas of risk as well as work closely with management to formulate actions to 
address areas where improvement is required.  

Although we have identified areas of good practice, some areas where we have 
identified areas for improvement are: 

 

 Statement of Accounts 

The 2018-19 Statement of Accounts is the last set of financial statements on 
which the Council’s external auditors have stated an opinion. Those accounts 
were unqualified. 

Arrangements have been put in place to expedite the completion of the 
outstanding accounts, but the completion of audited financial statements is 
important so that the Council is able to manage its finances effectively and to 
provide accountability and information to external stakeholders, including local 
residents. 

 Governance arrangements 

Further improvements are required to strengthen the governance environment. In 
particular, we have continued to find that compliance with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules can be improved. Whilst improved contract management 
policies have been put in place, we still found gaps in the practical application of 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Apr 23 May
23

Aug 23 Nov 23 Jan 24 Mar 24 Apr 23 May
23

Aug 23 Nov 23 Jan 24 Mar 24

High Risk Medium Risk

Schools Open Actions 

Overdue Not Due

Page 20



these policies in below threshold procurement activities (i.e., where the 
Procurement Service are not closely involved).  

In several cases, we found that the Council was engaging the services of third 
parties without the security of a contract being in place or continuing to engage 
using an expired contract. 

Our work identified several areas where expenditure had not been appropriately 
scrutinised or authorised. Also, there were occasions when the Council’s 
purchasing processes had not been properly followed. 

We found that policies and procedures were not always kept up to date. This 
caused difficulties particularly where the processes had changed, or the policies 
did not fit with the current environment.  Also we found issues arose where there 
was no clear definition of roles and responsibilities, especially in the case of cross 
s. ice activities. 

We also found there is scope for improving the wider understanding of related 
party transactions and conflicts of interest. 

 

 Performance monitoring 

In several audits we found that operational performance monitoring could be 
improved by the use of relevant metrics and ensuring performance is reported to 
and understood by relevant management levels. 

We also found errors in some performance monitoring reports which is not 
conducive to efficient oversight. 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



Internal Audit Quality Assurance 
 
External Assessment 
 

It is a requirement of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) that an 
external assessment of the Internal Audit function is conducted every five years by a 
qualified and independent assessor from outside the organisation. Such an 
assessment was carried out in 2019-20 by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA)and the conclusion from this examination was that the 
function partially conforms. 
 

Internal Assessment 
 

Internal assessments comprise both ongoing reviews and periodic reviews. Reports 
of internal assessments are presented to the General Purposes Committee together 
with an action plan to address any areas for improvement. 
 
PSIAS is based on the Global Internal Audit Standards.  Revised  Global Internal 
Audit Standards were issued in January 2024 with an implementation date of 
January 2025.  Therefore we have undertaken an internal self-assessment against 
the revised Global Internal Audit Standards using a template designed by the 
Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors. 
 
A summary of the results from our self- assessment is:  
 

Domain Assessment 

Domain I: Purpose of Internal Auditing Generally Conforms 

Domain II: Ethics and Professionalism Generally Conforms 

Domain III: Governing the Internal Audit Function Generally Conforms 

Domain IV: Managing the Internal Audit Function Partially Conforms 

Domain v: Performing Internal Audit Services Generally Conforms 

 
In order to ensure continuous improvement and to specifically address areas of non 
or partial compliance, we have developed a Quality Assurance Improvement Plan 
(QAIP) – see Appendix 5.  Progress against the QAIP will be reported to future 
meetings. 

 

Internal Audit Performance During 2023-24 
 

The performance of the Internal Audit service has been measured during 2023-24 
and is shown in the following table: 
 

KPI/Quality Metric Target Actual 

Audit plan to be delivered to draft report stage by 31 
March 

95% 100% 

Page 22



KPI/Quality Metric Target Actual 

Days from end of fieldwork to issue of draft report 15 days 50 days 

Days from receipt of management comments to 
issue of final report 

10 days  23 days 

Survey responses  80% 92% 

Terms of reference reviewed and approved by the 
Head Internal Audit  

100% 100% 

Supervision of engagements 100% 100% 

Draft report reviewed and approved by the Head of 
Internal Audit  

100% 100% 

Final report reviewed and approved by the Head of 
Internal Audit  

100% 100% 

 

There were a number of changes in the Internal Audit team during the year including 
a change to the shared service arrangements with the London Borough of Waltham 
Forest, the departure of the shared Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management, the 
appointment of the existing Deputy Head of Audit and Risk Management to the role 
of Head of Internal Audit, a reduction in the number of staff including the retirement of 
an experienced key member of the team. Additionally, we undertook audits in some 
complex areas which required additional time to frame in terms of reporting. 
 
Turnaround times will be a key focus during 2024-25.  
 

 

Counter Fraud 
 
2023-24 Counter Fraud Performance 

 
The Counter Fraud performance during 2023-24 is summarised below: 
 

Detected and Prevented Fraud Savings 2023-24 * 

Fraud Type 
Detected 

(£) 
Prevented 

(£) 

Bank mandate fraud (attempt)   - 1,772,834 

Council properties recovered (14 properties) ** - 588,000 

Housing – Buy Back scheme   - 212,950  

Right to Buy (1 case@ £127,900) - 127,900 

Page 23



 
* Includes overpayments identified or recovered, as well as potential future income and the estimated 
value of losses prevented by the detection and interception of fraud and improvement of controls. 
 
** The Notional Value attributed to recovery of a Council property is the amount of £42k per property 
as per the calculation published by the Tenancy Fraud Forum in April 2022; the figure takes into 
account the average annual cost of providing temporary accommodation for a family who could 
otherwise have occupied the recovered property, plus average investigation and legal costs. The 
Notional Value of a Temporary Accommodation recovery is based on the net annual cost to the 
Council of acquiring a property for use as temporary accommodation. 

 
 *** Based on Cabinet Office estimate of £3,240 per applicant removed (NFI Report 2022). 

 
 

Transparency Code Data 
 
The Local Government Transparency Code requires us to publish annual data with 
regard to specific fraud-related activities.  This is summarised below: 
 

Transparency Code Data 2023-24 

Category Value 

Number of occasions that powers under the Prevention of 
Social Housing Fraud (Power to Require Information) 
(England) Regulations 2014, or similar powers have been 
used 

12 

Total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of 
employees undertaking investigations and prosecutions of 
fraud ·  

6 (absolute) 

6 (FTE) 

Total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of 
professionally accredited counter fraud specialists 

5 (absolute) 

5 (FTE) 

Purchase Cards (estimate) 90,500 - 

Housing Benefit 41,326 - 

Removal from Housing Register (4)***   - 12,960  

AP1 Process (estimate)  3,500 - 

Temporary Accommodation recoveries (1 case @ 
£2,500)  

- 2,500 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme & Discounts   2,098 - 

Insurance   261 - 

Sub-totals £137,685 £2,717,144   

Total £2,854,829 

Page 24



Transparency Code Data 2023-24 

Category Value 

Total amount spent by the authority on the investigation 
and prosecution of fraud  

£364k 

Total number of fraud cases investigated 308 

 

National Fraud Initiative 

During the year we took part in 2 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) pilot exercises: 

 

 Temporary accommodation pilot   
 

This exercise was designed to identify tenants in temporary accommodation 
who may no longer be residing at their allocated property.   
 

The exercise utilised data supplied by a leading credit reference agency and 
by other Councils.   
 

We were informed of 635 potential anomalies which the Temporary 
Accommodation team followed up with 176 visits. From these 3 properties 
were identified for recovery. 
 

Follow up work on the potential anomalies is continuing during 2024-25. 
 

 

 Secondary employment pilot 
  

To further combat the threat of multiple working, we participated 
in a pilot data-matching exercise designed to identify any agency workers who 
may have additional, undeclared permanent or agency employment at other 
London Councils.   
 

This pilot was conducted via the National Fraud Initiative’s (NFI) London Fraud 
Hub.   
 

1 contract was ended as a result of this initiative. 
 

 
 

Fraud prevention  
 
During November 2023, the Counter Fraud team ran four online sessions to mark 
International Fraud Awareness Week. These sessions covered the following topics: 
 

 Internal Fraud: including the threat of secondary employment and invoice 
fraud; 

Page 25



 Data Protection and Fraud: a joint presentation with the Council’s Data 
Protection Officer covering requests for information and data breaches ;  

 Digital Security: a joint presentation with Digital Services;  
 Insurance Fraud: presented jointly with the Council’s Insurance Team. 
 

These sessions also promoted the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy to encourage staff 
to raise concerns in confidence.  
 
Annual Counter Fraud training was delivered to an audience of School Business 
Managers as part of a Financial Management Training package arranged by the 
Schools Personnel Service.  

 

 
Whistleblowing cases 
 
During 2023-24, the Audit and Risk Management Service was advised of 2 referrals 
raised under the Whistleblowing Policy, which related to the same Service within the 
Council (2022-23: 0).  
 
These referrals related to Code of Conduct breaches and both referrals were 
substantiated. 

 
 

Awards 

Our Counter Fraud Apprentice won the Apprentice or Newcomer of the Year award 
at the 2024 Public Sector Counter Fraud Awards. 

Additionally we, together with our former shared service partners Waltham Forest, 
were named winners of the Local Excellence Award at the same awards ceremony. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



Appendix 1: Detailed Analysis of 2023-24 Internal Audit Reviews 
 

 
Cross Cutting 
 

Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Dugdale Arts Centre - Capital 
Spend 

In House Complete N/A – 
Management 
Letter 

- - - - - 

Direct Payments In House Complete Limited - 2 6 1 - 

Freedom of Information 
Requests (FoI) and Subject 
Access Requests (SAR) 

PwC Cancelled  - - - - - 

Supply Chain Risks PwC Complete Reasonable - - 2 1 - 

Application of the Smart 
Working Policy, PDRs and 
Internal Communications 

In House Complete N/A – Advisory - - - - - 

Youth Participation Strategy In House Cancelled  - - - - - 

Adult Social Care Budget 
Monitoring  

In House Complete Reasonable - - 1 2 - 

Mayor of the London Borough 
of Enfield Appeal Fund 
Accounts 2022/23 

In House Complete N/A – 
Management 
Letter 

- - - - - 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 27



 
Environment & Communities 
 

Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Non-residential Licensing In House Cancelled  - - - - - 

Selective Licensing of Privately 
Rented Residential Properties 

In House Complete Reasonable - 1 3 2 - 

PFI Streetlighting Contract PwC Complete Reasonable - - 2 3 - 

Highways Inspections In House Complete Reasonable - - 1 5 - 

Climate Change In House Cancelled  - - - - - 

Planning Enforcement PwC Cancelled  - - - - - 

 
Housing, Regeneration & Development 
 

Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Housing Repairs & 
Maintenance - Disrepairs 

In House Complete Limited - 2 - - - 

Housing Conditions In House Complete Limited - 1 4 - - 

Council Housing Fire Safety In House Deferred  - - - - - 

Housing Allocations In House Complete Reasonable - - 3 2 - 

 

P
age 28



 
Local Authority Trading Companies 
 

Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Energetik - Billing 
Reconciliation Process 

PwC Cancelled  - - - - - 

HGL - Temporary 
Accommodation Stock Transfer 

In House Deferred  - - - - - 

 
People 
 

Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Bus Service Operator's Grant In House Complete N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Supporting Families - Q1 In House Cancelled   - - - - - 

Supporting Families - Q2 In House Complete N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Supporting Families - Q3 In House Complete  N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Supporting Families - Q4 In House Complete N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Turnaround Programme 2022-
2025 

In House Complete N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Family Hubs and Start for Life 
programme - Grant Certification 

In House Complete N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Unregulated Services for Adult 
Assisted Living 

In House Cancelled  - - - - - 

P
age 29



Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Post 16 Education In House Cancelled  - - - - - 

Home Care Support In House Complete Limited - 1 2 1 - 

PFI Contract Monitoring - 
Schools 

PwC Complete Reasonable - - 2 1 - 

 
Resources 
 

Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Property Services and 
Commercial Leases 

PwC Complete Substantial - - 1 1 1 

Treasury Management PwC Complete Reasonable - - 3 1 - 

Adult Social Care Debt 
Collection 

In House Complete Limited - 2 6 2 - 

Education Funding In House Complete Limited - 2 1 - - 

Cyber Security Strategy PwC Complete Reasonable - - 2 2 - 

Digital Maturity Assessment PwC Complete N/A – Advisory - - - - - 

Facilities Management and 
Compliance 

In House Complete Limited - 1 2 - - 

Procurement Bill Readiness In House Cancelled   - - - - - 

Purchase to Pay & Goods 
Receipt/Invoice Receipt (GRIR) 

PwC Complete Substantial - - - 1 - 

P
age 30



Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Process 

 
 
Chief Executive’s 
 
Title Audit 

Team 
Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Insurance PwC Complete Reasonable - - 3 5 - 

Data Protection PwC Cancelled   - - - - - 

Additional Payments In House Complete Limited - 2 1 - - 

Gender and Ethnicity Pay Gap 
Reporting 

PwC Cancelled   - - - - - 

 
Schools 
 

Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Orchardside School Grant 
Certification - Alternative 
Provision Specialist Taskforces 
Programme 

In House Complete N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Highlands School - Schools 
Direct Grant certification 

In House Complete N/A – Grant 
Certification 

- - - - - 

Freezywater St Georges CE 
Primary School 

In House Complete Limited - 1 6 8 - 

P
age 31



Title Audit 
Team 

Audit 
Status 

Assurance 
Level 

Critical 
Risks 

High 
Risks 

Medium 
Risks 

Low 
Risks 

Advisory 
Risks 

Forty Hill CE Primary School In House Cancelled   - - - - - 

Garfield Primary School In House Complete Reasonable - - 6 10 1 

Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic 
Primary School 

In House Complete Reasonable - 1 2 13 2 

St John's CE Primary School In House Complete Reasonable - - 6 9 1 

Orchardside School In House Complete Reasonable - 1 3 9 5 

Durants School In House Complete Reasonable  - -   2 6   1 

P
age 32



 

Appendix 2: Changes to the 2023-24 Plan 

The Council’s Internal Audit Plan is flexible to ensure that the audit resource 
available is focused on the key risk areas.  Therefore, reviews have been removed or 
added to the Plan during the year. The changes have not impacted on the level of 
assurance that has been obtained over key risks across the Council.  The table 
below sets out the key changes to the 2023-24 Internal Audit Plan. 

 

Area Audit  Change Explanation 

Cross Cutting Freedom of Information 
Requests (FoI) and 
Subject Access 
Requests (SAR) 

-1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources. 

Cross Cutting Youth Participation 
Strategy 

-1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources. 

Environment & 
Communities 

Non-residential 
Licensing 

-1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources. 

Environment & 
Communities 

Climate Change -1 Cancelled to align the audit plan 
to available resources 

Environment & 
Communities 

Planning Enforcement -1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources as we have 
undertaken several Planning audits 
in recent years.   

Housing, 
Regeneration 
& Development 

Council Housing Fire 
Safety 

-1 Deferred to 2024-25 to take account 
of new supplier. 

LATC Energetik - Billing 
Reconciliation Process 

-1 Cancelled at client request.  
 

LATC HGL - Temporary 
Accommodation Stock 
Transfer 

-1 Cancelled due to fewer transfers 
being made than expected. 

People Supporting Families - 
Q1 

-1 Cancelled at service request and 
included in the Q2 review. 

People Unregulated Services 
for Adult Assisted Living 

-1 Cancelled at client request and 
replaced with an internal service 
review. 

People Post 16 Education -1 This audit related to the introduction 
of T Levels. However, the Council 
has decided not to encourage 
schools to register as T Level 
providers due to the onerous 
requirements and increased costs 

Resources Procurement Bill 
Readiness 

-1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources 

Chief 
Executive’s 

Data Protection -1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources 

Chief 
Executive’s 

Gender and Ethnicity 
Pay Gap Reporting 

-1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources. 

Schools Forty Hill CE Primary 
School 

-1 Cancelled to align the audit plan to 
available resources. 

Page 33



 

Area Audit  Change Explanation 

Cross Cutting Dugdale Arts Centre - 
Capital Spend 

+1 Requested by the Chief Executive to 
confirm all appropriate decision 
making procedures were followed. 

People Family Hubs and Start 
for Life Programme 

+1 Grant certification required 

People Turnaround Programme 
2022-2025 

+1 Grant certification required 

People Highlands School - 
Schools Direct Grant 
certification 

+1  

 TOTAL -11  

Page 34



 

Appendix 3: Assurance Levels and Risk Ratings 

 
 

Risk rating 

Critical 

 

 

Life threatening or multiple serious injuries or prolonged work place stress. Severe impact 
on morale & service performance. Mass strike actions etc. 
Critical impact on the reputation or brand of the organisation which could threaten its future 
viability. Intense political and media scrutiny i.e. front-page headlines, TV. Possible 
criminal, or high profile, civil action against the Council, members, or officers. 
Cessation of core activities, Strategies not consistent with government’s agenda, trends 
show service is degraded.  Failure of major Projects – elected Members & SMBs are 
required to intervene 
Major financial loss – Significant, material increase on project budget/cost. Statutory 
intervention triggered. Impact the whole Council; Critical breach in laws and regulations that 
could result in material fines or consequences 

High 

 

 

Serious injuries or stressful experience requiring medical many workdays lost. Major impact 
on morale & performance of staff.  Significant impact on the reputation or brand of the 
organisation; Scrutiny required by external agencies, Audit Commission etc. Unfavourable 
external media coverage. Noticeable impact on public opinion 
Significant disruption of core activities. Key targets missed; some services compromised. 
Management action required to overcome med – term difficulties High financial loss 
Significant increase on project budget/cost. Service budgets exceeded.   Significant breach 
in laws and regulations resulting in significant fines and consequences 

Medium 

 

 

Injuries or stress level requiring some medical treatment, potentially some workdays lost. 
Some impact on morale & performance of staff. 
Moderate impact on the reputation or brand of the organisation; Scrutiny required by 
internal committees or internal audit to prevent escalation. Probable limited unfavourable 
media coverage. 
Significant short-term disruption of non-core activities. Standing Orders occasionally not 
complied with, or services do not fully meet needs. Service action will be required. 
Medium financial loss - small increase on project budget/cost. Handled within the team.  
Moderate breach in laws and regulations resulting in fines and consequences 

Low 

 

 

Minor injuries or stress with no workdays lost or minimal medical treatment. No impact on 
staff morale 
Internal Review, unlikely to have impact on the corporate image. Minor impact on the 
reputation of the organisation. Minor errors in systems/operations or processes requiring 
action or minor delay without impact on overall schedule. Handled within normal day to day 
routines. Minimal financial loss - minimal effect on project budget/cost.  Minor breach in 
laws and regulations with limited consequence. 

Level of assurance 

Substantial 

 

No significant improvements are required. There is a sound control environment 
with risks to key service objectives being well managed.  Any deficiencies identified 
are not cause for major concern. 

Reasonable 
 

Scope for improvement in existing arrangements has been identified and action is 
required to enhance the likelihood that business objectives will be achieved.   

Limited 

 

The achievement of business objectives is threatened and action to improve the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management, control, and governance 
arrangements is required. Failure to act may result in error, fraud, loss or 
reputational damage. 

No 

 

There is a fundamental risk that business objectives will not be achieved, and 
urgent action is required to improve the control environment.  Failure to act is likely 
to result in error, fraud, loss or reputational damage. 

Page 35



 

Appendix 4: Limitations and responsibilities 

Limitations inherent to the internal auditor’s work 
 
Our work has been performed subject to the limitations outlined below.  
 

 Opinion 
The opinion is based solely on the work undertaken as part of the agreed 
internal audit plan. There might be weaknesses in the system of internal 
control that we are not aware of because they did not form part of our 
programme of work, were excluded from the scope of individual internal audit 
assignments or were not brought to our attention. Therefore, management and 
the General Purposes Committee should be aware that our opinion may have 
differed if our programme of work or scope for individual reviews was 
extended or other relevant matters were brought to our attention.  

 

 Internal control 
Internal control systems, no matter how well designed and operated, are 
affected by inherent limitations. These include the possibility of poor judgment 
in decision-making, human error, control processes being deliberately 
circumvented by employees and others, management overriding controls and 
the occurrence of unforeseeable circumstances. 

 

 Future periods 
Our assessment of controls relating to Enfield Council is for the period 1 April 
2022 to 31 March 2023. Historic evaluation of effectiveness may not be 
relevant to future periods due to the risk that: 
 

• The design of controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
operating environment, law, regulation or other; or 

• The degree of compliance with policies and procedures may deteriorate 
 

 Responsibilities of management and internal auditors 
It is management’s responsibility to develop and maintain sound systems of 
risk management, internal control, and governance and for the prevention and 
detection of irregularities and fraud. Internal audit work should not be seen as 
a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the design and operation of 
these systems. 

 
We endeavour to plan our work so that we have a reasonable expectation of 
detecting significant control weaknesses and, if detected, we shall carry out 
additional work directed towards identification of consequent fraud or other 
irregularities. However, internal audit procedures alone, even when carried out with 
due professional care, do not guarantee that fraud will be detected, and our 
examinations as internal auditors should not be relied upon to disclose all fraud, 
defalcations or other irregularities which may exist. 
 

 

Page 36



 

Appendix 5: Internal Audit Quality Assurance Improvement Plan 

Action Target Date 

Domain II – Ethics and Professionalism 

Review Internal Audit Charter in view of the new standards 31 March 2025 

Internal Audit Handbook to be reviewed to include: 

 Explicit policies and procedures for identifying potential impairments and any necessary safeguards 

 Explicit procedures for disclosing objectivity impairments 

 Methodologies for when impairment is suspected or identified (Domain III) 

 Criteria for identifying issues to be brought to the attention of the General Purposes Committee and 
Assurance Board and a process for communicating or escalating such issues 

 References to the standards the areas are addressing (Domain IV) 

 Areas around managing stakeholder expectations to be expanded (Domain IV) 

 Reflect methodologies for handling errors and omissions (Domain IV) 

 Checklist for workpaper reviews (Domain IV) 

30 September 2024 

Training: 

 Implement training plans for all internal auditors (also Domain IV) 

 Gap analysis of internal auditors’ competencies (Domain IV) 

 Include ethics training as part of team meetings 

 Include training on the Council’s governance, risk management and control processes (Domain IV) 

 Internal audit methodologies and the internal audit handbook 

 

31 March 2025 

 

Revise client satisfaction survey to: 

 Gain feedback on objectivity 

 Gain feedback on honesty and professional courage 

31 July 2024 

 

Feedback: 31 October 2024 

P
age 37



 

Action Target Date 

 Devise alternative ways of receiving feedback especially from senior management 

 Consider interviews and group workshops to solicit input from internal stakeholders (Domain IV) 

Review annual ethics declarations to ensure they cover objectivity, honesty and professional courage 31 July 2024 

Put arrangements in place so that areas within  Head of Internal Audit’s control can be audited 
independently 

31 October 2024 

External review: 

 Arrange external review for 2024-25 (Q3-Q4) 

 Obtain documentation of the assessor's Certified Internal Auditor credentials (Domain III) 

31 October 2024 

Domain III – Governing the Internal Audit Function 

Training for General Purposes Committee and Assurance Board on new standards especially in the 
Internal Audit function governance 

30 September 2024 

Assurance map to be developed (also Domain IV) 2025-26 

Draw up a matrix of information to be communicated to General Purposes Committee and Assurance 
Board  

30 September 2024 

Head of Internal Audit to document participation in professional associations 
30 September 2024 

Implement organisational restructure 
31 December 2024 

Develop an internal audit cost benefit analysis 
2025-26 

Develop an overview resourcing strategy 
2025-26 

Include senior management in the internal audit function’s objectives discussions and annual 
performance assessment 

31 March 2025 

Domain IV – Managing the Internal Audit Function 

Collate Council, Cabinet, Committee and Assurance Board charters 
31 March 2025 

Formal assessment of laws, regulations and other requirements related to governance, risk 
management and control processes 

31 March 2025 

P
age 38



 

Action Target Date 

Hold regular meetings with governance and risk functions in place to keep up to date with 
developments 

31 March 2025 

Formally review business strategies and business plans 
31 March 2025 

Work with the Risk Management team to develop a risk and control matrix 
2025-26 

Internal Audit Strategy 
 Develop an internal audit strategy 

 Discuss internal audit strategy with General Purposes Committee and Assurance Board 

 Devise audit methodologies for implementing and monitoring the internal audit strategy 

 Document periodic self assessments or other reviews on the progress on initiatives identified in the 
internal audit strategy 

31 March 2025 

Quality reviews (also Domain V): 
 Set up and carry out quality reviews  

 Document results of reviews 

 Develop checklist for workpaper reviews 

31October 2024 

Communications: 
 Communications plan to be developed and executed 

 Consider wider distribution of internal audit plan; update intranet pages and undertake wider 
communications include lunch and learns  

31 March 2024 

Domain V- Performing Internal Audit Services 

Develop methodology for differences of opinion in audit results 
30 September 2024 

Review scoping checklist to ensure points raised in Domain V are included 
30 September 2024 

Develop workpaper showing the basis for the overall engagement conclusion 
30 September 2024 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 39



 
 

 

Appendix 6: 2023-24 Limited Assurance Audits Not Yet Reported 

Audit Assurance Detail 

Additional Payments Limited The audit objectives were to ensure that:  

 policies and procedures were up to date and approved; 

 additional payments were approved in accordance with Council policy and that appropriate 
documentation was retained to support each payment;  

 appropriate independent checks were carried out to confirm the accuracy of each payment; 

 budget holders carry out regular monitoring to confirm that only authorised and accurate 
payments were made;  

 regular and prompt management information is produced and reported to key stakeholders.  

During the audit, we noted the following areas of good practice: 

 additional payments were processed promptly; 
 

 supporting documentation for manual claims was retained and available for review; 
 

 Human Resources provide regular reports to specified Directors and Heads of Service on the 
amounts spent on overtime, additional hours and honorariums.  

 
However, during this audit we also identified some areas for improvement classified as 2 high risk 
and 1 medium risk findings.  

The following high risk findings were identified:  

1.  From a sample of  22 overtime, 3 temporary grade, 5 additional hours and 10 honoraria 
payments, we drew the following conclusions: 

 

 independent and robust checks were not always performed prior to submitting claims for 
processing;  

P
age 40



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

 managers are not clear on the classification of the various types of additional payments;  
 

 as no formal documented procedures for recovering overpayments of additional payments 
are in place, this has led to inconsistent approaches to recovery and/ or non-recovery. 

 the salary monitoring process is not robust. 

2. During sample testing we found that manual claims were not always authorised and submitted to 
Payroll by approvers but instead claims were forwarded to Payroll by administrators. We were 
advised that the current practice is for an administrator to collate the information and to copy the 
authorising manager into the email that is sent to Payroll. However, this is not a control as the 
manager may not even read the email.  Also in this process, managers are not taking explicit 
responsibility for the payments made.  

 
In 1 (12%) case from a sample of 8 manual claims, the authorising manager was not included in 
the email; yet Payroll processed the payment.   
 

The following medium risk finding was identified:  
 
1. the Overtime and Honorarium/Acting Up policies did not include sufficient guidance on the 

following: 
 

 the definition of the various additional payments;  
 

 budget holders’ responsibility for monitoring salaries (including additional payments);  
 

 the process and responsibilities for recovering overpayments. 
 

We also noted that the policies were either not dated and/or were out of date; did not include a 
review period; and were not version controlled. 

Housing Repairs & Limited The audit objectives were to ensure that:  

P
age 41



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

Maintenance - Disrepairs  a clear framework is in place for dealing with housing disrepairs; 

 potential risks regarding disrepairs have been identified and effective action plans are in 
place to mitigate the identified risks; 

 

 an effective process is in place to record, monitor and address identified disrepair issues in a 
consistent manner; 

 

 effective measures are in place to proactively discourage residents from making 
unnecessary disrepair claims and reasonable settlements are negotiated to limit the risk of 
excessive litigation costs.  

 
During the audit, we noted the following areas of good practice: 

 tenancy/leasehold agreements were reviewed to ensure the Council is responsible for the 
maintenance of the property;  

 

 expert building surveyors were engaged to carry out inspections of properties to ascertain 
why claims had arisen; 

 

 tenants’ representation by solicitors is requested in compliance with the Pre-Action Protocol 
for Housing Conditions Claims (England); 

 

 consent of tenants was requested prior to exchange of information with solicitors; 
 

 a formal acknowledgement letter is sent to tenants’ solicitors upon receipt of claims.  
 

During the audit we identified some areas for improvement classified as 2 high risk and 1 low risk 
findings.  

The delay in resolving reported repair issues, the absence of an adequate audit trail for repair works 
undertaken coupled with non-compliance with the Pre-Action Protocols for Housing Conditions 
Claims (England) have significantly contributed to the findings in this report.  

P
age 42



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

The following high risk findings were identified:  

1. Our sample testing of 25 disrepair claims found the following exceptions:  
  

 the repair works had not been adequately resolved in a timely manner despite tenants’ 
complaints which led  to disrepair claims;  

 

 it took Legal Services an average of 18 days from receiving the disrepair claims letter to 
allocating the claim to a lawyer. This meant the 20-working day timescale as required by the 
Pre-Action Protocols for Housing Conditions Claims (England) for the exchange of 
information with tenants’ solicitors was not always met. Non-compliance with the protocols 
means it is more likely that tenants’ lawyers will take the case to court with resulting litigation 
costs;   

 
 there are no performance measures in place to monitor compliance with the Pre-Action 

Protocols for Housing Conditions Claims (England);  
 

 information in the standard Disrepair Report, submitted to tenants’ solicitors as part of the 
disclosure documentation, is not recorded consistently and does not provide an adequate 
audit trail to demonstrate that the necessary repair works had been undertaken. 

 
Also, we found that the HRA and Housing Risk Register was last reviewed in December 2022 
with some risks on the register not reviewed since January 2021. In addition, there are no 
agreed timescales to ensure timely implementation of the action plans discussed at the monthly 
Enfield Repairs Direct (ERD) Board meetings. 

2. The Council uses a third party expert to inspect tenants’ properties regarding disrepair claims but 
there is no formal contract in place between the Council and the third party. Terms and 
conditions have not been formally agreed and arrangements for the sharing and use of tenants’ 
information has not been documented. Additionally, no contract is in place with a repairs 
contractor. 

 

P
age 43



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

One low risk finding was also identified. 

Home Care Support Limited The audit objectives were to ensure that:  

 appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the delivery of the home care support 
service; 

 

 new and amended home care packages are set up promptly and are authorised; a robust 
process for engaging the services of new home care providers is in place; and there is a 
robust review process for established providers; 

 

 payments to home care providers are processed promptly; 

 there are regular reconciliations of home care payments between Care First and SAP;  

 exception reporting is regularly produced to confirm appropriate oversight of service 
performance. 

 
During the audit, we noted the following areas of good practice: 

 the creation and authorisation of new home care support packages were appropriately 
authorised and uploaded in a timely manner by the Brokerage Team; 

 

 amendments to home care packages and authorisation of these was carried out in a timely 
manner by the Operational Support Team; 

 

 invoices for home care providers were processed and were paid on time; 

 

 regular management reports are produced and shared at the Adult Social Care Performance 
Board. 

 
However during this audit we also identified some areas for improvement classified as 1 high risk, 2 

P
age 44



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

medium risks and 1 low risk finding.  

The following high risk findings were identified:  

1. Our sample testing of 10 home care provider annual quality assurance checks identified the 
following exceptions:     

  

 in 7 (70%) cases the standard financial monitoring tool was not completed in full either by the 
provider and/or the Council’s Quality Assurance officers;  

 

 in all (100%) cases the action plan was not completed in full. For example, target dates were 
not specified for each action; a summary of the corrective action made by the provider was 
not recorded; action points were not risk rated; the date follow up information was due to be 
returned was not recorded;  

 

 in 9 (90%) cases there was no documentation to confirm that feedback on visits with home 
care providers and/or service users was provided to the home care provider;  

 

 in 1 (10%) case the monitoring tool risk scoring was not completed and there was no action 
plan in place;  

 

 in one (10%) case a safeguarding concern was raised by the provider to the Quality 
Assurance officer. The Provider Concerns Team  informed us they don’t have any records of 
the safeguarding concern raised, so we are unable to confirm that the issue has been 
resolved; 

 in 7 (70%) cases there was no information to confirm that an independent review had been 
carried out by a second officer. 

 

The following medium risk findings were identified:  

 

1. Our sample testing of 3 home care providers introductory quality assurance checks identified the 

P
age 45



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

following exceptions:  
 

 in all (100%) cases it was difficult to cross reference the documents provided to the 
completed checklist.  

 
A review of the six month follow up visit for the above providers found:  

 

 in 1 (33%) case, the visit was carried out 6 months late; 
  

 in 2 (66%) cases we could not confirm which checks had been carried out during the visit; 
 

 in all cases (100%) there was insufficient information to support the outcome of the visit. 
   

2. Reconciliations of home care payments between SAP and Care First have not been carried out 
since September 2023. We were informed that the reconciliation process is currently under 
review.  

 
A further 1 low risk finding was also identified. 

Facilities Management & 
Compliance  

Limited The audit objectives were to ensure:  

 appropriate policies and procedures are in place for the facilities management of the 
Council’s corporate buildings; 

 

 an accurate and complete record of the Council’s corporate buildings which includes 
compliance and maintenance requirements is in place; 

 the Council has an appropriate long term maintenance strategy, a planned preventative 
maintenance regime and reactive maintenance programme; 

 

  the Council’s corporate buildings are maintained in line with legislative requirements as an 
employer and corporate landlord; 

 

P
age 46



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

 regular and timely maintenance management information is produced and shared with 
management and relevant stakeholders.  

 

During the audit, we noted the following areas of good practice: 

 good record keeping for reactive maintenance checks; 
 

 appropriate management information around statutory checks and reactive repairs is 
produced and shared with key stakeholders.  

 
However during this audit we also identified some areas for improvement classified as 1 high risk 
and 2 medium risk findings.  

The following high risk finding was identified:  

The Council has engaged a third party supplier principally to carry out statutory compliance and 
maintenance under the Council’s direction. From a sample of 7 premises across the Council’s 
property portfolio that Facilities Management are responsible for, the following exceptions were 
identified: 
 

 in all 7 premises, we found that several statutory checks had not been completed on time. Of 
the 71 checks reviewed 33 (46%) were late.  The late checks, which included fire alarm 
testing, fire extinguisher maintenance, lift service and maintenance and gas tightness and 
purging, were  between 2 and 18 weeks late; 

 5 out of 9 (56%) defects identified during a statutory check  were still outstanding at the time 
of the audit.  These defects were identified between May 2023 and February 2024; 

 in 1 further case we were unable to confirm that the defect had been rectified as the 
appropriate records could not be located; in 1 case a copy of the fire alarm servicing 
certificate had not been retained on file. 

We understand that the Council has used key performance indicator reports and the service credit 
mechanism to manage the performance of the third party supplier.  

P
age 47



 

 

Audit Assurance Detail 

The following medium risk findings were identified:  

1. From a sample of 10 reactive repairs, in 4 (40%) cases the repairs were not completed within the 
required timescale. We also noted that the priority rating for each work order did not always align 
with the expected target completion date. Although we understand that checks are carried out to 
ensure contractors complete works to a satisfactory standard, we were not provided with 
documentation to support this.  

 

2. There are no internal policies and procedures for the day-to-day delivery of the facilities 
management service. 

 

 
 

P
age 48



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
 

Report Title: Annual School Internal Audit Report 2023-24 

Report to: General Purposes Committee 

Date of Meeting: 24 July 2024 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Tim Leaver, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Procurement 

Directors:  Terry Osborne, Director of Law & Governance 

Report Author: Marion Cameron, Head of Internal Audit 
Marion.Cameron@Enfield.gov.uk 

Wards affected: All 

Classification: Part I Public  

 
 
Purpose of Report  
 
1. This report summarises the findings from school audits undertaken in 2023-24. 

Annex A contains a draft letter due to be sent to the Headteachers, Chairs of 
Governors and Chairs of Finance/Resources highlighting key statistics and areas 
for improvement identified during the audits. 
 

2. This letter provides Headteachers and Governors with information on common 
audit findings which can be used to identify risks in their own schools and helps as 
a prompt when completing their 2024-25 Schools Financial Value Standard 
returns for submission to the Department for Education (DfE). 
 

 
 
Recommendations 
 

 
 
 

I. To note the contents on the Annual School Audit Report 2023-24.  
The report will be shared with Headteachers and Governors at the start of the 
new academic year. 
        

Page 49 Agenda Item 5



 
 

 
 

Report Author: Marion Cameron 
 Head of Internal Audit 
 Marion.Cameron@Enfield.gov.uk 
 Tel: 020 8132 1065 
 
Appendices 
Annex A –Annual School Internal Audit Report 2023-24 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
 
 
 
CE24/010 
 
  

Page 50



 
 

Annex A 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Dear Headteacher, Chair of Governors and Chair of Finance/Resources 
 
 
Annual School Internal Audit Report 2023-24 

As part of the 2023-24 Internal Audit Plan approved by the Council’s General 
Purposes Committee, Internal Audit carried out 6 full scope governance and financial 
audits in schools across the borough.  
 
In addition, we conducted 2 school grant certifications. 
 
Full scope audits 

The full scope audits reviewed major processes in schools to ensure: 

 compliance with the Scheme for Financing Schools,  

 compliance with the Council’s Finance Manual for Schools, including the 

Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs),  

 good financial, data security, asset management and business continuity 

practices were in place.  

The Council’s school internal audit programme follows the Department for 
Education’s Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS) headings. The scope areas 
are detailed in Appendix 1 and can also be viewed on the School Audit Framework 
(‘Framework’) available on the Schools’ HUB.  

We hope schools continue to find the Framework useful and that School Leadership 
Teams will use the Annual School Internal Audit Report 2023-24 to identify potential 
risk areas in their school, or opportunities to make improvements. It may also help as 
a prompt when completing the 2024-25 SFVS return for submission to the 

All Headteachers 
All Chairs of Governors 
All Chairs of Finance/Resources 
 
 

Please reply 
to: 

Marion Cameron  

 

E-mail: marion.cameron@enfield.gov.
uk 
 

Phone: 020 8132 1065 

Textphone:  

Fax:  

My Ref:  

Your Ref:  

Date: July 2024 

Page 51

mailto:marion.cameron@enfield.gov.uk
mailto:marion.cameron@enfield.gov.uk


 
 

Department for Education. 

The Framework is updated annually to ensure it remains a relevant and useful 
reference for schools. 

 

Full scope audits - overall report opinions  

The trends in assurance opinions over the past five years, are shown in the charts 
below: 

         

The increase in positive  assurance opinions during 2024-25 reflects the good level of 
control and practices present in the schools reviewed. 

Definitions of risk categories and assurance opinions are detailed in Appendix 2 

. 
 
Full scope audits - analysis of actions 

As part of our process, actions to address the risks identified by our audits are agreed 
with Headteachers and School Business Managers. The total number of actions 
agreed in 2023-24 decreased to 83 from 105 in 2022-23. This is partly due to the fact 
that one fewer review was carried out in 2023-24 but is also a reflection of the good 
standard of control and processes that were present in the schools reviewed.  

The number of audit actions raised in full scope audits since 2019-2020 is shown in 
the chart below: 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2019/20
12 audits

2020/21
6 audits

2021/22
11 audits

2022/23
7 audits

2023/24
6 audits

Trends in % of Audit Assurance Opinions 

Substantial Reasonable Limited No

Page 52



 
 

 
 

The graph below demonstrates that over the past 5 years, the proportion of agreed 
high risk actions has fallen with a greater emphasis on low risk actions. This again 
demonstrates the good levels of control and practices in the schools reviewed. 

 
 

 
 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

2019/20
12 audits

2020/21
6 audits

2021/22
11 audits

2022/23
7 audits

2023/24
6 audits

Audit Actions by Risk Category 

High Medium Low

Page 53



 
 

Full scope audits - summary of findings  

The chart below summarises the number of agreed actions identified during 2023-24 
by scope area:  

 

         

  

The main themes and key exceptions identified during our 2023-24 audits are 
detailed below. We recommend that Governing Bodies review this table against 
current practices in their schools to ensure, with respect to these common areas, 
there is compliance with the SFVS requirements. 

 

Theme Key exceptions identified 

Governance 

Business Continuity 
Plan and Disaster 
Recovery plan 

 Business Continuity plans were either not in place, not 
approved or regularly reviewed, or were lacking in key 
details and review dates.  

Delegated Authority  Organisational Arrangements were not completed fully, 
were out of date or were still in draft form and not 
properly approved.  

 Schemes of Delegation (SoD) did not cover all financial 
responsibilities such as the authorisation of staff 
reimbursement and monitoring and reviewing the 
school’s commercial card. 

Register of Business  Governor business interest forms were not completed or 

Page 54



 
 

Theme Key exceptions identified 

Interests were out of date. 

 Information published on the school website was out of 
date 

Governors’ Financial 
Skills 

 Comprehensive review of governors’ financial skills had 
not been undertaken.  

Policies  Policies that schools are required to have in place had 
not been reviewed and approved in line with the 
requirements. 

 Information that the Department for Education (DfE) 
requires to be published was not available on the school 
website. 

Strategy & Budget 

School Development 
Plan 

 The Plan did not cover at least a three year period. 

 The Plan did not include sufficient financial information to 
demonstrate that it was aligned to the three year budget. 

Procurement 

Vendor Change Request  Vendor change requests were not subject to additional 
checks in order to confirm the validity of the bank details 
before changes were made. 

Contracts  The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules had not been 
adhered to. 

 Contracts were rolled over after expiry of the contract 
without competitive tendering exercises being 
undertaken.  

 Contracts, signed by both parties, were not in place. 

Purchase Testing  Order forms had not been raised or were raised 
retrospectively. 

 Agency invoices did not have the corresponding 
timesheets to provide an adequate audit trail. 

Accounting records 

Reconciliations  Reconciliations were not completed regularly or where 
completed there was no evidence of independent review. 

 Unrepresented transaction listings had not been retained 
as part of the reconciliation process. 

Page 55



 
 

Theme Key exceptions identified 

 

Staff reimbursements  Petty Cash vouchers were not signed by the claimant to 
self-certify that the  amounts being claimed were 
accurate and that the goods purchased were for the 
benefit of the school. 

 

Staffing 

Starters and leavers  Pre-employment checks were not completed in full prior 
to employment commencing. 

 A staffing structure was not in place.  

 Videpay forms for leavers and starters were not available 
for review and there were instances where the forms had 
not been appropriately authorised.   

 

Additional hour claims  Additional hours claim forms were not appropriately 
authorised and dated. 

 

Assets 

Fixed Assets  The fixed asset register did not capture key information 
including acquisition dates, purchase costs or disposal 
details. 

 There was no evidence that annual fixed assets checks 
had been carried out.  

 Formal records of assets loaned to staff were not kept 
or were not up to date.  

 Assets were not found at the location that was specified 
on the Asset Register  

 Assets had inconsistent serial numbers or were not 
appropriately security marked.  

 

Information Security, GDPR & Fraud 

Physical and data 
security 

 Records of fob access to the school were not up to date 
with staff who had left the school still being included in 
the records. 

 No process or mechanism was in place to prevent staff 

Page 56



 
 

Theme Key exceptions identified 

from using unencrypted removable media on school 
equipment. 

 There was no requirement to ensure were sufficiently 
complex. 

  
 
Full scope audits - action implementation 
 
Schools have continued to make progress on action implementation. Progress made 
is shown in the following chart: 
 

 
 
 
The Council takes the implementation of internal audit actions seriously and overdue 
actions are reported to both the Assurance Board and the General 
Purposes Committee.  
 
Therefore we follow up with schools to confirm that all actions are implemented within 
the agreed target dates. Also: 
 

 findings from the internal audit reports given a Limited or No assurance opinion 
are reported to the Assurance Board and the Council’s General Purposes 
Committee  

 follow up emails and/or visits are undertaken in accordance with the target 
dates agreed in the report  

 if responses are not received, this is escalated to the Director of Education  
 
Training 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Apr 23 May
23

Aug 23 Nov 23 Jan 24 Mar 24 Apr 23 May
23

Aug 23 Nov 23 Jan 24 Mar 24

High Risk Medium Risk

Schools Open Actions 

Overdue Not Due

Page 57



 
 

 
We offer audit and fraud training for both Governors and School Business Managers. 
The training includes an overview of the Council’s Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
services. Training is delivered by experienced officers and provides: 
 

 an overview of internal audit scope areas 

 the importance of good controls 

 key fraud risks faced by schools, with a particular focus on cybercrime.  
 
Further information can be found on the Schools’ HUB. 
 
Acknowledgement 
 
We would like to take this opportunity to thank those schools who were included in 
the 2023-24 internal audit programme. We recognise the additional work and effort 
involved during an internal audit and the support of you and your teams in ensuring 
the process runs smoothly is appreciated.  

Should you have any comments on this report, require further clarification, or wish to 
raise any concerns, the Internal Audit team would be happy to discuss these with you 
(please see below for contact details). 

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
Marion Cameron 
Head of Internal Audit 
 
 

  
  
 

Page 58



 
 

 

APPENDIX 1 – Internal Audit Scope Areas 
 

Scope area: To ensure that: 

Governance  Appropriate Governance structures are in place; are appropriately resourced; and operate in line with 
Council regulations and best practice. 

 Relevant policies are in place; are reviewed and up to date; and are available on the school’s website. 
Website content complies with DfE requirements. 

 The school has up to date business continuity and disaster recovery plans in place. 

Strategy and Budget  The school has a realistic, sustainable and flexible financial strategy in place for at least the next 3 years 
which has a demonstrable link to the school development plan. 

 The school sets a well-informed and balanced budget each year and this budget is scrutinised and 
approved by the Governing Body. The budget includes realistic assumptions and can be flexed if 
required. 

 Performance against budget is monitored throughout the year; variances are investigated; and remedial 
actions are taken where necessary. 

Procurement  All expenditure incurred:  

o Is necessary for the running of the school;  

o Complies with the Council’s Finance Manual for Schools’ and the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPRs); and 

o Is appropriately authorised and is supported by appropriate documentation. 

Accounting Records  All transactions are authorised and are supported by appropriate documentation. 

 Regular reconciliations are made between the accounting records and supporting information. 

 Payments are made within agreed timescales; are made in line with policy; and are appropriately 
authorised. 

 All adjustments to the financial records are appropriately recorded and authorised. 

 VAT is appropriately accounted for. 
  

P
age 59



 
 

 

Scope area: To ensure that: 

 Income is fully accounted for and is banked promptly. 

 Debts are reviewed to ensure t payment is received promptly. 

Private Fund  The standard for the governance of the private fund is as rigorous as that for the administration of the 
school’s delegated budget and complies with the Council’s Finance Manual for Schools 

Staffing  The school reviews and challenges its staffing structure regularly to ensure it is the best structure to meet 
the needs of the school whilst maintaining financial integrity. 

 Staff are adequately vetted to ensure their suitability for employment. 

 Payments to permanent, supply and agency staff are valid and are appropriately authorised. 

 IR35 assessments are carried out as necessary. 

Assets  Fixed assets and stock are properly accounted for; are kept securely; and are periodically checked for 
existence and condition. 

Information Security, 
GDPR and Fraud 

 Access to the school’s systems and data is well controlled. 

 The school complies with GDPR legislation and best practice. 

 All appropriate steps are taken to reduce the likelihood of fraud. 

SVFS and Risk 
Assessment Returns 

 The Governing Body has approved the final checklist and dashboard. 

 Follow up actions have been identified and actioned. 

 Approved returns are submitted to the Council by the required deadlines. 

 
  

P
age 60



 
 

 

APPENDIX 2 - DEFINITION OF ASSURANCE CATEGORIES AND PRIORITIES 

RISK RATING  

Critical 

 

 

 Life threatening or multiple serious injuries or prolonged workplace stress. Severe impact on morale and service performance. Mass 
strike actions etc. 

 Critical impact on the reputation or brand of the organisation which could threaten its future viability, ability to generate inward 
investment whether that be public funding or capital investment, or trust in ability to deliver required change. Intense political and 
media scrutiny i.e. front-page headlines, TV. Possible criminal, or high profile, civil action against the Council, members or officers. 

 Cessation of core activities, strategies not consistent with government’s agenda, or regulatory standards, trends show service is 
degraded. Failure of major projects – elected Members and senior management boards are required to intervene 

 Major financial loss – significant, material increase on project budget/cost. Statutory intervention triggered. Impact the whole Council; 
critical breach in laws and regulations that could result in material fines or consequences 

High 

 

 

 Serious injuries or stressful experience requiring medical intervention, many workdays lost. Major impact on morale and performance 
of staff 

 Significant impact on the reputation or brand of the organisation; scrutiny required by external agencies, e.g. Care Quality 
Commission, Ofsted, Regulator for Social Housing and sanctions arising leading to unfavourable external media coverage. Noticeable 
impact on public opinion 

 Significant disruption of core activities. Key targets missed; some services compromised. Management action required to overcome 
medium term difficulties forcing a reactive, remedial response. High financial loss. Significant increase on project budget/cost. Service 
budgets exceeded. Significant breach in laws and regulations resulting in significant fines and consequences 

Medium 

 

 

 Injuries or stress level requiring some medical treatment, potentially some workdays lost. Some impact on morale and performance of 
staff. 

 Moderate impact on the reputation or brand of the organisation; Scrutiny required by internal committees or internal audit to prevent 
escalation. Probable limited unfavourable media coverage. 

 Significant short-term disruption of non-core activities. Standing Orders occasionally not complied with, or services do not fully meet 
needs. Service action will be required. 

 Medium financial loss - Small increase on project budget/cost. Handled within the team. Moderate breach in laws and regulations 
resulting in fines and consequences 

Low 

 

 

 Minor injuries or stress with no workdays lost or minimal medical treatment. No impact on staff morale 

 Internal Review, unlikely to have impact on the corporate image. Minor impact on the reputation of the organisation 

 Minor errors in systems/operations or processes requiring action or minor delay without impact on overall schedule. Handled within 
normal day to day routines. 

 Minimal financial loss – minimal effect on project budget/cost. Minor breach in laws and regulations with limited consequences 

  

P
age 61



 
 

 

 

 
 

LEVEL OF 
ASSURANCE 

 

Substantial  

 

No significant improvements are required. There is a sound control environment with risks to key service 
objectives being well managed. Any deficiencies identified are not cause for major concern.  

Reasonable  
 

Scope for improvement in existing arrangements has been identified and action is required to enhance the 
likelihood that business objectives will be achieved.   

Limited  

 

The achievement of business objectives is threatened and action to improve the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the risk management, control, and governance arrangements is required. Failure to act may result in error, fraud, 
loss or reputational damage.  

No  

 

There is a fundamental risk that business objectives will not be achieved, and urgent action is required to improve 
the control environment. Failure to act is likely to result in error, fraud, loss or reputational damage.  

Advisory  

 

Advisory findings or observation that would help to improve the system or process being reviewed or align it to 
good practice seen elsewhere. Does not require a formal management response.  

Minimal financial loss – Minimal effect on project budget/cost. Minor breach in laws and regulations with limited 
consequences  

P
age 62



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
London Borough of Enfield 

 
 

 
 

Report Title Member Development Programme Update  
 

Report to General Purposes Committee 
 

Date of Meeting 24th July 2024 
 

Executive Director 
/ Director 

Terry Osborne  
Director of Law & Governance 

Report Author Claire.Johnson@enfield.gov.uk 
 

 
 
Purpose of Report  
 
1. To provide an update on the implementation of Member Development 

programme 2022 – 2025. 
 
Recommendations 

 
Background and Options 
 
2. The member development programme supports newly elected and re-elected 

Members to gain an overview of the Governance and decision-making 
framework of the council, members responsibilities under the code of 
conduct, and how the council supports members in their representational 
work. 
 

3. Following the election in May 2022 a detailed induction programme was 
developed, to support members in their roles.  Listed below are some key 
points, of the induction programme which is attached at appendix B. 

 

i. To note the progress made on the member development programme 
attached at appendix A. 

ii. To note the development opportunities for 2024/25. 
 
 

 

Page 63 Agenda Item 6

mailto:Claire.Johnson@enfield.gov.uk


 Support for members immediately following election entailed, 
deployment of digital devices, essential information packs and key 
contacts. 

 

 Bespoke training was provided to those members in newly appointed 
Chairing roles.  

 

 Members allocated to committees with a statutory function such as 
Licensing, Planning, Pensions, General Purposes or Scrutiny, had 
specific training at the start of the municipal year, to ensure they were 
appropriately trained to fulfil their function on the committee. 

 

 A Buddy scheme was implemented for the first 8 weeks following 
election to provide support to new councillors at senior officer level.  
The buddy acted as first point of contact to help with signposting and 
offer advice on all councillor related issues. 

 
4. A member development programme was also agreed, with development 

sessions scheduled monthly in the calendar of meetings. 
 
 

Support and Implementation 
 
5. The member Induction was planned well, and ran smoothly, with new 

members receiving comprehensive support following their election. 
 
6. Information packs were provided on the night of election to all new members 

and re-elected members.  The pack held information about joining the 
council, the support available to them, key dates, key contacts, and the 
member development programme which listed the induction programme 
dates, and the ongoing development schedule. 

 
7. Members were provided with a detailed plan on the training sessions they 

would be given in their new roles, and specialist training events were held for 
members on certain committees such as Planning, Licensing, Pensions and 
Scrutiny to ensure that they had received training prior to their first meetings. 

 
8. Members that were Chairing committees for the first time, were offered 

training on how to manage meetings effectively. 
 

9. Members are required to undertake mandatory training on Data protection, 
Cyber Security and FOI.  The training is available on ilearn, but Group 
sessions were also arranged on teams and officers took members through 
the requirements and were able to capture a greater attendance and 
completion of the required training. 

 
10. Training has been provided using a mixture of face to face and online 

sessions.  With many members being new to the Council, face to face 
training was particularly useful as a good way for councillors to network and 
also meet officers, however, virtual sessions work effectively too, have good 
attendance, and are particularly useful when external organisations are 
providing training. 

Page 64



 
Proposed Future Activity 

 
11. The member development programme for 2025/26 needs to be considered 

and populated.  Members on the General Purposes Committee, Cabinet and 
EMT will be contacted shortly to put forward proposals for development 
sessions for 2025/26.   
 

Preferred Option and Reasons For Preferred Option 
 
12. Members should be provided with the support, information, and training to be 

able to undertake the role of councillor effectively.   
 

Relevance to Council Plans and Strategies 
 
13. The proposals detailed within the report aim to ensure that members are 

offered the information and support to be able to fulfil their leadership and 
community representational roles. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
14. Where possible training is undertaken in-house.  Where additional expertise 

is required, external trainers have been commissioned.   
 

 
Legal Implications  
 
15. This is a report of the Director of Law & Governance. 
 

Report Author: Claire Johnson 
 Head of Governance, Scrutiny & Registration Services 
 Claire.Johnson@enfield.gov.uk 
 020 8 132 1154 
 
Appendices 
 
Member Development Programme 
 

Page 65



 

 

P
age 66



 

 
 
 
 

P
age 67



 

 
 
 
 

P
age 68



 

 
 
 
 

P
age 69



 

 

P
age 70



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

London Borough of Enfield 
 

 

Report Title: 2023-24 Annual Report on Contract Procedure Rules 
and Waivers and Procurement Services Update  

Report to: General Purposes Committee 

Date of Meeting: 24 July 2024 

Executive Director 
/Director:  

Fay Hammond (Executive Director – Resources) and 
Olga Bennet (Director of Finance – Capital & 
Commercial, Resources)  

Report Authors: Michael Sprosson (Head of Procurement Services 
Claire Reilly (Head of Procurement Policy & Contract 
Development)  

Classification: Part I Public 
 

 
Purpose of Report  
 
1. To provide the annual update to the General Purposes Committee on 

Procurement Services’ activity, services compliance with Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPRs), waivers approved and information on the Council’s 
procurement spend. This report covers the period April 2023 to March 2024.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 

3. Background  
 
4. Procurement Services and Contract Management update  
 
5. Procurement Services is a corporately led strategic function, bringing 

together a range of specialist skills and resources to support all Enfield 
Council service areas throughout the commissioning, procurement, and 
contract management cycles through a business partnering approach. This 
includes support on request, to Housing Gateway Limited and Energetik. 
The service is responsible for all procurement policy and procurement 
governance, including management of the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules. The service also manages the Procurement pipeline, annual plan, 

I. To note the contents of this report and accompanying appendices 

Page 71 Agenda Item 7



 
 

contracts register and provides access to a range and variety of spend 
analytics to support departments with service planning and monitoring. 
Procurement Services does not manage any of the Council’s transactional 
purchasing activities (e.g.ad-hoc purchase orders, purchase cards, etc). 
These are managed and led by colleagues within the Council’s Exchequer 
Services department. Procurement Services interact and engage with 
Exchequer Services through direct support on strategic projects and spend 
analyses activities.  

 
6. Procurement Services lead on all procurement projects over the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR) financial thresholds (whole life values 
and inclusive of VAT): 

 
Goods / Services:    £   214,904 
Light Touch Regime:   £   663,540 
Construction / Works:   £5,372,609  
Concessions:    £5,372,609   

 

7. The function provides strategic procurement and contract management 
advice early in consideration of any new initiatives, and to support those 
managing existing contracts to meet or exceed contract outcomes. 
Procurement Services lead the tendering process for larger and more 
complex projects. Since establishment and up until April 2024, Procurement 
Services supported high risk / complex procurements over £100,000 for 
goods and services and £2,500,000 for construction. However, due to 
increasing demand, service capacity and the need for the service to lead, 
manage and implement public sector procurement transformation; the NHS 
Provider Selection Regime and the Procurement Act 2023, the service is 
prioritising support to projects above the PCR thresholds. A comprehensive 
support offer for officers self-serving procurement projects has been 
developed and is available on the Procurement Services’ micro-site. A 
range of advice, guidance, training, tools, and templates is available to 
guide officers and ensure compliant procurement.  

 

8. To support services and give visibility on procurement activity and 
compliance, departmental dashboards are produced and presented to 
departmental management teams on a quarterly basis, with an overall 
corporate dashboard presented to the Chief Executive, Executive Director, 
Resources and Director of Finance, Capital and Commercial. The 
dashboards provide information on:  

 

 procurement projects let and commenced over £250K in value 

 forthcoming contract expiries 

 largest contracts by value  

 contract management support interventions 

 contract register gaps – owners and spend not linked to a contract  

 exceptions and waivers to contract procedure rules  

 local supplier spend  

 Procurement Services’ performance   
 

9. Demand for support from service departments across the Council continues 
to increase year on year, from 87 projects received in 2022/23 to 104 

Page 72



 
 

projects received in 2023/24. Details of the demand on the service and its 
performance are included in these departmental dashboards.  

 
10. Procurement Services is currently focussing on preparing the Council to be 

compliant with the NHS Provider Selection Regime and the Procurement 
Act 2023, compiling the 2024/25 Annual Procurement Plan and managing 
working business as usual activities, supporting the Council’s budget 
challenge, and ensuring timely delivery of priority projects. Details of local 
transformation and implementation is provided later in this report.  

11. Contract Management 

12. The development of a culture of contract management is continuing. A 
Contract Management Framework has been development to support 
Contract Managers across the organisation. This sets out key actions and 
activities contract managers should perform throughout the commercial and 
contracting cycle to ensure contract outcomes and value for money are 
achieved. Procurement Services provide a comprehensive support offer to 
contract managers which includes 1:1 support, tools, templates, and 
guidance.   

13. A contract tiering tool was implemented to classify and tier contracts. This 
links to the Contract Management Framework, Supplier Resilience checking 
and contract management reviews. The classification also supports the 
planning of contract reviews for prioritisation. The classification is based on 
value, risk, data sensitivity and complexity to reprocure. The classifications 
are: 

Platinum Very high: value, risk, data sensitivity & complexity to re-
procure. 

Gold High: value, risk, data sensitivity & complexity to re-
procure. 

Silver Medium: value, risk, data sensitivity & complexity to re-
procure. 

Bronze Low: value, risk, data sensitivity & complexity to re-
procure. 

Unclassified Very low: value, risk, data sensitivity & complexity to re-
procure. 

14. The classifications run from Platinum being the highest risk contract in 
terms of the four measures (value, risk, data sensitivity and complexity to 
reprocure), down to unclassified which is very low risk and complexity.  This 
classification method also aligns with the process utilised by Finance 
colleagues for supplier economic and financial standing tests during 
Procurement delivery, and with best practice provided by the Government 
Commercial Function.  

15. The classification drives the activity required by the contract manager to 
ensure that proportionate and effective contract management is being 
carried out to reflect the risk and complexity of the contract. It also ensures 
that the level of activity is proportionate. The activities required are set out 
in the Contract Management Framework.  

Page 73



 
 

16. The Classification will also lead to a supplier resilience programme. It is 
expected that all Platinum and Gold will carry out a Supply Chain Resilience 
Tool check on their contracts to monitor risk to the supply chain. This is also 
linked to Business Continuity and Emergency Planning. 

17. The table below shows the number of contract classifications 
completed to date.  

Number 
of 
Contracts 
Classified 

Number 
Platinum  

Number 
Gold 

Number 
Silver 

Number 
Bronze 

188 7 78 94 9 

18. Procurement Services’ Contract and Supplier Relationship manager 
interacts with the client and procurement leads throughout the commercial 
cycle, from project start up through to contract award, contract handover 
and delivery, supporting the development of performance management 
requirements, key performance indicators for suppliers and ongoing 
management of the contract.  

19. New processes have been introduced to enhance procurement governance 
and ensure compliance on contract extensions, modifications, and 
variations. As described above, these activities now fall within the scope of 
the Procurement Assurance Group where these are scrutinised and support 
to the services is provided to ensure governance is followed, and the 
contract register (LTP) is updated.  

20. This year Procurement Services have completed 5 reviews on key 
contracts. The reviews identified opportunities for savings, efficiencies and 
improvements and recommendations were shared and signed off by the 
contract owners. These reviews have been well received by contract 
owners and a further review programme for 2024/25 is being prepared.  

21. Details of the top ten contracts by value are provided in Appendix E. 

 
22. Compliance and Contract Procedure Rules  
 
23. Under section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 a local authority is 

required to make standing orders for contracting of goods, works and 
services. There is also an obligation to include in those standing orders 
provisions for securing competition for contracts and regulating the way 
tenders are invited. The standing orders may provide that contract of a 
certain value are exempt and may authorise the authority to exempt the 
provisions were justified by special circumstances. The Contract Procedure 
Rules (CPRs) are the Council’s standing orders as required under the Act. 

 
24. The Council may only contract with external parties within the legal 

framework for local authority procurement i.e., in accordance with the UK 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended), the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules (s135 of the Local Government Act 1972), the general 

Page 74



 
 

duty to obtain Best Value (Local Government Act 1999) and by following the 
principles of transparency, non-discrimination and equality of treatment. 

 
25. The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and tendering systems are 

compliant with UK procurement regulations as set out in the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. The regulations make competition of certain 
contracts mandatory, and these requirements cannot be waived. Aligned to 
the last update of the Council’s Constitution, the current CPRs were 
reviewed and updated in July 2020. They are used in conjunction with the 
Procurement Manual which provides guidance, tools, and templates to 
support officers self-serving procurement projects. Any key legislative, 
policy developments are noted together with user feedback and 
incorporated into policy, as necessary. Compliance by service departments 
with CPRs is reported quarterly within the departmental dashboards.  

 
26. Compliance to the CPRs for the period of April 2023 to March 2024 is set 

out in Appendix B. Overall compliance to the CPRs is good. Compliance 
and requests for waivers to CPRs are managed by the Procurement 
Assurance Group which is also responsible for endorsing procurement 
strategies, contract awards and requests for contract extensions, variations, 
or modifications. The group is comprised of procurement, finance and legal 
professionals and facilitates the alignment of all three functions throughout 
the delivery of procurement projects.  

 
27. Compliance monitoring is challenging due to internal procurement and 

finance systems not being able to interface with each other together with 
diminished resources available. Work is going on to develop a business 
case for a replacement system that will be able to integrate with existing 
systems and provide a combined eTendering portal and contract and 
supplier relationship management functionality. This will automate several 
current manual tasks as well as providing enhanced oversight of the 
Council’s procurement and contracting activity.  

 

28. Analysis of the year’s data has highlighted ‘off contract spend’ (Gaps) as 
being the largest area of non-compliance. This is a particular issue for low 
value spend. A ‘Gap’ is where there is spend in SAP which Procurement 
Services cannot link to a contract in the London Tenders Portal, or ‘under 
£25,000 spend’ spreadsheet. Monthly reports are reviewed to identify ‘gaps’ 
in the contract register. These gaps are then investigated, and relevant 
actions taken to create a record in the contract register and develop a 
longer-term strategic solution.  

 
29. Off Contract Spend (Gaps) falls into six main areas: 
 

 Over £25k contract not procured through LTP 

 Spend has exceeded the contract value including low value 
spend under £25k 

 Procurement project admin not completed in LTP 

 Contract extended but not updated in LTP 

 Contract expired but spend continues 

 SAP supplier number does not link to contract register 

 ‘False gap’: non-procurement spend 

Page 75



 
 

£0

£2,000,000

£4,000,000

£6,000,000

£8,000,000

£10,000,000

£12,000,000

 
30. In total, over one hundred contracts have been located and placed onto the 

corporate contract register during 2023, equating to £14,500,000 
contractual value being identified. The Percentage of spend that is not 
linked to a contract has reduced significantly from 30% to 15% over the past 
year, with a slight increase during March, which has now been resolved. 

 
31. Chart 1 below illustrates monthly value of spend not linked to contracts 

(gaps) by month. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32. Chart 2 below shows Gaps closed per month as a percentage of spend. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
33. Analysis on low value spend shows trends where service departments are 

continuing to spend over the £25,000 threshold. Procurement Services are 
working with Exchequer Services to address this, and close suppliers once 
the spend value is reached. Off Contract Spend can be a problem where 
several Service Departments use one supplier but have not carried out a 
procurement as their spend individually is below £25k, but the aggregate is 

Page 76



 
 

£0

£5,000,000

£10,000,000

£15,000,000

£20,000,000

£25,000,000

£30,000,000

£35,000,000

over the threshold for quotation, as our systems are not sophisticated 
enough to deal with this. 

 
34. We have also been tackling ‘contracts with no owner’. When a contract 

manager leaves a replacement is not always nominated within the service 
area. We are working on highlighting the need for a nominated contract 
manger within the LTP, with access to maintain the data. 

 
35. The chart below illustrates Live Contracts with no ‘owner’ in the LTP. 

 
36. Regular Procurement training including Contract Procedure Rules 

compliance is available on iLearn. This is also offered to schools, however 
there is often poor take up of this offer despite recommendation within Audit 
reports to schools. 

 
37. Prior to the restructure that established the current function, there were 

resources available to support below threshold procurement. Services that 
do not procurement regularly struggle to understand what is needed and 
spend a lot of time trying to be compliant. Given our constrained resources, 
support time can be disproportionate for low value contracts, needing high 
levels of support. To address this matter the Procurement Self-Service offer 
has been reviewed and improved with a range of advice, guidance, tools, 
templates and short training videos and guides within the Procurement 
Services microsite.  

 
38. Waivers 
 
39. There are instances where it is not practical or possible to follow a full 

competitive process in accordance with the CPRs. In such instances 
service departments may request a Waiver or Exception to the CPRs, the 
procedure for which is included in Appendix A. The approval of such 
Waivers and Exceptions is compliant with the CPRs but where procurement 
projects exceed the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 financial thresholds, 
it is not possible to waive legislative requirements on procurement 
procedures. All waivers must be presented to the Procurement Assurance 
Group for scrutiny, challenge, and endorsement before passing to the 
Executive Director, Resources for review and approval.  

Page 77



 
 

 
40. Over recent years the numbers of waivers have reduced however, since the 

establishment of the new Procurement Services function, there has been 
greater scrutiny on spend across the Council, engagement with Service 
Departments on their procurement and contracting activity and risk 
mitigation. As a result of these interventions instances of contracts that 
have not been let compliantly, or where in the past contracts would have 
been let non-compliantly have been discovered and has led to an increase 
in the number of Waivers. This has been necessary to regularise 
contractual arrangements, ensure transparency and to drive collaboration 
with the client to ensure future requirements are considered more 
strategically and a compliant procurement process is put in place.  

 
41. During 2022/23 there were four waivers approved however, thirty-three 

waivers were issued for the period April 2023 to March 2024. This equates 
to a total contract value of £27,623,301. This is an increase on last year’s 
value of £367,750. Details of these waivers and reasons are provided in 
Appendix C.  

 
42. A summary analysis of the waivers is provided below:  
 

(i) The largest by spend was attributed to one waiver, which was the direct 
award of the Leisure Services contract to GLL, with a contract value of 
£15,900,000. 

(ii) Six waivers issued to cover one contract failure – financial. The lead 
contractor led a partnership of six other suppliers to deliver services to 
ensure continuity of service provision, waivers were issued to award 
directly to the six suppliers. This equates to £139,917 of the value of the 
waivers. 

(iii) Eight waivers issued due to supplier failure and the need to maintain 
services. This equates to £4,640,818 of the value of waivers. 

(iv) Nine Waivers as a short-term solution while the procurement was 
completed, or a longer-term strategy completed to enable provision of the 
service.  

(v) Two waivers issued due to non-compliance and spend already committed. 
 

43. Exceptions 
 
44. Within the CPRs there is provision to consider areas that are Exceptions 

e.g., individual adults and children’s social care packages. These are 
permissible within the UK Public Contract Regulations 2015, and the 
Council’s CPRs. Exceptions issued for April 2023 – March 2024 are set out 
in Appendix C. 

 
45. From client engagement and analysis described above, this has also led, 

where appropriate, to an increase in Exceptions. The number of Exceptions 
sought for the period April 2023 to March 2024 is one hundred, equating to 
a total contract value of £5,567,640. This is an increase on 2022/23 of 53 
Exceptions with a value increase of £154,641 on last year’s spend.  
 

(i) Thirty-Four due to non-use of the London Tenders Portal, where 
competition took place outside of it.  

Page 78



 
 

(ii) Fifty-three of the Exceptions were for the Holiday and Food Project (HAF) 
project. For future projects, Procurement Services has worked with the 
service to establish a compliant solution.  

 
46. As with requests for waivers, all Exceptions are scrutinised at the 

Procurement Assurance Group for endorsement and for a procurement lead 
to engage with the client to remedy for future requirements.  

 
47. Contract Extensions and Frameworks 
 
48. Following presentation of the 2022/23 report, Members requested improved 

governance and scrutiny on contract extensions, variations, and 
modifications. This has been actioned and is now incorporated into the 
Procurement Assurance Group’s scope. All requests for all contract 
changes must now be presented for scrutiny prior to endorsing the request 
for the ultimate decision maker. Through these interventions, opportunities 
to carry out contract reviews have been identified and actioned with further 
potential to programme in reviews of contracts that have an extension due. 
Members also requested more visibility on the use of Frameworks, details 
are provided below.  

 
49. At the time of writing this report there are 417 live contracts in the Contract 

Register (LTP). Total number of contracts in the contract register that have 
an extension option is 111 of which forty have already had the extension 
option taken.  

 
50. Overview Table of Framework and Extensions 2023 - 2024 
 

Number of contracts accessed via a framework or is a framework 78 

Number of live contracts let via a single supplier Framework 8 

Number of live contracts with extensions  111 

Number of contracts expiring this year (2024-25) with extensions 
(See appendix G) 

65 

Number of current live contracts that have executed an extension. 40 

 
51. Table of live contracts let via a Single Provider Framework 

 

Title Dept. Start Date End Date Net Value 

Amazon Business – 
Public Sector Digital 
Marketplace 

Resources 05/05/2023 04/05/2026 £303,000 

Educational 
Psychology 
Assessments 

People 01/09/2023 31/08/2024 £396,000 

Investment 
Management 
Consultancy Services 
for the London 
Borough of Enfield 
Pension Fund 
(National LGPS 
Framework) 

Resources 10/02/2021 09/02/2025 £325,000 

Page 79



 
 

Learning 
Management System 
- Annual Maintenance 
& Support 

Resources 02/08/2022 01/08/2024 £107,720 

Out of hours 
telephony service 

Resources 28/03/2019 30/09/2025 £1,386,000 

Prepaid Cards 
NEPO505 Framework 
Contract for the 
provision of Prepaid 
Card Accounts. 

People 01/03/2021 28/02/2025 £280,000 

Repairs Materials 
Supply 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

01/02/2024 31/07/2024 £497,681 

The provision of 
MFDs and services 
for the council CCS 
Framework 
agreement RM3781 
LOT1 

Resources 01/01/2021 31/08/2024 £375,000 

 
 
52. Procurement Spend Summary   
 
53. The spend profile of Enfield Council is typical for a tier 1 Local Authority with 

the main spend categories being People and Place. Total third party spend 
for April 2023 – March 2024 was £1.05B. This is an increase on the 
previous period April 2022 – March 2023 of £984.9M, representing a 
change of 6.2%. Spend profile is set out in below for period April 2023 to 
March 2024. Tables of spend by category is set out in Appendix D. 

 
54. Typically spend is classified as ‘subject to procurement’ or ‘not subject to 

procurement’. Not subject to procurement spend is spend that is exempt 
from Public Contract Regulations 2015, e.g., salaries, taxes, property 
purchasing or rent, care packages, barristers. 

 
55. The spend subject to procurement for the period 2023 – 2024 was 

£341.4M. The Council spends a further £704.5M with third parties that is 
classed as not subject to procurement, making a total of £1.05B   

 
56. The procurement spends of £341.4M is divided between five departments 

as shown below.  
 

Page 80



 
 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m [VALUE]m [VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

£0.0

£50.0

£100.0

£150.0

£200.0

£250.0

Chief Executive People Resources Place Housing,
Regeneration,
Development

Environment and
Communities

Total Procurement Spend 2022/23 and 2023/24 

22/23 23/24

 

57. Spend with Small to Medium Enterprises companies was £46.9m equating 
to 13.7% of total spend. This is an increase from £45.3m last year. Tracking 
SME spend is difficult if the Supplier does not inform the Council, it is an 
SME. 

  

Page 81



 
 

£45.3m 

£280.5m 

SME Spend Non-SME Spend

£63.5m 

£262.5m 

Local Non Local

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

SME Spend Non- SME Spend

[VALUE]m 

[VALUE]m 

Local Non Local

58.  

 
 
 

59. Overview of SME Spend  

60. Local spend with suppliers subject to procurement was £47.1M, equating to 
13.8% of total procured spend. This is an increase of £0.1m from 
2022/2023. Local spend is defined by the ‘Payee address’ being within an 
Enfield Borough postcode. 

 

 

 

 

 

61. Development of reports over the past year have helped to identify local 
spend that going through ‘agent systems’ such as Access UK and Matrix 
MM. Through this we have identified a further £22.2m of spend that is 
remaining within the borough. This takes the total spend to £69.3m and 
increased to 20%. 

  

 

 
Value 
2022/23 

Percentage 
2022/23 

Value 
2023/24 

Percentage 
2023/24 

SME Spend £45.3m 14% 
 
£46.9m 

13.7% 

Non-SME 
Spend £280.5m 86% 

 
£294.5m 

86.3% 

Total Spend £325.8m 
 

 
£341.4m 

 

SME Spend 2022/23 SME Spend 2023/24 

Local Spend 2022/23 Local Spend 2023/24 

Page 82



 
 

£309 £308 

£101 

£369 

£191 

£0

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

£300

£350

£400

Housing,
Regeneration,
Development

People Resources CEX Env & Com

Award Value of Contracts by Department 
(millions) 

110 

93 
103 

36 

75 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Housing,
Regeneration,
Development

People Resources CEX Env & Com

Number of Contracts by Department 

*Includes agency system spend 

62. The CPRs require officers to obtain quotes from local suppliers where 
possible, subject to best value considerations and to consider how to 
develop the local market to support delivery of the contract. 

63. Work is being undertaken to increase the number of local suppliers and 
opportunities offered to them. This includes application of the Sustainable 
and Ethical Procurement Policy, regular engagement with local businesses 
at events held by organisations such as Enterprise Enfield, the North 
London Chamber of Commerce and through advertising pre-procurement 
market engagement events, and development of advice and guidance on 
the Council’s website.  

64. Contracts Overview 

65. At the time of writing this report there were 417 live contracts in the 
Councils Contract Register.  The diagram below shows the breakdown of 
contracts across the Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2022/23 
Value 

2022/24 
Percentage 

2023/24 
Value 

2021 – 2022 
Percentage 

Local 
Spend £63.3m* 19% £69.3m* 20% 

Non-Local 
Spend £262.5m 81% £272.2m 80% 

Total 
Spend £325.8m 

 

 
£341.4m 

 

Page 83



 
 

 

 

 

 

66. The number of contracts expiring in 2024 is 215, with sixty-five 
extensions due. Last year and this year have had an exceptionally 
high number of contracts expiring. The table below shows contracts 
expiring. The 2024/25 Annual Procurement Plan will be comprised of 
supporting these contracts and any agreed re-procurement or first-
generation procurement projects. 

 

67. Transforming Public Procurement 

 
68. An update on the key features and impacts of the NHS Provider Selection 

Regime and the Procurement Act 2023 together with details of local 
transformation and planning was provided to the Finance and Performance 
Scrutiny Panel during January 2024 and to the Executive Management 
Team during May 2024. The NHS Provider Selection Regime was 
implemented on 1st January 2024 and the go-live date for implementation of 
the Procurement Act 2023 has been confirmed as 28th October 2024.  

 
69. For the first time, three distinct procurement legislations will be in place:  
 

(i) Public Contracts Regulations 2015  
(ii) The NHS Provider Selection Regime  
(iii) The Procurement Act 2023  

 
70. A significant review and rewrite of local policies, procedures, processes, 

guidance, and the Councils Contract Procedure Rules is required. The local 

Page 84



 
 

implementation plan is underway and workstreams to cover all elements of 
the implementation are established   These include: 

 
(i) Stakeholder Engagement 
(ii) Training 
(iii) Contract Procedure Rules & PSR 
(iv) Governance and Best Practice 
(v) Systems 
(vi) Implementation & Monitoring 
(vii) PMO & Project Management 

 
71. The Procurement Act 2023 will not be applied to retrospective contracts or 

procurements commenced before the go-live date. These arrangements will 
continue under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 until the contract has 
expired.  

 
72. This report was presented at Assurance Board 11th July 2024 and was 

endorsed.  
 

73. The CPRs form part of the Council’s Constitution and must be approved by 
Full Council. This is scheduled for the Full Council meeting of 18th 
September 2024. Following the approval of the new CPRs, policies and 
procedures, awareness raising, and training sessions will be rolled out 
across the Council with a training session for Members arranged during 
November 2024.  

 

 
74. Relevance to Council Plans and Strategies 
 

75. Procurement Services supports the delivery of the Councils Plan priorities by 
enabling services to commission and procure contracts that deliver council 
outcomes, supporting clean and green places, strong, healthy, and safe 
communities, thriving children and young people, more and better homes and 
an economy that works for everyone. 

 
76. Procurement Services supports the delivery of the Councils Plan principles 

through its sustainable and Ethical Procurement Policy, the Contract 
Procedure Rules and Contract management framework. 

 
77. Providing a wide range of policy and analytical support as it relates to 

suppliers and external markets and to provide guidance through the legal and 
internal processes that govern how the public’s money is spent.  

 
78. Procurement Services is an enabling service and supports Council services 

through procurement to support the delivery of homes in well-connected 
neighbourhoods, safe, heathy, and confident communities, and an economy 
that works for everyone. Through procurement activity it ensures that 
suppliers support the Fairer Enfield Policy and Climate Action. 

 
79. Financial Implications 
 

Page 85



 
 

80. This is an update only report and there are no financial implications for this 
report. Procurement Services works closely with Financial Services 
throughout the life cycle of the Procurement Project to ensure financial 
probity. 

 
81. Legal Implications  
 
82. This is an update report and there are no legal implications for this report. 

Procurement Services works closely with Legal services throughout the 
life cycle of the Procurement Projects to ensure legal compliance and 
governance. 

 
83. Equalities Implications  
 
84. Equalities are considered during procurement through the Sustainable and 

Ethical Procurement Policy, which includes sections on equalities. 
 
85. Environmental and Climate Change Implications  

 
86. Climate implications are considered during procurement through the 

Sustainable and Ethical Procurement Policy, which includes sections on 
Climate Action and sustainability. 

 
 

 
Report Authors:  

 
Michael Sprosson     Claire Reilly 
Head of Procurement Services   Head of Policy & Contract 
Development 
Michael.sprosson@enfield.gov.uk   Claire.reilly@enfield.gov.uk 
020 8132 1678      020 8132 2027 

 
Appendices 

 
Appendix A Excerpt from CPR rules for Exceptions and Waivers 

(Rules 15 and 17) 
Appendix B CPR compliance April 2023 – March 2024 
Appendix C Waivers and Exceptions issued April 2023 – March 

2024 
Appendix D Spend breakdown by General Ledger Classification & 

UNSPSC classification 
Appendix E Top 10 Contracts by value 
Appendix F Top twenty suppliers by spend April 2023 – March 2024 
Appendix G 

 
Contract extensions April 2023 – March 2024 

 
 

Background Papers 
None.  

Page 86

mailto:Michael.sprosson@enfield.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.reilly@enfield.gov.uk


 
 

Appendix A 
Excerpt from CPRs (Rules 15 & 17) 

 
 

15.  EXCEPTIONS TO COMPETITIVE TENDERING  

 
15.1 Where competitive tendering is impossible then an exception can be used, 

but the Service Department, must demonstrate why they were unable to 
demonstrate VFM through a competitive process and that the use of this 
rule meets Council needs.   

 
15.2 This Rule can be applied only where: 
 

(i) The procuring officer uses a legally compliant Framework which the 
Council has procured or has the right to access (subject to complying 
with the rules applicable to that Framework, including mini 
competition). 

 

(ii) A suitable corporate contract is in place for the 

Services/Supplies/Works being procured. 

 

(iii) Competition is prevented by government or statutory control. 

 

(iv) Repairs, services, works, parts, goods, or materials are required 

relating to existing machinery, vehicles, plant, or equipment of a 

proprietary nature, where no suitable alternative Supplier exists. 

 

(v) Ongoing maintenance, updating, licencing and support is required 

relating to existing ICT hardware and/or software that is proprietary in 

nature and no suitable alternative Supplier exists. 

 

(vi) The contract provides in writing for an extension to the length of the 

contract’s term and the following conditions are met: 

 The extension is for substantially the same works, supplies 

and/or services provided in the original contract.  

 The financial terms for the extension are as agreed in the original 

contract. 

 The length of the extension is no longer than that permitted by 

the original contract.  

 Such extension would not breach the Public Contract 

Regulations 2015; and 

 The appropriate authority/approval is in place in accordance with 

the Scheme of Delegation. 

 

(vii) The contracts being procured are for special education needs or 

social care services below relevant EU Threshold and, in the opinion 

of the responsible officer it is considered in the Council’s interest or is 

Page 87



 
 

required to meet obligations under relevant legislation. If above EU 

Threshold, officers are reminded that the Public Contract Regulations 

2015 may apply. 

 

(viii) Upon evidence of extensive market testing and consultation with 

P&C Hub/Legal Services, the Goods, Services or Works are only 

available from a single Supplier and no suitable alternative is 

available. 
 

(ix) Contracts below EU Threshold being procured are for specialist 

professional services necessary to support children’s or adult 

services where service users/clients select the Supplier, but the grant 

funding is via the Council. 
 

(x) Contracts are awarded between the Council and a ‘Teckal 

Company’.  Advice should be sought from Legal Services as to the 

application of the Teckal exception, and appropriate Council 

governance process should be followed. 
 

(xi) In relation to the exceptions, advice should be sought from the P&C 

Hub and (where applicable) Legal Services as to whether there is 

any risk of the Council breaching Public Contract Regulations 2015. 
 

(xii) Where a contract is entered into via any of the rules above then the 

contract must be recorded on the E-Tendering Portal.  
 

(xiii) Over £100,000 where no tenders, no suitable tenders, no requests to 

participate or no suitable request to participate have been received in 

response to a tender process, provided that the initial conditions of 

the contract are not substantially altered, then the Service 

Department can negotiate with a single Supplier.  Refer to the 

Procurement Manual for the process to follow. 
 

(xiv) The aim of the procurement is the creation or acquisition of a unique 
work of art or artistic performance. Refer to the Procurement Manual 
for the process to use this Rule.  

 

15.2 In relation to the exceptions, the requirement to comply with the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015 remains. Officers should consider publishing a 

Voluntary Ex-Ante Transparency (VEAT) Notice for any exception granted 

that is higher than the EU Threshold and the procedures leading to the 

award under the Regulations must be followed.  A VEAT Notice can only 

be issued with approval from the P&C Hub. 

 
15.3 Any decision not to seek competitive tenders must fully comply with this 

Rule 15, be reasonable in all the circumstances and be in the best 
interests of the Council. The decision must be recorded in writing and all 
documentation supporting the decision must be retained on the E-
Tendering Portal. 

Page 88



 
 

 
15.4 Exceptions will be reported to the Executive Director of Resources on a 

quarterly basis. Application for an Exception must be made via the 
Exceptions and Waiver form for recording and ensuring that the Contract 
is entered onto the Corporate Contract Register. 

 
 

17. APPLICATION AND WAIVER OF THE RULES 

 

17.1 These Rules apply to all contracts for Supplies, Works or Services entered 

into by the Council, except where a Waiver of all or part of the Rules is 

approved. Waivers should only be sought in exceptional circumstances 

given the general presumption that competition is the best way to 

demonstrate VFM. 

 

17.2 It must be noted that where the value of the contract is over the EU 

threshold the Council must comply with the requirements of Public 

Contract Regulations 2015 therefore it is not possible to waive these 

requirements, and contracts let in this way will be in breach of the 

Regulations. 

 

17.3 All Waivers are reported Council’s General Purposes Committee on an 

annual basis by the P&C Hub. 

 

17.4 The officer requesting the Waiver must keep a written record of any 

waiver of the Rules. Application of a waiver can be made via the 

Exceptions and Waiver form and will be reviewed and approved by the 

Executive Director of Resources. 

 

17.5 Contracts let via a Waiver must have documentation held on the E-

Tendering Portal to create a record on the Corporate Contract Register. 

 

17.6 Waivers will only be issued for a period of 12 months, unless agreed 

otherwise by the Executive Director of Resources. 
 

Page 89

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetAccountsPayableReceivable/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B9009CB4F-4CD5-4CA5-AE37-574060500D3D%7D&file=Supplier_Info_-_Waiver_Exception.xlsm&action=default&mobileredirect=true


0 0 0 

7 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

2 

0 
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Chief Executive People Resources Place Housing, Regeneration,
Development

Environment and
Communities

Insufficient Suppliers Invited - Projects in Progress 

2022/23 2023/24

Appendix B 
2023-2024 Compliance Reports 

 
Number of projects in progress over £25k where too few suppliers were invited to quote.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

P
age 90



 
 

 
Appendix B Continued 
List of projects where insufficient invitations to quote where requested.   

 
 

LTP 
Reference 

Value Contract Title 
Suppliers 

Invited 
Department Reason 

DN558121 £50,000.00 
Civil Engineering and Town Planning advisory support services for 

Meridian Water Regeneration Programme 
2 

Housing, 
Regeneration and 

Development 

Lack of understanding of 
number of quotes 

DN558950 £50,000.00 Incremental housing design study at Meridian Water East Bank 2 
Housing, 

Regeneration and 
Development 

Lack of understanding of 
number of quotes 

P
age 91



Appendix C 

Table of all Exceptions April 2023 – March 2024 

 

Department 
Name 

LTP 
Reference 

Procurement Title Supplier Value Date 

Exception 15.2 (vii): Special education needs or social care services below relevant Public Contracts Regulations 
Threshold and, in the opinion of the responsible officer it is considered in the Council’s interest or is required to meet 

obligations under relevant legislation. 

People DN671678 
50 Statutory assessments in aid of the 

assessments for EHCP 
NonStop Consulting £75,000 24/05/2023 

People DN696151 
Contract for the Provision of 50 

Statutory Assessments 
Liquid Personnel £70,750 24/10/2023 

People DN667953 High Needs Provision for SEND Pupils 
Big Creative 

Academy 
£36,000 27/04/2023 

Exception 15.2 (iv): Repairs, services, works, parts, goods, or materials are required relating to existing machinery, 
vehicles, plant, or equipment of a proprietary nature, where no suitable alternative Supplier exists 

Env & Com DN676940 
Adhoc Vehicle Repairs, MOT & Parts 
Supply 

Norfolk Truck & Van £150,000 28/06/2023 

Env & Com DN717645 
Adhoc plant and equipment repairs and 
parts reply 

P Tuckwell £150,000 28/03/2024 

Env & Com DN717648 
Adhoc plant and equipment repairs and 
parts reply 

Visiontrack £150,000 28/03/2024 

Env & Com DN690891 
Adhoc Vehicle Repairs, MOT & Parts 
Supply 

Motus £150,000 21/09/2023 

Env & Com DN717633 
Adhoc Vehicle Repairs, MOT and Parts 

Supply 
Aebi Schmidt £150,000 28/03/2024 

Env & Com DN717640 
Adhoc Vehicle Repairs, MOT and Parts 

Supply 
Motus Truck and 

Van 
£150,000 28/03/2024 

Env & Com DN717644 
Adhoc Vehicle Repairs, MOT and Parts 

Supply 
Ernest Doe £150,000 28/03/2024 

P
age 92



 
 

Env & Com DN717627 
Adhoc Vehicle Repairs, MOT and Parts 

Supply 
Acorn Trucks £25,000 28/03/2024 

Exception 15.2 (v): Ongoing maintenance, updating and support of existing ICT hardware and/or software that are 
proprietary in nature and no suitable alternative supplier exists. 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN663996 
Annual Fee SYNERGY Core+ Full 

Managed Service (Education) Contract 
Number: 83000084 

Access UK Limited £137,868 03/04/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN665648 
Call Centre Annual Maintenance and 

Support 
Maintel Europe £86,713 13/04/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN676365 Provision of ParkMap hosted solution  
Buchanan 
Computing 

£84,628 28/06/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN663989 Accounts Payable Forensics Software 
Fiscal Technologies 

LTD 
£72,000 03/04/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN682909 Azure Support 2023-24 
STORM 

Technologies 
£67,500 02/08/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN669048 
Annual Maintenance & Support -

ANSWERLINK 
Jontek Ltd £55,200 05/05/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN684729 
Managed Service for Client Caseload 

Information System 
Access UK Limited £50,069 14/08/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN704113 
Rapid 7 Managed Security Services 

and Incident Response 
Integrity360 £48,000 18/12/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN713195 Library Management System SIRSI £45,848 28/02/2024 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN692995 CarePlace Solution - Annual Fee 
London Borough of 

Ealing 
£37,500 04/10/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN684788 Citrix License Renewal SCC Ltd £34,967 14/08/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN682890 BetterOff Licence Looking Local LTD £33,984 02/08/2023 

P
age 93



 
 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN690581 
License, Support and Maintenance 

Renewal of Libraries Self-service kiosks 
D-Tech £30,101 20/09/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN690501 
Annual Support and Maintenance for 

Assure/M3 
NEC Software £29,705 19/09/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN665678 
Equipment logistical warehouse 

requirements annual maintenance and 
support 

Elcom Systems £16,740 13/04/2023 

Non-Use of Portal 

People Various 
HAF Summer Project 2023 - 14 

Exceptions 
Various £629,800 15/06/2023 

Env & Com DN671879 
Refurbishment of tennis courts in 

Enfield 
Chiltern Sports 

Contractors 
£539,000 25/05/2023 

People Various HAF Winder 2023 - 26 Exceptions Various £183,068 22/11/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN716184 
Mimecast eMail Anti-Virus & Anti-Spam 

Security 
Integrity360 £125,359 19/03/2024 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN709141 
Civic Centre B Block South Office Move 

Work 
XMA £74,934 30/01/2024 

People Various 
HAF Easter SEN Programmes - 13 

Exceptions 
Various £45,430 20/03/2024 

Env & Com DN686708 
Pavilion on The Green - Engagement 

and Co-Design 
Fisher Cheng £45,103 24/08/2023 

Resources DN705485 Civic Centre EICR Works 
Group Metropolitan 

Services 
£42,867 03/01/2024 

Resources DN682253 
Director of Property & Director of 

Meridian Water 
Gatenby Sanderson £41,652 01/08/2023 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN698319 IT Peripherals Galtec Solutions Ltd £28,038 08/11/2023 

Upon evidence of extensive market testing and consultation with P&C Hub (Procurement Services) /Legal Services, the 
Goods, Services or Works are only available from a single Supplier and no suitable alternative is available. 

P
age 94



 
 

HRD DN685295 Estate Management Contract 
Rendall and Rittner 

Ltd 
£498,521 19/01/2024 

HRD DN695511 3 Star Gas Contract Purdy £358,805 19/10/2023 

HRD DN695518 3 Star Gas Contract T Brown £340,141 19/10/2023 

People DN705497 
Completion of Best Interest 

Assessments for Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards 

Kakad Limited £144,000 03/01/2024 

Resources DN695525 
CIPFA Courses, Memberships, 

Networks and Publications 
CIPFA £100,000 19/10/2023 

People DN708885 Provision of food for LD Team Savona Foodstuffs £53,000 29/01/2024 

HRD DN676855 Sheltered Housing Phone Lines 
Network 

Communications 
£41,850 28/06/2023 

People DN690898 Process and Policy Writing for ASC Tri.x £33,000 21/09/2023 

Env & Com DN712255 
Enfield Local Plan Strategic Sites 

Delivery Strategy 
Aspinall Verdi £30,000 21/02/2024 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN680185 LOTI Annual Membership LOTI £30,000 19/07/2023 

Env & Com DN717635 SEND Transport Driver and PA Training 
Alpha Midas 

Training 
£30,000 28/03/2024 

Resources DN689948 Treasury Advice Contract Arlingclose £25,000 15/09/2023 

CEX DN693086 Cooperation Enfield Cooperation Enfield £22,500 05/10/2023 

People DN708882 Provision of food for LD Team Prescott-Thomas £20,000 29/01/2024 

 
 

  

P
age 95



 
 

Appendix C - Continued 

Table of All Waivers April 2023 – March 2024 
 

Department 
Name 

LTP 
Reference 

Procurement 
Title 

Supplier Value Date Reason 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN692462 Leisure Services 
Greenwich 
Leisure Limited 

£15,900,000 16/10/2023 
Direct award to GLL for 
short term contract while 
strategy put in place. 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN695721 

Enfield Council 
Grounds 
Maintenance 
Contract 

A H Nicholls £4,400,000 20/10/2023 

Incumbent cancelled 
contract with only 3 
months’ notice. Short term 
contract while procurement 
carried out. 
Below threshold 

People DN696107 

Individual 
Placement and 
Support in Primary 
Care 

Shaw Trust £2,101,466 24/10/2023 
Grant Funding mandated 
use of supplier 
Below threshold 

CEX DN665368 
Leasehold 
Property 
Insurance 

Protector 
Insurance 

£1,993,932 05/02/2024 
Many suppliers have left 
the market, no alternative 

People DN696116 

Individual 
Placement and 
Support in Primary 
Care 

WWT £1,035,051 24/10/2023 
Grant Funding mandated 
use of supplier 
Below threshold 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN693486 Lift Maintenance Apex Lifts £300,000 06/10/2023 

Incumbent not performing 
leading to Health & Safety 
issues. Needed to 
terminate and award new 
supplier urgently. Covered 

P
age 96



 
 

under PCR regulations for 
H&S Reg 32 – so 
compliant. 

People DN709498 
Enablement 
Agencies - 3 of 5 

Loyal Care £250,000 01/02/2024 

Ongoing supply with no 
procurement. Short term 
waiver till longer term 
strategy in place. 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN686544 
Specialist Vehicle 
Hire 

Dawson Group £150,000 28/08/2023 

Previous procurement 
exercises have only 
provided one bidder – 
market unchanged so 
direct award. 

Resources DN678306 
Debt Management 
Services 

Judge and 
Priestly 
Solicitors 

£140,000 07/07/2023 
Short term arrangement till 
procurement in place 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN696526 
Enfield Festive 
Lighting 

EML 
Installations 

£140,000 26/10/2023 

PFI contractor informed of 
charging for putting up 
lights at last minute. Found 
cheaper alternative.  

People DN695300 
Early Words 
Together 

National 
Literacy Trust 

£128,000 18/10/2023 

Grant funding for 
Children’s centre. Urgency 
due to risk of losing 
funding. 

Resources DN695941 
Property 
Valuations 
2023/24 

Sanderson 
Weatherall 

£102,500 23/10/2023 
Importance of project and 
supplier. Longer term 
strategy in discussion 

People DN688480 
Telecare 
Equipment 

Appello Smart 
Living Solutions 
Limited 

£100,902 06/09/2023 

Service Department and 
lead member decided on 
direct award for small 
saving 

P
age 97



 
 

People DN709482 
Family Hubs - 
Breast Feeding 

Breast Feeding 
Network 

£98,500 01/02/2024 
Grant funding for 
Children’s centre 

People DN673173 
Motivational 
Interviewing 
Training 

Alasdair Cant & 
Associates Ltd 

£98,000 05/06/2023 

Newly emerging market. 
Supplier used by 21 other 
London Boroughs. 
Insufficient time for 
procurement. 

People DN709504 
Enablement 
Agencies - 4 of 5 

Kangaroo Care £85,500 01/02/2024 

Ongoing supplier with no 
procurement. Waiver in 
place while service review 
and longer-term strategy 

People DN713695 
Enablement 
Agencies - 5 of 5 

Bluebird Care £73,500 01/03/2024 

Ongoing supplier with no 
procurement. Waiver in 
place while service review 
and longer-term strategy 

People DN707512 
Tempest Support 
Staff 

Tempest 
Resources 

£70,000 18/01/2024 

Ongoing supplier with no 
procurement. Waiver in 
place while service review 
and longer-term strategy 

Resources 
(DS) 

DN691823 
XMA Smart Mobile 
Devices Pilot 

XMA £54,000 28/09/2023 

Longer term solution was 
inflight; but urgent need for 
equipment – short term 
waiver. 

People DN709115 Studybugs Studybugs £45,000 30/01/2024 
Market research shows 
only this supplier can meet 
need. 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN707644 
CCTV/VSS 
Maintenance 

OpenView £35,000 19/01/2024 
Short term contract while 
procurement completes for 
new award. 

P
age 98



 
 

People DN697872 
Outcome 4 - 
Giving Vulnerable 
People a Voice 

Wellbing 
Connect 
Services 

£34,206 06/11/2023 

Umbrella incumbent 
became insolvent, 
transferred undertaking 
directly to sub-contractor 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN713698 
Whitewebbs Golf 
Course PPA - 
Planning Service 

Kew Property 
Consultants 

£33,933 01/03/2024 

Due to changes in the 
situation this was 
approved, longer term 
strategy being discussed 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN696531 
Event 
Management for 
Fireworks Display 

Insight Risk 
Management 

£32,000 26/10/2023 

Competitive process 
carried out under £25k, but 
insurance took over £25K 
so waiver needed. Council 
had committed to provision 
of display 

HRD DN690923 
Complaints 
Handling Training 

Govnet £30,000 21/09/2023 
Service provision had 
already taken place.  

Environment 
and 
Communities 

DN715246 

Research Services 
Provided - LGA 
Net Zero 
Innovation 
Programme 

University 
College London 

£30,000 12/03/2024 
Service had already been 
provided.  

People DN697994 
Outcome 4 - 
Giving Vulnerable 
People a Voice 

Middlesex 
Association for 
the Blind 

£29,915 06/11/2023 

Umbrella incumbent 
became insolvent, 
transferred undertaking 
directly to sub-contractor 

Resources DN695928 

Housing revenue 
account shops 
valuations 2023/24 
-2027-28 

Spencer Craig £29,500 23/10/2023 
Importance of project and 
supplier. Longer term 
strategy in discussion 

P
age 99



 
 

Resources DN695996 

Rural investment 
assets – 
valuations 2023/24 
-2027-28 

Knight Frank £26,600 23/10/2023 
Importance of project and 
supplier. Longer term 
strategy in discussion 

People DN697889 
Outcome 4 - 
Giving Vulnerable 
People a Voice 

Age UK £25,051 06/11/2023 

Umbrella incumbent 
became insolvent, 
transferred undertaking 
directly to sub-contractor 

People DN697988 
Outcome 4 - 
Giving Vulnerable 
People a Voice 

Community Aid £24,206 06/11/2023 

Umbrella incumbent 
became insolvent, 
transferred undertaking 
directly to sub-contractor 

People DN698002 
Outcome 4 - 
Giving Vulnerable 
People a Voice 

Mind In Enfield £24,206 06/11/2023 

Umbrella incumbent 
became insolvent, 
transferred undertaking 
directly to sub-contractor 

People DN697897 
Outcome 4 - 
Giving Vulnerable 
People a Voice 

Carers and 
Parents in 
Enfield 

£2,333 06/11/2023 

Umbrella incumbent 
became insolvent, 
transferred undertaking 
directly to sub-contractor 

 
  

P
age 100



 
 

£68,223,393 

£51,599,998 

£27,123,709 

£25,416,900 

£23,826,598 

£15,964,238 

£12,641,955 

£12,475,285 

£9,102,287 

£7,735,508 

£0 £10,000,000 £20,000,000 £30,000,000 £40,000,000 £50,000,000 £60,000,000 £70,000,000 £80,000,000

CAPEX Construction Costs Main Contractor

Private Hotel / B&B

Repairs & Maintenance Buildings  General

CAPEX Other Disbursements

Medical / Public Health Equipment & Serv

Third Party Payments Private Homes

Services Professional Fees

Tnspt Hired-Stdt Hme/Inst

PFI Contract Payments

Security / Safety - Services & Equipment

Appendix D 
The Top 10 Commodities categorised by General Ledger Codes (finance categories). Spend in 2023/24: 

 
 
 
  

P
age 101



 
 

£67,547,970 

£61,596,660 

£30,763,432 

£23,369,721 

£20,184,896 

£19,285,536 

£12,524,772 

£12,070,021 

£12,043,847 

£9,618,127 

£8,760,680 

£0 £10,000,000 £20,000,000 £30,000,000 £40,000,000 £50,000,000 £60,000,000 £70,000,000 £80,000,000

Construction Capital

Adult Social Care

Capital (Other)

Build/Constrct Srvcs

Child Social Care

Education services

IT Equip/Services

BusinessConsult Serv

Hlth/Medic Supp Srvc

Security/Safety Eqpm

Vehicles / Parts

 
Appendix D Continued 
The Top 10 Commodities categorised by UNSPSC Codes (procurement categories). Spend in 2023/24: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 102

https://www.unspsc.org/


 
 

Appendix E 
Top Ten Contracts by value  

LTP Ref Title Department Start date End date 
Estimated 
value 

DN492212 

Framework Agreement for Supported 
Living Services for people with needs 
arising from Learning Disability, 
Autism, Mental Health, Physical and 
Sensory Disability 

People 01/07/2021 30/06/2025 £170m 

DN372948 

Meridian Water Strategic 
Infrastructure Works Overarching 
Framework Agreement linked to call 
off DN536116 and call off DN704603 

Chief Executive 12/03/2021 11/03/2026 £135m 

DN704603 
Meridian Water Strategic 
Infrastructure Works Framework 
(DN372948) Works Call-Off 

Chief Executive 06/12/2023 31/03/2026 £121m 

DN34935 LBE/LBN Joint PFI contract/PFI2 People 01/09/2004 31/08/2029 £114m 

DN586505 
Managed service for Temporary 
Agency Resources 

Chief Executive 01/02/2023 31/01/2025 £96m 

DN38178 PFI Street Lighting Contract 
Environment 
and 
Communities 

01/04/2006 01/03/2031 £73m 

DN35198 Highlands school PFI contract People 25/02/1999 31/08/2025 £72m 

DN378106 Meridian One Developer Chief Executive 12/12/2019 01/01/2030 £63m 

DN650430 
Highway Maintenance and Civil 
Engineering Works Contract 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

01/01/2024 31/12/2034 £50m 

DN181203 
Tender for the provision of passenger 
transport related services 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

17/04/2017 17/04/2026 £45m 

P
age 103



 
 

Appendix F 
Top 20 Suppliers by Spend 2023/24.  
 
 

Supplier Name 
2023/24 
Spend 

Type of Supply 

Access UK Limited £45,208,343 Temporary Accommodation 

Matrix £34,119,859 Temporary Agency Worker Contract 

John Graham Construction Ltd £20,455,918 Construction 

Countryside Properties (UK) Ltd £14,388,847 Construction 

Lura Constructions Ltd £8,193,657 Construction 

North Middlesex University Hospital £7,612,226 Sexual Health/0-19 Public Health 

Vinci Construction UK Ltd  £7,281,173 Construction 

Vistry Partnerships Ltd - Meridian 1 £6,827,211 Meridian 1 Master Supply 

Housing Gateway Ltd £6,287,979 Internal Trading Company 

NSL Limited £5,542,685 Parking Enforcement Contract 

Education Support (Enfield2) Ltd £5,518,557 School PFI 2 

Kenson Highways Ltd £5,394,214 Highways Contract 

Enfield Lighting Services Ltd £5,368,451 Street Lighting PFI Contract 

Pilon Limited £4,760,506 Construction 

Barnet, Enfield & Haringey Mental Heal £4,163,698 Various Community Health Services 

Rasmi Services Ltd £3,885,348 SEND Transport 

T Brown Group Limited £3,674,361 Housing Repairs and Maintenance 

Education Support (Enfield) Ltd £3,583,731 School PFI 1 

Breyer Group Plc £3,528,584 Construction 

Lyncade Limited T/A Cavendish Radio £3,524,647 SEND Taxi Supplier 

P
age 104



 
 

Appendix G 
Contracts with Extensions due in 2023 - 2024 

 

LTP 
Reference 

Title Department End date Net Value 

DN586505 Managed service for Temporary Agency Resources 
Chief 
Executive 

31/01/2025 £96,000,000 

DN395392 
16+ Semi-Independent Living Supported Accommodation 
Service 

People 31/10/2024 £19,525,128 

DN48702 
Household Waste and Recycling Centre (HWRC) 
Services Contract 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

31/03/2025 £6,700,000 

DN645105 
MW - DN556415 - Civil Engineering-Led Planning and 
Technical Design Services for the Delivery of Strategic 
Infrastructure at Meridian Water 

Chief 
Executive 

26/01/2025 £3,000,000 

DN375885 Adult Carers Assessment and Support People 31/03/2025 £2,944,236 

DN416615 Approved Repairer Wheelchair Services People 29/09/2024 £931,700 

DN644231 
MW - DN428312 - Property Managing Agent for Meridian 
Water 

Chief 
Executive 

31/08/2024 £900,000 

DN320964 Provision of Occupational Health Services 
Chief 
Executive 

30/06/2024 £824,495 

DN467766 Pan London Postal Contract Resources 13/09/2024 £800,000 

DN568689 Liquid Logic Application-Hosted Service Resources 31/03/2025 £725,728 

DN542025 Merchant Acquiring Services Resources 31/03/2025 £570,048 

DN663762 Meridian Water Financial Analysis 
Chief 
Executive 

04/10/2024 £481,000 

P
age 105



 
 

DN641026 
Fire Engineer and Consultancy Services for Housing 
through the Central Housing Investment Consortium 
Limiter ("CHIC") Framework Agreement 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

30/06/2024 £450,000 

DN664779 Educational Psychology Assessments People 31/08/2024 £396,000 

DN604293 Sales and Marketing Services at Bury Street West 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

17/08/2024 £365,000 

DN377707 
Investment Management Consultancy Services for the 
London Borough of Enfield Pension Fund (National LGPS 
Framework) 

Resources 09/02/2025 £325,000 

DN678096 SAP Third Party Support Resources 31/12/2024 £279,825 

DN596590 Meridian Three Commercial Agent 
Chief 
Executive 

04/07/2024 £250,000 

DN539636 
School Holiday Playschemes, Play and Leisure Activities 
for SEND Children and Young People 

People 31/03/2025 £230,061 

DN692168 Lift Consultancy Works 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

30/11/2024 £203,535 

DN671662 
Professional Services Relating to Sloemans Natural Burial 
Ground 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

20/03/2025 £200,000 

DN689296 
Procurement and technical support for Enfield Chase 
Rural enhancement projects 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

23/10/2024 £180,000 

P
age 106



 
 

DN501872 
Healthtrust Europe LLP Framework - Enfield EMC VXRail 
Solution 

Resources 18/05/2024 £179,791 

DN665306 Quote for Smoke, Heat & Carbon Monoxide Alarms 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

15/04/2024 £150,000 

DN576667 HGL Property Valuer People 14/11/2024 £127,500 

DN607963 
Applicant Tracking System (ATS) - Online recruitment 
platform 

Resources 31/08/2024 £118,600 

DN708895 One.Network Communication Suite Resources 01/06/2024 £112,455 

DN465056 Property Licensing Software 
Environment 
and 
Communities 

31/05/2024 £108,000 

DN657735 Bill Payment Service Resources 14/02/2025 £106,000 

DN703270 
The Provision of an Energy Services Shareholder Advisor 
for the London Borough of Enfield 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

19/03/2025 £100,000 

DN588801 
LB Enfield Electric Vehicle Lamp Column Chargers – 
ORCS 2021/22 

Environment 
and 
Communities 

31/03/2025 £100,000 

DN648656 
Employers Agent Services Relating to Projects at Alma 
Estate and Meridian Water 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

31/08/2024 £98,000 

DN648661 
Clerk of Works Services Relating to Projects at Alma 
Estate and Meridian Water 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

31/08/2024 £98,000 

P
age 107



 
 

DN485124 
Provision of a Rural Portfolio Management Consultancy 
Service 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

30/09/2024 £87,300 

DN678302 
RIBA 2 Architectural Services - Dendridge Close & 
Masons Road 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

14/06/2024 £75,000 

DN649808 e-Procurement System – London Tenders Portal Resources 31/10/2024 £67,117 

DN593782 Multi-channel solution, customer feedback (GovMetric) Resources 23/05/2024 £58,000 

DN705839 Meridian Water - Investor Communications Brief 
Chief 
Executive 

03/03/2025 £57,480 

DN382301 Contract for Public Health Funerals 
Environment 
and 
Communities 

30/06/2024 £40,000 

DN616867 Transitional Safeguarding Pilot Service People 31/10/2024 £40,000 

DN713374 Rooftop Development Toolkit 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

04/08/2024 £23,620 

DN682485 
RIBA 2 MEP Engineering and Sustainability Consultant 
Services - Dendridge Close and Masons Road 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

16/07/2024 £19,240 

DN682476 
RIBA 2 Civil and Structural Engineering Services - 
Dendridge Close & Masons Road 

Housing, 
Regeneration 
and 
Development 

16/07/2024 £17,000 

P
age 108



 
 

 

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
 

 

Report Title Update and amendments to the Councils Contract 
Procedure Rules  

Report to: General Purposes Committee 

Date of Meeting:  24th July 2024 

Directors:  Fay Hammond (Executive Director – Resources) and 
Olga Bennet (Director of Finance – Capital & 
Commercial, Resources)  

Report Author: Michael Sprosson (Head of Procurement Services and 
Claire Reilly (Head of Procurement Policy & Contract 
Development, Procurement Services)  

Classification: Part I Public 
 

 
 
Purpose of Report  
 

1. To provide an overview of the changes needed to the Contract Procedure Rules 
in response to changes in Procurement legislation coming into effect in 2024.  
 
Recommendations 
 

 
Background and Options 
 

 
I. To note the proposed improvements to procurement governance designed 

to support compliance with the emerging changes to procurement legislation 
and  the strengthening of the role of the Procurement Assurance Group.  

II. To agree the proposed changes to the Constitution, as shown in the 
appendix, including changes to the Contract Procedural Rules and deletion 
of the Partnership Procedure Rules and to refer the changes to Full Council 
for final approval. 

III. To agree that the Director of Law and Governance  will make any further 
necessary changes to the Contract Procedure Rules if required to comply 
with subsequent Government guidance, policy and updated legislation. 

Page 111 Agenda Item 8



 

 

1. Procurement Services is a corporately led strategic function, bringing together a 
range of specialist skills and resources to support all Enfield Council service 
areas throughout the commissioning, procurement, and contract management 
cycles through a business partnering approach. This includes support on 
request, to Housing Gateway Limited and Energetik. The service is also 
responsible for all procurement policy and procurement governance, which 
includes management of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.  
 

2. The Council may only contract with external parties within the legal framework for 
local authority procurement i.e., in accordance with the UK Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (as amended), the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (s135 
of the Local Government Act 1972), the general duty to obtain Best Value (Local 
Government Act 1999) and by following the principles of transparency, non-
discrimination and equality of treatment. 

 
3. Under section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 a local authority is required 

to make standing orders for contracting of goods, works and services. There is 
also an obligation to include in those standing orders provisions for securing 
competition for contracts and regulating the way tenders are invited. The 
standing orders may provide that contracts of a certain value are exempt and 
may authorise the authority to exempt the provisions were justified by special 
circumstances. The Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) are the Council’s standing 
orders as required under the Act. 

 
The Contract Procedure Rules were last updated in July 2020 in line with other 
changes in the Constitution and were mostly cosmetic in nature. The last major 
rewrite of the CPRs was in 2017.  
 

4. Following the withdrawal from the EU, the Government have transformed public 
procurement with the implementation of the Procurement Act 2023 (to go live 28th 
October 2024) and the NHS Provider Selection Regime (went live 1st January 
2024). 
 

5. Briefings on the key features, local impacts and implementation of the 
Procurement Act 2023 and the NHS Provider Selection Regime have been 
provided to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Procurement, the Finance and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel and the Executive Management Team.  

 
6. A key milestone to ensure compliance with the new legislation is a 

comprehensive review and amendment of the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules. This report describes the methodology and outcomes of the review with 
recommendations for approval.  

7. Transforming Public Procurement 

8. The new Procurement Act 2023 is scheduled to go live on 28th October 2024. 
The Act brings Contract Management into legislation for the first time and 
increases transparency with the introduction of 17 new and additional 
transparency notices. 

   
9. The Government has stated that it wants to simplify the procurement process, 

increase transparency, and ensure that Social Value, Climate Action, and 

Page 112



 

 

Economic Development are more central within procurement activity. There will 
be a simplification to just 2 main routes to market (open and competitive flexible 
procedure), but with significantly increased administrative requirements to ensure 
compliance with the notifications for transparency. Not only for Procurement 
Services but also for departments that self-serve and procurement directly and 
who manage contracts.  

 
10. There are 17 notifications within the new Procurement Act, with some projects 

needing multiple notifications. The majority of these notifications are mandatory 
and whilst this supports the new legislation’s transparency ambition, it also 
potentially raises the risk of challenge due to a greater need for accuracy. 
Missing information in a Notification can effect modification of the contract later. 

 
11. Part two of the Act is focussed on new principles and objectives that all public 

sector procurement must have regard to:  
 

 delivering value for money  

 maximising public benefit  

 sharing information for the purpose of allowing suppliers and others to 
understand the authority’s procurement policies and decisions, acting,  

 being seen to act with integrity and, equal treatment of suppliers.  

  the barriers facing SMEs, and to consider what can be done to overcome 
them. 
 

12. The key changes from the Procurement Act 2023 are set out below:  
 

Area of Legislation Summary of Changes 

Vocabulary New language and terminology from that used in the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 e.g., Supplier not 
bidder 
Public Contract/ covered procurement (for above 
threshold) 
Regulated contract for below threshold. 
Convertible Contract for below threshold contracts that 
are modified to become above threshold contracts. 
Tekal is now referred to as: Horizontal and Vertical 
arrangements with other Councils and controlled 
companies. 

Exemptions User Choice Contracts are now within the Procurement 
Act, but can be directly awardable, but must follow the 
principles of the Procurement Act. 
These contracts are to be included for notifications on 
payments compliance notification on 30-day payment 
terms, any payment made over £30k, and procurement 
pipeline.  This means that these contracts will now need 
to be recorded for compliance. 

Contract 
Modification 

Rules on contract management have changed. There 
are now changes that are permissible without 
notifications. Other changes (to public contracts) need 
notifications. 
Act covers below threshold modifications also. 

Page 113



 

 

Contract 
Management 

Contract management is now part of the Procurement 
Act 2023. 
Contracts over £5m must have 3 KPIs published, and an 
annual performance report produced and published on 
the performance of those KPIs. 
If the supplier defaults or fails to improve performance, 
then another notification is required. 
Termination notices are required if terminating early or 
at natural end. 
Redacted copies of the contract must be published, and 
re-published if modified. 

Framework 
Agreements and 
Dynamic Markets 

Open Framework Agreements are now permissible. 
Dynamics Markets offer a flexible approach to 
framework agreements but will be labour intensive. 
Dynamic Purchasing Systems will end in October 2028. 

Direct Award Direct Award is now permissible for certain 
circumstances. These are set out in the Exceptions 
section. 
User Choice Contracts are now caught by the Act but 
can be directly awarded and are not subject to 
notifications but must be included in payment 
notifications and pipeline notifications. 

Excluded, 
Excludable & 
Debarred Suppliers 

The Cabinet Office will maintain a list of suppliers that 
have been Debarred from providing Public Contracts. 
There are also grounds for mandatory and discretionary 
exclusion of a supplier at the evaluation stage. (See 
table below Appendix A) 

Conflict of Interest The Procurement Act asks that Conflicts of Interest are 
assessed throughout the procurement cycle, including at 
extension. 

Notifications There are now 17 notifications within the new Act. 
(There were 3 in the previous legislation). 

Pipeline Notification The Council now needs to publish a ‘forward plan’ or 
pipeline of procurements for contracts over £2m, for an 
18-month period. 

Payment 
Notification 

A requirement to publish payment compliance to 30-day 
payment terms (this is already published as part of 
transparency regulations) 
Any payments over £30k appertaining to a Public 
Contract. 

 
13. The Provider Selection Regime (PSR) came into force 1st January 2024 and 

replaced the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and National Health Service 
(Procurement, Patient Choice, and competition) regulations 2013.All Health Care 
Services within the scope of this legislation must now comply with it. 
 

14. The PSR will replace existing procurement rules for healthcare services and set 
new flexible and proportionate rules for a fit for purpose decision-making 
process. The aim is to move away from the expectation of competition in all 
circumstances and encourage flexibility to promote the interests of patients, 

Page 114



 

 

taxpayers, and the population, remove barriers to integration and collaboration 
and allow greater transparency of publishing opportunities and awards.  
 

15. The PSR will not apply to the procurement of goods or non-health care services 
(unless as part of a mixed procurement), irrespective of whether these are 
procured by relevant authorities.  

 
16. The PSR introduces three provider selection processes that relevant authorities 

can follow to award contracts for health care services. These are the: 
 

 Direct award processes (A, B, and C):  

 Most suitable provider process:  

 Competitive process:  
 

17. The PSR legislation removes the procurement of health care services by relevant 
authorities from the scope of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and 
therefore the Procurement Act 2023, and revokes the National Health Service 
(Procurement, Patient Choice, and Competition) (No. 2) Regulations 2013 from 1 
January 2024. Contracts for social care services are within scope of the 
Procurement Act 2023.  

 
18. For the first time officers will be required to comply with three distinct 

procurement legislations running concurrently:   
 

 Public Contracts Regulations 2015  

 The Procurement Act 2023 

 Provider Selection Regime (PSR).  
 
The Procurement Act 2023 will not be retrospective, and therefore contracts let 
prior to the 28thOctober 2024 will continue under the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 until they expire. 
 

19. This therefore requires a significant rewrite of all procurement governance, policy 
and processes, and the Councils Contract Procedure Rules to ensure that they 
incorporate the requirements of and cross-refer to these legislations. The 
Procurement Reform Project Plan is in full implementation and the key milestone 
of review and amendment of the CPRs has been completed.  

 

20. Procurement Assurance 

21. To ensure compliance and understanding of the new legislation, the role of the 
Procurement Assurance Group (PAG) has been strengthened, with more 
elements to be ‘assured’ by PAG.  This includes: 

 Contract variations, extensions, novation over £100k, and termination 

 Performance Reports over £5m to be reviewed prior to publication 

 All direct awards regardless of legislation 

 Use of Single provider Frameworks and Direct Awards on frameworks  

22. Procurement Services will take responsibility for Notifications where it leads the 
procurement process, but Service Departments must take responsibility where it 

Page 115



 

 

is self-serve. The increased number of Notifications needed for compliance is 
going to be a challenge. It is hoped that the Procurement System (London 
tenders Portal) will interface to allow notifications. If not, then will need to 
consider how these will be managed as it is not feasible or manageable for 
Service Departments to self-serve.  

 
23. Methodology to Updating the CPRs in line with legislation 
 
24. A working group comprised of representatives from Procurement Services, 

Corporate Governance and Legal Services jointly completed the review to 
develop a draft working set of new CPRs. Despite the 3 legislations running 
concurrently, it was agreed that pragmatically, one set of CPRs would be more 
beneficial to the organisation and this will be supplemented with the creation of 
new Procurement Codes providing advice, guidance and process would be 
produced.  These Procurement Codes will replace the current Procurement 
Manual. In addition to the new Procurement Code for generic goods and 
services, specific codes will be produced as follows:  
 

 Schools – exempt from some elements of the Procurement Act 2023 

 Light Touch – exempt from some elements and requirements of the 
Procurement Act 2023 

 PSR Code for PSR     

 Construction Guide – to support more complex procurements in the 
construction category, and the differences needed in this category. 

 
25. The purpose and benefit of the current Partnership Procedure Rules was also 

reviewed. The project group agreed that since there has been no evidence of the 
need to utilise them it would be more beneficial and practical to remove these 
from the Council’s Constitution and incorporate relevant elements into the new 
CPRs.  
 

26. Stakeholder and user feedback into the new version of the CPRs was sought and 
the new version reflects their input. Key stakeholders consulted include service 
department commissioning teams, Audit Services and Corporate Finance.  

 
27. This has been a complex and challenging piece of work, that has taken several 

months to pull together.  Once all documents have been agreed, then final 
hyperlinks will be added. 

 
28. The rewrite of CPRs will ensure the Council is compliant with the new 

procurement legislations and reflects user feedback from across the 
organisation. It is proposed that these Rules will be fully reviewed in March/April 
2025 to determine if there have been any issues with the application or 
interpretation of them and to take account of any further guidance or potential 
changes in legislation in the coming weeks. 

 
29. This report and Contract Procure Rules (and Codes) was presented to 

Assurance Board 11th July and was endorsed. 
 

 
30. Changes in the CPRs 

Page 116



 

 

 
31. The Finance Due Diligence and Security section has been rewritten in light of 

current practice, with the current CPRs stating there must be security and often 
this is waived.  To rectify this the CPRs have moved to a risk-based approach 
with a risk assessment, and then a suggestion of security type, with Value for 
Money and what is industry standard as recommendation. 

 
32. In line with this the insurance section has been updated to a risk-based approach 

and guidance on values set out in the Procurement Code.  
 
33. Under the new Procurement Act, the Council must consider whether any barriers 

to SME participation can be removed or reduced. Currently Enfield’s standard 
contracts have ‘unlimited liability’ as standard although there is an optional 
liability cap clause in the user guide. Continuing with the current templates (with 
a liability cap as optional) is a potential barrier to SME participation. It is 
recommended that a liability cap clause is inserted in our standard contracts in 
line with the ‘self-service’ contract templates. 

 
34. Procurement Services is also working with Finance and Legal at putting in 

Financial Distress clauses in our standard contract terms.  This will put a 
responsibility on the Supplier to inform the Council if they are getting into 
financial distress, and then work with the supplier to assess their Finances.  This 
is set out in the Governments Sourcing Playbook. 

 
35. The current CPRs refer to the Partnership Procedure Rules. It is recommended 

to remove these from the Constitution, and reference in the CPRs. 
 

36. A full list of the changes to the CPRs are set out in the table below. Appendix A. 
 

37. Post Go Live 
 

38. Procurement Services will need to review compliance reporting to ensure it 
incorporates all elements of the new legislation and CPRs. 
 

39. The Procurement System will need to be compliant to the new legislation to meet 
notifications.  The system is not a contract management system, and 
Procurement Services will not be able to measure compliance to the contract 
management elements of the legislation with the current system. 
 

40. The PSR regime went live in January, but ProActis (supply of current 
procurement system) have not confirmed if it will provide a method of identifying 
PSR projects from other procurement projects to comply with reporting 
requirements. 
 

41. The Procurement Review Unit (PRU) from the Cabinet office will be monitoring 
compliance to the Procurement Act 2023 and has the powers to review 
procurement processes within Councils where noncompliance is detected and 
make recommendations.  The PRU will also be controlling the Debarred list of 
suppliers. Enfield Council will have to report to the PRU where it decides to 
Exclude a supplier.  
 

42. Guidance is being published regularly from the Cabinet office as the ‘go live’ date 
nears.  It has been recognised that as more guidance becomes available the 

Page 117



 

 

interpretation of some of the legislation might need refining, and therefore it is 
recommended  that the Director of Law and Governance make further necessary 
changes to the CPRs to respond to any further guidance from the Cabinet office 
or changes to regulations..  

 

43. All hyperlinks will be added once all CPRs and associated documents have been 
endorsed and uploaded to the intranet. 
 
Preferred Option and Reasons for Preferred Option 

 
44. To ensure compliance to the new procurement reform legislation and compliance 

with the local government act 1974 to have a set of Standing Orders. 
 
45. To use ‘Codes’ to set out operational elements to allow flexibility as Council 

policy changes. 
 
Relevance to Council Plans and Strategies 
 

46. Procurement Services supports the delivery of the Councils Plan priorities by 
enabling services to commission and procure contracts that deliver council 
outcomes, supporting clean and green places, strong, healthy, and safe 
communities, thriving children and young people, more and better homes and an 
economy that works for everyone. 

 
47. Procurement Services supports the delivery of the Councils Plan principles 

through its sustainable and Ethical Procurement Policy, the Contract Procedure 
Rules and Contract management framework. 

 
48. Providing a wide range of policy and analytical support as it relates to suppliers 

and external markets and to provide guidance through the legal and internal 
processes that govern how the public’s money is spent.  

 
49. Procurement Services is an enabling service and supports Council services 

through procurement to support the delivery of homes in well-connected 
neighbourhoods, safe, heathy, and confident communities, and an economy that 
works for everyone. Through procurement activity it ensures that suppliers 
support the Fairer Enfield Policy and Climate Action. 
 
Financial Implications 
 

50. This is an update only report and there are no financial implications for this 
report. Procurement Services works closely with Financial Services throughout 
the life cycle of the Procurement Project to ensure financial probity. 
 
Legal Implications  
 

51. As stated elsewhere in this Report, under section 135 of the Local Government 
Act 1972, local authorities may make standing orders with respect to the making 
of contracts by them or on their behalf and shall make standing orders with 
respect to the making by them or on their behalf of contracts for the supply of 
goods or materials or for the execution of works.  Officers are obliged to follow 
the CPRs, which form part of the Council’s Constitution, when procuring, 

Page 118



 

 

awarding and managing public contracts.  This is important to ensure the Council 
complies with its statutory duties when spending money, including relevant 
procurement legislation (including the Provider Selection Regime and - from 28 
October 2024 -  the Procurement Act 2023) and its Best Value duty under  the 
Local Government Act 1999.   
 
Equalities Implications  
 

52. Equalities are considered during procurement through the Sustainable and 
Ethical Procurement Policy, which includes sections on equalities. An Equality 
Impact Assessment is being undertaken and the findings will be reported to the 
committee and Full Council in due course. 

 
53. Environmental and Climate Change Implications  

 
54. Climate implications are considered during procurement through the Sustainable 

and Ethical Procurement Policy, which includes sections on Climate Action and 
sustainability. 
 
 

Report Authors:  
Michael Sprosson      Claire Reilly 
Head of Procurement Services   Head of Policy & Contract Development 
Michael.sprosson@enfield.gov.uk  Claire.reilly@enfield.gov.uk 
020 8132 1678     020 8132 2027 
 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Table of Changes 
Appendix B – CPRs 
Appendix C – Procurement Code 
Appendix D – Provider Selection Regime Code 
Appendix E – Light Touch Services Code 
Appendix F – Schools Code 
 
 
 

Page 119

mailto:Michael.sprosson@enfield.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.reilly@enfield.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix A – Table of amendments to CPRs 
 

Section/ 
Paragraph 

Proposed Changes Rational/ Comments 

Whole Document Changes in vocabulary: 

 Contracting Activity rather than Procurement 

 Supplier rather than bidder 

 Procurement legislation rather than Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 

 Procurement Manuel is now Procurement Code 

 Changed e-tendering system to Procurement 
System 

 Public Contract, above threshold contracts 

 Regulated below threshold contracts 

 Contract Modification rather than variations & 
extensions 

Added more hyperlinks 

 The term Procurement has been changed 
throughout the document to contracting 
activity, to reflect both Procurement Act 23 
and PSR, and that Direct Award is contracting 
activity. 

 Change to Procurement Code from manual – 
manual suggests it is not mandatory to use. 

 Changed e-tendering portal name as might 
update system and avoid being out of date. 

Whole Document Order of sections changed to follow the procurement 
cycle 

To support better compliance and easier to use 

Index Update to index To reflex the changes in the document 

Introduction 
Rule 1 

Introduction updated to reflect that there are now 3 
different procurement legislations. 

Addition of 4 codes to set out the different processes 
needed to meet all the different legislations. 

Set out objectives of the PA23 
Have regard to the importance of: 
a) Delivering Value for Money (VFM) 
b) Maximising public benefit 
c) Sharing information for the purpose of allowing 

Suppliers and others to understand the authority’s 
procurement policies and decisions. 

d) Acting and being seen to act with integrity 

To ensure compliance to the procurement act. 
 

P
age 120



 

 

e) Having regard to the fact that small and medium-
sized enterprises may face particular barriers in 
competing for a contract and consider whether such 
barriers can be removed or reduced.  

f) Considering the National Procurement Policy 
Statement  

g) Considering treaty state Suppliers (See 
Procurement Code)  

Change use of Procurement System to £5k to meet 
transparency regulations. 

Use of Procurement system moved to capture all 
contracts over £5k to ensure compliance to 
transparency requirements, and better visibility of 
spend. 

Addition of the list of Notifications needed throughout 
the Contracting Activity. 

To ensure compliance to the notifications needed 
It is expected that these will be via the procurement 
system or facilitated by Procurement Services 
(resource permitting) 

Clarified that the Rules apply to ALL contracting activity Updated to meet new legislation. 
Children’s and Adult social care contracts are no 
longer exempted under Procurement Act 2023, but 
direct award is permissible (see Exceptions) 

Purpose 
Rule 2 

Minimal change 
Sets our need to refer to PSR & Light Touch Codes 
 

Strengthen compliance. 
Ensure officer are aware of what does not need to 
follow CPRs. 
What is now in scope that was not previously. 

Exempted 
Contracts 
Rule 3 

Sets out what contracts are now exempt from the PA23 
and PSR. 
Adult social care and children’s services are now not 
exempt, but direct award is permissible.  This means 
that the principles of the Procurement Act apply to these 
contracts. 
 

Ensure compliance with Legislation on what is not 
covered by the PA23. 
 
 
 
Clarification on arrangements with other Councils 
and controlled entities. Confirmation that Horizontal 

P
age 121

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-procurement-policy-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-procurement-policy-statement
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

 

Horizonal & Vertical arrangements with other Councils 
and controlled entities has been added, to avoid 
ambiguity. 
Vertical Arrangements: 
A contract between a contracting authority and a person 
that is controlled by—  

a. the contracting authority,  
b. the contracting authority acting jointly with one or 

more other contracting authorities,  
c. another contracting authority, where that authority 

also controls the contracting authority referred to 
in paragraph (a), or  

another contracting authority acting jointly with one or 
more other contracting authorities, where the authorities 
acting jointly also control the contracting authority 
referred to in paragraph (a).  
 
Horizontal Arrangements: 
Contract or arrangement with another authority with the 
aim of achieving objectives the authorities have in 
common in connection with the exercise of their public 
functions, solely in the public interest. 

and Vertical arrangements are exempt. 

Roles & 
Responsibilities 
Rule 4 

Added: 

 Budgets need sign off from budget holder and 
finance 

 Effective contract management must take place 

 Updated list of exempted contracts in line with 
legislation 

 Removed Children’s & Adults as they are no longer 
exempt 

Tighter control on budgets and ownership from 
budget holder. 
Contract management added in light of new 
legislation 
 
 

P
age 122



 

 

Procurement 
Governance and 
Assurance (PAG) 
Rule 5 

New Section. 
Sets out the role of the Procurement Assurance Group 
(PAG) and procurement assurance. 

To ensure that PAG process are followed – as now 
in CPRs, rather than Procurement Manual as 
previously. 

Annual 
Procurement Plan 
Rule 6 

New Section. 
Details the purpose of the annual procurement plan 

Sets out requirements for the development of the 
Annual Procurement Plan, to support more strategic 
planning around procurement and support resource 
planning and allocation. 

Risk Assessment 
Rule 7 

Procurement Code will now hold information on 
recommendation for minimum insurance levels. 
Sections asks for a risk assessment to be carried out, 
and deviation will need approval via PAG 
Addition of reference to the Construction Code 

Better governance around risk and insurance 
Management of costs due to, to high insurance 
To ensure compliance to the new Building 
Regulations around construction 
 

Insurance 
Rule 8 

Moved position in the documents to nearer the 
beginning. 
Sets out need for risk assessment to identify risk and 
insurance requirements 
Reference to minimum requirements regarding 
insurance. 
Deviation from guide needs to go to PAG for assurance 

Moved to more risk-based approach 
Procurement Code sets out guide to minimum 
requirements for insurance 

Direct Award & 
Exceptions to 
Competitive 
Tendering 
Rule 9 
 
(Was Exceptions) 

Renamed to reflect the wording in the Procurement Act. 
 
 

Change to meet new Procurement Act regulations, 
as exceptions are now seen as direct awards that 
are permissible. 

Updated to reflect changes in legislation to ensure 
compliance. 
Sets out where Direct Award (exceptions) are now 
permissible. 

Set out what is permissible under the Act. 
Strengthened governance for direct award 
Must be accompanied by contract, authority to 
award, and contract classification. 

User Choice contracts are now no longer exempt, but 
Direct award is permissible where the user has chosen. 

Included User Choice Contracts in line with 
legislation. 
Need to record these for payment reporting. 

P
age 123



 

 

Direct Award is permissible to protect life (in response to 
covid etc). 
Switch to Direct award permissible where no tender 
responses have been received.  

New regulation, as this was ambiguous under 
PCR2015, and Covid identified this. 

Moved position in the documents to nearer the 
beginning. 
That all Exceptions must be accompanied by authority 
to award, a contract and budget approval, in line with 
competitive process. 
 

Strengthened requirements around Exceptions. 
Strengthened governance and to be treated like a 
contract. 

Application of 
Waivers 
Rule 10 

Minimal changes 
Inclusion of conflict-of-interest assessment, and 
excludable, excluded, or debarred supplier. 

Strengthened requirements around Waivers. 
Strengthened governance and to be treated like a 
contract. 

Financial Due 
Diligence and 
Security 
Rule 11 
 
(Was Financial 
Security) 

Updated name to reflect function. 
Set out that Economic and financial standing tests need 
to be carried out by finance in accordance with code. 
Test will be proportional based on contract classification. 

Details of economic standing tests set out in the 
Procurement Code to allow for operational change. 
 

Removal of the need for security by value, and only by 
assessment of risk, using Economic Standing Test, 
contract classification tool and risk assessment.  
Must come to PAG for exceptional circumstances. 
Security must be in line with industry norm and 
represent Value for money. 

Updated security in line with working practices, and 
market forces, as old CPRs were out of date and 
required lots of waiving of this rule. Is now 
proportional and based on risk, therefore not adding 
cost to contracts where security was not needed. 
 

Business 
Continuity 
Rule 12 

Included requirements for Platinum and Gold contracts 
to be listed on Service Departments BIA. 
Use of Supply chain resilience tool for monitoring 

Ensuring Emergency Planning have visibility of key 
contracts. 

GDPR 
Rule 13 

No change  

Contracting 
Activity 

Change of Name to reflect that it is not just procurement 
Included approvals for: 

Strengthened governance to ensure that it applies to 
ALL contracting activity (not just procurement) 

P
age 124



 

 

Governance – 
Approvals 
Rules 14 
 
(Was Approval to 
Procure) 
 

 Starting contracting activity 

 Awarding contracts 

 Modification to contracts (extensions & 
Variations) 

 Termination of contract 

 Novation of contract 
Updated reports needed in line with changes in 
governance. 

Set out reports needed (non-key officer decision 
report & Key Decision Report) based on Council 
Governance. Hyperlinks to templates added. 
Strengthened budget approval 
 

Set out need to get any additional budget approved for 
modifications or where contract award is higher than 
anticipated. 

Strengthen budget control, specifically where 
additional funds are needed. 

Updated in line with Procurement Act for below 
threshold contracts that when modified go about 
threshold process (which is now permitted). 

Included convertible contracts (where below 
threshold contracts go over threshold (now 
permissible), and processes needed. 
To ensure compliance to new legislation 

Updated to state that no external procurement can be 
commissioned without approval from Procurement 
Services 
List moved to Procurement Code 

Strengthened governance on use of external parties 
for procurement and legal services. 

Specialist 
Procurement 
Rule 15 

Moved list of specialist areas to Procurement Code 
Set out that existing council contracts must be used in 
first instance. 

List of specialist areas in the Procurement Code 

Estimating the 
Contract Value 
Rule 16 
 
(Was Calculating 
the Contract 

Change of title to reflect new PA23 
Updated to reflect legislation (48-month rule no longer 
used) 
Must include whole live costs, included money already 
paid. 
Values must be inclusive of VAT 

Updated to reflect legislation  
Set out clearly guidance on estimating value of a 
contract from the legislation. 

P
age 125



 

 

Value) 
 

For below threshold procurement Contract value must 
be estimated.  Where unable to estimate the contract 
value then must carry out an above threshold 
procurement process. 
For below threshold can use negotiation for best and 
final offer. 

Must know value of the contract or must do above 
threshold procurement (new legislation). No rolling 
contracts so all low value contracts must have a 
defined term. 
Add in best and final offer to promote savings 

Frameworks & 
Dynamic Markets 
Rule 17 

New section. 
Reflect new legislation regarding use of frameworks, 
dynamic markets, and open frameworks. 
  

Added as new section as previously this was only in 
the Procurement Manual. 
More legislation around Frameworks and 
strengthening the governance around use of 
Frameworks. 
New legislation on Dynamic Markets and Open 
Frameworks 

Mandated the use of Exception & Waiver form for direct 
awards and use of single provider frameworks, and to 
come to PAG. 
Use of vendor neutral portals by Procurement Services 
permission only 

Direct awards & single supplier frameworks to come 
to PAG, to ensure VFM. 
Control use of vendor neutral routes to market. 

Conflict of Interest 
Rule 18 

New Section 
Reflection of requirements under the PSR & PA23 to 
monitor conflict of interest through the sourcing cycle. 

New section added (replaced Declaration of Interest) 
This is important part of the new legislation and 
needed to ensure risk is mitigated 

Sustainable & 
Ethical 
Procurement 
Policy 
Rule 19 

Minimal change 
Change of up to 10% 
Update to state up to 10% for weighting 
Includes fair tax declaration 
Moved further up the document 

In line with procurement principles 
Updated S&EPP to reflect Fair Tax 
 
 

Procurement 
Threshold 
Rule 20 

1 quote moved from £25k to £30k in line with new 
legislation. 
Mandate the use of the portal from £5k, to ensure better 
compliance at low value and meet transparency 
regulations. 

Updated in line with changes in legislation. 
Procurement Act 2023 only applies to contracts over 
£30k  
Updated column on contracts to strengthen risk 
management 

P
age 126



 

 

Thresholds must be inclusive of VAT 

Provider Selection 
Regime 
Rule 21 

New Section. 
Information on how to remain compliant and rules to 
follow for Provider Selection Regime, that applies to 
Health Services Contracts. 
 

New legislation to cover Health Services Contracts. 
Most of the legislation will be set out in the PSR 
Code, to not complicate the CPRs. This will only 
apply to a handful of contracts for the Council. 
Unlike PA23 which is based on values for route to 
market. Route to market is based on set of tests 
around supplier performance and applies to all 
values. 

New PSR Code also developed alongside to hold all 
operational elements of this legislation. 

PSR Code sets out all legislative requirements that 
are needed for the 5 routes to market to ensure 
compliance. 

Light Touch 
Services 
Rule 22 
 

New Section 
Information on how to manage Light Touch Services 
contracts under the PA23, as there are exemptions from 
public contracts.  Light Touch Code developed 
alongside to hold all operational elements of this 
legislation. 

New Section added to ensure that the different 
processes needed for contracts that fall under the 
Light Touch Services elements of the Procurement 
Act 2023 are clear. (Mostly only applies to contracts 
within the People Department). 

Notifications 
(Was advertising 
and publication 
Rule 23 

Updated title to reflect legislation. 
Section updated to reflect legislation. 
All notifications will be listed in the Procurement Code.   
17 Notifications for PA23 
Separate Notifications needed for PSR 

Update to reflect the changes in legislation around 
the increase in the number of Notification and when 
they are needed. 
Details will be in the Procurement Code, as 
insufficient details on this yet as Notification details 
not published by Cabinet office at time of 
development of CPRs. 

Updated to reflect legislation changes in vocabulary. 
Sets out the need for notifications throughout the 
contract lifecycle, not just procurement. 

Procurement Code lists all notifications 
States which are mandatory,  

Preliminary 
Market 
Engagement 

New Section 
Reflects legislation regarding market engagement to 
ensure compliance and reduce challenge 

Added in as Market Engagement is now within the 
Procurement Act 2023 and needs a notification. 
Where it does not take place then explanation is 

P
age 127



 

 

Rule 24 needed in Tender Notice. 

Receipt and 
opening of 
tenders 
Rule 25 

Updated to reflect the use of the procurement system 
from £5k  

Only updated to remind that the procurement system 
must be used 

Updated to reflect changes in Council governance with 
the introduction of two Report templates. 

Ensure compliance with council governance. 

Award Criteria 
and Evaluation 
Rule 26 
 
(Was evaluation 
criteria) 
 

Updated title (was evaluation criteria) 
Reflective of the new legislation and vocabulary. 
Ensures compliance to new legislation 
Added in section on where the Act asks to consider 
evaluation criteria must: 

(i) relate to the subject-matter of the Contract,  
(ii) are sufficiently clear, measurable, and specific,  
(iii) do not break the rules on technical specifications in 

regulation 56 of the PA 23, and  
are a proportionate means of assessing tenders, having 
regard to the nature, complexity, and cost of the 
Contract.  

Title updated to reflect the new procurement act 
vocabulary. Updated to reflect better management of 
Award Criteria.  More emphasis on checking: 
Meeting conditions of participation. 
Checking suppliers are not excluded or excludable 
suppliers. 

Below threshold contracts cannot restrict submission of 
tenders by reference to an assessment of their 
suitability, including legal and financial capacity, & 
technical ability. 

New rules around selection process. 
Contracts for Works are exempt from this where they 
are over the goods and services threshold £214K. 

New addition 
Consideration to check suppliers, subcontractors and 
connected persons if they are within the mandatory 
exclusion grounds, or discretionary exclusion grounds.  
Must check for all public contracts 
Recommending for below threshold for good practice 
Grounds include: 
Mandatory: 
Corporate manslaughter 
Terrorism 

Ensure compliance to new legislation 

P
age 128



 

 

Theft, fraud, bribery etc 
Labour market, slavery & human trafficking 
Organised Crime 
Tax offences  
Misconduct in relation to Tax 
Discretionary: 
Environmental Misconduct 
Insolvency, bankruptcy 
Potential competition infringements 
Professional Misconduct 
Breach of Contract/poor performance 

Contract Award 
and Execution 
Rule 27 

Reminder on the need to publish Notifications  
Reminder on authorisation 
Must be on the Council Corporate Contract Register 

Ensure compliance to new procurement legislation. 

Post Tender 
negotiation 
Rule 28 

Updated to endorse use of best and final offer on below 
threshold. 

Updated to encourage negotiation for below 
threshold contracts to deliver savings. 

Contract 
Modifications, 
Novation & 
Termination to 
Contracts. 
Rule 29 
 
(Was variation to 
contracts) 

Current CPRs very light on this area. 
Extensive updates, to remind officers that extensions 
and variations need to be compliant and are an 
opportunity to review provision for savings and 
efficiencies. 

Updated to reflect the changes in legislation in this 
area. 

Substantial change in legislation for this area.  
Now have permissible changes where notifications are 
not needed. 
Outside of permissible changes can make changes but 
notifications must be published, and Rules sets out what 
legislation allows. 

Inserted into CPRs for compliance as this is 
complex. 
Compliance to Notifications to ensure transparency, 
but greater risk of challenge. 
Changes in rules regarding when a modification can 
take place and to the values and percentages that 
are permissible. 
Sets out legislation on changes that are allowed but 
not permissible. 

P
age 129



 

 

Modifications over £100k must come to PAG Strengthened governance regarding modifications 
and maximise opportunities at contract breaks 

That Contracts let under Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 must follow this legislation for modifications. 

Reminder that the Procurement Act 2023 is not 
retrospective and current contracts will be subject to 
current legislation. 

Included Novations as this is now covered as part of the 
act. 

Ensure compliance to new legislation and Councils 
Novation process. 

Terminations added To strengthen governance around Terminations and 
ensure Notifications are published for all Public 
Contract Terminations including natural expiry 

Contract 
Management 
Rule 30 

Updated to reflect that Contract Management is now 
part of Procurement Legislation. 
Moved up the document 
Strengthened need to maintain contract register. 
Mandated use of classification and supplier resilience 
tool. 

Updated to reflect that Contract Management is now 
part of the Procurement Act. 
Strengthen requirements around better contract 
management, and governance of contracts. 
  

Details obligations for publishing KPI’s on contracts over 
£5m and need to publish redacted version of the signed 
contract. 
Annual performance report and on termination (natural 
end) or defaulted or failed. 

Updated requirements on contracts over £5m. 
Included the need to follow the Contract 
management framework.  

Record Keeping 
Rules 31 

Updated to hyperlink to standard contract templates 
from Legal 
Added more details to be compliant to PA23 
Included PSR arrangements 
Use of LTP over £5k 

Updated to reflect changes in other elements of the 
CPRs. 
Included PSR for record keeping 
 

Contract, Terms 
and Conditions 
Rule 32 

Updated to reflect requirement to publish copy of the 
signed contract within 90 days for contracts over £5m. 
Stated that contracts must have a defined term, 
otherwise over threshold procurement. 

Updated to reflect changes in the legislation 
Contract manager of contracts over £5m will need to 
be aware of responsibilities and compliance. 

P
age 130



 

 

Addition of electronic invoices and payment terms as 
per legislation 

Prevention of 
Corruption 
Rules 33 

No real change 
Reference to Conflict-of-Interest within the Act. 

Reference to conflict of interest to reinforce need to 
be compliant. 

Grant Funding 
Rule 34 

New section 
Clarifies that where contracts that are let and use grant 
funding, they are NOT exempt from the Rules, 
That Procurement Services need to be consulted early 
in the process as often need to spend the money 
quickly. 

Remind officers for the need to be compliant to 
CPRs even if grant funded. 
 

IR35 
Rule 35 

Minimal amendments Strengthen guidance 

Glossary of 
Terms 

Updated to reflect all new terminology and legislative 
vocabulary. 

 

P
age 131



 

Page 22 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 
Appendix B 
Contract Procedure Rules 
 

Chapter 4.9 - Contract Procedure Rules 

 

Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................... 23 
2. PURPOSE ......................................................................................................... 26 
3. EXEMPTED CONTRACTS ................................................................................ 27 
4. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES .................................................................... 28 

5. PROCUREMENT GOVERNANCE AND ASSURANCE .................................... 30 
6. ANNUAL PROCUREMENT PLAN ..................................................................... 31 
7. RISK ASSESSMENT ......................................................................................... 31 

8. INSURANCE...................................................................................................... 31 
9. DIRECT AWARD AND EXCEPTIONS TO COMPETITIVE TENDERING ......... 32 
10. APPLICATION AND WAIVER OF THE RULES ................................................ 35 
11. FINANCIAL DUE DILIGENCE AND SECURITY ................................................ 36 

12. BUSINESS CONTINUITY .................................................................................. 37 
13. UK GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS (UK GDPR) .................. 38 

14. CONTRACTING ACTIVITY GOVERNANCE – APPROVALS ........................... 38 
15. SPECIALIST PROCUREMENT ......................................................................... 42 
16. ESTIMATING THE VALUE OF A CONTRACT .................................................. 43 

17. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS & DYNAMIC MARKETS SYSTEMS ................ 44 

18. CONFLICT OF INTEREST ................................................................................ 45 
19. SUSTAINABLE AND ETHICAL PROCUREMENT POLICY .............................. 45 
20. PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS ..................................................................... 46 

21. PROVIDER SELECTION REGIME (PSR) ......................................................... 52 
22. LIGHT TOUCH SERVICES ............................................................................... 53 
23. NOTIFICATIONS ............................................................................................... 53 

24. PRELIMINARY MARKET ENGAGEMENT ........................................................ 53 
25. RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS AND QUOTES ................................ 54 

26. AWARD CRITERIA AND EVALUATION ........................................................... 54 
27. CONTRACT AWARD AND EXECUTION .......................................................... 56 
28. POST-TENDER NEGOTIATIONS ..................................................................... 57 

29. CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS, NOVATION & TERMINATION TO 
CONTRACTS ........................................................................................................... 57 

30. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT ............................................................................ 60 
31. RECORD KEEPING .......................................................................................... 62 

32. CONTRACTS, TERMS AND CONDITIONS ...................................................... 62 
33. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION .................................................................... 63 
34. GRANT FUNDING ............................................................................................. 64 
35. IR35 RULES ...................................................................................................... 64 
36. CONSULTATION ............................................................................................... 65 

37. GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS ................................................................... 66 

 

Page 132



 

Page 23 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1 These Contract Procedure Rules (Rules) form part of the Council’s 
Constitution. The Rules and the Procurement Code, The Provider Selection 
Regime Code and the Light Touch Services Code MUST be applied together 
to ensure value for money, protect the public purse and ensure compliance to 
applicable Procurement Legislation, protecting the Council from potential 
risks.  

1.2 Schools must refer to the Schools Code in conjunction with these Rules. 

1.3 Procurement Legislation relates to the award, entry into and management of 
Public Contracts. This means that the Legislation regulates public 
procurements from inception through to award and throughout the duration of 
the Contract – from the point at which the Council is considering how and 
what to procure, through the process of procurement and Contract award, up 
to the point at which the resulting Contract ends. Together with the 
Procurement Code and relevant Council policies, the Rules provide directives, 
regulations, policies, and guidance relating to the procurement and award of 
Goods, Services and Works Contracts for the Council. 

1.4 From [28th October 2024] there will be three forms of Procurement Legislation 
that relate to Contracting Activity which these Rules cover: 

(i) Procurement Act 2023 (PA 23) that covers all Contracting Activity 
started on or after 28th October 2024 including Procurement 
Regulations and subsequent guidance (Procurement Policy Notes). 

(ii) Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR 2015) that covers all 
Contracting Activity started before 28 October 2024, Contracts let 
before such date and call off Contracts under Framework Agreements 
set up under the PCR 2015 until their natural end. 

(iii) The Provider Selection Regime (PSR) that covers all Contracts that 
come under the definition of Health Services Contracts let under the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or PSR. 

1.5 These Rules have been approved by Senior Leadership and Members and 
following these Rules protects the Council and Council officers from risk of 
challenge and ensure compliance with the relevant Procurement Legislation 
and the Council’s Constitution.  

1.6 Service Departments must follow the Rules for all Contracting Activity and 
Procurement Legislation. This means Service Departments must: 

(i) Have regard to the importance of: 

a) Delivering Value for Money (VFM) 

b) Maximising public benefit 

Page 133

https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 24 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

c) Sharing information for the purpose of allowing Suppliers and 
others to understand the authority’s procurement policies and 
decisions. 

d) Acting and being seen to act with integrity 

e) Having regard to the fact that small and medium-sized 
enterprises may face particular barriers in competing for a 
contract and consider whether such barriers can be removed or 
reduced.  

f) Considering the National Procurement Policy Statement  

g) Considering treaty state Suppliers (See Procurement Code)  

(ii) Treat Suppliers the same. Where a difference between Suppliers 
justifies different treatments, the Service Department must take all 
reasonable steps to ensure that a Supplier is not put at an unfair 
advantage or disadvantage. 

(iii) Ensure that at evaluation Suppliers are checked to ensure they are not 
an Excluded (Debarred) or Excludable Supplier (See Rule 26). 

(iv) Ensure that Contracts are entered in a compliant manner and protect 
the public purse. Service Departments must demonstrate VFM by: 

a) Demonstrating the need for the Goods, Services or Works. 

b) Using existing Council Contracts in the first instance wherever 
possible.  

c) Exploring opportunities to work collaboratively across the 
Council where Contracts are for similar Services. 

d) Considering alternative methods of delivery and what approach 
will deliver the best outcomes for the Service Department.  

e) Reviewing Contracts regularly for efficiencies, savings, and 
performance, specifically at Contract extensions and 
modifications. 

f) Taking responsibility for the specification and ensure that it is 
neither over, or underspecified, meets the Service Department’s 
needs and is clear and concise. 

(v) Carry out a form of competitive process relevant to the estimated value 
of the Contract. Where procuring Regulated Below Threshold 
Contracts, ensure that the minimum number of quotes are sought and 
comply with the local Supplier requirements see Rule 20.  

(vi) Ensure authority to carry out Contracting Activity has been given by the 
appropriate officer and written confirmation of budget in accordance 

Page 134

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-procurement-policy-statement
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


 

Page 25 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

with the Financial Regulations has been obtained prior to any 
commitment to obtain formal bids/quotations or starting work.  

1.7 All Contracting Activity above Procurement Legislation Thresholds or covered 
under the Provider Selection Regime (PSR) must be overseen by 
Procurement Services, (unless agreed by Procurement Services) to ensure:  

(i) Strict compliance with the relevant Legislation,  

(ii) The adoption of best practices, and  

(iii) The achievement of VFM  

1.8 Procurement Legislation requires Transparency from Local Authorities.  
Therefore, when following these Rules, it is important to ensure that all 
Transparency requirements are met.  Notifications must be published at all 
stages of the Contracting Activity process as set out in the Procurement 
Legislation.  Please refer to the Procurement Code for information on 
complying with Notifications. 

1.9 Main Notifications: 

(i) Planned Procurement Notice 

(ii) Preliminary Market Engagement Notice 

(iii) Tender Notice 

(iv) Tender Notice (amended) 

(v) Dynamic Market Notice(s) 

(vi) Transparency Notice (Direct Award) 

(vii) Contract Award Notice 

(viii) Contract Details Notice 

(ix) Copies of Contracts (redacted) 

(x) Procurement Termination Notice 

(xi) Payments Compliance Notice 

(xii) Contract Performance Notice(s) 

(xiii) Contract Change Notice 

(xiv) Contract Termination Notice 

(xv) Below Threshold Procurement Tender Notices 

(xvi) Below Threshold Award notice 

(xvii) Pipeline Notice 

(xviii) PSR Notifications 

1.10 Procurement Services reserves the right to manage any Contracting Activity 
due to either risk to the Council (including reputational risk) or complexity. 

Page 135

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B6BC2D49E-7057-4642-A0B3-462325122FB3%7D&file=Procurement%20Instruction%20Form%20(PIF).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 26 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

1.11 The Council’s Procurement System must be used for all Contracting Activity 
above £5k. All communications with bidders/providers must be carried out 
through the Procurement System to ensure there is a clear audit trail and 
compliance with retention policies.  All governance documentation, reports 
and an executed (signed) copy of the awarded Contract MUST be uploaded to 
the Procurement System. Use of any other procurement systems/portals must 
be approved by Procurement Services. 

1.12 Any Contract entered into by the Council must be in accordance with these 
Rules and Procurement Legislation as set out in Rule 1.4.  

1.13 The Procurement System is recognised as the Council’s Corporate Contract 
Register. It is the responsibility of Service Departments/ Contract Managers to 
ensure that all departmental Contracts are maintained within the Procurement 
System. This ensures that the Council is compliant with obligations under 
Procurement Legislation regarding publications of Contracts, Pipelines, record 
keeping and retention obligations. 

1.14 In all cases where there is uncertainty regarding these Rules, contact 
Procurement Services/Legal Services (where required) for clarification.   

1.15 For the purpose of these Rules ALL Contract values are inclusive of VAT 
except for budget and governance purposes.  

 

2. PURPOSE  

2.1 The Rules apply to all Contracting Activity relating to Goods, Works, and 
Services (including Light Touch Services), Health Services Contracts covered 
by the PSR unless stated in Rule 21 and Rule 22.  Refer to the PSR Code or 
Light Touch Services Code for further information. This includes Direct 
Award, where there may be little or no monetary value to the Contract or there 
is income or profit sharing. These Rules may also apply to agreements that 
are entered via other mechanisms, such as but not limited to: 

(i) Partnerships 

(ii) Shared working / Services 

(iii) Consortiums of Councils 

(iv) Section 75 arrangements 

(v) Commercial Contracts funded by grant funding  

(vi) Joint Ventures 

(vii) Contracts via other councils 

(viii) Concession Contracts 

(ix) Direct Awards 

(x) Contracts let via the Provider Selection Regime  

Page 136

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23Purpose


 

Page 27 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

2.2 Legal and Procurement advice must be sought in all circumstances where 
these apply. 

2.3 To achieve the Council’s objectives, these Rules and the Operational 
Procurement Processes in the Procurement Code, PSR Code and Light 
Touch Services Code must be followed for all relevant Contracting Activity. 
These Rules are made under section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
Failure to comply with these Rules may lead to a disciplinary action. Council 
employees have a duty to report breaches of these Rules to an appropriate 
senior manager and the Director of Law and Governance under the Council’s 
Whistle-Blowing Policy. 

 

3. EXEMPTED CONTRACTS 

3.1 The following types of Contracts do not fall within the scope of the Rules, but 
Service Departments must still ensure VFM in these areas: 

(i) Contracts of direct employment 

(ii) Land Contracts (including leases, licenses, and transfers), which are 
subject to the Property Procedure Rules. Although some property 
transactions may fall within the scope of these Rules where Works, 
Goods or Services relate to the property transaction. Contact 
Procurement Services and Legal Services for advice. 

(iii) A Contract for the provision of arbitration, mediation, or conciliation 
Services, or of any other similar Services for the Council. 

(iv) Legal representation or the giving of legal advice by a lawyer in judicial 
proceedings or other dispute resolution proceedings.  

(v) Financial Contracts for the lending of money or currency, investment 
Services or activity, or of an ancillary Service, in relation to a financial 
instrument by an investment firm or a qualified credit institution. 

(vi) Grants of money, where there is no Service provision, measurement of 
outcomes or performance measures in place. 

(vii) Vertical and Horizontal Arrangements 

a) Where Contracts are either to be awarded between the Council 
and a controlled entity under the applicable ‘Teckal Company’ 
exemption, or via the ‘Hamburg’ conditions which establish or 
implement co-operation exclusively between the Council and 
other Council(s). In these circumstances, the Service 
Department must seek advice from Legal Services as to the 
application of the proposed Direct Award. These Contracts must 
follow appropriate Council governance and the procurement 
assurance process via the Exceptions and Waiver Form prior to 
entering the proposed Contract. 

Page 137

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/SitePages/Whistleblowing-Policy.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/SitePages/Whistleblowing-Policy.aspx
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23Exemptions
http://enfieldeye/downloads/file/9261/property_procedure_rules
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


 

Page 28 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

3.2 If there is doubt as to whether Contracting Activity is exempt, please check 
with Legal Services or Procurement Services. 

3.3 Please refer to Procurement Code or Procurement Legislation for a full list of 
Exempted Contracts. 

 

4. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

4.1 Executive Directors, Directors, and Heads of Service are responsible for 
ensuring: 

(i) Service Departments are compliant with the relevant Procurement 
Legislation and Rules in all commercial and Contracting Activity: 

(ii) VFM by carrying out a competitive process wherever possible.  

(iii) Proper market research and engagement is carried out to support 
specification and Contract development.  

(iv) Suppliers can deliver the requirement at an affordable cost and 
required quality at the time of going to the market, having regard for the 
right price/quality ratios, and are not Excluded, Excludable or Debarred 
Suppliers (See Rule 26). 

(v) All Council officers carrying out Contracting Activity are familiar with the 
provisions of these Rules and compliance with any Operational 
Processes set out in the Procurement Code, PSR Code, or Light Touch 
Services Code and guidelines issued in respect of these Rules.  

(vi) Service Departments and Contract Managers must ensure that all 
Notifications are complied with throughout Contracting Activity, 
including Contract variations, Terminations, and performance 
Notifications (where applicable), unless the Contracting Activity is being 
managed by Procurement Services, who will take responsibility for 
Notification. 

(vii) Service Departments engage with the Procurement Assurance Group 
(PAG) as set out in the Procurement Code for Gateway Reports, 
Contract Modifications, Terminations, Novations and Direct Awards/ 
Exceptions and Waivers. Support procurement planning through the 
development of the Annual Procurement Plan, by ensuring all 
Contracts are on the Procurement System, and new projects are on the 
Annual Plan. 

(viii) Service Departments ensure that Council governance processes are 
followed in addition to these Rules and taking responsibility for ensuring 
specifications are proportionate and meet the needs of the Council. 

(ix) Immediate action is taken in the event of a breach of these Rules within 
their Service Department. 

Page 138

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


 

Page 29 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

(x) All Service Departments’ Contracts are recorded and maintained on the 
Council’s Corporate Contract Register. Ensuring all records and reports 
of all decisions and Contracting Activity as set out in the Procurement 
Code are uploaded to the Procurement System, including minutes of 
Tender evaluation panels to ensure compliance with record keeping 
obligations under Procurement Legislation, the Council’s retention 
policy and which may be needed for audit or investigation purposes.  

(xi) When working with Procurement Services, information and resources 
are provided to support Contracting Activity to ensure that project 
deadlines are met, and a successful compliant process is carried out.  

(xii) Delivery of VFM throughout the lifecycle of the Contract through 
effective Contract Management, Contract reviews and performance 
monitoring in line with the Council’s Contract Management Framework 
and relevant Procurement Legislation. This Includes adherence to the 
Rules regarding Contract Modifications, Terminations, Novations and 
Performance Monitoring.  

(xiii) Contract budgets are monitored and managed.  In line with Financial 
Regulations ensuring all costs are managed (including internal and 
external costs), and any additional costs or overspends are approved 
by Finance Team, via the relevant Council governance report template 
where necessary. 

(xiv) That all Direct Awards are carefully considered and follow these Rules 
in all cases. The Exceptions and Waiver Form must be used to record 
the Contract and that this Contract is managed in the same way as all 
Contracts.  

(xv) Commissioning officers use the Council’s Standard Procurement 
Templates for Contracting Activity provided by Procurement Services to 
ensure a robust and compliant process, including Contract Templates 
provided by Legal Services. 

4.2 No Contracting Activity is started or awarded unless there is sufficient budget 
available for the Goods, Services or Works being Contracted and approved by 
the Finance Team and budget holder and recorded on the Procurement 
System. 

4.3 Service Departments must instruct Procurement Services via a Procurement 
Instruction Form to support all Contracting Activity over the Procurement 
Legislation Threshold or where the PSR Legislation is to be used. For 
Regulated Below Threshold Contracts refer to the Procurement Code for 
support offer. 

4.4 References to Council officers or posts in these Rules include their authorised 
deputies or delegates, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution and 
Council’s scheme of delegation. 

4.5 For the purposes of the Rules, the term “Contract” refers to both paper/hard 
copy (including their replication by electronic media) and electronic documents 

Page 139

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit%2FContract%20management%20Guide%20May%202023%2Epdf&viewid=45e904f5%2Dc257%2D41ae%2D8ea9%2Ddf1862659f46&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B67366EE8-2E7C-48E0-930E-8A2D6841249D%7D&file=Invitation%20to%20Quote%20(ITQ).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B67366EE8-2E7C-48E0-930E-8A2D6841249D%7D&file=Invitation%20to%20Quote%20(ITQ).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B6BC2D49E-7057-4642-A0B3-462325122FB3%7D&file=Procurement%20Instruction%20Form%20(PIF).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B6BC2D49E-7057-4642-A0B3-462325122FB3%7D&file=Procurement%20Instruction%20Form%20(PIF).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252


 

Page 30 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

and processes. Only e-Tendering/procurement systems approved by 
Procurement Services may be used. 

4.6 All Contracts MUST be awarded in accordance with these Rules, the Financial 
Regulations, and other relevant Council policies/governance. 

 

5. PROCUREMENT GOVERNANCE AND ASSURANCE 

5.1 The Procurement Assurance Group (PAG) is set up to ensure regulatory 
compliance, promote procurement best practice, provide assurance on 
procurement delivery and VFM for awarded Contracts. It covers all 
Contracting Activity, including Light Touch Services and PSR.  

5.2 All Contracting Activity over Procurement Threshold must come to PAG. For 
Below Threshold refer to the values set out in the Procurement Code. Where 
covered, Contracting Activity must be endorsed by PAG at each stage of the 
Gateway Process.  

(i) Gateway 1  – Pre-Procurement 

(ii) Gateway 2  – Procurement Strategy 

(iii) Gateway 3  – Award  

(iv) Gateway 3a  – Framework Agreement award 

(v) Gateway 4  – Contract Strategy Handover  

(vi) Gateway 5  – Contract Review 

5.3 PAG has the right to call any Contracting Activity for review by the group. 

5.4 Where Contracting Activity is covered by PAG and is not managed by 
Procurement Services, then the Service Department or 3rd party must 
complete the PAG gateway reports and present at PAG. Gateway report 
templates are available on request. 

5.5 All Contract Modifications, Terminations and Novations at the value set in the 
Procurement Code must by endorsed by PAG, to ensure compliance with 
Procurement Legislation and these Rules. 

5.6 Public Contracts over £5m where Performance reports are required (see Rule 
30), must be approved by the relevant Director and be endorsed by PAG prior 
to publication. 

5.7 All Contracting Activity covered by the Exceptions and Waiver Form over £30k 
or PSR Direct Award Form of any value  must come to PAG.   

5.8 Service Departments must engage with PAG where their Contracting Activity 
is covered by the procurement assurance process. Where there was no 
engagement then procurement implications will state there has been no 
engagement. Please refer to the Procurement Code for guidance on 
Thresholds. 

Page 140

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B32F0C88D-AFF4-44F0-836F-080409C1C34A%7D&file=PSR%20Direct%20Award%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 31 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

6. ANNUAL PROCUREMENT PLAN  

6.1 The Annual Procurement Plan will be compiled by Procurement Services for 
the start of the financial year. This supports: 

(i) Procurement resource planning 

(ii) Compliance to the Pipeline Publication Notification. 

6.2 The Annual Procurement Plan will set out all Contracting Activity for that 
financial year where Procurement Services will support delivery. Projects 
submitted after the approval of the Annual Procurement Plan, risk 
Procurement Services not having resources to support the project.  

 

7. RISK ASSESSMENT 

7.1 The Service Department must ensure that the risks associated with any 
Contracting Activity is assessed in line with the Council’s Risk Strategy using 
the Council’s Corporate Risk assessment template or other appropriate risk 
assessment template and must be documented on file.  

7.2 Appropriate actions must be taken to ensure that the Council’s potential and 
actual exposure is managed or minimised, this includes Supplier’s liability 
within the Contract.  Risks must be set out in any reports where appropriate.  
Where there is a high risk, financial checks must be carried out and 
appropriate procedures followed. 

7.3 Service Departments must adhere to the guidance in the Procurement Code 
on levels of insurance. 

7.4 For construction Contracting Activity refer to the Construction Guide for all 
risks and compliance with the Buildings Regulations and other construction 
compliance. 

 

8. INSURANCE 

8.1 Service Departments must ensure that each Contract includes adequate 
insurance requirements, seeking advice from the Council’s Insurance Team 
and undertaking a risk assessment to ensure the levels of insurance are 
adequate.  

8.2 Service Departments must carry out a risk assessment to determine risks 
associated with the Contract and insurance requirements to cover the 
identified risks associated with the Contracting Activity and Contract. The 
Council’s recommended minimum insurance requirements are set out in the 
Procurement Code. These are only recommendations and must be assessed 
proportionately with the risk of the Contract.   

Page 141

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23RiskInsuranceOtherFormsofSecurity
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetauditandriskmgmt/SitePages/riskmanagement.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23Insurance
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetauditandriskmgmt/SitePages/riskmanagement.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 32 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

8.3 Where Service Departments wish to deviate from these standard 
recommendations, then the revised insurance requirements and their 
supporting justification must be endorsed by PAG using the Exceptions and 
Waiver Form or appropriate gateway report. 

8.4 Contracts where there is direct advice and/or design Services provided by a 
Supplier, such as consultancy, design or advice, these Contracts must include 
a requirement for professional indemnity insurance. See Procurement Code. 

8.5 Where Purchase Order terms are used, the Service Department must assess 
whether these adequately cover risk, and it may be necessary to specify 
insurance levels in the specification or use a Contract Template from Legal 
Services where risk is not covered by the Purchase Order. 

 

9. DIRECT AWARD AND EXCEPTIONS TO COMPETITIVE 
TENDERING  

9.1 Carrying out a competitive contracting process is the best way to ensure VFM. 
Direct Award is only permitted in the limited circumstances set out in this Rule. 
Legal and Procurement Services advice must be sought. Please refer to the 
PSR Rule 21 for Direct Award procedures. 

9.2 This Rule can be applied in the following circumstances:  

(i) The Council has an existing suitable Contract in place for the Goods, 
Services or Works required and can be used. 

(ii) The Contract unambiguously provides in writing for a variation or an 
extension and meets the requirements of the Procurement Legislation 
(see Rule 29). 

(iii) Use of a Compliant Framework Agreement that permits Direct Award 
for the award of a call off Contract (See Rule 17). 

(iv) Any of the grounds under rules 9.3 to 9.11 apply.  

9.3 Direct Award for User Choice Services Contracts  

A User Choice Contract must be one that meets all of the criteria set out in the 
Procurement Legislation.  

(i) Must be set out in the Light Touch CPV codes 

(ii) Must be for the benefit of a particular individual or Service recipient  

(iii) Services where the Council are legally required to consider the views of 
the individual, or their carer, in relation to the supply of Services 

(iv) To use this ground the following conditions must be met: 

a) the individual or carer has expressed a preference as to who 
should supply the Service, or the nature of the Services is such 
that only one Supplier is capable of providing the Service, and 

Page 142

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made


 

Page 33 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

the Council considers that it is not in the best interests of the 
individual to carry out a competitive procurement process.  

9.4 Refer to the Procurement Code for recording these Contracts. 

9.5 Any Direct Award in the following sections 9.9 to 9.12 must meet the 
Procurement Legislation requirements, and must be endorsed in advance by 
PAG using the Exceptions and Waiver Form  prior to any form of commitment 
being given to a Supplier. The Service Department must justify why they are 
unable to demonstrate VFM through a competitive process and that the use of 
this Rule meets Council needs. Exceptions can only be approved if the total 
Contract value is below the Procurement Threshold or meets the relevant 
requirements of Procurement Legislation.  

9.6 All Direct Awards Notifications and standstill period must be adhered to in all 
cases (except User Choice Contracts), in addition to following Council 
governance and have a Contract.  Where required, Legal advice must be 
sought. 

9.7 Exceptions must also comply with Conflicts of Interest (Rule 18) Financial     
Due Diligence and Security (Rule 11) and checking Suppliers are not 
Excludable, Excluded or Debarred Suppliers (Rule 25). See Procurement 
Code. 

9.8 All Exceptions and Waiver Forms must be accompanied with: 

(i) Evidence of authority to award (see Rule 14) from the relevant 
Council officer according to their departmental scheme of delegation 
for the value of the Contract 

(ii) Copy of the Contract 

(iii) Written confirmation of budget and its approval from the Finance 
Team 

(iv) Financial Due Diligence in line with Rule 11 

(v) Completed Contract Tiering Tool (Rule 30)  

(vi) Evidence of Conflict of Interest assessed (Rule 18) 

Direct Award exceptions to competitive Tendering 

9.9 Single Suppliers criteria 

(i) The proposed Contract concerns the creation or acquisition of a 
unique work of art or artistic performance. 

(ii) Due to the Supplier having intellectual property rights or other 
exclusive rights, only that Supplier can supply the requirements, and 
there are no reasonable alternatives. 

Page 143

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


 

Page 34 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

(iii) Due to an absence of competition due to technical reasons, only a 
particular Supplier can supply the requirements, and there are no 
reasonable alternatives to those requirements. 

9.10 Additional or repeat Goods, Services or Works criteria 

(i) The Public Contract concerns the supply of Goods Services or 
Works by the existing supplier which are intended as an extension 
to, or partial replacement of, existing Goods, Services or Works in 
circumstances where: 

a) a change in Supplier would result in the Council receiving 
Services or Works that are different from, or incompatible with, 
the existing Services or Works, and 

b) the difference or incompatibility would result in disproportionate 
technical difficulties in operation or maintenance. 

(ii) The Public Contract concerns the supply of Goods, Services or 
Works by the existing Supplier that are similar to existing Goods, 
Services or Works where: 

a) the existing Goods*, Services or Works were supplied under a 
Public Contract that was awarded in accordance with a 
competitive tendering procedure within the period of five years 
ending with the day on which the Transparency notice is 
published, and 

b) the tender notice or any tender document in respect of that 
earlier Contract set out 

I. the Council intention to carry out a subsequent 
procurement of similar Goods, Services or Works in 
reliance on this direct award justification, and 

II. any other information specified in regulations. 

* If the contract is for the supply of Goods, relating to a Contract let under PCR 2015, 
contact Procurements Services or Legal Services.  

9.11 Urgency to protect life criteria 

(i) Where the Goods, Services or Works to be supplied under a Public 
Contract are strictly necessary for reasons of extreme and 
unavoidable urgency, and as a result the Public Contract cannot 
be awarded based on a competitive Tendering procedure. Lack of 
sufficient planning and/or internal process delays will not constitute 
special, exceptional, or emergency circumstances. 

9.12 Switching to Direct Award criteria 

(i) Refer to the Procurement Code for details and seek advice from 
Legal Services or Procurement advice.  

Page 144

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 35 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

9.13 All Exceptions are reported at the Council’s General Purposes Committee on 
an annual basis by Procurement Services, and quarterly to the Executive 
Director of Resource and Director of Capital and Commercial. 

 

10. APPLICATION AND WAIVER OF THE RULES 

10.1 These Rules apply to all Contracts for Goods, Services or Works entered by 
the Council, except where a Waiver of all or part of the Rules is approved. 
Waivers should only be sought in exceptional circumstances given the 
general presumption that competition is the best way to demonstrate VFM.  
Members have requested that Waivers be kept to a minimum and will 
scrutinise all Waivers. 

10.2 All Waivers must first be approved by the relevant Service Director and then 
sent to Procurement Services mailbox Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk. 

10.3 Application of a Waiver must be made via the Exceptions and Waiver Form 
and will be reviewed by Procurement Services at PAG for endorsement prior 
to being approved by the Executive Director of Resources. Waivers sent 
directly to the Executive Director of Resources will be referred to Procurement 
Services. 

10.4 All Waivers must be accompanied with: 

(i) Evidence of authority to award (see Rule 14) from the relevant 
Council officer according to their departmental scheme of 
delegation for the value of the Contract. 

(ii) Copy of the Contract 

(iii) Written confirmation of budget and its approval from the Finance 
Team 

(vii) Financial Due Diligence in line with Rule 11 

(viii) Completed Contract Tiering Tool (Rule 30)  

(ix) Evidence of Conflict of Interest assessed (Rule 18) 

10.5 Where the estimated total value of the Contract is over the Procurement 
Legislation Threshold the Council must comply with the requirements of 
Procurement Legislation. 

10.6 Contracts let via a Waiver must have documentation held on the Procurement 
System to create a record on the Corporate Contract Register. The record will 
be created by Procurement Services and will have relevant Notifications 
published as per the Procurement Legislation. 

10.7 Waivers must also comply with Conflicts of Interest (Rule 18) Financial Due 
Diligence and Security (Rule 11) and checking Suppliers are not Excludable, 
Excluded or Debarred Suppliers (Rule 25). See Procurement Code. 

Page 145

mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetAccountsPayableReceivable/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B9009CB4F-4CD5-4CA5-AE37-574060500D3D%7D&file=Supplier_Info_-_Waiver_Exception.xlsm&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Corporate%20Contract%20Register
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 36 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

10.8 Waivers will only be issued for a period of 12 months, unless agreed 
otherwise by Procurement Services or the Executive Director of Resources. 

10.9 All Waivers are reported at the Council’s General Purposes Committee on an 
annual basis by Procurement Services, and quarterly to the Executive Director 
of Resource and Director of Capital and Commercial. 

 

11. FINANCIAL DUE DILIGENCE AND SECURITY 

11.1 An Economic and Financial Standing Test must be carried out by the 
Council’s Finance Team for all Public Contracts, PSR Contracts and where 
permissible within Procurement Legislation for Regulated Below Threshold 
Contracts set out in the Procurement Code in accordance with this Rule.  

11.2 An Economic and Financial Standing Test will assess Suppliers’ financial 
capacity to perform the Contract and whether appropriate risk mitigations can 
be put in place to address any identified issues with Suppliers’ financial 
capacity. 

11.3 In addition to the Economic and Financial Standing Test, it is the responsibility 
of the Service Department to carry out a risk assessment using the Council’s 
Corporate Risk assessment template or other form of assessment to 
determine the risk of the Contract, specifically in regard to Supplier failure. 
The risk assessment and Economic and Financial Standing Test will 
determine if any security is required. The Economic and Financial Standing 
Test, Contract Tiering Tool and Supplier Resilience Tool will assist in 
determining any associated risks. 

11.4 Where it is assessed that a form of security is required, the Service 
Department MUST ensure that it considers VFM in deciding the type of 
security. Please refer to the Procurement Code for more guidance regarding 
the different forms of security. 

11.5 Security should only be considered in circumstances where: 

(i) a Supplier fails to meet the minimum requirements of an Economic 
and Financial Standing Test and/or is determined as high-risk 

(ii) a Contract is tiered as Platinum or Gold 

(iii) the Contract is for Works or 

(iv) a Special Purpose Vehicle has / is being proposed to be set up 

11.6 If a form of security is sought, then the relevant gateway report shall detail this 
and be presented to PAG for review and endorsement. For Regulated Below 
Threshold Contracts contact Procurement Services. 

11.7 Where it has been determined that a form of security is required but the 
Supplier cannot provide security, and the Council has no acceptable 
alternative Supplier or has decided to accept the level of risk, then the 
Exceptions and Waiver Form must be used to justify the recommendation, be 

Page 146

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23Security
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetauditandriskmgmt/SitePages/riskmanagement.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetauditandriskmgmt/SitePages/riskmanagement.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


 

Page 37 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

presented to PAG for endorsement. Procurement Services will seek approval 
from the Executive Director of Resources prior to any award and work 
commencing.  

11.8 The risk and implications for this recommendation must be set out in the 
relevant authority to award report, providing the reasons why the proposed 
Contract should be awarded despite the absence of security and what 
measures are to be taken to manage the risks. 

 

12. BUSINESS CONTINUITY 

12.1 To minimise risk and improve Service delivery resilience the Council has 
committed to implementing the London Resilience Standards.  This means 
that Suppliers must meet the Council’s resilience requirements. 

(i) Commissioning of public Services must include a requirement that 
organisations bidding for Contracts meet the Council’s resilience 
requirements and that those providers share information and data 
on the impact of disruptions such as severe weather or industrial 
action; and 

(ii) Projects, Contracts, initiatives and other organisational changes 
and developments always account for resilience to ensure that 
these enhance and do not weaken capability of the Supplier. 

12.2 In line with the Council’s Business Continuity Policy; during the risk 
assessment, Supplier failure or failure to deliver/perform must be assessed.  
Where delivery of the Services is assessed as critical, or there would be major 
reputational damage in the event of a Supplier failure to supply; then business 
continuity plans must be requested as part of the Contract and the Service 
Department must build in contingency plans.  These Suppliers must be 
identified in the Service Department’s Business Impact Analysis Form (BIA) 
and provided to the Emergency Planning Team.  This must also be 
considered where the Supplier supports the Council in the event of an 
Emergency/Disaster Recovery. 

12.3 In line with the Contract Management Framework, all Contracts designated as 
‘Platinum or Gold’ must be listed on the Service Departments BIA, must have 
a continuity plan, and this must be regularly discussed and tested at Contract 
Management reviews. There must be a nominated Contract Manager in the 
Councils Procurement System. 

12.4 All new Contracts over £30k and all Gold and Platinum must have a Supplier 
Resilience Tool test carried out.  The score of this test will determine how 
regularly the test needs to be carried out.  Where the risk score is high, then 
this must also be reported to the Emergency Planning Team. 

 

Page 147

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23BusinessContinuity
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Resilience%20Standards.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit%2FContract%20management%20Guide%20May%202023%2Epdf&viewid=45e904f5%2Dc257%2D41ae%2D8ea9%2Ddf1862659f46&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


 

Page 38 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

13. UK GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS (UK GDPR) 

13.1 Potential Suppliers must be assessed to ensure that they meet UK GDPR 
requirements. Specifically, regarding data storage and data handling.  It is the 
responsibility of the Service Departments to ensure any potential Supplier is 
compliant with the UK GDPR at the sourcing stage.  This must be part of the 
specification and review of UK GDPR implications must be carried out at the 
start of the project. 

 

14. CONTRACTING ACTIVITY GOVERNANCE – APPROVALS 

14.1 Service Departments must seek authority to start Contracting Activity, to 
award a Contract and to enter into a Contract. Even when there is no 
competitive Tendering, evidence of approval must be uploaded onto the 
Procurement System. 

14.2 It is the responsibility of the Service Department’s lead officer to obtain the 
necessary authority/approvals, via the relevant Council report template and 
where required seek advice from Governance Team on the Council’s 
governance process to be followed. 

14.3 Governance applies to all Contracting Activity including, Extensions, 
Variations, Terminations and Novations and must follow the same scheme of 
delegation. 

14.4 It is the responsibility of the commissioning officer and Service Department to 
ensure that they follow correct Council governance and submit the correct 
reports to get the correct approval levels. 

Page 148

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


 

Page 39 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

14.5 Governance Table 

Level of 
Authorisation 
and 
Acceptance. 

Estimated Total Contract Value 

Up to £500,000 

(Excluding VAT) 

£500,000 and over 

(Excluding VAT) 

Starting 
Contracting 
Activity. 

 

Authority to 
Procure 

All Contracting Activity needs approval.  

For Contracting Activity above £30k officers must gain written 
approval to start Contracting Activity.  This is either via an 
email or a Non-Key Officer Decision Report to be signed at 
the appropriate level within their Service area prior to starting 
activity.  

Contracts over £100k must have a Non-Key Officer Decision 
Report, and must be recorded on the SharePoint central 
recording  Decision Log. 

Key Decision Report and process must be followed.   

The forward plan description must state that the Key Decision is for 
Procurement and Award, so that the reference can be used for award. 

The authority to procure report, must set out the estimated total Contract 
value, route to market, evaluation/ award criteria and procurement 
strategy and Contract Management strategy. 

All Reports must have procurement implications and have engaged with 
PAG as per these Rules. 

Contract 
Modification 

Authority to: 

 Vary a 
Contract 

 Extend a 
Contract 

For modifications over £30k (including where a modification 
takes the Contract value above £30k)  the procuring officer 
must gain written approval via an email or a Non-Key Officer 
Decision Report to be signed at the appropriate level within 
their Service area to carry out the modification.   

Contracts over £100k (including where a modification takes 
the Contract value above £100k) must come to PAG (see 
Rule 29), and must have a Non-Key Officer Decision Report, 
must be recorded on SharePoint central recording  Decision 
Log. 

Where the Contract is over the Procurement Threshold 

Key Decision Report and process must be followed for extensions or 

variations where the value of the Contract Modification is £500k or over 
or creates savings of £500k or over.  

 

All Contract Modifications over £100k must come to PAG. 

P
age 149

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Contract%20Extension%20Variation%20Pro-Forma
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Contract%20Extension%20Variation%20Pro-Forma


 

Page 40 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

(including where the modification takes the Contract value 
over the Procurement Threshold) Legal advice must be 
sought to ensure compliance with Procurement Legislation. 

All Contract Modifications over £100k must come to PAG. 

Authority To 
Novate 

For Contracts over £30k the procuring officer must gain 
written approval to novate the Contract. This is either via an 
email or a Non-Key Officer Decision Report to be signed at 
the appropriate level within their Service area.   

Contracts over £100k must come to PAG, and must have a 
Non-Key Officer Decision Report, must be recorded on the 
SharePoint central recording  Decision Log. 

Legal advice must be sought to ensure compliance with 
Procurement Legislation. 

Novations Contracts over £100k must come to PAG as set 
out in the Procurement Code. 

Key Decision Report and process must be followed where the Novation 
of the Contract increases expenditure by £500k or more or makes 
savings of £500k or more.   

Where the Novation makes no difference to the original Contract value, 
a Standard Corporate Report Template to be signed at Director level 
should be used. 

Services must ensure that Financial Due Diligence checks are carried 
out on the new provider to ensure financial standing.  

Novations Contracts over £100k must come to PAG as set out in the 
Procurement Code. 

Authority to 
Award 

For Contracts over £30k the procuring officer must gain 
written approval to award a Contract. This is either via an 
email or a Non-Key Officer Decision Report to be signed at 
the appropriate level within their Service area.   

Contracts over £100k must have a Non-Key Officer Decision 
Report, must be recorded on the SharePoint central recording  
Decision Log.   

Where the Contract is over the Procurement Threshold Legal 
advice must be sought to ensure compliance with 
Procurement Legislation. 

Key Decision Report and process must be followed. 

The forward plan reference for authority to procure can be used for 
award only IF the description stated procurement and award. Where no 
KD was put on the Forward Plan, then a new KD will be needed. 

Reports must detail procurement process, extensions, whole life cost of 

the Contract, and Contract Management strategy. 

All awards must come to PAG via relevant gateway paper. 

P
age 150

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Contract%20Extension%20Variation%20Pro-Forma
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B8C7E4373-8C28-4093-81A8-A8DC12CEBFB8%7D&file=Contract%20Novation%20Pro-forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Councils%20Novation%20Process
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B8C7E4373-8C28-4093-81A8-A8DC12CEBFB8%7D&file=Contract%20Novation%20Pro-forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Councils%20Novation%20Process
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B8C7E4373-8C28-4093-81A8-A8DC12CEBFB8%7D&file=Contract%20Novation%20Pro-forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Councils%20Novation%20Process
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Councils%20Novation%20Process


 

Page 41 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

All awards over the threshold set out in the Procurement 
Code must come to PAG. 

Authority to 
Terminate 

Contracts over £100k must have a Non-Key Officer Decision 
Report, and recorded on the SharePoint central recording 
Decision Log.  

Where the Contract is over the Procurement Threshold Legal 
advice must be sought to ensure compliance with 
Procurement Legislation. 

All Terminations over £100k must follow Termination Pro-
Forma and come to PAG as set out in the Procurement Code. 

Key Decision Report and process may be needed if the implications of 
Terminating a Contract incur expenditure of over £500k or savings of 
over £500k. Advice must be taken from Legal Services, BEFORE any 
publication. 

Where the Termination makes no difference to the value of the Contract, 
a Standard Corporate Report Template to be signed at Director level 
should be used. 

Report must detail reasons for Termination and what future strategy is 
being put in place. 

All Terminations over £100k must follow Termination Pro-Forma and 
come to PAG as set out in the Procurement Code. 

P
age 151

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/CPRsreviewnewlegislationworkinggroup/Shared%20Documents/General/Reform%20Delivery%20&%20Workstreams/Workstream%203%20-%20CPRs%20&%20PSR%20incl.%20Principles/Councils%20Novation%20Process
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 42 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

14.6 Procurement Services will not support any Contracting Activity/project that 
cannot demonstrate approval to start Contracting Activity or budget approval 
including the capital governance framework. 

14.7 Where Tenders are returned above the estimated total value / budget 
approved, then the additional budget must be approved by the Finance Team, 
prior to Contract award.   

14.8 When carrying out Contracting Activity for Regulated Below Threshold 
Contracts, and Tenders are returned higher than the Procurement Threshold 
then the Contracting Activity is non-compliant and needs to start again as an 
Above Threshold activity. See Procurement Code. 

14.9 For Transparency and ease of decision making all reports seeking authority to 
award should confirm engagement with PAG.  Where there was no 
engagement then procurement implications will state there has been no 
engagement. 

 

15. SPECIALIST PROCUREMENT  

15.1 In all cases existing Council Contracts should be used where possible. 
Service Departments must contact the specialist department to ascertain if 
existing Contracts can be used. 

15.2 Where there is a requirement to undertake Contracting Activity and there is 
expertise and knowledge within a Service Department or responsibility has 
been given to a Service Department, the commissioning Service Department 
must meet and consult with the specialist department to ensure that existing 
Contracts are maximised and consolidated where possible. 

15.3 Services that must be procured by the specialist department or authority given 
from that department to proceed are set out in the Procurement Code. 

15.4 No external procurement support or outsourcing of procurement activity can 
be procured or appointed without the written approval of the Head of 
Procurement Services or deputy. Please refer to the Procurement Code for 
rules on third party access. 

15.5 No external legal advice is to be instructed or Contracts for external legal 
Services to be awarded without the prior approval of Legal Services.  

15.6 Procurement Services will not support any ICT related Contracting Activity 
unless approved by Digital Services.   

 

Page 152

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23SpecialistProcurement
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 43 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

16. ESTIMATING THE VALUE OF A CONTRACT  

16.1 Service Departments must estimate the value of a Contract as the maximum 
amount it could expect to pay under the Contract during its term including, 
where applicable, amounts already paid.  

16.2 When calculating the estimated total value of a Contract, the following must 
be considered: 

(i) the value of any Goods, Services or Works provided by the Council 
under the Contract other than for payment 

(ii) amounts that would be payable if an option in the Contract to 
supply additional Goods, Services or Works were exercised 

(iii) amounts that would be payable if an option in the Contract to 
extend or renew the term of the Contract were exercised 

(iv) amounts representing premiums, fees, commissions, or interest 
that could be payable under the Contract 

(v) amounts representing prizes or payments that could be payable to 
participants in the procurement 

(vi) That estimated values must include VAT 

16.3 If the Service Department is unable to estimate the total value of a Contract in 
accordance with this Rule (for example because the duration of the Contract is 
unknown), then the Contracting Activity must be carried out as if the Contract 
value is above the Procurement Threshold. 

16.4 It is a breach of these Rules to deliberately divide up Contracts to evade the 
need to follow a more complex/lengthy Contracting Activity route or evade the 
requirements of Procurement Legislation. Seek advice from Procurement 
Services. 

16.5 PA23 requires the Council to aggregate requirements for estimation of 
Contract value where the requirements could reasonably be supplied under a 
single Contract, unless there are good reasons for not doing so. 

16.6 Before publishing a Tender Notification, the Service Department must 
consider whether the requirement could not be broken into Lots and the 
requirement supplied under more than one Contract. There is a requirement 
to put justification in the Tender Notification if not dividing the Contract into 
lots for Public Contracts. See Procurement Code. 

16.7 Where the Contract value may change, due to uncertainty of the project or 
slippage, then this must be factored into the overall costs to ensure sufficient 
budget is approved for the project. Identify the risks and ensure that it is 
documented in Procurement Documents and Notification.  

16.8 Where a Contract is for several organisations and the Council is the lead 
authority, then the value of the Contract shall be the total value of the Contract 
for all the participating organisations. If the Council is not the lead authority, 

Page 153

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23CalculatingTheValueOfAContract
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 44 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

then the value of the Contract for the purposes of these Rules shall be the 
value of just this Council's proportion of the Contract. 

16.9 If the value of the Contracting Activity is less than 10% below the Procurement 
Legislation Thresholds, then officers must procure in accordance with the 
PA23 process for a Public Contract. 

16.10 Please refer to the Procurement Code for the estimation of Contract values 
for:  

(i) Concession Contracts 

 

17. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS & DYNAMIC MARKETS 
SYSTEMS 

17.1 The use of Framework Agreements and Dynamic Markets is not exempt from 
these Rules. 

17.2 All Frameworks Agreements used must be legally compliant and legally 
accessible to the Council. Due Diligence must be carried out for ALL 
Framework Agreements, including Financial Due Diligence in line with Rule 
11, either by: 

(i) Procurement Services for Contracts over Procurement Threshold 

(ii) Service Department for Regulated Below Threshold Contracts and 
log evidence with Procurement Services and upload to the 
Procurement System.  

17.3 Notifications in relation to Contracts awarded under a Framework Agreement 
must be carried out where required. See Procurement Code. 

17.4 Any use of a single Supplier Framework Agreement or Direct Award under a 
Framework Agreement must be presented to PAG via the Exceptions and 
Waiver Form or gateway form to demonstrate VFM. PAG reserves the right to 
challenge if VFM is not demonstrated and evidenced adequately. 

17.5 A call off from a Framework Agreement must be undertaken via the Council’s 
Procurement System otherwise the Exceptions and Waiver Form must be 
used to create the record in the Procurement System, and non-compliance 
will be recorded. 

17.6 Services who wish to create a Dynamic Market or Open Framework 
Agreement must instruct Procurement Services prior to starting any activity. 

17.7 Framework Agreements established under The Public Contracts Regulations 
2015, and call-off Contracts from those Framework Agreements, will be 
subject to The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 until the end date of the 
call-off Contract or expiry of the Framework Agreement. 

Page 154

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B511BD0FD-B7F3-475C-A990-B3520FFEADE7%7D&file=Framework-Due-Dilligence-Form.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


 

Page 45 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

17.8 Use of vendor neutral portals for Contracting Activity are at the permission of 
Procurement Services only via the Exceptions and Waiver Form and 
presented at PAG. See Procurement Code. 

 

18. CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

18.1 It is a legal requirement to identify and mitigate any conflicts of interest or 
potential conflicts of interest by carrying out a conflict-of-interest assessment 
prior to publishing a notice relating to any Contracting Activity.  This must take 
place before any Contracting Activity has taken place, again after any market 
engagement, and finally prior to any award or prior to publication of a Contract 
details notice or a Contract change notice.  

18.2 Throughout the Contracting Activity conflicts of interest and potential conflicts 
of interest assessments must be kept under review and revised/updated at 
each stage of Contracting Activity, including Contract Modification. 

18.3 Conflict of interest occurs when a person: 

(i) Acting for or on behalf of the Council has the ability to influence a 
decision to award a Contract under Contracting Activity, and 

(ii) They have a personal, professional, or financial interest (directly or 
indirectly) in the outcome of the procurement. 

18.4 Refer to the Procurement Code for guidance on how to manage and mitigate 
conflicts of interest. 

 

19. SUSTAINABLE AND ETHICAL PROCUREMENT POLICY 

19.1 At the Contracting Activity planning stage for the supply of Services, 
authorised officers must consider whether the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012 applies to those Services. This means that officers must consider 
how the Service they are procuring might improve the economic, social, and 
environmental well-being of the area and the Contract support Council 
objectives and outcomes to generate community benefits.   

19.2 The inclusion of the Sustainable & Ethical Procurement Policy must be 
considered for all Contracting Activity and is mandatory over the Procurement 
Legislation threshold. Service Departments are responsible for specifying 
requirements regarding the Sustainable & Ethical Procurement Policy that are 
in line with their departmental objectives, and the Council Plan. 

19.3 The Council’s Sustainable & Ethical Procurement Policy recommends the 
inclusion of up to 10% weighting for this sustainability element within all 
Contracting Activity over the Procurement Legislation threshold, or where it is 
relevant to include. Refer to the Procurement Code to ensure the correct 
processes are followed for implementation. 

Page 155

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 46 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

19.4 All Contracting Activity must be in accordance with the Council’s Sustainable 
& Ethical Procurement Policy as well as other Council agreed polices 
including but not limited to: 

(i) Modern Slavery Charter 

(ii) Construction Industry Charter 

(iii) Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

(iv) Climate Action 

(v) Fairer Enfield 

(vi) Fair Tax declaration 

 

20. PROCUREMENT THRESHOLDS 

20.1 All Contracting Activity covered by PA23 (excluding Contracting Activity for 
Healthcare Services that fall under the PSR) must be in line with PA23 and 
this Rule. All Contracting Activity for Healthcare Services that fall under PSR 
must comply with Rule 21 and the PSR Code. 

20.2 All Regulated Below Threshold Contracts must follow the requirements in this 
Rule regarding the number of Quotations set out in the table below, according 
to the estimated total value of the Contract. The requirements below are 
minimum requirements.  

20.3 Service Departments must ensure that Notifications are published where 
required.  See Procurement Code. 

20.4 Services Departments must consider Preliminary-Market Engagement prior to 
inviting Suppliers to bid and inviting more than the minimum number to cover 
for bidders withdrawing from the process.  

20.5 Please refer to Rule 16 on estimate value of the Contract. The estimated 
Contract value is the total value over the whole term of the Contract including 
any potential extensions and inclusive of VAT.  

20.6 It is against the Rules to deliberately disaggregate the value of a Contract and 
split the value up to reduce the number of quotes to be obtained or carry out 
multiple procurements to avoid the Rules. 

20.7 All Contracting Activity over the £5k must be carried out via the Council’s 
Procurement System. For quotations under this threshold, written evidence of 
the requirement and quotation must be maintained within a central repository 
within the Service Department. It is recommended to use the Procurement 
System for all competitive processes regardless of value, to protect against 
challenge. 

20.8 When seeking quotes on a regular basis officers must ensure that they offer 
opportunities to new suppliers as much as possible. Where same Suppliers 
are used on a regular basis then the Service Department must consider 
market development or setting up a Framework Agreement. Officers need to 

Page 156

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/4610/enfield-climate-action-plan-2020-environment.pdf
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/4660/Fairer-Enfield-Policy-2021-2025-Your-Council.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


 

Page 47 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

be mindful of Aggregation of spend and be mindful of Rule 20.6 on 
disaggregation. Procurement Services will monitor compliance with this 
requirement. 

20.9 Officers must consider seeking ‘best and final offer,’ for Regulated Below 
Threshold Contracts to ensure best value. 

Page 157



 

Page 48 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

20.10 Procurement Thresholds. 

Estimated Total 
Contract Value 
including VAT 

& possible 
extensions. 

Minimum 
No. of 
Quotations 

& Local 
Quotations 

Evaluation & 
Supplier 
Selection 

Additional Requirements 
(if applicable) 

Method of Issuing a Contract  Advertising or 
Notification 

Responsibility for 
Procurement Process 

Regulated Below Threshold Contracts Process 

Up to £30,000. 
Must be done 
via the 
Procurement 
System if over 
£5,000.  

1 quote. 

Must seek 
local Supplier 
in the first 
instance. 

Seek ‘best 
and final 
offer’. 

Check if 
Supplier is on 
Debarred list or 
should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 

 

Must seek best and final 
offer to ensure VFM. 

 Use of Purchase Order for 
Goods and Services, and 
limited Works Contracts 
only (see Procurement 
Code) or 

 Contract Template (or other 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) for more 
complex requirements or 
where the level of risk needs 
to be addressed.  

Advertising not 
required. 

 

Self-service in line with 
Rules and Procurement 
Legislation. 

 

Contracts from 
£30,001 to 
£100,000 for 
Goods and 
Services. 

Or 

£30,001 to 
£500,000 for 

3 quotes 

2 local 
Suppliers in 
the first 
instance 

Where VFM 
is better met 
by going to 

Ensure 
Suppliers meet 
conditions of 
participation and 
evaluation 
criteria. See 
Rule 25 

 

If less than three quotes 
are received the Service 
must seek the relevant 
level of approval within 
their Service to award and 
must ensure that VFM has 
been demonstrated. The 
decision must be recorded 
in writing and the decision 
retained in the 

 Use of Purchase Order for 
Goods and Services. For 
construction (Works and 
Services) See Procurement 
Code. or 

 Contract Template (or other 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) for more 
complex requirements, or 

Advertising not 
required where 
quotations are 
by invitation only 
from particular 
or pre-selected 
Suppliers. 

Where open 
competition 

Self-service via the 
Procurement System 
and in line with the 
Rules and Procurement 
Code. Must be visible 

on the Council’s 
Corporate Contract 
Register to meet 

Transparency code. 

P
age 158

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


 

Page 49 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

Works the open 
market then 
this must be 
the first 
option. 

Check that 
Suppliers are 
not on Debarred 
list or should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 

Ensure conflict 
of interest is 
assessed. 

 

Procurement System. 

Once selected winning 
bidder must ask for best 
and final offer to obtain 
VFM. 

Refer to the Construction 
Guide for Works Contracts. 

where the level of risk needs 
to be addressed.  

Please also refer to Rule 31 for 
requirements for sealing. 

Ensure added to the Key 
Decision List if Contract award is 
over £500,000. 

takes place then 
a Below 
Threshold 
Tender Notice 
must be 
published. See 
Procurement 
Code . 

In all cases 
must publish a 
Regulated 
Contract Details 
Notice. 

Must publish a 
Regulated Contracts 
Details Notice on the 
Find a Tender Service 
via the Procurement 
System for award. 

 

Contracts above 
£100,000 to 
PA23 Threshold1 
for Goods and 
Services  

Or 

£500,000 to 
PA23 Threshold 
for Works: 

Or  

£100,000 to 
Light Touch 
Threshold for 
Light Touch 

5 quotes. 

2 Local 
Suppliers 
where 
possible. 

Where VFM 
is better met 
by going to 
the open 
market then 
this must be 
the first 
option. 

If less than five quotes are 
received the Service must 
seek the relevant level of 
approval within their 
Service to award and must 
ensure that VFM has been 
demonstrated. The 
decision must be recorded 
in writing and the decision 
retained in the 
Procurement System. 

The decision must be 
recorded in writing and all 
documentation supporting 
the decision retained in the 
Procurement System. 

Once selected winning 

Up to £500,000: 

 Signature on Contract 
Template (or other form of 

Contract approved by Legal 
Services) or sealed by Legal 
Services if required 

Over £500,000: 

 Contract Template (or other 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) sealed by 
Legal Services 

Please refer Rule 31 
(requirements for sealing) 

Advertising not 
required where 
quotations are 
by invitation only 
from particular 
or pre-selected 
Suppliers. 

Where open 
competition 
takes place then 
a Below 
Threshold 
Tender Notice 
must be 
published. 

In all cases 
must publish a 

Self-service via the 
Procurement System 
and in line with the 
Procurement 
Legislation. Must be 
visible on the Contract 
register to meet 
Transparency 
regulations. 

Must publish a 
Regulated Contract 
Details Notice on the 
Find a Tender Service 
via the Procurement 
System for award. 

 

                                                 
1 *The Procurement Legislation thresholds change regularly, so please refer to the Procurement Code or intranet pages for up-to-date figures. 

 

P
age 159

mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx


 

Page 50 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

Services 

 

bidder must ask for best 
and final offer to obtain 
VFM. 

Refer to the Construction 
Guide for Works Contracts. 

 

 

Regulated 
Contract Details 
Notice. 

 

Public Contracts Process 

Above PA23 
Threshold2 for 
Goods, Services 
and Works and 
Light Touch 
Services 

Follow 
Procurement 
Legislation 
processes. 

Consider how 
to develop 
local market 
within the 
procurement 
and social 
value. 

Ensure 
Suppliers meet 
conditions of 
participation and 
evaluation 
criteria. 

Check that 
Suppliers are 
not on Debarred 
list or should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 

 

Ensure conflict 
of interest is 
assessed. 

A fully compliant process 
must be carried out in 
accordance with the 
processes set out in the 
PA23 for Public Contracts. 

Possible routes to market: 

 Open Procedure 

 Competitive Flexible 
Procedure 

 Frameworks 

 Dynamic Markets 

 Light Touch  

Up to £500,000: 

 Signature on Contract 
Template (or other form of 

Contract approved by Legal 
Services) or Sealed by Legal 
Services if required 

Over £500,000: 

 Contract Template (or other 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) sealed by 
Legal Services 

Please refer to Rule 31. 

Ensure added to the Forward 

Plan if award is over £500,000. 

Notifications 
must be 
published in line 
with the PA23 
and the 
Procurement 
Code. 

(See Light 
Tough Code) for 
all Notifications. 

Notifications 
apply if 
Procurement 
Process is 
Terminated. 

Standstill 
periods must be 
followed. 

Project managed by 
Procurement Services 
with engagement from 
Legal Services as 
appropriate. 

All procurements over 
the PA23 Threshold 
must follow processes 
set out in the PA23 and 
the Procurement Code. 

 

Service departments 
are responsible for: 

 Specification 

 Governance & 
authority 

 Evaluation 

                                                 
2
  *The Procurement Legislation thresholds change regularly, so please refer to the Procurement Code or intranet pages for up-to-date figures. 

 

P
age 160

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


 

Page 51 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

P
age 161



   

 

 

 

 

Page 52 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

21. PROVIDER SELECTION REGIME (PSR) 

21.1 Contracts that are covered (in-scope services) under the Provider Selection 
Regime (PSR), must refer to the Provider Selection Regime (PSR) Code, 
follow the appropriate route to market as set out within PSR Legislation, and 
NOT Rule 20, and follow PSR Code for Contract Modifications, and 
Notifications.  

21.2 When procuring relevant Health Care Services, the Council must act 
transparently fairly and proportionately and with a view to: 

(i) Securing the needs of the people who use the Services 

(ii) Improving the quality of the Services  

(iii) Improving the efficiency in the provision of the Services 

21.3 There is no minimum value for the application of the PSR and therefore 
MUST be applied to ALL Contracts regardless of value. 

21.4 The PSR is retrospective; therefore, any Contracts that are covered under the 
PSR must be extended or varied in line with PSR Legislation, including all 
Notifications. 

21.5 Contracts covered by the PSR must follow the CPR principles in all other 
respects including governance, record keeping, approval to start Contracting 
Activity, awarding, use of the Procurement System, PAG, and Contract 
Management. 

21.6 Any Contracting Activity that is covered by the PSR requires consultation with 
Procurement Services prior to starting a project. Procurement Services 
reserves the right to lead any PSR procurement project based on complexity, 
value, or risk. 

21.7 Where using the approved Direct Award routes as set out in the PSR, advice 
must be sought from Procurement Services and Legal Services regarding 
whether this route applies and the PSR Direct Award Form must be used.  

21.8 The PSR can only be used where the Contract is within the listed Common 
Procurement Vocabulary (CPV) codes set out under Schedule 1 (Relevant 
Health Care Services) and meets the PSR principles. Where necessary, 
please check with Procurement Services. 

 

Page 162

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B32F0C88D-AFF4-44F0-836F-080409C1C34A%7D&file=PSR%20Direct%20Award%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/regulation/4/made


   

 

 

 

 

Page 53 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

22. LIGHT TOUCH SERVICES  

22.1 For more in depth details of Contracting Activity covered by Light Touch 
Services process please refer to the Light Touch Services Code and follow 
guidance there for the approved routes to market, and necessary 
Transparency notices that must be published. 

22.2 The Light Touch process can only be used where the Contracting Activity is 
covered by the relevant CPV codes set out in Schedule 1 (Light Touch 
Services) of the PA23.  

22.3 All Contracting Activity must follow the PA23 regarding notices and timescales 
for Light Touch Services (see the Light Touch Code). 

 

23. NOTIFICATIONS 

23.1 Notifications are dependent on the type of Contracting Activity being carried 
out, and not just the Threshold. In some cases, several Notifications are 
needed for one Contracting Activity. Please refer to the Procurement Code, 
PSR Code or Light Touch Code for full details of Notifications and 
timescales. 

23.2 Procurement Legislation (including Light Touch Services and PSR) places 
obligations on the Council to publish Notifications throughout the life cycle of 
Contracting Activity.  

23.3 When and what Notifications are needed are dependent on the type of 
Contract and the value of the Contract. It is important to ensure that the 
Council remains compliant with Procurement Legislation by publishing all the 
Notifications that are needed and at the appropriate times as specified in the 
Procurement Legislation.   

 

24. PRELIMINARY MARKET ENGAGEMENT  

24.1 Prior to any preliminary-market engagement for Contracting Activity for Public 
Contracts, a Pre-Market Engagement Notice should be published.  Where no 
Pre-Market Engagement Notice has been issued then reasons for not doing so 
must be included in the Tender notice. See Procurement Code.  

24.2 Working with Procurement Services, the Service Department can review and 
engage the market to inform its forthcoming Contracting strategy. This may 

Page 163

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2024/9780348259728/schedule/1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

Page 54 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

include consultations with Suppliers and other forms of market research, but 
must not: 

(i) Use this phase to shortlist or pre-qualify Suppliers, it is an 
exploratory phase  

(ii) Base any specification on one Supplier’s capability or offering such 
as to distort competition 

(iii) Make any indication or commitment to Suppliers that their capability 
or offering may be preferred by the Council 

(iv) Suggest any procurement route which is not consistent with these 
Rules 

(v) Enter into negotiations about any form of delivery or price where a 
competitive procurement process has yet to take place. 

24.3 Any preliminary market engagement or research undertaken, including 
discussions with the market must meet the principles of equal treatment and 
Transparency and be fully documented on file and relevant information shared 
as appropriate. 

24.4 Service Departments must take steps to ensure that Suppliers participating in 
the preliminary market engagement are not put at an unfair advantage in 
relation to the award of the Contract which could have been avoided.   

 

25. RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS AND QUOTES 

25.1 Permission from Procurement Services must be obtained where the 
Procurement System is not used or to carry out a postal Tender.  All paperwork 
will be managed by Procurement Services, unless agreed otherwise. This 
includes submissions by post or where documentation/additional information in 
relation to the Tender is sent via post and not the Procurement System.  

25.2 By default, all Contracting Activity must be carried out electronically.  Tender 
closing times must be within working hours, and the commissioning officer 
must be available to deal with last minute clarifications and issues. 

 

26. AWARD CRITERIA AND EVALUATION 

26.1 The award of all Contracts shall be based on disclosed pre-determined award 
criteria, and/or conditions of participation and in accordance with Procurement 
Legislation and these Rules. 

Page 164

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23ReceiptingAndOpeningOfTendersAndQuotes
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


   

 

 

 

 

Page 55 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

26.2 For Contracting Activity covered by the PSR please refer to the PSR Code for 
further information on evaluation. 

26.3 In setting award criteria, the Service Department must be satisfied that they: 

(i) relate to the subject-matter of the Contract,  

(ii) are sufficiently clear, measurable, and specific,  

(iii) do not break the rules on technical specifications in regulation 56 of 
the PA 23, and  

(iv) are a proportionate means of assessing Tenders, having regard to 
the nature, complexity, and cost of the Contract.  

26.4 The Service Department must describe how Tenders are to be assessed in the 
Contracting Activity documentation, and the assessment (evaluation) must be 
properly moderated, and full and complete contemporaneous written records of 
the evaluation process must be maintained by the Service Department and 
uploaded onto the Procurement System. These will be needed to provide the 
assessment summary at award stage. Award criteria, scoring mechanisms and 
any weightings must be clearly set out in the Tender Documents to ensure 
Transparency. 

26.5 The Price/Quality ratio must be in line with Procurement Principles set out in 
the Procurement Code, any request to change these must be made via an 
Exceptions and Waiver Form and presented at PAG. 

26.6 For all Contracting Activity check Suppliers are not on the Debarred list. If so, 
contact Procurement Services prior to continuing. 

26.7 For Public Contract all Suppliers at evaluation must be checked for Mandatory 
Exclusion grounds. This includes Suppliers, subcontractors, or Connected 
Persons. 

26.8 For Public Contracts all Suppliers at evaluation must be checked for 
Discretionary Exclusion grounds.   This includes Suppliers, subcontractors, or 
Connected Persons. 

26.9 Contact Procurement Services if any Suppliers meet any of the Mandatory or 
Discretionary grounds for exclusion. 

26.10 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts over £30k, where a Supplier meets 
the Exclusion grounds contact Procurement Services prior to continuing. 

26.11 Please refer to the Procurement Code for information on how to assess 
Mandatory and Discretionary Grounds for Exclusion throughout the Contracting 
Activity  

Page 165

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

Page 56 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

26.12 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts the Council may not restrict the 
submission of Tenders/ quotations by reference to an assessment of a 
Supplier’s suitability to perform the Contract. This includes: 

(i) Legal and financial capacity 

(ii) Technical ability 

26.13 Rule 26.7 (i) and (ii) do not apply in relation to Works Contracts over the value 
set out in the Procurement Code, or Contracts awarded in accordance with a 
Framework. 

 

27. CONTRACT AWARD AND EXECUTION 

27.1 All Contract awards over £100k must have a separate report seeking approval 
to award. Contracts that are Key Decisions must be awarded in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution and must follow the Key Decision approval 
process.  

27.2 See Rule 14 for levels of authorisations and approvals. 

 

27.3 Prior to entering a Public Contract, the Council must publish a Contract Award 
Notice, which sets out the Councils intention to award a Contract, provide 
assessment summaries to each Supplier that submitted an assessed Tender, 
and comply with any Standstill periods.  See Procurement Code. 

27.4 The Council must publish a Contract Details Notice upon entering into a Public 
Contract or a Regulated Below Threshold Contract and this must be done 
within the timescales set out in the PA23 and Procurement Code. 

27.5 Prior to any award being made in the Procurement System, all approvals must 
be in place, any Council governance must have been followed, and then the 
relevant notices can be published. See the Procurement Code. 

27.6 Contracts can only be awarded by officers as set out in their departmental 
scheme of delegation and must have followed the Councils governance 
process set out in Rule 14.  

27.7 All Contracts must be awarded based on the advertised award criteria and 
conditions of participation included in the Tender documents, and cannot be 
changed after the receipt of submissions, unless in line with Procurement 
Legislation and after advice from Procurement Services and Legal Services. 

Page 166

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

Page 57 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

27.8 All Contracts awarded must  be recorded on the Council’s Corporate Contracts 
Register within the Procurement System, and relevant Notifications published. 

 

28. POST-TENDER NEGOTIATIONS 

28.1 Post-Tender negotiations for Public Contracts, may only take place if using the 
Competitive Flexible Procedure and the Tender documents expressly allow for 
negotiation. 

28.2 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts, best and final offer must be 
requested.  

 

29. CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS, NOVATION & 
TERMINATION TO CONTRACTS 

29.1 Extension milestones are an opportunity to review the scope of the Contract 
and look for savings if needed. It is the responsibility of the Service Department 
to ensure that Contracts are reviewed in good time and to identify if the 
Contract continues to demonstrate:  

(i) Good performance 

(ii) That it continues to meet the needs of the council 

(iii) Is within budget 

(iv) Continues to deliver VFM 

(v) It is in the interests of the Council to extend or vary. 

29.2 Conflicts of Interest must be assessed for decision making for this section. See 
Rule 18. 

29.3 All Contract modifications over £100k (including where the modification takes 
the Contract value above £100k), must follow the relevant Contract Extension 
Variation Pro-Forma and be presented at PAG. 

29.4 Public Contracts (except Light Touch) can only be modified where permitted 
under the Procurement Legislation as set out in this Rule.  

29.5 See Notifications Rule 23 in Procurement Code for details on Notifications and 
timescales. 

Page 167

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23PostTenderNeogtiations
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23VariationsToContracts
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23VariationsToContracts
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B675A42CB-09E8-45C8-A620-741FC3FA6D46%7D&file=Contract%20Extension%20&%20Variation%20proforma.docx=&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B675A42CB-09E8-45C8-A620-741FC3FA6D46%7D&file=Contract%20Extension%20&%20Variation%20proforma.docx=&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

Page 58 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

29.6 The Council may modify a Public Contract or a Contract that as a result of the 
modification becomes a Public Contract (Convertible Contract) if the 
modification (Permitted Modifications) is set out below:                                           

(i) Is set out in Schedule 8 Modifications below. (Rule 29.7- 29.12) 

(ii) Is set out in the non-Substantial Modifications below (Rule 29.13) 

(iii) Is set out in the ‘Below Threshold modification’ (Rule 29.14) 

(iv) relates to a Light Touch Services Contract 

 

Schedule 8 Modifications: 

29.7 Where the possibility of the modification was clearly detailed in the Contract 
Tender or Tender Notification and would not change the overall nature of the 
Contract. 

29.8 Where there is a need to respond to: 

(i) extreme and unavoidable urgency and as a result a competitive 
procurement is not possible, and the urgency is not caused by the 
Council and could not have been foreseen by the Council; or 

(ii) protect life, where the Contract could have been awarded by Direct 
Award under the PA23 and the Contract is a type that is permitted 
by regulations.  

29.9 Where unforeseeable circumstances demand a modification. This is only 
permitted if the circumstances could not have been reasonably foreseen, the 
modification would not change the overall nature of the Contract and it would 
not increase the value by more than 50%. 

29.10 Where a ‘Known Risk’ (see Definitions section) has materialised. This is only 
permitted if the following conditions are met: 

  

Page 168



   

 

 

 

 

Page 59 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

The Modification: 

(i) must not be because of any act of the Council or Supplier, or 
because of non-performance of the Contract.   

(ii) must not go further than to remedy the risk and the Council must be 
satisfied that awarding a Contract (instead of a modification) would 
not be in the public interest. 

(iii) does not increase the estimated value of the Contract by more than 
50%. 

(iv) In using this Rule, it must be considered if a new Contract would 
represent better VFM, and technical and operational matters. 

29.11 Where a modification provides for additional Goods, Services or Works already 
provided for in the Contract, where using a different Supplier would result in 
delivery different from or incompatible from those already provided and that 
this would create disproportionate technical difficulties in operation or 
maintenance or other significant inconvenience and substantial duplication of 
costs for the Council. This modification would not increase the value of the 
Contract by more than 50%. 

29.12 A Novation of a Public Contract to a Supplier (who is not Excluded or 
Debarred) following a corporate restructuring or similar. (Must follow the 
Councils Novation Process). The Contract with the new Supplier must be 
treated as a new Contract and be in line with these Rules and Council 
Governance. 

Non-Substantial Modifications: 

29.13 This means the modification does not:  

(i) increase or decrease the term of the Contract by more than 10% of 
the maximum term provided for on award 

(ii) materially changes the scope of the Contract; or 

(iii) materially change the economic balance of the Contract in favour of 
the Supplier. 

Below Threshold Modifications: 

29.14 Modifications below Threshold are permissible where:  

(i) the modification would not itself increase or decrease the estimated 
value of the Contract by more than 

a) 10% for Goods and Services. 

Page 169

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF88287B8-F328-4CC9-B937-B8D87013A7C0%7D&file=Novation%20Process.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

Page 60 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

b) 15% for Works. 

(ii) the aggregated value of below-threshold modifications would be less 
than the threshold amount for the type of Contract, 

(iii) the modification would not materially change the scope of the 
Contract, and 

(iv) the modification is not a Substantial Modification (ii) or a Schedule 8 
Modification. 

29.15 Regulated Below Threshold Contracts that are modified and as a result 
become a Convertible Contract (Public Contract), must going forward follow 
the Public Contract rules for Contract Management and further modifications.  

29.16 All Contract Modifications must have authority. See Rule 14. 

29.17 Contracts let under the PCR 2015 or Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 
will still be subject to that Legislation until the Contract natural end date and 
must follow the provisions of those Regulations for extensions and 
modifications. 

29.18 New PSR Contracts and Contracts let under the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 that are now covered by the PSR must follow PSR Legislation regarding 
Contract Modifications. See PSR Code. 

29.19 Public Contracts covered by the PA23 over £5m must also publish a redacted 
copy of the modified Contract. See Procurement Code. 

 

30. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

30.1 Contract Management is now part of Procurement Legislation and places 
obligations on the Council to ensure that Contracts are managed effectively.  
Contract Managers must ensure they remain compliant to the PA23 for Public 
Contracts with a value over £5m. 

30.2 Service Departments are responsible for carrying out effective Contract 
Management in line with the Councils Contract Management Framework to 
ensure VFM throughout the lifetime of the Contract. Service Departments must 
ensure there are sufficient resources, skills, and capacity to effectively manage 
the Contract and the Council receives the Goods, Services or Works as 
procured.   

30.3 Contracts over £100k must have a Contract Manager nominated in the 
Procurement System. 

Page 170

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit%2FContract%20management%20Guide%20May%202023%2Epdf&viewid=45e904f5%2Dc257%2D41ae%2D8ea9%2Ddf1862659f46&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


   

 

 

 

 

Page 61 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

30.4 Contract spend must be managed and monitored, and any additional budget or 
overspend must go through Council governance, and Contract Modification as 
set out in Rule 29. 

30.5 All Contracts over £30k must be classified using the Contract Tiering Tool to 
ensure the right level of Contract Management is carried out, including 
performance management, monitoring of budget and costs, strategic delivery 
and supply chain risk. 

30.6 Contract Managers must ensure that supply chain risk is monitored through the 
use of the Supply Chain Resilience Tool. These must be shared with 
Procurement Services and uploaded into the Procurement System. 

30.7 Public Contracts let under the PA23 with a value over £5m (with the exception 
of Light Touch Services Contracts, Concession Contracts and Frameworks 
Agreements) must have a minimum of 3 KPIs.  All KPIs for these Contract 
must be published, and regularly monitored, and performance reported every 
12 months. 

30.8 For Public Contracts over £5m Service Department must, once in every 12 
months assess the performance of the Supplier against the KPIs using the 
scoring mechanism set out in the Procurement Code. Draft performance 
reports must be agreed by the relevant Director and then presented at PAG for 
assurance, prior to publication of the Contract Performance Notification.  

30.9 All Public Contracts (except for User Choice Contracts) at Termination, either 
early or at the natural end of the Contract the Service Department must publish 
a Termination Notification. For Contracts over £100k the Termination Pro-
Forma must be completed and presented at PAG for assurance and 
publication. 

30.10 For a Public Contract Service Departments must immediately contact 
Procurement Services where the Supplier has breached its Contract which 
may result in: 

a) Termination 

b) Award of damages, or 

c) A settlement agreement between the supplier and the Council 

30.11 For a Public Contract Service Departments must inform Procurement Services 
where it considers that the Supplier: 

a) Is not performing to the Service Departments Satisfaction 

b) Has been given opportunity to improve performance and 

Page 171

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

Page 62 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

c) Has failed to do so  

30.12 Public Contracts covered by the PA23 over £5m must also publish redacted 
copies of the signed Contract, and any versions of Modified Contracts in line 
with Procurement Legislation. Contract Terminations must follow the Contract 
Termination Pro-Forma and be presented to PAG over £100k. 

30.13 Please refer to the Procurement Code for a full list of Contract management 
requirements under the Procurement Legislation. 

 

31. RECORD KEEPING 

31.1 Procurement Legislation requires that proper records are maintained. To 
ensure that there is a full audit trail of Contracting Activity, compliance with 
Procurement Legislation, Transparency regulations and Council retention 
policies, Service Departments must refer to the Procurement Code to ensure 
compliance with Council Policy. 

31.2 Service Departments must ensure that all Contracting Activity over £5k is on 
the Procurement System  and properly maintained to ensure that they are in 
the Council’s Corporate Contract Register. This ensures that the Council is 
compliant with Transparency regulations. Supplier spend that cannot be linked 
to a Contract and is not exempt may result in the Supplier being blocked.  

31.3 All Direct Awards, Framework Agreements and Exceptions and Waivers must 
be recorded in the Procurement System. This includes where there is only one 
Supplier which must be covered by an Exception.  

31.4 For PSR an annual report is required to record all Contracts let under the 
process and the decision making relating to the Contract.   Refer to the PSR 
Code. 

31.5 Service Departments must have in place a full auditable trail with authorisation 
and decision making using the correct Council governance report template or 
email and must ensure that decisions are authorised at the correct level of 
authority, and this is uploaded into the Procurement System for record 
keeping.  

   

32. CONTRACTS, TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

32.1 It is Council policy to use the Contract Templates maintained by Legal 
Services. In the limited circumstances where they are not appropriate (for 

Page 172

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23RecordKeeping
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents


   

 

 

 

 

Page 63 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

example, call off Contracts from Framework Agreements, or construction 
Contracts) then Legal advice must be sought to ensure the Contract is in a 
suitable form.   

32.2 It is the responsibility of the Service Department to ensure that all risks 
associated with the Contract are assessed and that the Contract supports the 
mitigation of risk, and performance management of the delivery of the 
Contract. See Rule 7. 

32.3 For Public Contracts over £5m as set out in Rule 30.8 a redacted copy of the 
Contract must be published within the timescales defined in the Notification 
Rule 23 (see Procurement Code). 

32.4 The Council does not allow for Contracts that have no defined end date (for 
example rolling Contracts).  Where the estimated Contract value is unknown 
then an Above Threshold process must be followed (see Rule 20) and refer to 
the Procurement Principles in the Procurement Code for guidance on uplifts. 

32.5 All Contracts must be signed and uploaded to the Procurement System  for 
record keeping.   A Contract must be sealed where: 

(i) The Contract is £500,000 or above in value (except for Contract 
extensions, where the Contract provides for extension by notice in 
writing). 

(ii) The Council wishes to enforce the Contract for a period of  more 
than 6 years.  

(iii) The price paid or received under the Contract is a nominal price that 
does not reflect the value of the Goods or Services.  

(iv) It is required by the parties.  

32.6 Legal Services are responsible for the process of sealing the Contracts. The 
affixing of the Common Seal of the London Borough of Enfield is attested by an 
authorised officer from Legal Services, whose signature will be seen as 
executing the Contract on behalf of the Council.  The Supplier must validly 
execute the Contract, and Legal Services should be consulted as to the 
appropriate execution clause.  

 

33. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION  

33.1 All Contracting Activity must be carried out in an open and transparent way.  
Officers must act with integrity and always follow the Councils Code of 
Conduct. 

Page 173

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranethr/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF75A7049-A8E9-49FF-8643-C5850413233C%7D&file=Employee%20Code%20of%20Conduct.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranethr/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF75A7049-A8E9-49FF-8643-C5850413233C%7D&file=Employee%20Code%20of%20Conduct.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

Page 64 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

33.2 Officers must ensure that they are not influenced by Suppliers during 
Contracting Activity which may prejudice the process. 

33.3 In all Contracting Activity officers must follow the processes for Conflict of 
Interest in Rule 18. See Procurement Code. 

 

34. GRANT FUNDING 

34.1 All applications for grants must be in line with the Councils Financial 
Regulations and must be recorded and reported to the Finance Team to meet 
government regulations. 

34.2 Where grant funding is used to deliver Service provision that will be subject to 
performance measures and outcomes then these Rules apply. If over the 
Procurement Threshold, then Procurement Services must be engaged at the 
application stage for timely entry onto the Annual Procurement Plan, to ensure 
resources are available to support the forthcoming procurement. 

 

35. IR35 RULES 

35.1 The Council has a policy of ensuring that all temporary staff are engaged 
through the Council’s Temporary Agency Contract unless agreed with Head of 
HR or Director of HR and OD. Permeant staff must be engaged via 
employment process. 

35.2 Any agency staff including education agency staff that are excluded from the 
Council Temporary Agency Contract, must follow these, Rules.  Procurement 
must only be used to procure Services and not to provide individual staff 
members. Officers must refer to the Principles of Managing Agency Workers 
and IR35 HR guidance before proceeding to procurement where IR35 may 
apply. 

35.3 The intermediaries’ legislation, known as IR35 Rules is designed to make sure 
Suppliers pay the required tax and National Insurance on earnings.  It is the 
responsibility of the Council for deciding the employment status of Suppliers. 
For provision of Services or consultancy the procuring officer must ascertain 
whether the provision falls within the IR35 rules. Refer to the HRMC site  to 
follow the online Employment Status Service test assessment process.  

35.4 If a Supplier is Contracted and it is later found that IR35 applied but was not 
considered, then back tax could be recovered from the Council for a period of 
up to 6 years.   The employment check must be uploaded into the Procurement 

Page 174

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23IR35
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ir35-find-out-if-it-applies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/check-employment-status-for-tax
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


   

 

 

 

 

Page 65 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

System as evidence where a consultant/individual has been procured. This is 
particularly important where the Supplier is a Personal Service Company.  

 

36. CONSULTATION 

36.1 For Housing procurement Contracts the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (LTA 
1985) may apply. Where applicable, officers must undertake the required 
consultation with leaseholders. Leaseholders can nominate Suppliers for 
invitation for quotation for Regulated Contracts (Below Threshold Contract) 
processes.  Officers must liaise with Home Ownership Services to clarify the 
requirements under the LTA 1985 before commencing any procurement likely 
to affect leaseholders. 

36.2 For all other procurements officers shall ensure that, where applicable, 
consultation with stakeholders is undertaken within the appropriate period of 
the procurement process. 

  

Page 175

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/70/contents


   

 

 

 

 

Page 66 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

37. GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS 

Advertising Where Request for Quotations and Tenders are advertised to 
the open market for opportunity. 

Aggregation Is the requirement to add together the estimated value of 
separate Contracts for meeting a single requirement.  
Procurement Legislation expressly prohibits the splitting of 
requirements into smaller units or orders to avoid the process 
relating to Public Contracts. 

Annual 
Procurement 
Plan 

Procurement plan for the financial year that sets out 
Contracting Activity, including extensions & terminations. 

Business Impact 
Analysis Form/ 
BIA 

Business Continuity Form for Emergency Planning. 

Bribery Act 2010 Bribery Act 2010  

Code of 
Conduct 

The Councils code of Conduct and how officers must carry out 
their duties in terms of conduct. 

Concessions A type of Contractual arrangement under which, rather than 
paying the Supplier to deliver a work or service, the Council 
grants the Supplier the right to exploit an opportunity and 
receive some or all of its income from third parties (e.g. the 
public), retaining the profit.   

Connected 
Person 

A person in relation to a supplier is a person with significant 
control over the supplier (as set out in Companies House). A 
Director or shadow director, a parent undertaking, or a 
subsidiary.  See Schedule 6 for full description 

 

Consultation A formal process to consult or discuss  

Contract Means an agreement between the Council and any other 
organisation, including another public authority, made by 

Page 176

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethr/Shared%20Documents/HR%20Advisory/Misconduct/Employee%20Code%20of%20Conduct(APRIL%20219).pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethr/Shared%20Documents/HR%20Advisory/Misconduct/Employee%20Code%20of%20Conduct(APRIL%20219).pdf


   

 

 

 

 

Page 67 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

formal agreement or by issue of a letter of acceptance or 
official purchase order for Works, Goods or Services. 

Contracting 
Activity 

Any action, process of decision making that relates to the 
creation of a Contract for the supply of Goods, Services or 
Works.  Including all elements of the sourcing cycle from 
market research, engagement, Tendering, evaluation, award, 
and Contract management to the end of the Contract term 
including Termination. 

Contract 
Management 

The management and monitoring of a Contract to ensure 
delivery and performance; including commercial elements and 
payments. 

Contract 
Manager 

Person responsible for the management of Council Contract to 
ensure delivery of performance and outcomes. 

Contract 
Management 
Framework 

The Councils Contract management framework, that sets out 
requirements for Service Departments to ensure that 
Contracts are effectively managed to deliver VFM. 

Contract 
Templates 

Standardised Contracts to be used by Service Departments 
and procuring officers that have been drawn up by Legal 
Services for the Contracting of Goods and Services (for 
Works, industry standard construction contracts such as the 
JCT or NEC suite are generally used). 

Convertible 
Contract 

A below Threshold Contract, that after modification has 
become a Public Contract, and therefore has become a 
Convertible Contract. 

Corporate 
Contract 
Register 

Corporate Register of Contracts held by Procurement Services 
within the Procurement System. 

Council’s 
Constitution 

Documents (s) that sets out how the Council is governed. 

 

Debarred 
Supplier 

Supplier that is on the Cabinets Office list of Debarred 
suppliers. 

Page 177

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252


   

 

 

 

 

Page 68 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

Directors Means Executive Directors and Directors of Enfield Council 

Direct Award Entering into a Contract where no competition has taken 
place. 

Dynamic Market Arrangement for the purpose of the Council awarding Public 
Contract by reference to Suppliers’ participation in the 
arrangements. 

Exception Contracting Activity where Direct Award is permissible in 
certain circumstances. 

Excluded & 
Excludable 
Suppliers 

Supplier that can be Excluded in line with the discretionary or 
mandatory requirements for exclusion. 

Exempted 
Contracts 

Contracting Activity that is not covered by the Procurement Act 
2023. 

Extension Facility to extend a Contract term.  

Financial 
Regulations 

Financial regulations forming part of the Council’s Constitution; 
that set out financial management regulations for the council. 

Framework 
Agreement 

An agreement with Suppliers which sets out the terms and 
conditions under which specific purchases can be made 
throughout the term of the agreement and which where 
necessary has been Tendered in accordance with 
Procurement Legislation. 

Goods Tangible products that can be consumable or non-
consumable. 

Hamburg Hamburg means contract entered into between two or more 
contracting authorities with the aim of achieving common 
objectives in connection with the exercise of their public 
function and carried out in the public interest. 

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Council Policy to improve the health and wellbeing of staff and 
residents of the borough 

Page 178

https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252&path=0


   

 

 

 

 

Page 69 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

Strategy 

Health Services Contracts that provide Services relating to health care 
provision but not social care. 

Horizontal 
Arrangement  

Contract or arrangement with another authority with the aim of 
achieving objectives the authorities have in common in 
connection with the exercise of their public functions, solely in 
the public interest. 

IR35 HRMC regulations regarding working regulations and TAX for 
agency workers, interims, and consultants. 

Key Decision  Council’s governance process for projects that meet the Key 
Decision criteria. 

Known Risk  

 

Means: 

a) Could jeopardise the satisfactory performance of the 
contract, but 

b) Because of its nature, could not be addressed in the 
contract as awarded and 

c) Was identified in the Tender or Transparency notice for 
award, detailing a description of the risk and possibility of 
modification 

Legislation Legal regulations set out by the Government. 

Light Touch 
Services 

The Services set out in the Public Procurement Regulations 
2024 that cover areas in Schedule 3; namely Adult social care 
and other areas listed in schedule 3. 

Local Supplier Supplier that is based in the London Borough of Enfield 

Modern Slavery 
Charter 

Charter signed by the Council to support the eradication of 
Modern Slavery; specifically, within the Council supply chain. 

Non-Key Officer 
Report 

Part of the Reports Process for Non-Key Officer Decisions. 

Page 179

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance%2FReports%2Dprocess%2DROD%2Dguidance%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance&OR=Teams%2DHL&CT=1713349584540&clickparams=eyJBcHBOYW1lIjoiVGVhbXMtRGVza3RvcCIsIkFwcFZlcnNpb24iOiI0OS8yNDAzMTQxNDcxOCIsIkhhc0ZlZGVyYXRlZFVzZXIiOmZhbHNlfQ%3D%3D


   

 

 

 

 

Page 70 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

Notification A Notice placed in the public domain to notify the market of 
Contracting Activity to ensure Transparency. 

Novation A Council Contract that is moved from one Supplier to another 
via corporate restructuring or similar.  

Open 
Framework 

A scheme of frameworks that provides for the award of 
successive frameworks on substantially the same terms. 

Operational 
Processes 

Processes that are not set out in the CPRs but support the 
process of Contracting Activity and are operational in nature. 

Performance 
Bond 

A bond issued by an insurance company or a bank to 
guarantee satisfactory completion of a project by a Supplier. 

Platinum or Gold 
Contract 

Contract classified as Platinum or Gold that will be either high 
value, high risk, complex or all the aforementioned. 

Price Quality 
Ratio 

Award criteria set out in the Procurement Principles on the 
ratio of Price and Quality within a Tender. 

Procurement Act 
Thresholds. 

Procurement 
Threshold 

Threshold set over which the Procurement Legislation applies.  

Procurement Act 
2023 (PA23) 

Procurement Legislation covering public procurement. Came 
into effect 28th October 2024. 

Procurement 
Assurance 
Group (PAG) 

Procurement Assurance Group, that oversees procurement 
assurance, and robust procurement governance is in place. 

Procurement 
Code  

Document that supports the CPR’s and sets out the processes 
and governance to be followed for all Contracting Activity.  
Provides more detailed information and links to supporting 
information to ensure compliance with these rules. 

Page 180

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

Page 71 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

Procurement 
Legislation  

Procurement Legislation covering Public Contract 
requirements for England. 

 Procurement Act 2023 & Public Procurement 
Regulations 2024 

 Provider Selection Regime 

 Public Contract Regulations 2015 

Procurement 
Principles 

Set of Principles set out to meet Council requirements and 
may change from time to time. 

Procurement 
System 

The Councils digital platform used for e-Tendering, Contract 
management and Council’s Corporate Contract Register, used 
to meet legislative requirements. 

Property 
Procedure Rules 

Rules set out to manage property procurement and form part 
of the constitution  

Provider 
Selection 
Regime (PSR) 

Procurement Legislation came into effect January 2024. 
Covers Health Services Contracts. A set of rules for procuring 
health care Services set out in the Health Care Services 
(Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023. 

Provider 
Selection 
Regime Code 

Document that supports the CPRs and sets out rules and 
operational processes in relation to the PSR. 

Public 
Procurement 
Regulations 
2015 

Procurement legislation came into effect 2015. Only applied to 
contracts let under this legislation. 

Public Contract A Contract of a kind specified in Procurement Legislation: 

A contract with a value of not less than the Procurement 
Threshold and: 

 Not an Exempted Contract 

 A framework 

Page 181

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

Page 72 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

 A concession contract 

Regulated 
Below Threshold 
Contract 

Contracts covered by the Procurement Act. Contracts let via 
Procurement Act 2023 which are below Threshold. 

Quotation A formal statement or promise usually submitted by a potential 
Supplier in response to a request for a quotation to supply 
specified Goods, Works or Services required by a purchaser at 
specific prices within a specific time frame. (A quotation should 
be distinguished from an Estimate, which is not a fixed price). 

N.B. A Contract arises on acceptance of a quotation. Unless 
otherwise specified a quotation may be subject to the 
Supplier's terms and conditions of business and those terms 
and conditions become part of the Contract.  Therefore, a 
request for quotations should specify that the quotation is 
subject to the Council’s terms and conditions.  

Resilience 
Requirements 

Resilience Requirements needed by the Council to mitigate 
risk in emergencies 

Schools Code Code setting out modifications within the Procurement Act 
2023 for Schools. 

Services Services such as maintenance of equipment, transportation, 
consultancy, technical Services. etc. as defined by the 
Procurement Legislation. 

Service 
Department. 

The Service 

Department or team within the Council, commissioning or 
carrying out Contracting Activity, who define the requirement 
and manage the Contract. 

SME 

(Small, Medium 
Enterprise) 

Small and medium sized enterprise supplier as defined in 
section 123 of the Procurement Act 2023. 

Special Service 
Vehicle 

A special purpose vehicle (also referred to as an SPV) is a 
legal entity created for a limited purpose. It’s created by a 
parent or primary company to isolate financial risks. In other 

Page 182



   

 

 

 

 

Page 73 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

words, in the event a parent company were to go bankrupt, 
the SPV company (which is essentially legally separate) 
will not be affected). 

Standard 
Corporate 
Report Template 

Standard Corporate Report Template to be used for any 
decision that meets the KD threshold of expenditure/savings of 
£500k or more and/or has a significant impact on the 
community in two or more wards. Should also be used for all 
Portfolio decisions whether they are Key or Non-Key 

Supplier A person/ company that will provide Goods, Service or Works 
to the Council.  

A bidder within a competitive process. 

Supplier 
Resilience Tool 

Tool used to ascertain the risk in the supply chain and the 
Supplier risk. 

Transparency Regulations relating to what is to be published in the public 
domain relating to Contracting Activity 

Teckal 
Company 

Is a specific type of entity used by Public Authorities to deliver 
local services without going through a competitive Tender 
Process. See Vertical & Horizontal arrangements. 

Tender A sealed bid submitted in response to an invitation to Tender, 
which invitation contains detailed information on requirements 
including a specification and terms and conditions 

Termination Where a Contract or procurement activity is stopped or ended 
(terminated). 

The Council London Borough of Enfield 

Threshold The value at which Contracting Activity must follow 
Procurement Legislation processes.   

Value for Money 
(VFM) 

Value for Money (VFM) is a balanced judgement about finding 
the best way to use public resources to deliver policy 
objectives.  

Page 183

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance%2FReports%2Dprocess%2DROD%2Dguidance%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance&OR=Teams%2DHL&CT=1713349584540&clickparams=eyJBcHBOYW1lIjoiVGVhbXMtRGVza3RvcCIsIkFwcFZlcnNpb24iOiI0OS8yNDAzMTQxNDcxOCIsIkhhc0ZlZGVyYXRlZFVzZXIiOmZhbHNlfQ%3D%3D
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

Page 74 of 210 
Section 4 of the Constitution 

 

 

 

 

Variation Any alteration, modification, addition to or deletion of any 
requirement of the Contract terms or specification. 

Vertical 
Arrangement 

A contract between a contracting authority and a person that is 
controlled by—  

a) the contracting authority,  

b) the contracting authority acting jointly with one or more 
other contracting authorities,  

c) another contracting authority, where that authority also 
controls the contracting authority referred to in 
paragraph (a), or  

d) another contracting authority acting jointly with one or 
more other contracting authorities, where the authorities 
acting jointly also control the contracting authority 
referred to in paragraph (a).  

Works The outcome of building or civil engineering as defined under 
the Procurement Legislation.  

 

 

Page 184



   

 

 

 

 

75 

 

 

 

 
Appendix C 
Procurement Code 
 

Procurement Code 
Use hyperlink index to go to relevant section 

Contents 
1. Introduction – Rule 1 ...................................................................................... 77 

2. Purpose – Rule 2 ............................................................................................ 80 

3. Exempted Contracts – Rule 3 ......................................................................... 80 

4. Roles and Responsibilities – Rule 4 ............................................................... 81 

5. Procurement Governance and Assurance – Rule 5 ....................................... 82 

6. Annual Procurement Plan – Rule 6 ................................................................ 83 

7. Risk Assessment – Rule 7 .............................................................................. 83 

8. Insurance – Rule 8 ......................................................................................... 83 

9. Direct Award and Exceptions to Competitive Tendering - Rule 9 ................... 86 

10. Application and Waiver of The Rules – Rule 10 ............................................. 88 

11. Financial Due Diligence and Security – Rule 11 ............................................. 88 

12. Business Continuity – Rule 12 ........................................................................ 91 

13. UK General Data Protection Regulations (UK GDPR) – Rule 13 ................... 92 

14. Contracting Activity Governance – Approvals – Rule 14 ................................ 92 

15. Specialist Procurement – Rule 15 .................................................................. 94 

16. Estimating The Value of a Contract – Rule 16 ................................................ 95 

17. Frameworks Agreements & Dynamic Markets Systems – Rules 17 ............... 97 

18. Conflict Of Interest – Rule 18 ....................................................................... 100 

19. Sustainable and Ethical Procurement Policy – Rule 19 ................................ 102 

20. Procurement Thresholds – Rule 20 .............................................................. 103 

21. Provider Selection Regime (PSR) – Rule 21 ................................................ 110 

22. Light Touch Services – Rule 22 .................................................................... 110 

23. Notifications – Rule 23.................................................................................. 110 

24. Preliminary Market Engagement – Rule 24 .................................................. 116 

25. Receipting and Opening of Tenders and Quotes – Rule 25 ......................... 116 

26. Award Criteria and Evaluation – Rule 26 ...................................................... 117 

27. Contract Award and Execution – Rule 27 ..................................................... 121 

Page 185



   

 

 

 

 

76 

 

 

 

28. Post Tender Negotiations – Rule 28 ............................................................. 122 

29. Contract Modifications, Novation & Termination to Contracts – Rule 29 ...... 123 

30. Contract Management – Rule 30 .................................................................. 126 

31. Record Keeping – Rule 31 ........................................................................... 128 

32. Contracts and Terms and Conditions – Rule 32 ........................................... 129 

33. Prevention of Corruption – Rule 33 .............................................................. 130 

34. Grant Funding – Rule 34 .............................................................................. 131 

35. IR 35 – Rule 35 ............................................................................................ 131 

36. Consultation – Rule 36 ................................................................................. 133 

37. Procurement Processes ............................................................................... 133 

38. Partnerships/shared services ....................................................................... 134 

39. TUPE ............................................................................................................ 134 

40. Supplier Creation and Paying Suppliers ....................................................... 134 

41. Procurement Activity Below £5,000 .............................................................. 135 

42. Glossary Of Defined Terms .......................................................................... 136 

43. Useful Documents ........................................................................................ 142 

44. Terminology Changes from PCR 2015 ......................................................... 143 

 

  

Page 186



   

 

 

 

 

77 

 

 

 

1. Introduction – Rule 1 

1.1 This Procurement Code (Code), MUST be used in conjunction with the Contract 
Procedure Rules (Rules) and form the Councils’ Contract Procedure Rules in how to 
carry out Contracting Activity. This document, together with the Rules, are the 
Councils rules outlining the key principles, procedures, and best practices to uphold 
throughout all Contracting activity. The Rules form part of the Councils Constitution 
and are therefore mandatory. 

1.2 From [28th October 2024] there will be three forms of Procurement Legislation that 
relate to Contracting Activity which these Rules cover: 

(i) Procurement Act 2023 (PA 23) that covers all Contracting Activity 
started on or after 28th October 2024 

(ii) Procurement Regulations 2024 and subsequent guidance 

(iii) Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCR 2015) that covers all 
Contracting Activity started before 28 October 2024, Contracts let 
before such date and call off Contracts under Framework Agreements 
set up under the PCR 2015 until their natural end. 

(iv) The Provider Selection Regime (PSR) that covers all Contracts that 
come under the definition of Health Services Contracts let under the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or PSR. 

1.3 This Procurement Code covers all Contracting Activity under the PA23 and Contract 
Modification under PCR 2015. There are separate Codes for specific parts of 
Procurement Legislation, however this Code still applies for all those elements 
regarding governance and best practice. Please refer to: 

(i) Provider Selection Regime Code (PSR Code) for Contracts covered by 
PSR Legislation 

(ii) Light Touch Services Code, for Light Touch Services Contracts 

1.4 Schools Code for which elements of the PA23 that do not apply to schools. 

1.5 The PSR Code is to be used for all Contracting Activity that is in scope of the PSR 
and sets out the routes to market, Contract Modification and elements that are 
unique to the PSR. For all other elements, this Code is to be used.  Refer to 
Procurement Services for any clarifications. 

1.6 The Light Touch Services Code sets out the differences to be applied to Light Touch 
Services Contracts and is to be used only for Light Touch Contracts. 

1.7 The Schools Code sets out which elements schools are exempt from the PA23. 

1.8 All Council officers at whatever role in the Council involved in Contracting Activity 
must read this Code and the Rules to ensure there is a thorough understanding of 

Page 187

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252


   

 

 

 

 

78 

 

 

 

how to carry out the steps within the Sourcing Cycle to ensure best practice and 
compliance to Council governance and Procurement Legislation.  

1.9 Contracting Activity means: 

(i) Procurement (all elements of the process) 
(ii) Direct Awards 
(iii) Exceptions & Waivers 
(iv) Variation & extensions 
(v) Terminations 
(vi) Novation 
(vii) Contract Management 
 

1.10 The PA23 asks Councils to ensure that all Contracting Activity is compliant, and that 
Service Departments do not enter into a Public Contract unless: 

(i) It is competitively awarded 
(ii) It is directly awarded under the special cases 
(iii) It is directly awarded after switching procedures  
(iv) Awarded under a Framework Agreement 

 
1.11 This document sets out the operational elements for Contracting Activity and these 

should be followed in conjunction with the CPR’s; both these documents together 
constitute the Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

1.12 The rules cover all Contracting Activity for Services, Goods or Works. These Rules 
relate to ALL Contracts entered, not just the procurement activity. Procurement 
Services must facilitate all Contracting Activity over the PA23 Threshold unless it is 
agreed. For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts it is the responsibility of the 
Service Department to follow self-service processes. 
 

1.13 The PA23 demands more transparency during the whole Sourcing Cycle, including, 
procurement, variations and extensions, terminations, and Contract Management. It 
is important to ensure that all transparency Notifications are actioned through the 
lifetime of the Contract. Failure to comply with the Notifications is a failure to comply 
with UK Legislation and may result in a challenge, it may also affect extensions and 
modifications in the future. 
 

1.14 Notifications must be published at all stages of the Contracting Activity process as 
stipulated by Procurement Legislation. 
 

1.15 Spend over £250 is published every month as part of the Councils’ transparency 
agenda, and Council Contracts over £5,000 MUST be published in the public 
domain.  Therefore, all Contracts MUST be promoted in the LTP to ensure that the 
Council is compliant to the transparency reporting and have documented evidence 
should the need arise to corroborate our decisions.  Suppliers will not be set up 
where the LTP project is not completed. 
 

1.16 The Procurement Services intranet site is kept up to date.  Information to support 
Service Departments with Contracting Activity is held here.  It is expected that 

Page 188

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
file:///R:/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Corporate%20-%20New%20Folder/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Manual%20New%20CPR's%20%20July%202020%20v3.docx


   

 

 

 

 

79 

 

 

 

Service Departments self-serve and use this site in the first instance prior to 
seeking support from Procurement Services. 
 

1.17 Please seek approval from Procurement Services where a 3rd Party is to carryout 
procurement, this is to ensure that they are fully familiar with procurement processes 
within Enfield.  They must follow the procurement consultant policy for 3rd parties. 
 

1.18 Where third parties have been commissioned to carry out Contracting Activity or 
Procurement on behalf of the Council then the 3rd party must follow these Rules and 
this Code, and it is the responsibility of the Service Department to provide them 
copies of all the documents needed. 
 

1.19 Procurement System 
 

1.20 The Council Procurement System is the London Tenders Portal and is to be used for 
all Contracting Activity over £5k.  E-Tendering is expected as part of the PA23 and 
the Council uses the London Tenders Portal for: 

(i) Compliance with UK regulations 
(ii) Corporate Contracts Register 
(iii) E-tendering tool to process procurement projects 
(iv) To ensure that procurements are transparent and compliant 
(v) Audit trail and compliance with Council’s transparency obligations 
(vi) Central repository for procurement information 

1.21 The London Tenders Portal is used to ensure that Contracting Activity is carried out 
in a compliant way and provides an audit trail, and ensures the Council meets its 
transparency obligations. 

1.22 All Contracting Activity over £5,000 must go through the London Tenders Portal; this 
includes: 

(i) All Contracts over £5,000 including ‘Call-Off’ Contracts from a 
Framework Agreement (see Rule 18) 

(ii) Frameworks over £5,000 
(iii) Collaborative procurement with other authorities over £5,000 
(iv) Any agreement (over £5,000) where a Purchase Order is used. 
(v) Competitive processes below £5,000 
(vi) Section 75 agreements 

1.23 Direct Awards via the Exceptions and Waiver Form will be added to the LTP and the 
relevant Notifications published. 

1.24 Support and guidance on using the London Tenders Portal giving step by step 
instructions is available on the Procurement Services intranet site.  Access is via a 
Form to be uploaded to Digital Services ServiceDesk.  Access for 3rd parties must be 
approved by Procurement Services prior to uploading into ServiceDesk. 

1.25 Use of other Procurement Portals must be approved by Procurement Services and 
the Contract must be entered into the LTP for central recording. Using the LTP 
ensures that the Council meets information retention policy, using another portal will 

Page 189

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B9215543F-631A-41AE-A2CE-6176A7160886%7D&file=procurement%20consultant%20pack%20April%202023.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/procurement-ltp.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B90C4C3B6-E445-4107-91E4-F10A5059357F%7D&file=LTP_User_Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

80 

 

 

 

not meet these obligations, and it will be necessary to duplicate information into the 
LTP.  It is the responsibility of the service to maintain the Contract register.   

1.26 Where a 3rd party/consultant is managing the procurement the Service Department 
must ensure that a member of the Service Department is added to the project in the 
LTP, as it is the responsibility of the Service Department to check compliance and for 
post award Contract management. 

2. Purpose – Rule 2 

2.1 Where a 3rd party/consultant is managing the procurement the Service Department 
must ensure that a member of the Service Department is added to the project in the 
LTP, as it is the responsibility of the Service Department to check compliance and for 
post award Contract management. 

2.2 The purpose of the Rules is to ensure that the Council is compliant with all 
Procurement Legislation and Council rules.  Suppliers can take legal action where 
the Council does not apply the Rules or follow Procurement Legislation and therefore 
it is important to protect the Council from risk of challenge. 

3. Exempted Contracts – Rule 3 

3.1 Where a 3rd party/consultant is managing the procurement the Service Department 
must ensure that a member of the Service Department is added to the project in the 
LTP, as it is the responsibility of the Service Department to check compliance and for 
post award Contract management. 

3.2 Exemptions are areas of spend that have been exempted by the Procurement Act 
2023.  These have been amended under the new PA2023. 

3.3 Exempted Contracts: 

(i) Vertical Arrangements 
(ii) Horizontal Arrangements 
(iii) Defence and Security contracts 
(iv) Utilities Contracts 
(v) Land and Building Contracts 
(vi) Broadcasting 
(vii) Electronic Communications Services 
(viii) Alternative dispute resolution 
(ix) Legal Services (judicial proceedings or dispute) 
(x) Financial Services 
(xi) Employment 
(xii) Emergency Services 
(xiii) Public passenger transport Services 
(xiv) Research and development Services 
(xv) International agreement and organisations 
(xvi) National security 
(xvii) Intelligence activities 

Page 190



   

 

 

 

 

81 

 

 

 

(xviii) Defence and security contracts 
(xix) Utilities contracts  

3.4 If the Rule on Vertical and Horizontal arrangements is to be applied, the Service 
Department must seek Legal advice on the application of this Rule. 

3.5 User Choice Contracts are no longer Exempt (if the value is above threshold), but 
Direct Award is permissible. Reporting on payment is needed for these Contract 
and will now need to be identified as Public Contracts and recording in the 
Contract Register will be needed. It is good practice to ensure that the principles of 
being open, transparent, equal, and fair are applied.   

3.6 It is still important to ensure that: 

(i) Budget is approved. 
(ii) Audit trail for decision making 
(iii) Value for Money 

3.7 Whilst not bound by the PA2023, there may still be advantages to carry out a 
competitive tender to ensure best value.   

3.8 In all cases when carrying out Contracting Activity the following will still be needed: 

(i) A specification or set of requirements to set out what the deliverables 
are and where and when they need to be delivered. 

(ii) A Contract (even a PO) to ensure that the Supplier adheres to Council 
Contractual arrangements. 

(iii) Management of the outcomes and outputs of the Contract to ensure 
that the Council is maintaining value for money. 

(iv) Performance management of the Supplier and Supplier resilience 
monitoring or risk and supply chain failure. 

3.9 In all cases the rules around the sealing and storage of Contracts still apply as these 
are Council rules. 

4. Roles and Responsibilities – Rule 4 

4.1 All officers or 3rd parties/consultants involved in Contracting Activity must 
ensure that they are aware of the Councils governance, CPRs and the 
operational rules within this Procurement Code. As a Local Authority there is a 
duty to protect the public purse. 

4.2 All Specifications for Public Contracts and for PSR Contracts must be 
reviewed by Procurement Services and authorised and approved in writing by 
the budget holder. 

Page 191



   

 

 

 

 

82 

 

 

 

4.3 Procurement Services will manage all Public Contract (above threshold) 
activity only.  Currently Below Threshold Contracts are self-serve, unless 
highly complex. Procurement Services will manage all PSR activity for the 
time being. 

5. Procurement Governance and Assurance – Rule 5 

5.1 The Procurement Assurance Group (PAG) has been created to provide 
‘assurance’ around the procurement process.  It is not a decision-making 
group.  Procurement Projects over threshold must come to PAG.  All 
Extensions, Variations, Novations and Terminations over £100,000 must come 
to PAG, to ensure compliance with Procurement Legislation and Notifications. 

5.2 Exceptions to this must be agreed at PAG. PAG meets weekly and consists 
of:  

(i) Procurement Services Representatives 
(ii) Legal Services Representatives 
(iii) Financial Services Representatives 

5.3 Procurement that falls under the following rules must come to PAG: 

(i) All above threshold procurements (including Frameworks) under the 
PA2023 

(ii) All mini competitions above threshold from Frameworks awarded under 
PCR2015 

(iii) All projects that fall under the PSR unless agreed 
(iv) All Contracts for construction over £2.5m 
(v) All Contract Extensions, Variations, Novations and Terminations over 

£100k 
(vi) All Direct Awards (Exceptions & Waivers and PSR Direct Award) 
(vii) All single provider Framework Agreements 
(viii) All Direct Awards from Framework Agreement 

5.4 Contracting activity that fall under (i) to (vii) above must be endorsed by PAG 
at each stage of the Gateway Process.  

(i) Gateway 1 – Pre-Procurement 
(ii) Gateway 2 – Procurement Strategy 
(iii) Gateway 3 – Award  
(iv) Gateway 4 – Contract Handover Strategy 
(v) Gateway 5 – Contract Review 

5.6 Award Reports should reference that the project has been through the 
Gateway Process. 

Page 192



   

 

 

 

 

83 

 

 

 

6. Annual Procurement Plan – Rule 6 

6.1 The Annual Procurement Plan will be compiled by Procurement Services for 
the start of the financial year. This will set out all procurement activity for that 
financial year that Procurement Services will support to deliver. Projects 
submitted after the approval of the Annual Procurement Plan risks 
Procurement Services not having resources to support the project. 

6.2 Service Departments must identify all new Contracting Activity and put it on 
the Annual Procurement Plan to ensure resources are available. 

7. Risk Assessment – Rule 7 

7.1 When carrying out Contracting Activity risk must be assessed.  This helps to 
identify relevant steps to mitigate or minimise any potential risk to the Council. 

7.2 These risks could be financial (financial failure), service affecting (performance 
or Supplier failure) or reputational.  Risk is not always due to the size/value of 
the Contract.  A small Contract could carry a high risk if it is controversial or for 
a high-risk area, such as IT security.  A risk assessment should be carried out 
at the start of the project; and continue to be reviewed throughout the project 
and lifetime of the Contract.   

7.3 The Council has a Risk Strategy and assessments should be carried out using 
the Council’s Corporate Risk  template.  These risks should be set out in the 
approval to procure and award report and what actions are being taken to 
minimise/mitigate these.  The template must be stored on the LTP for 
evidence.  

7.4 GDPR must also be considered when procuring, to ensure that if any personal 
data or client data processed by the Supplier is done in a compliant way. 

7.5 As part of good practice and to ensure that Equalities are considered an 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA) should be undertaken to understand the 
impact of the Contract on service provision and customers/residents/staff. 

8. Insurance – Rule 8 

8.1 It is important within the Contract that the correct levels of insurance are 
stipulated.  They may vary due to the type of Contract, and the levels of risk to 
be mitigated.  A risk assessment must be carried out to support identification 
of the type of insurance and the levels needed for mitigation. 

8.2 The PA23 asks that the Council considers barrier to SMEs, therefore 
insurance levels need to be proportionate to risk, and value of the Contract. 
Where Service Departments wish to deviate from the values set out below 
then the Exceptions and Waiver Form must be used. 

Page 193

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetauditandriskmgmt/SitePages/riskmanagement.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetauditandriskmgmt/SitePages/riskmanagement.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetAccountsPayableReceivable/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B9009CB4F-4CD5-4CA5-AE37-574060500D3D%7D&file=Supplier_Info_-_Waiver_Exception.xlsm&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

84 

 

 

 

8.3 The Council considers the following to be the minimum requirements for 
insurance: 

(i) Public Liability for each and every claim £10m 
(ii) Employers Liability each and every claim £10m 
(iii) Professional indemnity (seek advice from Insurance Team): 

a) Construction design £10m 
b) Consultancy/Advice £2m 

8.4 To decide on what type of insurance is required by the Contractor/Third party 
the Service Department must consider what Works/Services are being 
provided. A construction Contract will need different arrangements to a health 
Contract.  A Health Contract may need medical negligence for an example.  
Levels of insurance should be for each and every claim, however, there are 
issues with professional indemnity cover, and this may be aggregate, so 
Service Departments must check. 

8.5 The following are the main types of insurance that may be required by the 
Contractor/Third party in order to protect the Council: 

(i) Public Liability Insurance: Covers the cost of third-party claims 
following an accidental loss of/damage to property and/or injury.  

(ii) Product Liability insurance: Covers the manufacturer or trader 
against claims for loss of/damage to property and/or injury caused by a 
product the business has designed, manufactured, sold or supplied. 

(iii) Employers Liability Insurance: Covers the cost of claims made by 
employees of a company/organisation who are injured due to the 
negligent actions of the employer, during the course of their 
employment. 

(iv) Professional indemnity Insurance: Will apply where there has been a 
breach of duty by an insured (e.g., the consultant/provider) in their 
professional capacity arising from a negligent/accidental error or 
omission on their part. 

8.6 Where insurance levels have been requested, but the Supplier is unable to 
fulfil the required levels of insurance, there will be a ‘gap’ in the level of 
insurance.  In this situation another risk assessment is required and obtain the 
necessary approval via the Exceptions and Waiver Form to accept the risk 
that the Supplier only holds insurance at a lesser amount than the 
requirement. See guidance below:  

(i) Low risk – where the insurance gap is less than £2m, the decision to 
agree a lower level of insurance will sit with the relevant Executive 
Director of the team contracting the goods/Services. 

Page 194

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetAccountsPayableReceivable/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B9009CB4F-4CD5-4CA5-AE37-574060500D3D%7D&file=Supplier_Info_-_Waiver_Exception.xlsm&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

85 

 

 

 

(ii) Medium risk – where the insurance gap is between £2m and £25m, 
the decision to agree a lower level of insurance will sit with the 
Executive Director Resources and the Insurance Manager.  

(iii) High risk – In cases where the insurance gap is over £25m the 
decision to agree a lower level of insurance will sit with the Executive 
Director Resources and the Insurance Manager. 

8.7 Medical negligence/malpractice insurance 

8.8 Generally, provides cover to medical practitioners for injury claims from a 
patient as a result of an error or omission and/or breach of duty on the part of 
a medical practitioner.  

8.9 All Risks Insurance cover 

8.10 Provides cover for property (buildings/goods) for damage caused by standard 
perils (Fire, Lightning, explosion, aircraft, riot, malicious persons, earthquake, 
subterranean fire, storm, flood, escape of water, impact, subsidence and 
accidental damage).  

NB: Please note that for Public Liability, Products Liability, Employers Liability, 
Professional Indemnity and Medical Negligence/malpractice cover negligence 
must be proven for a claim to be successful. 

8.11 To decide on what the appropriate level of insurance a Supplier/Contractor 
should have, the Service Department will need to consider the following 
question: 

(i) ‘What is the maximum potential loss (guesstimate) the Council could 
suffer in any 1 year as a result of the Works carried out by the said 
provider’?  

8.12 Based on the risk assessment, this should have been identified, if this is no 
more than £10m then cover for that amount would not be unreasonable. If, 
however, it is considered the maximum loss to be more, then the service 
needs to make a decision on how much more (i.e., how many £1million loss 
incidents does the Council anticipate could occur?). The response to this will 
give an indication of how much additional insurance should be in place. 

8.13 For context the Council’s own insurance policies have the following limits: 

(i) Public liability £50 million 
(ii) Employers’ liability £50 million 
(iii) Professional indemnity £1 million   

8.14 Service Departments must assess the risk themselves and decide on the 
appropriate level of cover.  

Page 195



   

 

 

 

 

86 

 

 

 

8.15 In order to ensure that the Council is adequately protected Service 
Departments must: 

(i) Look at what type of work the provider will be doing for the Council 
(ii) the associated risks that work entails, 
(iii) in conjunction with assessing the maximum potential loss the Council 

could suffer in any one year because of the work being undertaken by 
the provider.  

9. Direct Award and Exceptions to Competitive Tendering - Rule 9 

9.1 Under the PA23 there are situations where Direct Award is permissible. This 
Rule must be studied and justified when it is applied.  Remember that VFM 
cannot be demonstrated by applying this rule and should only be used in 
exceptional circumstances.  Members are keen for Service Departments to 
carry out competitive processes wherever possible. 

9.2 For Public Contracts, Notifications and standstill period apply to Direct Awards 
(except User Choice Contracts).   

(i) Transparency Notice 
(ii) Contract Award Notice 
(iii) Contract Details Notice 
(iv) Publish Contract if over £5m  

9.3 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts a Below Threshold Contract Award 
notice is needed.  

9.4 Where Direct Award is carried out outside of this Rule the Service Department 
must ensure compliance to PA23 and Notifications. 

9.5 Exceptions must also comply with Conflicts of Interest (Rule 21) Financial Due 
Diligence and Security (Rule 11) and checking Suppliers are not Excludable, 
Excluded or Debarred Suppliers (Rule 26). See Procurement Code. 

9.6 All Contracting Activity covered by this Rule must have followed the same 
governance as a competitive process.  All Exceptions and Waiver forms must 
be accompanied with: 

(i) Authority to award from the relevant Council Officer in the Scheme of 
Delegation for the value of the Contract 

(ii) Copy of the Contract 
(iii) Confirmation of budget and its approval from the Finance Team 
(iv) Financial Due Diligence in line with Rule 11 
(v) Completed Contract Tiering Tool  (Rule 31)  
(vi) Evidence of Conflict of Interest assessed (Rule 21). 

9.7 Complete list of exemptions: 

Page 196

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

87 

 

 

 

(i) Prototypes and development 
(ii) Single Suppliers 
(iii) Additional or repeat goods, Services or Works 
(iv) Commodities 
(v) Advantages terms on insolvency 
(vi) Urgency 
(vii) User Choice Contracts 
(viii) Defence and Security 

9.8 User Choice Contracts are now subject to the Procurement Act 2023 but are 
exempt from Notifications.  This means that while Direct Award is permissible, 
payments made under these contracts are subject to reporting.  This means 
these Contracts must be recorded to ensure compliance to payment 
notifications. Contracts set up under this Rule must complete a User Choice 
Contract Recording Form.   

9.9 Switching to Direct Award 

9.10 Close attention to the PA23 must be made if using this route to Direct Award. 
The use of the Exceptions and Waiver form must be used and an assessment 
of risk must be undertaken, and the use of this Rule will be assessed at PAG. 

9.11 Switching to a Direct Award can only be used in the following conditions: 

(i) Where the Council has invited Suppliers to submit tenders as part of, or 
requests to participate in a competitive tendering process in respect of 
the Contract, it may award the Contract directly if: 

a) no suitable tenders or requests were received, and  
b) it considers that award is not possible under the circumstances. 

(ii) A tender or request is not suitable where the Council considers that: 

a) it would be disregarded in an assessment of Tenders for not 
meeting the conditions of participation, being from a Supplier that 
is not a UK or treat state Supplier or being an abnormally low 
tender (see Rule 26) 

b) it does not satisfy the Councils requirements or the award criteria 

c) There is evidence of corruption or collusion between Suppliers or 
Suppliers and the Council 

d) It materially breaches a procedural requirement in the tender 
notice or tender documents. A breach is material if the Council 
considers that ignoring it would put the tender at an unfair 
advantage. 

(iii) The Council may carry out a selection process or take such other steps 
that it may consider appropriate prior to making a Direct Award. 

Page 197

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


   

 

 

 

 

88 

 

 

 

9.12 All Exceptions must be via the Exceptions and Waiver form and presented at 
PAG. They are reported quarterly to the Director of Finance – Capital and 
Commercial and annually at the General Purposes Committee.  These go to 
procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk to approve and create a Contract on the 
LTP. 

9.13 Exceptions can only be approved if they are in line with the PA23 on Direct 
Award, otherwise a Waiver will be needed. 

9.14 Refer to the Framework Agreement (Rule 17) section of this Manual for 
following mini competition Rules.   

10. Application and Waiver of The Rules – Rule 10 

10.1 The Council wants to ensure that Contracts deliver VFM through a competitive 
process.  Waivers are Direct Awards, and therefore cannot demonstrate VFM 
and will not be compliant with PA23 unless they fall within the Direct Award 
grounds (see Rule 9 and this Rule) or are below Threshold.  Members are 
quite clear that Waivers should only be sought in exceptional circumstances. 

10.2 All Waivers are reported annually at the Council’s General Purposes 
Committee by Procurement Services. All Waivers must be agreed locally by 
the Service Departments Director and then sent to Procurement Services.  
These will be reviewed at PAG and then sent to the Executive Director for 
Resources for approval. 

10.3 Where the estimated total value of the Contract is over the Procurement 
Legislation Threshold the Council must comply with the requirements of 
Procurement Legislation. 

10.4 Waivers will only be issued for a period of 12 months, unless agreed otherwise 
by Procurement Services or the Executive Director of Resources. 

11. Financial Due Diligence and Security – Rule 11 

11.1 When assessing risk; the financial health, capacity to perform and deliver 
should also be reviewed.  

11.2 As part of the Council’s financial due diligence, it may be necessary to have 
appropriate forms of security in place to cover and mitigate any associated 
risk(s) to the Council. The Economic and Financial Standing Test, Contract 
Tiering Tool  and Supplier Resilience Tool will assist in determining the 
associated risks. 

11.3 Economic and Financial Standing Tests 

Page 198

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
mailto:procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

89 

 

 

 

11.4 The Council’s methodology and assessment of Economic and Financial 
Standing Test must be transparent and objective within the Contracting 
Activity process. 

11.5 The reasons for undertaking an Economic and Financial Standing Test of 
Suppliers as part of a procurement process are to: 

(i) Assess the risk to public sector business and/or public money which 
would result if a potential Supplier bidding for a Contract opportunity 
was to go out of business during the life of the Contract, or have 
inadequate financial resources to perform the Contract and deliver on 
its obligations, and  

(ii) When justified, eliminate from a procurement process any potential 
Supplier whose current financial capacity would pose an unacceptable 
risk to business and/or public money.  

11.6 Procurement law requires that requirements of potential Suppliers to 
demonstrate Economic and Financial Standing are related and proportionate 
to the subject matter of the Contracting Activity and are limited to those that 
are appropriate to ensure that the Supplier has the financial capacity to 
perform the contract. Therefore, all assessments of Suppliers’ Economic and 
Financial Standing should be proportional to the nature of the Contract, its 
complexity and value ensuring protection of taxpayer value. The Contract 
Tiering Tool is used to set out the Economic Standing Test methodology, to 
ensure proportionality. See Rule 26 and Rule 26.7 on Regulated Below 
threshold contracts. 

11.7 All potential Suppliers, whatever their size or constitution, should be treated 
fairly and with equal diligence during the appraisal of economic and financial 
standing. For example, no SMEs, public service mutuals or third sector 
organisations should be inadvertently disadvantaged by the assessment of 
economic and financial standing.  

11.8 Economic and financial standing should only be considered as part of the 
conditions for participation. It may not, on its own, reflect potential Suppliers’ 
ability to deliver. In accordance with PA23 Section 22(3) audited accounts and 
evidence of insurance should not be required to be submitted or in place 
before the award of Contract except in limited circumstances. Speak to 
Procurement Services 

11.9 Platinum and Gold tiered Contracting Activity 

11.10 Contracts tiered as Platinum or Gold should follow the requirements of a full 
and comprehensive Economic and Financial Standing Test during the 
Contracting Activity process. This shall be considered, devised, and tailored 
by the assigned lead within the Finance Team 

Page 199

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

90 

 

 

 

11.11 Silver and Bronze tiered Contracting Activity 

11.12 For Contracts tiered as Silver or Bronze, the Finance Team should use an 
Equifax credit report as the starting point to undertake the economic and 
financial standing Test and may also include simplified ratios. Should this 
assessment identify any issues for a potential Supplier against the pre-
determined minimum requirements set out within the procurement documents, 
the Finance Team should interrogate this further and request clarification or 
supplementary information (via the Procurement Lead) from the Supplier. 

11.13 Where Contracts are classified as Silver or Bronze but is above the relevant 
Procurement Threshold, an Equifax credit report alone cannot be solely used 
to undertake the Economic and Financial Standing Test to pass (or fail) 
Suppliers. 

11.14 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts the Council must not set or assess 
a Supplier’s suitability to perform the Contract (i.e. legal and financial capacity, 
or technical ability) as a way of reducing the number of Suppliers to be invited 
to Tender, except where the Contract is a Works contract and has an 
estimated value of not less than £214,904 (the threshold for services/supplies 
under the PA23)  

11.15 Forms of Security 

11.16 Following the Rules to ascertain if security is required. Then an assessment is 
required to determine what type of security will provide the best value. There 
are varying types of security, which can take one of the following forms:   

(i) Parent company, ultimate holding company or holding company 
guarantee where their finances prove acceptable, 

(ii) Director’s guarantee or personal guarantee where their finances prove 
acceptable, 

(iii) Any other security as determined by the Finance Team. 

11.17 Where a form of security is required but the Supplier cannot provide security in 
line with this Rule,  and the Council has no acceptable alternative Supplier or 
has decided to accept the level of risk, then the Exceptions and Waiver Form 
must be used to justify the recommendation, be presented to PAG for 
endorsement. Procurement Services will seek approval from the Executive 
Director of Resources prior to any award and work commencing. 

11.18 Monitoring the ongoing Economic and Financial Standing of Suppliers 

11.19 The Economic and Financial Standing of the Council’s contractual 
arrangements classified as Platinum, Gold and Silver Contracts and any other 
key Suppliers should be reviewed at least once per year. Therefore, the 

Page 200

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


   

 

 

 

 

91 

 

 

 

assigned Contract Manager within the Service Department shall review and 
complete the Supplier Resilience Tool annually.  

11.20 Where the Supplier Resilience Tool Classification is rated High Risk or 
Medium Risk, the Contract Manager must liaise with the relevant member of 
the Finance Team to determine the appropriate actions and request relevant 
mitigations from the Supplier. 

11.21 Note, while monitoring the Council’s key Suppliers, this should also take a 
wider view of a Supplier’s business and financial health and the level of risk. 

12. Business Continuity – Rule 12 

12.1 When carrying out business continuity plans Service Departments must 
consider key Suppliers that deliver front line Services or who are important to 
delivery of the Service.  These must be listed in the Service Departments 
Business Impact Analysis.  Service Departments should also consider 
having a paper list of key Suppliers in case of emergencies, with contacts 
details etc.  

12.2 Think about situations such as Brexit or Covid-19 where it may be necessary 
to speak to all key Suppliers to understand the impact on them, and how this 
may impact on their ability to deliver Services to the Council.  The emergency 
situation may affect different Suppliers in different ways, and not all situations 
may affect all Suppliers.  Economic Standing Tests may be necessary in some 
emergency situations to ensure continuity.  See Rule 11  

12.3 To minimise risk and improve Service delivery resilience the Council has 
committed to implementing the London Resilience Standards.  This means 
that Suppliers must meet the Councils Resilience Requirements: 

(i) Commissioning of public Services must include a requirement that 
organisations Tendering for Contracts meet the Council’s resilience 
requirements, and those providers share information and data on the 
impact of disruptions such as severe weather or industrial action; and 

(ii) Projects, Contracts, initiatives and other organisational changes and 
developments always account for resilience to ensure that these 
enhance and do not weaken capability of the Supplier. 

12.4 In line with the Council’s Business Continuity Policy; during the risk 
assessment, Supplier failure or failure to deliver/perform should be assessed.  
Where delivery of the Services is assessed as critical, or there would be major 
reputational damage in the event of a Supplier failure to supply; then Business 
Continuity Plans should be requested as part of the Contract and Services 
should build in contingency plans. 

Page 201

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Resilience%20Standards.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

92 

 

 

 

12.5 This must demonstrate how the Supplier will continue to support Services to 
the Council should there be some incident or issue at a national, local level or 
at the Supplier site.  It is recommended as part of any Contract review or 
Contract Management meeting that these are reviewed to ensure they are fit 
for purpose.  

(i) Has the Supplier tested them? 

(ii) Has the Supplier implemented them, if so, how did this work? 

12.6 These Suppliers must be identified in the Service Departments Business 
Impact Analysis Form and provided to the Emergency Planning Team.  This 
should also be considered where the Supplier supports the Council in the 
event of an Emergency/Disaster Recovery. 

13. UK General Data Protection Regulations (UK GDPR) – Rule 13 

13.1 These Suppliers must be identified in the Service Departments Business 
Impact Analysis Form and provided to the Emergency Planning Team.  This 
should also be considered where the Supplier supports the Council in the 
event of an Emergency/Disaster Recovery. 

13.2 Potential Suppliers must be assessed to ensure that they meet GDPR 
requirements. Specifically, regarding data storage and data handling.  GDPR 
elements MUST be considered at the planning stage of the project.  It is the 
responsibility of the procuring officer to ensure that any potential Supplier is 
compliant with the UK GDPR at the tendering stage. 

13.3 This should be ascertained at the Tendering/quotation stage.  Please contact 
the Councils Data Protection Officer at the start of the project to ensure 
compliance with UK GDPR requirements. 

13.4 Please seek advice from the Council’s Data Protection Officer on the data 
protection role of the Council and ensure that appropriate data protection 
clauses are in the Contract seeking advice from Legal Services, where 
required.   

13.5 It may be necessary to consider non-disclosure agreements if working without 
a Contract. 

14. Contracting Activity Governance – Approvals – Rule 14 

14.1 Council governance must be followed throughout the whole of the Sourcing 
Cycle for Contracts and Contracting Activity and evidence stored on the LTP.  
Approvals must be in writing and signed off by the relevant person under the 
Service Departments Scheme of Delegation that can approve Contracting 
Activity and for the relevant value.   

Page 202



   

 

 

 

 

93 

 

 

 

14.2 Approval must be sought for (but not limited to): 

(i) Approval to start Contracting Activity, strategy, and budget 
(ii) Approval to award Contracts following Contracting Activity 
(iii) Approval to vary or extend a Contract 
(iv) Approval to terminate a Contract  
(v) Approval to terminate a Contracting Activity 
(vi) Approval to Novate to a new Supplier 
(vii) A Direct Award (including Waiver or Exception) 

14.3 It is the responsibility of the Service Department to gain authority and 
Procurement Services will not support any Contracting Activity that does not 
have evidence of approval to start Contracting Activity.   

14.4 Refer to CPRs approval table for full explanation. 

14.5 All Contracting Activity must have approval. Low value may only need written 
approval via an email.  

(i) Over £100k need to use the Non-Key Officer Decision Report and 
recorded on the SharePoint Decision Log. 

(ii) £500k and above it must follow the Key Decision process using the 
Corporate Standard Report Template (DAR) in line with Council 
Governance.  

14.6 All Reports that relate to Contracting Activity must clearly set out the strategy 
and process that the Service Department will follow, any risks identified and 
how these will be mitigated/managed, changes to liability or insurance and 
have Procurement Services implications.   

14.7 Award reports must set out the procurement route to market, evaluation 
criteria and reasons for award and must detail any deviation from the initial 
estimated budget. It may be necessary to use the Confidential Appendix for 
commercially sensitive information. Reports must state compliance with PAG, 
where the Service Department has not engaged with PAG then this will be set 
out in the procurement implications. 

14.8 Where a Key Decision process was used to gain authority for budget or 
authority for a strategy or concept, this cannot be used for authority to procure 
or award, unless the forward plan description stated procurement, and the 
report set out the procurement. 

14.9 In line with Council Governance any Contracting Activity over £500k must 
have a Standard Corporate Report Template (DAR) produced by the Service 
Department and listed on the Forward Plan, this includes any concession 
Contracts where the costs or the income is equal to or greater than £500k, 

Page 203

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1


   

 

 

 

 

94 

 

 

 

Contract Modifications over £500k.  The authority report must be approved in 
accordance with the Scheme of Delegation and Council governance. 

14.10 All Contract Modifications over £500k (or make savings of £500k or over) will 
need a Key Decision.   

14.11 A signed copy of the Non-Key Officer Decision Reports must be recorded on 
the SharePoint Decision Log. 

15. Specialist Procurement – Rule 15 

15.1 In all cases existing Council Contracts should be used for aggregation of 
spend and efficiency. The Council has created ‘Service Areas’ and moved 
common activity into teams.  These areas manage the specialist areas and 
must be consulted when letting a Contract that comes with their area. 

15.2 In some cases, such as Digital Services, Procurement Services and Legal 
Services then these teams have a ‘centralised’ function and are the lead for 
the Council and in these cases no procurement for these Services should be 
made outside of these Service Departments unless agreed.  

15.3 Some areas may not have a centralised budget but do have the corporate 
responsibility for these areas.  The Services Department for this area must be 
contacted to ensure that in the first instance ‘corporate Contracts’ (e.g., FM) 
are used or any compliance with any relevant trade regulations or legislation 
for that area etc. 

15.4 In the case of CCTV, Service Departments must ensure that correct legal 
requirements are used and use Suppliers that are compliant to correct industry 
standards. 

15.5 Procurement Services will not support ICT procurements that are not led by 
Digital Services, this is to ensure compliance with data regulations, security 
regulations and integration into the Councils IT network. 

15.6 No external legal advice is to be instructed or sought without the prior approval 
of Legal Services. 

15.7 No procurement Services may be externally commissioned without approval 
from Procurement Services.  Access for 3rd parties to the LTP must be 
approved by Procurement Services.  If 3rd parties are commissioned then any 
risk or challenge from the procurement process will sit with the Service 
Department, therefore it is vital that the Service Department are clear that the 
3rd party is compliant with the CPR’s and this Code. 

15.8 Third parties must be compliantly procured and have a Contract and 
confidentiality agreement if not in the Contract. 

Page 204

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE19161CE-751C-43D5-96EF-1C0031B5FDF1%7D&file=Report-Template-2023-Amended.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

95 

 

 

 

15.9 Specialist Areas: 

(i) Digital Services 
(ii) CMFM (Construction) 
(iii) CMFM (Security) 
(iv) CMFM (Cleaning) 
(v) Housing 
(vi) Regeneration 
(vii) CCTV 
(viii) Children’s & Adults 
(ix) Legal Services 
(x) Procurement Services 
(xi) Financial Services 

15.10 Corporate Contracts must be used for: 

(i) Stationery 
(ii) Cleaning and Janitorial Supplies 
(iii) PPE 
(iv) Pre-Paid Cards 
(v) ICT Services 
(vi) Translation and Interpretation 

16. Estimating The Value of a Contract – Rule 16 

16.1 It is important to ensure that the estimated cost of the Contract is properly 
carried out prior to any Contracting Activity commencing.  The estimated 
Contract value determines which route to market is needed, and governance 
that must be followed.  If the estimated total value of the Contract is 
underestimated, then there is a risk of noncompliance with the Council’s 
Governance and Current Procurement Legislation. For the purposes of 
estimating the Contract Value it must be INCLUSIVE OF VAT; Values relating 
to Governance are Excluding VAT.  

16.2 The estimated cost of the Contract must include ALL costs, including but not 
limited to the amount the Council could expect to pay including the following: 

(i) The value of any goods, Services or Works  

(ii) The value of any Contract extensions or renewal of the term of the 
Contract 

(iii) The value of any premiums, fees, commissions, or interest that could 
be payable 

(iv) Value of any prizes or payments that could be payable to participants in 
the procurement 

(v) Any additional work or provision that is likely to go to this Supplier later 
(this must also be added to the Tender Notification). This should be 

Page 205



   

 

 

 

 

96 

 

 

 

included where possible and stated in the Tender Notice or the Tender 
documents. 

16.3 Under the PA23 where a Contract value is unknown or cannot be estimated 
(for example because the contract duration is unknown) then the Contracting 
Activity must follow an above threshold process.  All Contracts must have a 
start and end date to comply with the PA23. 

16.4 Contracts repeatedly let on an annual basis do not provide VFM and will be 
seen as disaggregation and circumvention of the Council’s Rules. Remember 
that aggregation will apply where repeated Contracting with the same Supplier 
year on year occurs.  The PA23 asks that money already paid is taken into 
account, and that if the term is unknown then an above threshold procurement 
must take place, therefore it is vital that Regulated Below Threshold Contracts 
have the correct term, that covers the whole provision. 

16.5 If the aggregation over many years breaches the PA23 threshold, then a full 
above procurement must take place. 

16.6 Information that might assist in estimating the Contract value could include: 

(i) Current cost of any Contract 
(ii) Spend/budget currently being spent 
(iii) Budget available in the future 
(iv) Market forces and price 
(v) Benchmarking information 
(vi) Other Council spend or information in the public domain 
(vii) Market engagement/research 
(viii) Is it a one off, or likely to want more after an initial delivery? 

16.7 If the Contract is with other organisations and the Council is the lead authority, 
then the value is the total cost of the Contract, with all the other organisations.  
Where the council is not the lead authority then only the value of the council’s 
element is needed. 

16.8 Lots 

16.9 The introduction of Lots within procurement is not disaggregation; and can 
help smaller Suppliers (SME’s) to bid for work.  The PA23 asks that lots be 
considered. The Service Department when designing a competitive Tendering 
procedure above the Procurement Legislation threshold must consider: 

(i) Whether the goods or service or Works to be supplied could reasonably 
be supplied under more than one Contract: and 

(ii) Whether such Contracts could appropriately be awarded by reference 
to lots. 

16.10 The Service Department must then: 

Page 206



   

 

 

 

 

97 

 

 

 

(i) Arrange for the award of the Contract or Contracts by reference to lots 
or 

(ii) Provide reasons for not doing so. 

16.11 The Service Department may limit the number of participating Suppliers by 
reference to lots, in respect of which and how many any one Supplier can 
submit a tender for. 

16.12 If the value of the Contracting Activity is less than 10% below the Procurement 
Legislation Thresholds, then officers must procure in accordance with the 
Procurement Legislation process for a Public Contract. Contact Procurement 
Services to discuss this. If bids are returned and they are over the value of the 
Procurement Threshold, then the procurement will be non-compliant. 

16.13 For Concessions the following calculation must be followed 

16.14 The Council must estimate the value of a concession Contract as the 
maximum amount the Supplier could expect to receive under or in connection 
with the Contract including, where applicable, amounts already received 

16.15 The amount a Supplier could expect to receive includes the following: 

(i) amounts representing revenue (whether monetary or non-monetary) 
receivable pursuant to the exploitation of the Works or Services to 
which the Contract relates (whether from the Contracting authority or 
otherwise) 

(ii) the value of any goods, Services or Works provided by the Contracting 
authority under the Contract other than for payment  

(iii) amounts that would be receivable if an option in the Contract to supply 
additional Services or Works were exercised  

(iv) amounts that would be receivable if an option in the Contract to extend 
or renew the term of the Contract were exercised  

(v) amounts representing premiums, fees, commissions or interest that 
could be receivable under the Contract  

(vi) amounts received on the sale of assets held by the Supplier under the 
Contract. 

17. Frameworks Agreements & Dynamic Markets Systems – Rules 17 

17.1 Use of Frameworks Agreements must follow the CPR’s and are subject to the 
PAG process and must be led by Procurement Services when over Threshold 
unless stated otherwise.  Framework Agreements are still subject to Council 
Governance.  Therefore, if the cost of the Contract is over the PA23 threshold 
then Procurement Services  must be instructed. If over £500k then the Key 

Page 207

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B5E1C504E-4A9F-4922-8DEE-14CADF820DB8%7D&file=Procurement%20Instruction%20Form%20(PIF).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

98 

 

 

 

Decision process must be followed.  Where the Service Department intend to 
create a Framework then Procurement Services must be contacted. 

17.2 Where additional call offs from the Framework Agreement are made, then 
these may be subject to additional Contracting Activity and approval, and must 
follow the same processes as the original call off, in regard to Notifications, 
Conflict of Interest checks (Rule 21) and checking if the Supplier is Debarred, 
Excluded or Excludable (Rule 26) 

17.3 The use of single Supplier frameworks or Direct Award to a framework must 
come to PAG via the Exceptions and Waiver Form for review and 
endorsement to demonstrate VFM. 

17.4 Frameworks are provided by purchasing organisations that have already 
carried out a procurement exercise.  Generally, they are a ‘shortlist’ of pre-
qualified Suppliers that has been through a procurement process and are able 
to be ‘called off’ to provide provision.  Frameworks Agreements do offer a 
quicker and easier way to market, but do not always offer Best Value.  Full 
route to market analysis must be carried out to be clear that this offers Best 
Value and if there are any Framework Agreement fees.  

17.5 When using a Framework Agreement, the Framework Agreement rules must 
be followed to be compliant.  Direct Award is only permissible if the 
Framework Agreement rules allow, otherwise mini competition is required.  
Due Diligence must be carried out by the Service Department and logged with 
Procurement Services and evidence uploaded to the Procurement System. 
For over threshold Procurement Services will carry out the Due Diligence if 
managing the activity. 

17.6 Framework Agreements are subject to Notifications in the same way as other 
Public Contracts see Rule 23, including those Notifications applicable to 
Contracts over £5m. 

17.7 The LTP Quick Quote must be used when calling from a Framework 
Agreement, and any for any further competition.  Where the LTP has not 
been used then the Exceptions and Waiver Form must be used and sent to 
Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk.  

17.8 Where ‘mini competition’ is needed, then this must be classed as a 
procurement exercise and the Quick Quote template used in the LTP.  Have 
clear criteria for selection by reference to the award criteria for the Framework 
Agreement and allow reasonable time for Suppliers to respond to the 
quotation/Tender process.  

17.9 The LTP is NOT a framework, and Suppliers already registered on the LTP 
are not ‘on a framework’.  The LTP is an e-tendering portal.  

Page 208

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B511BD0FD-B7F3-475C-A990-B3520FFEADE7%7D&file=Framework-Due-Dilligence-Form.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B511BD0FD-B7F3-475C-A990-B3520FFEADE7%7D&file=Framework-Due-Dilligence-Form.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk


   

 

 

 

 

99 

 

 

 

17.10 Services wishing to set up a Framework Agreement to be used internally must 
contact Procurement Services to discuss this.  It is important that the 
Framework Agreement is set up compliantly and that it is open to the right 
areas of the Council and where possible other organisations.  Service 
Departments will be responsible for creating a Framework Agreement ‘pack’ 
that includes (except for Light Touch Services Contracts): 

(i) Terms and conditions, Contract, access agreements and call offs 

(ii) Rules of accessing the Framework 

(iii) Whether Direct Award is permissible and to whom 

(iv) Schedule of rates, prices payable, or mechanism for determining the 
price payable 

(v) The estimated value of the Framework 

(vi) Any selection process to be applied 

(vii) Term of the Framework 

(viii) Description of the Goods and Services to be provided 

(ix) Measurement of the Framework and reporting to monitor spend against 
the Framework. 

17.11 Please note that the use of the Matrix MM portal for procurement activity must 
be approved in advance by Procurement Services.  The use of Bloom is not 
allowed. 

17.12 Dynamic Markets 

17.13 Dynamic Markets can be set up where each award is a ‘separate’ contract and 
contracting activity.  These Dynamic Markets allow for membership to 
Suppliers who meet the criteria for membership and have the technical ability 
to perform the contracts.  

17.14 Open Frameworks 

17.15 An “open framework” is a scheme of frameworks that provides for the award of 
successive frameworks on substantially the same terms. 

17.16 An open framework must provide: 

(i) for the award of a framework at least once during: 

a) the period of three years beginning with the day of the award of the 
first framework in the scheme, and 

b) each period of five years beginning with the day of the award of the 
second framework in the scheme 

(ii) for the expiry of one framework on the award of the next framework 

Page 209



   

 

 

 

 

100 

 

 

 

(iii) for the final framework to expire at the end of the period of eight years 
beginning with the day on which the first framework under the scheme 
is awarded. 

17.17 In all cases discussion with Procurement Services is mandatory prior to setting 
up any Dynamic Market or Open Framework due to the complexity of the 
contracting activity and management of the Dynamic Market or Open 
Framework.  All Notifications relating to Dynamic Markets and Open 
Frameworks must also be published. 

17.18 A list of frameworks can be found on the Intranet Hub. 

18. Conflict Of Interest – Rule 18 

18.1 The PA23 asks that conflict of interest and potential conflict of interest is 
assessed and mitigate throughout the Contracting Activity.  It is a legal 
requirement to identify and mitigate any conflicts of interest or potential conflict 
of interest by carrying out a conflict-of-interest assessment.  This must take 
place before Contracting Activity is initiated.  

18.2 Throughout the Contracting Activity the conflict of interest and potential 
conflicts of interest assessment must be kept under review and 
revised/updated at each stage of Contracting activity. Records of the 
assessments must be kept and uploaded to the LTP to ensure a clear audit 
trail. 

18.3 A conflict of interest occurs when a person acting for the Council in 
Contracting Activity (i.e. a person that influences a decision made by the 
Council) has a direct or indirect personal, professional or financial interest in 
the procurement.  

18.4 Conflicts of interest: duty to mitigate 

18.5 The Council must take all reasonable steps to ensure that a conflict of interest 
does not put a Supplier at an unfair advantage or disadvantage in relation to a 
covered procurement.  Reasonable steps may include requiring a Supplier to 
take reasonable steps. 

18.6 Where the Council consider that: 

(i) a conflict of interest puts a Supplier at an unfair advantage in relation to 
the award of a public contract, and 

(ii) either 

a) the advantage cannot be avoided, or 

Page 210

http://enfieldeye/downloads/file/6730/available_frameworks


   

 

 

 

 

101 

 

 

 

b) the Supplier will not take steps that the contracting authority 
considers are necessary to ensure it is not put at an unfair 
advantage. 

(iii) The Council must in relation to the award treat the Supplier as an 
excluded Supplier for the purpose of 

a) assessing tenders under section competitive tendering, or 

b) awarding a contract under section Direct Award), and 

(iv) exclude the Supplier from participating in, or progressing as part of, 
any competitive tendering procedure. 

18.7 Conflicts assessment 

18.8 Before publishing a Tender or Notification in relation to a covered procurement, 
the Council must prepare a conflicts assessment in relation to the 
procurement 

18.9 Before publishing a dynamic market notice in relation to the establishment of a 
dynamic market, the Council must prepare a conflicts assessment in relation to 
the establishment 

18.10 The Service Department must take all reasonable steps to identify conflicts, 
potential conflicts and identify the individuals 

18.11 For the Contracting Activity the Service Department must: 

(i) Identify any person acting for or on behalf of the Council in relation to 
the Procurement 

(ii) Any Members acting in relation to the procurement 

(iii) Any persons that will have influence over the decision made in relation 
to the Procurement 

18.12 Checklist: 

(i) Confirm reasonable steps have been taken to identify any actual or 
potential conflicts of interests?  

(ii) Make sure it includes consideration of interest for personal, 
professional or financial interest and which may be direct or indirect.  

(iii) Think about any circumstances that are likely to cause someone to 
wrongly believe there is a conflict or potential conflict of interest, 
beyond any conflicts already identified? If so make a note of the steps 
taken or will be taken to demonstrate that no such conflict or potential 
conflict exists.  

(iv) Take all reasonable steps to ensure that any identified conflicts or 
potential conflicts of interest does not put a supplier at an unfair 

Page 211



   

 

 

 

 

102 

 

 

 

advantage or disadvantage in relation to the procurement (this may 
include requiring a supplier to take reasonable steps). 

(v) Before publishing a tender or transparency notice prepare a conflicts 
assessment using the information and steps taken so far.  

(vi) Keep the conflicts assessment under review and update it as and when 
required - until either procurement termination, contract termination or, 
for dynamic markets, the market ceases to operate (via the relevant 
procurement notice).  

(vii) Provide confirmation that a conflicts assessment has been prepared 
and revised when publishing relevant procurement notices. Does a 
supplier remain at an unfair advantage - even after all reasonable steps 
to mitigate this? If yes, this supplier must be excluded. 

18.13 A conflicts assessment must include details of: 

(i) conflicts or potential conflicts of interest identified in accordance 
with definition above (duty to identify), and 

(ii) any steps the contracting authority has taken or will take for the 
purposes (duty to mitigate). 

18.14 If the Council is aware of circumstances that it considers are likely to cause a 
reasonable person to wrongly believe there to be a conflict or potential conflict 
of interest, a conflicts assessment must also include details of any steps the 
Council has taken or will take to demonstrate that no such conflict or potential 
conflict exists. 

19. Sustainable and Ethical Procurement Policy – Rule 19 

19.1 All Contracting Activity over threshold should consider the application of the 
Sustainable and Ethical Procurement Policy.  Any Social Value must be 
recorded by the Service Department and monitored through the lifetime of the 
Contract for delivery. Wherever possible use of the local market must be 
considered to support and help to generate the local economy. 

19.2 All Contracting Activity must be in accordance with the Councils agreed 
polices including but not limited to: 

(i) Modern Slavery Charter. 
(ii) Construction Charter; and 
(iii) Health in Everything we do 
(iv) Fairer Enfield 
(v) Fair Tax Declaration. 

19.3 The Councils Sustainable and Ethical procurement policy and suggests 
inclusion of up to 10% evaluation weighting for sustainability in all 
Contracting Activity. 

Page 212

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance


   

 

 

 

 

103 

 

 

 

19.4 Social Value should be in line with the Service Departments aims which align 
to the Council Plan.  They should be themes that align to the delivery of 
Council outcomes. 

19.5 The Council Plan has set out its main objectives for the next 5 years. 

19.6 The main deliverables are: 

(i) Good Homes in well-connected neighbourhoods 
(ii) Safe, healthy and confident communities 
(iii) And economy that Works for everyone 
(iv) A modern Council 
(v) Climate Action 
(vi) Fairer Enfield 
(vii) Early Help 

19.7 The Sustainable and Ethical Procurement Policy sets out clearly how the 
Council plan will be delivered through Contracting Activity.  It has minimum 
standards for each area, with enhanced and preferred standards to meet 
Council objectives. 

19.8 It covers:  

(i) Ethical procurement 
(ii) Equality and diversity 
(iii) Local economy 
(iv) Social value 
(v) Climate action 

19.9 The Council is committed to paying all staff directly employed the London 
Living Wage (LLW).  The policy states the Council will pay LLW wherever 
possible and move to a situation where all Suppliers to the Council will pay 
LLW.  Therefore, this must be considered when carrying out Contracting 
activity. 

20. Procurement Thresholds – Rule 20 

20.1 The estimated total Contract Value determines the route to market and which 
part of the PA23 needs to be followed. 

20.2 Different categories of Contracting Activity have different thresholds, therefore 
ensure that the correct thresholds are applied.  All thresholds are inclusive of 
VAT, when calculating the Contract value. 

20.3 Thresholds: 

Category Value Including VAT Value Excluding VAT 

Goods and Services £214,904 £179,086 

Works £5,372,609 £4,477,174 

Page 213

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranethub%2FShared%20Documents%2FStrategies%2FEnfield%5FCouncil%5FPlan%5F2020%2D2022%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranethub%2FShared%20Documents%2FStrategies
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FSustainable%20and%20Ethical%20Procurement%20Policy%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance


   

 

 

 

 

104 

 

 

 

Light Touch £663,540 £552,950 

Concessions £5,372,609 £4,477,174 

KPIs Publishing £5,000,000 £4,166,667 

 

20.4 Contracts below the threshold are referred to in the PA23 as ‘Regulated 
Below Threshold Contracts’, and there are rules that apply to these 
Contracts in addition to Council Governance.  

20.5 If Regulated Below Threshold Contract is varied in value and the value brings 
the Contract over the relevant Procurement threshold, the Contract becomes a 
‘Convertible Contract’, and this Contract must now follow the PA23 as an 
above threshold Contract or ‘Covered Contract’. If the value of the Contract is 
unknown, then a full above threshold procurement must be carried out. (See 
Rule 16). 

20.6 Public Contracts is the term used for all Contracts that are above the 
threshold for the relevant category.  These attract more legislative 
requirements, specifically regarding route to market, variation and extension, 
termination, and Contract management.  The procurement activity for above 
threshold is termed Covered Procurement. 

20.7 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts the number of quotations needed is 
guidance as to the minimum that should be received, to demonstrate Value 
for Money (VFM).  It is recommended that additional bidders should be invited 
if there is a risk of poor response. Where there are insufficient bids received, 
then the Head of Service must agree that VFM has been demonstrated, and 
evidence of this uploaded into the LTP.  Where insufficient bids have been 
sought this will be reported as non-compliant procurement. 

20.8 Where the value of returned bids for below threshold contracting activity takes 
the project over the procurement threshold, then Notifications must be 
published as those needed for a Public Contract (above threshold) and all 
activity must follow the above threshold process.  

20.9 Market engagement will provide useful feedback on the specification, Contract 
terms, and the opportunity in general.  Changes can be made prior to going to 
the market to maximise responses and bidders. This is important to ensure 
that pricing is within the threshold for the route to market.   

20.10 When carrying out Contracting Activity for Construction it is important to 
ensure that proper estimates have been applied, as ‘contract creepage’ is 
common in this area.  Tender notices must include the intention to extend, and 
if there are likely to be any ‘unforeseen consequences’ or this will affect the 
options to vary later. Known Risks must be set out in the Tender Notice or the 
Transparency Notice prior to the award of the Contract. Refer to the 
Construction Code for more information. 

Page 214



   

 

 

 

 

105 

 

 

 

20.11 Where construction line is used for Regulated Below Threshold Contracts, it is 
important to ensure that a ‘fair and transparent’ method of selection is used to 
invite Suppliers to Tender/bid.  If there is a challenge the Service Department 
must be able to demonstrate that robust and fair selection processes have 
been used and not anticompetitive. Rule 26 on checking if the Supplier is on 
the Debarred list or Excluded or Excludable supplier and Rule 21 on Conflict 
of Interest still apply.  Construction Line can only be used for Public Contracts 
as part of the evaluation of compliance to Health & Safety etc. 

20.12 It is against the Rules to deliberately disaggregate the value of a Contract and 
split the value up to reduce the number of quotes to be obtained or carry out 
multiple procurements to avoid the Rules. Procurement Services will monitor 
compliance with this requirement.  Officers need to be mindful of aggregation 
of spend (see Rule 16).20.13 The use of lots also can help smaller 
Suppliers to bid for larger Contracts. 

20.14 Use the procurement checklist to help. 

Page 215

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B7D4592E8-D4AB-4DDA-A5A4-C022BFF64022%7D&file=Procurement_checklist_2020.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


   

 

 

 

 

106 

 

 

 

Estimated Total 
Contract Value 
including VAT 

& possible 
extensions. 

Minimum 
No. of 
Quotations 
& Local 
Quotations 

Evaluation & 
Supplier 
Selection 

Additional Requirements 
(if applicable) 

Method of issuing a Contract  Advertising or 
Notification 

Responsibility for 
Procurement Process 

Regulated Below Threshold Contracts Process 

Up to £30,000. 
Must be done 
via the 
Procurement 
System if over 
£5,000.  

1 quote. 
Must seek 
local Supplier 
in the first 
instance. 
Seek ‘best 
and final 
offer’. 

Check if 
Supplier is on 
Debarred list or 
should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 
 

Must seek best and final 
offer to ensure VFM. 

 Use of Purchase Order for 
Goods and Services, and 
limited Works Contracts 
only (see Procurement 
Code) or 
 

 Contract Template (or other 
form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) for more 
complex requirements or 
where the level of risk needs 
to be addressed.  

Advertising not 
required. 
 

Self-service in line with 
Rules and Procurement 
Legislation. 
 

Contracts from 
£30,001 to 
£100,000 for 
Supplies and 
Services. 
 
Or 
 
£30,001 to 
£500,000 for 
Works:  

3 quotes 
2 local 
Suppliers in 
the first 
instance 
Where VFM 
is better met 
by going to 
the open 
market then 
this must be 
the first 

Ensure 
Suppliers meet 
conditions of 
participation and 
evaluation 
criteria. See 
Rule 26 
 
Check that 
Suppliers are 
not on Debarred 
list or should be 

If less than three quotes 
are received the Service 
must seek the relevant 
level of approval within 
their Service to award and 
must ensure that VFM has 
been demonstrated. The 
decision must be recorded 
in writing and the decision 
retained in the 
Procurement System. 
Once selected winning 

 Use of Purchase Order for 
Goods and Services. For 
construction (Works and 
Services) See Procurement 
Code. Or 
 

 Contract Template (or other 
form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) for more 
complex requirements, or 
where the level of risk needs 
to be addressed.  

Advertising not 
required where 
quotations are 
by invitation only 
from particular 
or pre-selected 
Suppliers. 
 
Where open 
competition 
takes place then 
a Below 

Self-service via the 
Procurement System 
and in line with the 
Rules and Procurement 
Code. Must be visible 
on the Contract 
Register to meet 
transparency code. 
 
Must publish a 
Regulated Contracts 
Details Notice on the 

P
age 216

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

107 

 

 

 

option. Excluded or are 
Excludable. 
Ensure conflict 
of interest is 
assessed. 
 

bidder must ask for best 
and final offer to obtain 
VFM. 
Refer to the Construction 
Guide for Works Contracts. 

 
Please also refer to Rule 31 for 
requirements for sealing. 
Ensure added to the Key 
Decision List if Contract award is 
over £500,000 or procurement 
costs are over £500,000. 

Threshold 
Tender Notice 
must be 
published. See 
Procurement 
Code . 
In all cases 
must publish a 
Regulated 
Contract Details 
Notice. 
 

Central Digital Platform 
via the Procurement 
System for award. 
 

Contracts above 
£100,000 to 
PA23 Threshold3 
for Supplies and 
Services 
  
Or 
 
£500,000 to 
Procurement 
Legislation 
Threshold for 
Works. 
 
Or 
 

5 quotes. 
 
2 Local 
Suppliers 
where 
possible. 
 
Where VFM 
is better met 
by going to 
the open 
market then 
this must be 
the first 
option. 

If less than five quotes are 
received the Service must 
seek the relevant level of 
approval within their 
Service to award and must 
ensure that VFM has been 
demonstrated. The 
decision must be recorded 
in writing and the decision 
retained in the 
Procurement System. 
 
The decision must be 
recorded in writing and all 
documentation supporting 
the decision retained in the 

Up to £500,000: 

 Signature on Contract 
Template (or other form of 
Contract approved by Legal 
Services) or sealed by Legal 
Services if required 
 

Over £500,000: 

 Contract Template (or other 
form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) sealed by 
Legal Services. 
 

Please refer Rule 31 
(requirements for sealing) 
 

Advertising not 
required where 
quotations are 
by invitation only 
from particular 
or pre-selected 
Suppliers. 
Where open 
competition 
takes place then 
a Below 
Threshold 
Tender Notice 
must be 
published. 
In all cases 

Self-service via the 
Procurement System 
and in line with the 
Procurement 
Legislation. Must be 
visible on the Contract 
register to meet 
transparency 
regulations. 
 
Must publish a 
Regulated Contract 
Details Notice on the 
Central Digital Platform 
via the Procurement 
System for award. 

                                                 
3 *The Procurement Legislation thresholds change regularly, so please refer to the Procurement Code or intranet pages for up-to-date figures. 

 

P
age 217

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx


   

 

 

 

 

108 

 

 

 

£100,000 to 
Light Touch 
Threshold for 
Light Touch 
Services 
 

Procurement System. 
 
Once selected winning 
bidder must ask for best 
and final offer to obtain 
VFM. 
 
Refer to the Construction 
Guide for Works Contracts. 

 must publish a 
Regulated 
Contract Details 
Notice. 
 

 

Public Contracts Process 

Above 
Procurement 
Legislation 
Threshold4 for 
Goods, Services 
and Works and 
Light Touch  

Follow 
Procurement 
Legislation 
processes. 
 
Consider how 
to develop 
local market 
within the 
procurement 
and social 
value. 

Ensure 
Suppliers meet 
conditions of 
participation and 
evaluation 
criteria. 
 
Check that 
Suppliers are 
not on Debarred 
list or should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 
 
Ensure conflict 
of interest is 
assessed. 

A fully compliant process 
must be carried out in 
accordance with the 
processes set out in the 
PA23 for Public Contracts. 
Possible routes to market: 

 Open Procedure 

 Competitive Flexible 
Procedure 

 Frameworks 

 Dynamic Markets 

 Light Touch  

Up to £500,000: 

 Signature on Contract 
Template (or other form of 
Contract approved by Legal 
Services) or Sealed by Legal 
Services if required 

Over £500,000: 

 Contract Template (or other 
form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) sealed by 
Legal Services 

Please refer to Rule 31. 
Ensure added to the Forward 

Plan if award is over £500,000. 

Notifications 
must be 
published in line 
with the PA23 
and the 
Procurement 
Code. 
(See Light 
Tough Code) for 
all Notifications. 
Notifications 
apply if 
Procurement 
Process is 
Terminated. 
Standstill 
periods must be 

Project managed by 
Procurement Services 
with engagement from 
Legal Services as 
appropriate. 
 
All procurements over 
the PA23 Threshold 
must follow processes 
set out in the PA23 and 
the Procurement Code. 
 
Service departments 
are responsible for: 

 Specification 

 Governance & 
authority 

                                                 
4
  *The Procurement Legislation thresholds change regularly, so please refer to the Procurement Code or intranet pages for up-to-date figures. 

 

P
age 218

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

109 

 

 

 

followed.  Evaluation 

 

P
age 219



   

 

 

 

 

110 

 

 

 

21. Provider Selection Regime (PSR) – Rule 21  

 

21.1 See PSR Code for specific elements relating to the PSR. 

22. Light Touch Services – Rule 22 

22.1 See Light Touch Code for specific elements relating to Contracts covered by 
Light Touch Services arrangements. 

23. Notifications – Rule 23 

23.1 The PA23 places more emphasis on transparency and stipulates that notices 
are published at stages throughout Contracting activity.  Service Departments 
must ensure that these notices are adhered to and carried out in accordance 
with the PA23 to ensure compliance to Council Rules and Procurement 
Legislation. 

23.2 As set out in the Rules the Council does not require advertisement of 
opportunities for Regulated Below Threshold Contracts where quotation is by 
invitation only.  Where VFM is better delivered through an open opportunity to 
the market then Service Departments are expected to carryout open 
competition.  Service Departments carrying out open competition for a 
Regulated Below Threshold Contract must ensure that the necessary notices 
are published for this route to market. Contact Procurement Services. 

23.3 Service Departments must ensure that the minimum number of Suppliers are 
invited (see Rule 20) and that a variety of Suppliers are invited.  Non-
compliance is monitored and reported. 

23.4 Service Departments MUST NOT invite the same Suppliers to bid for 
opportunities on a regular basis as this may be seen as aggregation or anti-
competitive, and open to challenge.  If the same Suppliers are needed for the 
same provision on a regular basis, then Service Departments must set up a 
framework for the type of Suppliers they are using repeatedly. Procurement 
Services may review practices within Service Departments who are misusing 
this Rule. 

23.5 Due to the emphasis on transparency, the current procurement legislation 
requires the Council to inform the market at different milestones throughout 
the procurement process, and changes to the Contract post procurement.   

23.6 Please refer to the PA23 for all Notifications, and the Procurement 
Regulations 2024 for the format of the Notifications. Notifications must appear 
on the Central Digital Platform prior to publication on other platforms.

Page 220



   

 

 

 

 

111 

 

 

 

 
 

Notifications are now required at the following points.  Not all of these apply at all levels of procurement. See table below: 

Procurement 
Lifecycle 

Notices for 
Regulated 
Below 
Threshold 
Contracts 

Mandatory or 
Optional 

Contract Brief Description When: 

Plan Below 
Threshold 
Tender Notice 

Mandatory 
If carrying out an 
open process 

A notice inviting tenders or quotations 
for Contracts with an estimated value 
below the relevant threshold 

Prior to starting procurement for 
a Regulated Below Threshold 
Contract via open process  
 
For all Regulated Below 
Threshold Contracts that are 
advertised (i.e. not where 
tenders are invited from 
particular or pre-selected 
Suppliers) 

Procure Contract Details 
Notice- Below 
threshold 

Mandatory A notice setting out that the Council has 
entered into a below threshold Contract 
 

For all Regulated Below 
Threshold Contracts (above 
£30k and below threshold) as 
soon as reasonably practicable 
after entering into the Contract   

Procurement 
Lifecycle 

Notices for 
Covered 
Contracts 

Mandatory or 
Optional 

Contract Brief Description When: 

Plan UK1 Mandatory List of all procurement projects for Within 56 days of the start of the 

P
age 221



   

 

 

 

 

112 

 

 

 

Pipeline 
Notification 

Contracts over £2m to be reprocured in 
the next 18 months. 

financial year. 

Define UK2 
Preliminary 
Market 
engagement 
Notice 

Mandatory* 
*Unless set out in the 
tender 
documentation and 
Tender Notification 
as to why 

A notice to announce that the Council is 
planning to conduct, or has conducted, a 
pre-market engagement exercise 
Contract 

Before publishing a tender 
notice for all Covered Contracts 
(above threshold modification). 
Mandatory for covered 
procurements if a preliminary 
market engagement is carried 
out unless the Council can 
provide the justification for not 
doing so in the tender notice. 

Procure UK3 
Planned 
Procurement 
Notice 

Optional A notice setting out the Council’s 
intention to commence a procurement in 
the future 

If intention is to reduce the 
procurement timescales, it must 
be published at least 40 days 
but no more than 12 months 
before the tender notice is 
published 

Procure UK4 
Tender Notice 
 

Mandatory A Notice setting out the Council’s 
intention to award a public Contract and 
commence a procurement process 
Contract 

Prior to starting procurement 
exercise for Contract all Public 
Contracts 
(Above threshold procurement) 
Both for open and competitive 
flexible procedure. 
 

Procure UK5 
Transparency 
Notice 

Mandatory (Except 
for User Choice 
Contracts) 

A notice setting out that the Council 
intends to make a Direct Award relying 
on the permitted grounds for a Direct 
Award in the PA23 

Prior to award 

P
age 222



   

 

 

 

 

113 

 

 

 

Procure UK6 
Contract Award 
Notice 

Mandatory 
(Except for User 
Choice Contracts) 

A notice setting out that the Council 
intends to award a Contract 
 

After issuing Assessment 
Summaries and prior to award of   
(Above threshold Contract) and 
the publication starts the 
Standstill Period 
 

Procure UK7 
Contract Details 
Notice 
 
Redacted 
Version of the 
Contract 
And 
 
Publication of 
Contract with 
modification 

Mandatory 
(Except for User 
Choice Contracts) 

A notice setting out that the Council has 
entered into a Contract 
 

Within 30 days beginning with 
the day the Public Contract is 
entered into (including 
Frameworks) or within 120 days 
for Light Touch Contracts. 
 

Mandatory (for all 
Contracts over £5m) 

A copy of the Contract with a value 
above £5m must be published after: 

(i) redacting sensitive 
commercial 
information; and  

(ii) (ii) complying with the 
UK GDPR. 

 
After Contract Modification 

Within 90 days of the public 
Contract being entered into or 
within 180 days for 
Light Touch Services Contract. 
 
Within 90 days from the date of 
the modification.  

Procure UK12 
Procurement 
Termination 
Notice 

Mandatory A notice that the Council has decided to 
abandon a procurement after publishing 
a tender or transparency notice 
 

As soon as reasonable after 
making the decision to abandon 

Procure UK 13 to 16 Mandatory  A set of notices on the establishment When advertising, 

P
age 223



   

 

 

 

 

114 

 

 

 

Dynamic Market 
notice 

and running of Dynamic Markets establishing, changing or 
terminating a dynamic market 

Manage UK8 
Contract 
Payment notice  
 

Mandatory (Except 
for Concession 
Contracts and 
Contracts awarded 
by Schools) 

Details of payments of more than £30k 
made by the Council under a Public 
Contract  
 

Quarterly    
 

Manage UK9 
Contract 
Performance 
Notice 

Mandatory for all 
Contracts over £5m 
in value let under 
PA23 or all 
Convertible 
Contracts where a 
modification takes 
the Contract value 
above £5m (Except 
for Light Touch 
Contracts.  
Concession 
Contracts are 
exempt from KPI 
publication but must 
publish for poor 
performance/breach) 

A notice publishing information in 
relation to: 

(i) Performance assessment against 
key performance indicators in the 
Contract 

 

(ii) Supplier poor 
performance/breach of contract 

(i) Once in every 12 months 
during the lifecycle of the 
Contract and on 
termination. 

 

(ii) Where there is a breach 
or the Supplier is not 
performing, and has not 
improved, then before the 
end of period of 30 days 
starting on which a 
particular breach or 
failure to perform. 

Manage UK10 
Contract 
Change Notice 

Mandatory prior to a 
qualifying 
modification taking 
place (copy of 

Contract Change notice: A notice setting 
out that the Council intends to modify a 
Public Contract or a Convertible 
Contract 

Before modification of a 
Convertible Contract (Contract 
where the modification will result 
in a Regulated Contract being 

P
age 224



   

 

 

 

 

115 

 

 

 

modified contract for 
Public Contracts 
over £5m to be 
published) 
(Except for Light 
Touch Contracts) 

 converted to a Covered Contract 
i.e. above threshold) 
Exemptions apply for certain 
modifications in value and term 
of the Contract – please see 
Rule 29. 

Manage UK11 
Contract 
Termination 
Notice 

Mandatory 
(Except for User 
Choice Contracts)  

A notice setting out that a covered 
Contracts has been terminated or has 
expired or come to an end Contract. 

Before the end of 30 days from 
the date of Termination 
(Termination means expiry, 
discharge, termination by a 
party, rescission or via a Court 
order). 

Manage UK17 
Payments 
Compliance 
Notice 

Mandatory (Except 
for Concession 
Contracts and 
Contracts award by 
Schools). 

Details of the Council’s performance 
against the 30-day payment terms in 
Contracts. 

Twice annually - Before the end 
of the period of 30 days 
beginning with the last day of a 
Reporting Period. Reporting 
Period is every six-month period 
ending on 31st March or 30th 
September. 

 

P
age 225



   

 

 

 

 

116 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

24. Preliminary Market Engagement – Rule 24 

24.1 The PA23 requires that a preliminary market engagement notice is considered 
when carrying out Contracting Activity for a Public Contract. This is not a 
mandatory notice, but if one is not published, then the Tender Notice must 
explain why this was not published and noted in the Tender Documentation 

24.2 Before publishing a Tender notice in respect of a public contract, a contracting 
authority may engage with suppliers and other persons for the purpose of: 

(i) developing the authority’s requirements and approach to the 
procurement 

(ii) designing a procedure, conditions of participation or award criteria 

(iii) preparing the tender notice and associated tender documents 

(iv) identifying suppliers that may be able to supply the goods, services or 
works required 

(v) identifying likely contractual terms 

(vi) building capacity among suppliers in relation to the contract being 
awarded. 

24.3 Service Departments MUST not use preliminary market engagement as a 
method of restricting or selecting Suppliers.  

24.4 Care must be taken to ensure that Suppliers that attend preliminary market 
engagement are not given unfair advantages to those that are invited to bid but 
did not attend. 

25. Receipting and Opening of Tenders and Quotes – Rule 25 

25.1 LTP must be used for all Contracting Activity projects over £5,000.  This 
ensures that the opening of tenders is fully audited and complies with e-
tendering regulations. 

25.2 If there are situations where it is felt that the LTP cannot be used, then 
Procurement Services must be contacted, and this discussed.  In all cases the 
Contract must be recorded in the LTP if let via an external portal. 

25.3 There are regulations around using electronic tendering which must be 
complied with.  Using the LTP protects the officer, Service Department and 
Council from risk of challenge from Suppliers as it provides a safe and 
complaint procurement process which is fully audited and prevents the seeing 
of bids from Suppliers prior to other Supplier bids. It is recommended to use the 
Procurement System for ALL competitive procurement. 

Page 226



   

 

 

 

 

117 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

25.4 When setting the end date and time for a tender it is good practice to make 
these within working hours and when the commissioner is available to respond 
to last minute issues or questions, eg not at the end of the working day. 

25.5 The same applies to end dates of Contracts, these should be working days. 

26. Award Criteria and Evaluation – Rule 26 

26.1 The Council has developed a set of Procurement Principles which cover 
evaluation criteria.  These must be followed in all cases unless an exception is 
applied for via PAG. 

26.2 The Council has mandated that Price should be no less than 70% of the 
evaluation criteria, (i.e Quality/Price ratio). 

26.3 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts the Council may not restrict the 
submission of tenders/ quotations by reference to an assessment of a 
Supplier’s suitability to perform the Contract. This includes: 

(i) Legal, economic and financial capacity 

(ii) Technical and professional ability 

26.4 This restriction does not apply in relation to Works Contracts over the value set 
out in the Procurement Code, or Contracts awarded in accordance with a 
Framework. 

26.5 Evaluation criteria must be clearly set out in the tendering documentation and 
must: 

(i) relate to the subject matter of the Contract, 

(ii) be sufficiently clear, measurable and specific, 

(iii) be proportionate having regard to the nature, complexity and cost of the 
Contract, and 

(iv) comply with the rules on technical specifications as follows: 

a) it must not refer to design, licensing model or description of 
characteristics where they could refer to performance or 
functional requirements, 

b) it must not refer to a UK standard unless it permits an internally 
recognised equivalent or there is no such internally recognised 
equivalent, 

c) if it refers to a UK standard, it must specify that equivalent 
standards will be accepted and may require certification to 
confirm the equivalence, and 

Page 227



   

 

 

 

 

118 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

d) it may not refer to a particular trademark, trade name, patent or 
type, place of origin, producer or supplier unless necessary to 
make the requirements understood, and if so, it must allow for 
equivalents. 

26.6 Bids can only be evaluated on the pre-determined evaluation criteria set out in 
the Tender documentation (unless permitted within the Flexible Competitive 
Procedure), and the written responses from the Supplier.  Refer to the 
Evaluation Guide for more information. 

26.7 Award Criteria in reference to the subject-matter of a Contract includes a 
reference to 

(i) the Goods, Services or Works to be supplied under the Contract, 
including in respect of any aspect of their production, trading or other 
stage in their life-cycle 

(ii) how or when those Goods, Services or Works are to be Supplied 

(iii) the qualifications, experience, ability, management or organisation of 
staff where those factors are likely to make a material difference to the 
quality of goods, Services or Works being supplied 

(iv) price, other costs or value for money in all the circumstances.  

26.8 Ensuring written evidence for the individual Supplier evaluation, consensus 
scores and the reasons for these is documented via moderation records is 
strongly recommended by Procurement Services.  If there is a challenge to the 
evaluation process, these may be needed and can also be requested under a 
Freedom of Information request.  All evaluation documentation must be 
uploaded into the LTP for audit trail (these are not in the public domain) and 
ensure that all documentation relating to the Contracting activity is maintained 
in one place to meet retention policies and record keeping obligations under 
the Procurement Legislation.   

26.9 Where evaluation process is to include Supplier presentations or Supplier 
interviews then these must be clearly stated how they will be carried out, 
evaluated and scored within the Council’s tender documentation.  It is 
important to ensure that there is a ‘script’ to ensure equal, fair, and consistent 
assessments between Suppliers, and should disclose the requirements and 
any questions to be raised prior to a Supplier presentation or interview. Note, 
the use of Supplier presentations should be very carefully considered as they 
can be very subjective and difficult to ensure all presentations are managed the 
same. Procurement Services recommend an independent moderator from 
Procurement Services. 

Page 228

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2Fprocurement%2Dselfservice%C2%A325k%2B%2FITQ%2DEvaluation%2DGuidance%2D%2DSelf%2DServe%2D%2DV1%2E0%2DF%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2Fprocurement%2Dselfservice%C2%A325k%2B


   

 

 

 

 

119 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

26.10 Note: Service Departments MUST NOT use ‘average scoring’ when carrying 
out evaluation. Procurement case law has shown this to be bad practice and 
may invalidate the contract award if challenged. When using an evaluation 
panel, all panel members must be technically competent and score individually 
prior to attending a moderation session(s) to agree consensus scores for each 
element /question. To ensure transparency, equal treatment, and objectivity 
that the reasons for the scores given and what moderation took place must be 
recorded and filed in the Procurement System.  Do remember this is 
information could be subject to an FOI request and will be needed for the 
Assessment Summaries. 

26.11 For Public Contracts, information at evaluation stage is needed for the 
Assessment Summaries at Contract Award, therefore it is vital that robust 
processes and evidence is maintained. 

26.12 In assessing Tenders, Service Department: 

(i) must disregard any Tender from a Supplier that does not satisfy the 
conditions of participation set out in the Tender documents 

(ii) may disregard any Tender from a Supplier that 

a) is not a United Kingdom Supplier or treaty state Supplier, or  

b) intends to sub-Contract the performance of all or part of the 
Contract to a Supplier that is not a United Kingdom Supplier or 
treaty state Supplier.  

(iii) may disregard any Tender that offers a price that the Council considers 
to be abnormally low for performance of the Contract, provided the 
requirements set out in Procurement Legislation are met 

(iv) may disregard any Tender which breaches a procedural requirement set 
out in the Tender notice or associated Tender documents.  

26.13 Exclusion and Debarment 

26.14 The PA23 asks that checks are made to ensure that the Council is not 
Contracting with a Debarred or Excluded Suppliers or Subcontractors or 
Connected Persons to a Supplier. Checks should also be carried out to 
establish if a Supplier, Subcontractor or Connected Persons are Excludable 
Supplier. Prior to excluding an Excluded Supplier or an Excludable Supplier, 
self-cleaning must process must be followed. Please refer to the Exclusion 
Checklist and Procurement Services. 

Page 229

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B962FCC73-3CF0-4730-990A-FD98D6E2F15B%7D&file=Exclusions-checklist.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1&web=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B962FCC73-3CF0-4730-990A-FD98D6E2F15B%7D&file=Exclusions-checklist.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1&web=1


   

 

 

 

 

120 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

26.15 Excluded Suppliers 

26.16 Service Departments must exclude a Supplier where: 

(i) A mandatory exclusion ground applies to the Supplier or an associated 
person and 

(ii) The circumstances giving rise to the application of the exclusion ground 
are continuing or likely to occur again or 

(iii) The Supplier or an associated person is on the debarment list by virtue 
of a mandatory exclusion ground. Service Departments MUST contact 
Procurement Services prior to starting any actions here. 

26.17 Excludable Supplier 

26.18 The Service Departments MAY exclude a Supplier where a discretionary 
exclusion ground applies].  Suppliers can be excluded at the commencement of 

Page 230



   

 

 

 

 

121 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

the process, during the process or post award. Service Departments MUST 
contact Procurement Services prior to starting any actions here. 

26.19 Service Departments must use Exceptions and Waiver Form  and present at 
PAG where they want to award to an Excludable Supplier.  The Council must 
request details of any intention to use sub-Contractor, where a sub-Contractor 
is an Excluded or Excludable Supplier, the Supplier must be given an 
opportunity to replace the Sub-Contractor. 

26.20 Improper Behaviour 

26.21 Suppliers that have acted improperly in relation to the award of a public 
Contract  

(i) Failing to provide information requested by the Council 

(ii) Providing information that is incomplete, inaccurate, or misleading 

(iii) Accessing confidential information or 

(iv) Unduly influencing the Councils decision making 

(v) Obtained an unfair advantage, wither by participating in pre-market 
engagement or through a conflict of interest, that cannot be otherwise 
avoided. 

26.22 Where the Service Department decides to exclude a Supplier they must use 
the Exceptions and Waiver Form and present at PAG to review the decision 
and then ensure that the relevant authority is informed as set out in the current 
Procurement Legislation.  The relevant authority will carry out an investigation 
before adding them to the Debarment list. 

27. Contract Award and Execution – Rule 27 

27.1 Contracts must be awarded in accordance with the Rules and UK regulations.  
The Rules follow the PA23 and ensures that the Council is compliant in all 
Contracting activity. This includes adherence to any Standstill Periods that 
apply within the PA2023. 

27.2 In all cases approval to award Contracts must be sought and at the appropriate 
level of authority, for the value of the Contract. This evidence should be 
retained and loaded into the LTP.  

27.3 Awarded Contracts must be signed and where necessary sealed by Legal.  
These must be scanned and uploaded to the LTP. See Rule 31 

27.4 Letter of acceptance & Limited Liability 

Page 231

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


   

 

 

 

 

122 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

27.5 Letters of acceptance/ intent are generally not used by the Council.  There are 
situations where these might be necessary.  Agreement from Head of Legal 
Contracts Team or Director of Legal and Governance Services should be 
obtained and must be written by Legal (to comply with legislation).  

27.6 Limited Liability Letters may only be used where there is a requirement for 
urgent Works mobilisation (not simply to allow site access) and only if such has 
been approved by the Director of Law and Governance (unless a previously 
approved template is used) and the appropriate authority report in accordance 
with the Councils Constitution has been signed off. 

27.7 Letters of acceptance must be set out on a proper template agreed by Legal. 
This should include (but not limited to): 

(i) Price, 
(ii) Duration 
(iii) Supplier 
(iv) What is to be supplied/delivered  

27.8 Letters of acceptance are only binding on the Council and the Contracting party 
where the letter expressly states that their Tender has been accepted and the 
Council agrees to pay them the tender sum. The letter of acceptance should 
normally seek to incorporate the terms and conditions of the relevant Council 
standard Contract or relevant industry standard Contract (e.g. JCT, ICE, NEC) 
indicating the Council's intention to enter into a formal, written Contract with the 
Contracting party, to carry out the Works/Services or supplies described in the 
letter, such Works/Services or supply of Goods to commence on a date 
specified or at any rate before the parties execute the formal, written Contract, 
until then the Contracting parties obligations to the Council shall be governed 
by the Invitation to Tender documentation. 

27.9 Letters of acceptance are not a substitute for a signed Contract, especially for 
Contracts under seal. 

27.10 These should also be loaded into the London Tenders Portal for audit 
requirements. 

28. Post Tender Negotiations – Rule 28 

28.1 Post-Tender negotiations for Public Contracts, may only take place if using the 
Competitive Flexible Procedure, and the Tender documents expressly allow for 
negotiation. 

28.2 For Regulated Below Threshold Contracts, best and final offer must be 
requested.  

Page 232



   

 

 

 

 

123 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

29. Contract Modifications, Novation & Termination to Contracts – 
Rule 29 

29.1 Members and Senior managers are increasingly asking for better and more 
transparent decision-making regarding extensions and variations.  These 
Contract Modifications can commit the Council to Contract and budget 
expenditure, and often little or no review has been undertaken to ensure that 
the Contract still delivers VFM.  Contract extension clauses are an opportunity 
to review the Contract, and if needed reduce or reconfigure the delivery for 
efficiency or savings. 

29.2 Some Contract Modifications are subject to notifications under the Procurement 
Act 2023.  It is important to ensure that the relevant Contract Extension 
Variation form is completed and presented at PAG for compliance. 

29.3 The PA23 has new legislation relating to Contract Modification.  

29.4 Contract Modifications can be classified as but not limited to: 

(i) Changes to the term (extension) 
(ii) Changes to service offer or increasing/decreasing the scope (variation) 
(iii) Changes to KPI’s (variation) 
(iv) Reprioritising of Services (variation) 
(v) Change of provider or name of Supplier (novation) 

29.5 Where the original Contract value is over £100k then the Service Department 
must complete the Contract Extension Variation form and send to Procurement 
Services for presentation at PAG.  This will ensure a review is carried out, and 
that an extension is appropriate and compliant.  

29.6 Where Service Department have not engaged with Procurement Services on a 
Contract Modification then procurement implications will state this and will not 
provide assurance of processes being followed. Service Departments that have 
not engaged will be required to carry out any notifications regarding the 
Contract modification. 

29.7 Service Departments must start to review the Contract for extension in plenty of 
time so that should it be agreed that the extension will not be taken, there is 
time for a re-procurement.  This can be as early as 24 – 12 months prior to the 
extension. 

29.8 Any changes to Contract must be in line with the CPR’s, the Procurement 
Legislation that covers that Contract, and properly recorded.   

Page 233

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23VariationsToContracts
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B3BE76144-37F7-4C39-891D-AB7A82A7E697%7D&file=Contract-Extension-Variation-pro-forma-FINAL-V1.0.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B3BE76144-37F7-4C39-891D-AB7A82A7E697%7D&file=Contract-Extension-Variation-pro-forma-FINAL-V1.0.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B3BE76144-37F7-4C39-891D-AB7A82A7E697%7D&file=Contract-Extension-Variation-pro-forma-FINAL-V1.0.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

124 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

29.9 Contracts covered by the Public Contract Regulations 2015 then the 
modification must be in line with this legislation and cannot be more than 50% 
of the original Contract value or take the Contract over the threshold.  

29.10 For Contracts covered by the PA23 then the permitted modifications are set out 
in the CPRs table Rule 29.5.  Regulated Below Threshold Contracts are also 
now covered by the Act. If a Regulated Below Threshold Contract is modified 
and it takes the value above the procurement threshold, then it becomes a 
converted Contract and must follow rules for covered Contracts going forward. 

29.11 Conversations and negotiations can be entered into with a Supplier vary the 
contract and can be agreed if mutually agreeable to both parties.  Any changes 
must be within the core delivery of the contract.  For example, a Supplier of 
food could not be asked to include the supply of stationery in their contract. 

29.12 Remember that the variation of a contract to include additional requirements 
may be a lack of competition and may be challenged by other Suppliers.  In all 
cases best value must be obtained.  

29.13 Variations must first:  

(i) Have budget approval  
(ii) Demonstrate best value  
(iii) Have appropriate approval to proceed  
(iv) Must be in line with the existing contract  
(v) Must demonstrate VFM  
(vi) Be within the CPR’s  

 

29.14 Contract Modification Workflow 

Page 234



   

 

 

 

 

125 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

29.15 Variations must follow the same approval process as letting a new Contract; 
and must be updated in the LTP.  This is the responsibility of the Service 
Department to do this, unless engaged via PAG.   

29.16 The Service Department must show that a full and thorough review of the 
Contract has taken place and justification that the Contract is still viable, 
performing well, and continues to meet the Councils objectives, prior to 
extension.  

29.17 Contract Novation’s 

29.18 Service Department must complete the Contract Novation Pro-Forma and 
follow the Novation process  for ALL Novation’s (set out below) as these are 
now subject to Procurement Legislation, and notifications. 

29.20 A Contract Novation involves the transfer of a party's rights and obligations 
under a Contract to a third party.  Technically, Novation cancels the original 
Contract and replaces it with a new Contract, under which a third party takes 
up rights and obligations which mirror those of the outgoing party. The outgoing 
party surrenders its rights and is released from its obligations in the process.  

Page 235

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B8C7E4373-8C28-4093-81A8-A8DC12CEBFB8%7D&file=Contract%20Novation%20Pro-forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF88287B8-F328-4CC9-B937-B8D87013A7C0%7D&file=Novation%20Process.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

126 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

This means where a Contract with the Council is novated, there are three 
parties involved - the Council, the existing Supplier, and the new Supplier. 

29.21 Where the Service Department decide to Novate the Contract then Council 
Governance must be followed to enter into a new Contract with the new 
Supplier.  Where the Contract is over the KD threshold then a KD report will be 
needed.   

29.22 Service Departments must ensure: 

(i) There is a copy of the original Contract 
(ii) There is a Novation agreement (signed by all three parties) 
(iii) Due diligence & financial checks have been carried out on the new 

Supplier 
(iv) Governance as per department’s Scheme of Delegation (SOD), and 

Council Policy See Rule 11 
(v) The LTP and other records are updated 
(vi) The new Supplier will only be set up if the LTP is set up correctly 
(vii) Close the old Supplier off  

29.23 Termination 

29.24 Under the PA23 all Public Contracts that are terminated or come to a natural 
end require a Termination Notification. Speak to Procurement Services. 

29.25 All Terminations of Contracts over £100k must come to PAG via the Contract 
Termination Pro-Forma. 

30. Contract Management – Rule 30 

30.1 For all Contract Managers are expected to ensure that all costs are monitored, 
that any overspend is approved by Finance and through the relevant Council 
Governance. That regular reviews are carried out and that performance and 
delivery are managed. A Contract review schedule should be in place for those 
Contracts that are Platinum or Gold Council.   

30.2 Contract Management is the responsibility of the Service Department.  For 
Contracts over £100,000 (Whole life Contract value) a nominated Contract 
Manager must be allocated on the London Tenders Portal.  This person must 
have access to the Procurement System and is responsible for maintaining all 
records in the LTP appertaining to the Contract.  

30.3 Public Contracts over £5m must have a nominated Contract Manger in the 
Procurement System and comply with the PA23 requirements on KPI’s and 
Performance Management Reporting, with evidence uploaded to the 

Page 236

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF71E4255-E1DA-4988-8270-9AAA35C568AC%7D&file=Contract%20Termination%20Pro%20forma.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


   

 

 

 

 

127 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

Procurement System and publication of a redacted copy of the signed 
Contract.  If a Public Contract over £5m which is covered by the PA23 defaults 
or is poorly performing, then contact Procurement Services as Notifications are 
needed. 

30.4 Performance must be measured against the criteria set out 

Rating Description 

Good Performance is meeting or exceeding the key 
performance indicators 

Approaching 
target 

Performance is close to meeting the key performance 
indicators 

Requires 
Improvement 

Performance is below the key performance indicators 

Inadequate Performance is significantly below the key performance 
indicators 

Other Performance cannot be described as good, approaching 
target, requires improvement or inadequate. 

 

30.5 Contract Management is vital to ensure delivery of the Services and that VFM 
is maintained.  All Contract Managers must follow the Councils Contract 
Management Framework, that sets out what activities are expected to carry out 
for effective Contract management. 

30.6 All Contracts over £30k must be classified using the Contract classification 
tiering tool, this will determine the classification and this will drive what actions 
are required under the Councils Contract Management Framework .  A copy 
must be sent to procurement services and a copy uploaded to the portal.  
All Contracts over £30k must be classified using the Contract classification 
tiering tool, this will determine the classification and this will drive what actions 
are required under the Councils Contract Management Framework .  A copy 
must be sent to Procurement Services and a copy uploaded to the portal. 

30.7 For Contracting Activity carried out by Procurement Services at award a 
Gateway 4 Report will be completed in conjunction with the Service 
Department to ensure that a Contract Management plan is set up and ensure 
that the Contract Manager is familiar with the Contract terms.  It is vital to 
ensure that the Contract is signed and uploaded to the Procurement System. 
That the Contract Manager if fully conversant with the terms of the Contract. 

30.8 Service Departments are expected to present annually for all Platinum and 
Gold Contracts, performance reports to their Executive Director or Director. 
Service Departments are expected to present performance reports annually for 
all Platinum and Gold Contracts, to their Executive Director or Director.  

Page 237

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit%2FEnfield%20Contract%20Management%20Framework%20March%202023%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit%2FEnfield%20Contract%20Management%20Framework%20March%202023%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit%2FEnfield%20Contract%20Management%20Framework%20March%202023%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit%2FEnfield%20Contract%20Management%20Framework%20March%202023%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FContract%20Management%20Toolkit
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BC7BDC9FB-C2FB-414F-92BB-47AF8EA5D176%7D&file=Contract-Classification-Tiering-Tool-V1.2.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

128 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

30.9 Issues of poor performance should be dealt with promptly and professionally 
with recorded actions and timescales for improvement.   

30.10 Withholding payment could be in breach of Contract and is not advised unless 
Legal advice and been sought. 

30.11 It is the responsibility of the Service Department to ensure that Contracts due 
to expire are put on their work plan to replace the Contract. Service 
Departments will be held to account for Contracts that have expired, and no 
action has been taken. Suppliers that have active spend that cannot be linked 
to a Contract in the Contracts Register will be blocked as non-compliant. 

30.12 Service Departments must ensure, specifically for high value, high-risk 
Contracts and where Contracts are registered on their Business Impact 
Analysis Form, a signed copy of the Contract: 

 

(i) Is in the Procurement System 

(ii) Is on the Corporate Contract Register  

(iii) Has KPIs and regular reviews, both for performance and commercial 
elements; and 

(iv) Regular monitoring of Risk is carried out via the Supplier Resilience 
Tool; and copies uploaded to the Procurement System and sent to 
Emergency Planning if on the BIA. 

30.13 It is recommended that Contract Managers use the toolkits on the Procurement 
Services intranet site for Contract meetings and minutes to ensure all elements 
are covered. 

30.14 Social Value commitments in Contracts must be measured and monitored as 
this formed part of the evaluation criteria, specification and Contract.  

31. Record Keeping – Rule 31 

31.1 It is recommended that Contract Managers use the toolkits on the Procurement 
Services intranet site for Contract meetings and minutes to ensure all elements 
are covered. 

31.2 Keeping records of Contracts is vital and over the PA23 threshold as part of the 
regulations.  For information on how long records should be kept please refer 
to the Council’s Records Retention Schedule. 

31.3 As a minimum, all documentation relating to the procurement project must be 
held on the Procurement System.  As this is part of the CPRs Service 
Departments will fail audits where this cannot be demonstrated.  

Page 238

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/Contract-Management-resources.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/Contract-Management-resources.aspx
http://enfieldeye/downloads/file/6072/document_retention_schedule
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


   

 

 

 

 

129 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

31.4 If the Contract is over £500,000 then the legal department will need to hold the 
original of the Contract and must be signed under seal.   

31.5 Ensure that awarded Contracts are registered on to the Corporate Contract 
register, by ‘promoting’ within the Procurement System.   

31.6 Legal Services are responsible for the process of sealing the Contracts. The 
affixing of the common seal of LBE is attested by an authorised officer from 
Legal Services, whose signature will be seen as executing the Contract on 
behalf of the Council.  The Supplier must validly execute the Contract, and 
Legal Services should be consulted as to the appropriate execution clause’.  
The Supplier must affix its company seal, which must be attested by two 
directors or one director AND a company secretary. 

32. Contracts and Terms and Conditions – Rule 32 

32.1  All Contracting Activity must have a written Contract setting out the terms and 
Conditions of agreement, in a form approved by Legal Services.   

32.2 Legal Services has developed  Contract Templates with standard terms and 
conditions which are available on the Legal Services intranet.  For above 
Threshold Contract Legal Services to be instructed.  For below threshold 
Contracts officers are expected to self-service and read the accompanying user 
guides on the same site. All Contracts over the PA23 threshold must be drawn 
up by Legal Services.  Please factor in sufficient time for Legal Services to 
develop the Contract.  Contracts must be ready at the time of going to the 
market. 

32.3 Where Service Departments use the Purchase Order Terms, then a risk 
assessment must be carried out to ensure that the PO terms cover risk and 
Insurances. See Rule 20 for when the Purchase Order Terms can be used.  
For low value construction projects please use the low value construction 
template. 

32.3 Council Contracts should wherever possible be fixed price with no indexation 
uplifts.  Where it is necessary to include uplifts, these must be CPI. Where RPI 
or CPR + or other indices are required these need to be agreed via 
Procurement Services prior to awarding the Contract. 

32.3 For Public Contracts over £5m as set out in Rule 32.3, a redacted copy of the 
Contract must be published within the timescales defined below. 

(i) For Contracts that are Light Touch Services, before the end of the 
period of 180 days beginning with the day on which the Contract is 
entered into.  

Page 239

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/SitePages/Contract-Templates.aspx


   

 

 

 

 

130 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

(ii) Otherwise, before the end of the period of 90 days beginning with the 
day on which the Contract is entered into.  

32.4 In the limited circumstances where the Contract Templates are not appropriate 
(for example, call off Contracts from Framework Agreements, or construction 
Contracts) then Legal advice must be sought to ensure the Contract is in a 
suitable form.   

32.5 A signed copy of the Contract MUST be obtained for all Contracting Activity. All 
signed copies MUST be uploaded to the LTP for reference.  

32.6 Officer must be aware that a Contract can be verbal or implied, even if not 
formally signed. 

32.7 Electronic invoicing is implied, and every Contract entered by the Council must 
accept and process for payment an electronic invoice to the Council for 
payment.  

32.8 Payment terms are implied to be 30 days beginning with the day on which the 
invoice is received, except Concession Contracts and Schools Contracts, 
including sub-contractors.   

33. Prevention of Corruption – Rule 33 

33.1 Officers must follow the Councils Code of Conduct.  It is important that officers 
do not accept gifts or rewards from Suppliers or potential Suppliers that may be 
an inducement or where information may be imparted that may give advantage 
to a bidder over another bidder.  This may include pricing or design 
specifications. 

33.2 The Council requires Members, employees and Suppliers working on its behalf 
to act with honesty and integrity always, when dealing with resources owned by 
the Council or those for which it is responsible. This includes the responsibility 
for ensuring that assets are safeguarded and that procedures exist within areas 
of their responsibility to prevent and detect fraud.  

33.3 The Council actively encourages the reporting of concerns about fraud and 
corruption through the Council’s Whistle-Blowing Policy. 

33.4 High standards of ethical conduct are mandatory. Staff shall take steps to 
ensure that their behaviour could not lead to accusations of corruption. Corrupt 
behaviour will lead to dismissal and is a crime under the Bribery Act 2010 and 
Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

33.5 Service Departments or Officer that have any concerns over fraud or corruption 
must raise this under the Councils Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy. 

Page 240

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranethr/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BF75A7049-A8E9-49FF-8643-C5850413233C%7D&file=Employee%20Code%20of%20Conduct.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/SitePages/Whistleblowing-Policy.aspx
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/SitePages/Whistleblowing-Policy.aspx


   

 

 

 

 

131 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

33.6 Suppliers are expected to act with integrity and not try to influence decision 
making or put undue pression on Council Officers.  Suppliers can be Excluded 
for improper behaviour. See Rule 18 on Conflicts of Interest, and Rule 26 on 
Award Criteria. 

33.7 All hospitality, gifts or other inducements received must be recorded in the 
Service Department’s hospitality register.   

33.8 Organised Crime 

33.9 The Council needs to protect itself from organised crime.  Where it is 
suspected that there is organised crime within the industry that a Service 
Department is procuring in, Procurement Services must be contacted, or the 
Council’s Whistle-Blowing Policy  used, to inform management.  Officers need 
to be aware of the Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy; and ensure that 
any procurement/Contract award does not have implications for money 
laundering. 

33.10 Areas to consider are: 

(i) Construction 
(ii) Taxis 
(iii) Cleaning 

34. Grant Funding – Rule 34 

34.1 All applications for grants must be in line with the Financial Regulations and 
must be recorded and reported to Finance to meet government regulations. 

34.2 Any Contracting Activity that is to be funded by grant funding is subject to these 
Rules, and if over the threshold, submitted for timely entry onto the Annual 
Procurement Plan, to ensure resources available to support the forthcoming 
procurement. 

35. IR 35 – Rule 35 

35.1 In April 2017 the government introduced new taxation rules affecting those 
people who are self-employed Suppliers.  It is important that officers or Service 
Departments letting a Contract for Services that IR35 is considered, especially 
if awarding the Contract to an SME or individual.  Where the Rules are applied 
incorrectly the Council is liable to any miscalculation of tax. 

35.2 From October 2020, the Chief Executive as banned the use of Bloom and other 
similar arrangements.  Use of any vendor neutral arrangement including Matrix 
MM must be via Exceptions and Waiver form, prior to any contact being let via 

Page 241

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/SitePages/Whistleblowing-Policy.aspx
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/25665/Anti-Money-Laundering-Policy-Your-council.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1


   

 

 

 

 

132 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

this route. Use of any vendor neutral arrangement including Matrix MM must be 
via Exceptions and Waiver form, prior to any Contract being let via this route. 

35.3 The Council has a policy of ensuring that all temporary staff are engaged 
through the Council’s Vendor Neutral Supplier (Matrix) unless agreed with 
Head of HR or Director of HR & OD.  Staff must be engaged through 
recruitment or through the Council’s Vendor Neutral Supplier.   

35.4 Procurement must only be used to procure Services and not to provide 
individual staff members. Officers must refer to the Principles of Managing 
Agency Workers and IR35 HR guidance before proceeding to procurement 
where IR35 may apply. 

35.6 Before commencing Contracting Activity, officers must first consider if the 
person carrying out the work is likely to fall within IR35 regulations, speak to 
HR or carry out the test.   

35.7 If the specification is based on a Job description or person specification, then 
this implies the role is inside IR35.  Whether IR35 applies, should be 
ascertained at the point of identifying the business need.  This way the Council 
can engage those operating outside IR35 in a compliant way.   The evaluation 
process, therefore, should commence when the need for a resource has been 
identified and not a person (this is not needed if recruiting).  

35.8 It should be completed, where there is an understanding that the market for 
Contractors who typically operate via Ltd companies whose preference often is 
to work outside of IR35.  Members of the HR team will be able to advise on the 
circumstances which this type of review may be necessary). 

35.9 The judging of status needs to follow the Councils Assessing IR35 Status 
guidance, to ensure Council guidelines and HMRC regulations are followed. 

35.10 Evaluating whether a role would be employment if an intermediary were not in 
place, is not clear cut.  That is why HMRC have lost some of their own court 
cases.  It is a matter of judgement against a set of criteria.    There are certain 
factors that typically would make a role more akin to employment than a 
business-to-business arrangement and these have been extracted below.    It 
is also useful to consider ‘the spirit’ of the regulations and the key tests.  
Specifically: 

(i) Control:  Will management control be exerted over the person 
performing the role or will they be asked to manage and control others.  

(ii) Mutuality of Obligation:  Will the Authority feel obliged to pay the 
worker ‘for being present’ or will they be paid for work completed in the 
same way that a business is paid once a service had been delivered?  Is 

Page 242

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B2C43E220-673A-4F20-B810-FD369EDA5C21%7D&file=Exception%20-%20Waiver%20-%20Exemption%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranethr/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BA319FF67-0936-4434-A971-DA79CEC54C50%7D&file=Principles%20of%20managing%20agency%20workers.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranethr/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BA319FF67-0936-4434-A971-DA79CEC54C50%7D&file=Principles%20of%20managing%20agency%20workers.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranethr/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B16236929-B616-47F6-A4C5-9A445C766D0B%7D&file=Assessing%20IR35%20Status.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

133 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

there an implied sense of an on-going Contract for work beyond the 
scope of the assignment?  Will the person performing the role feel 
obliged to turn up – even if there is a pause in the project?  

(iii) Part and Parcel:  Is the person treated as ‘part and parcel of the 
organisation’ (e.g. would they be asked to represent the organisation 
externally, make decisions about budgets and finances, be the ‘go to 
person’ for other staff, be part of a published management structure, 
have a P.A. or assistant)?  

(iv) Substitution: Will the Authority accept a suitable substitute should an 
individual be unable to continue with the project for any reason?  

35.11 A questionnaire has also been included in the guide to help managers reflect 
on the ‘spirit’ of the regulations and make their final judgements.  

35.12 There is an online Employment Status Service (ESS) test that provides the 
view of HMRC on whether a worker on a specific engagement/Contract should 
be classed as employed or self –employed for tax purposes. 

35.13 Remember that the risk now sits with the Council, and we will be liable for any 
unpaid NI; therefore, if there is any doubt please speak to HR.  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/check-employment-status-for-tax 

35.13 The employment check must be uploaded into the Procurement System as 
evidence where a consultant/individual has been procured. This is particularly 
important where the Supplier is a Personal Service Company.  

36. Consultation – Rule 36 

36.1 For Housing procurement Contracts the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform 
Act 2002 (CLRA) may apply. Where applicable, officers must undertake the 
required consultation with leaseholders. Leaseholders can nominate Suppliers 
for inclusion on a tender list for specific, below PA23Threshold, procurement 
projects.  Officers must liaise with Home Ownership Services to clarify the 
requirements under the CLRA before commencing with any procurement likely 
to affect leaseholders. 

36.2 For all other procurement’s officers shall ensure that where applicable 
consultation with stakeholders is undertaken within the appropriate period of 
the procurement process. 

37. Procurement Processes 

37.1 The following sections are additional information that support the CPRs and 
Contracting activity.  

Page 243

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/check-employment-status-for-tax
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/15/section/164
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/15/section/164


   

 

 

 

 

134 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

38. Partnerships/shared services 

38.1 Where the Council is working in partnership or in a shared service then the 
Rules still apply.  Remember that there may be no procurement process to 
access a Pan London Agreement, but this is still entering into a Contract and 
therefore the Rules still apply.  Governance still applies.   

38.2 Also consider any partnerships that include staff and where these sit in the 
Contract.  

39. TUPE 

39.1 The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 
(TUPE) protect employees where there is either business transfer or a service 
provision change as defined under TUPE.  Where the TUPE conditions are 
met, employment contracts will transfer over the new business owner/service 
provider. 

39.2 Officers must ensure that appropriate provisions are included in Contracts to 
deal with staff transfer at both entering and exiting the Contract and, 
irrespective of whether TUPE applies on entry, if there are employees eligible 
for Best Value Direction pension protection then the appropriate pensions 
provisions will also need to be included.  The Contract Templates contain 
suitable provisions to address TUPE. 

39.3 If TUPE is likely to apply, Officers must also ensure that relevant enquiries are 
made and necessary information is provided during the procurement process, 
with advice being taken from Procurement and Legal Services, as well as 
Pensions Services where applicable. 

 

40. Supplier Creation and Paying Suppliers 

40.1 Once a Contract is awarded to a Supplier, they MUST be set up for payment in 
the Purchase Order System (Neptune).  Suppliers must be set up and 
Purchase Orders raised prior to any commitment of work or invoices.  All 
Suppliers set up via Contracting Activity should be paid via a Purchase Order 
and not AP or Purchase Card.  The Council is bound by the prompt payment 
regulations and must pay properly rendered invoices within 30 days. 

40.2 For Contracts over £5,000: 

(i) Send the Commercial Supplier Request Form through the Procurement 
System with the DN Ref on the form for security.  

(ii) Email to verdors@enfield.gov.uk to expect the Supplier pack.   

Page 244

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B89FDC378-821B-4CF1-B4B4-201771C0172E%7D&file=Commercial%20Supplier%20Creation%20Form.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&web=1
mailto:verdors@enfield.gov.uk


   

 

 

 

 

135 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

40.3 Suppliers will not be set up unless the LTP project is fully completed.  This is 
detailed in the LTP guidance.   

40.4 For Contracts under £5,000 

(i) Complete the Supplier request form (with start and end date of Contract) 
(ii) Attach quotation  

40.5 Once the goods or Services specified in the Contract have been delivered or 
the term has come to an end, then the contact has ended.  Where the spend 
exceeds the value of the procurement route the Supplier will be blocked and a 
new Procurement will be needed to unblock the Supplier. 

40.6 Additional Services or goods need to be procured or a Contract Modification 
executed EG; delivery of 5 training sessions.  At the end of the 5 session the 
Contract has been delivered and any additional Services must be re-procured 
or extended if this is within PCR’s. 

40.7 For the prevention of fraud, Suppliers that have not received a payment for 
over 14 months will be blocked, and a new procurement will be needed to 
unblock them.  

41. Procurement Activity Below £5,000 

41.1 The portal must be used where the total cost of the Contract is above £5,000.  
The LTP can still be use below this where there is a need for transparency, to 
maintain a Contract on the register, or where a competitive process is taking 
place. 

41.2 When not using the portal, the following are still required: 

(i) Written Specification 
(ii) Contract (or use PO terms and conditions – if manages risk) 
(iii) Evaluation criteria (probably only price) 
(iv) Approval to procure and award 
(v) Signed Contract at the end  

41.3 For audit purposes and management of Contracts after procurement, it is 
recommended that Service Departments have a space in the departmental 
shared folder to store information.  Alternatively use any work management 
system to hold the information. 

  

Page 245

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FLondon%20Tenders%20Portal%2FQuick%20Quote%20Guidance%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FLondon%20Tenders%20Portal
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetAccountsPayableReceivable/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BA6F776B4-D08A-4F04-A8E0-51D0AD5AC446%7D&file=Supplier%20Request%20Non%20QQ%20v2.4.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

136 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

42. Glossary Of Defined Terms 

42.1 Where these Rules refer to approval required from a person in a specified role 
(e.g. Head of Procurement Services) such approval may be delegated to another 
officer by that person. 

Advertising Where Request for Quotations and Tenders are advertised to the open 
market for opportunity. 

Aggregation Is the requirement to add together the estimated value of separate Contracts 
for meeting a single requirement.  Procurement Legislation expressly 
prohibits the splitting of requirements into smaller units or orders to avoid the 
process relating to Public Contracts. 

Business Impact Analysis 
Form/ BIA 

Business Continuity Form for Emergency Planning. 

Bribery Act 2010 Bribery Act 2010  

Code of Conduct The Councils code of Conduct and how officers must carry out their duties in 
terms of conduct. 

Concessions A type of Contractual arrangement under which, rather than paying the 
Supplier to deliver a work or service, the Council grants the Supplier the right 
to exploit an opportunity and receive some or all of its income from third 
parties (e.g. the public), retaining the profit.   

Connected Person A person in relation to a supplier is a person with significant control over the 
supplier (as set out in Companies House). A Director or shadow director, a 
parent undertaking or a subsidiary.  See Schedule 6 for full description 
 

Consultation A formal process to consult or discuss  

Contract Means an agreement between the Council and any other organisation, 
including another public authority, made by formal agreement or by issue of a 
letter of acceptance or official purchase order for Works, Supplies or 
Services. 

Contracting Activity Any action, process of decision making that relates to the creation of a 
Contract for the supply of Goods, Services or Works.  Including all elements 
of the sourcing cycle from market research, engagement, Tendering, 
evaluation, award, and Contract management to the end of the Contract term 
including Termination. 

Contract Management The management and monitoring of a Contract to ensure delivery and 
performance; including commercial elements and payments. 

Contract Manager Person responsible for the management of Council Contract to ensure 
delivery of performance and outcomes. 

Page 246

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethr/Shared%20Documents/HR%20Advisory/Misconduct/Employee%20Code%20of%20Conduct(APRIL%20219).pdf


   

 

 

 

 

137 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

Contract Management 
Framework 

The Councils Contract management framework, that sets out requirements 
for Service Departments to ensure that Contracts are effectively managed to 
deliver VFM. 

Contract Templates Standardised Contracts to be used by Service Departments and procuring 
officers that have been drawn up by Legal Services for the Contracting of 
Goods and Services (for Works, industry standard construction contracts 
such as the JCT or NEC suite are generally used) 

Converted Contract/ 
Convertible Contract 

A below Threshold Contract, that after modification has become a Public 
Contract, and therefore has become a Converted Contract. 

Corporate Contract 
Register 

Corporate Register of Contracts held by Procurement Services within the 
Procurement System. 

Council’s Constitution Documents (s) that sets out how the Council is governed. 
 

Debarred Supplier Supplier that is on the Cabinets Office list of Debarred suppliers. 

Directors Means Directors and Executive Directors of Enfield Council 

Direct Award Entering into a Contract where no competition has taken place. 

Dynamic Market Arrangement for the purpose of the Council awarding Public Contract by 
reference to Suppliers’ participation in the arrangements. 

Exception Contracting Activity where Direct Award is permissible in certain 
circumstances. 

Excluded & Excludable 
Suppliers 

Supplier that can be Excluded in line with the discretionary or mandatory 
requirements for exclusion. 

Exempted Contracts Contracting Activity that is not covered by the Procurement Act 2023. 

Extension Facility to extend a Contract term.  

Financial Regulations Financial regulations forming part of the Council’s Constitution; that set out 
financial management regulations for the council. 

Framework Agreement An agreement with Suppliers which sets out the terms and conditions under 
which specific purchases can be made throughout the term of the agreement 
and which where necessary has been Tendered in accordance with 
Procurement Legislation. 

Goods Tangible products that can be consumable or non-consumable. 

Page 247

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplayClassic.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252&path=0


   

 

 

 

 

138 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

Council Governance 
Reports 

Reports set out as standard templates by Governance Department to be 
used for decisions and authority, or for Key Decision Process. See Non-Key 
Officer Report or Standard Corporate Report Template  

Hamburg Contracts entered into between two or more contracting authorities with the 
aim of achieving common objectives. No more than 20% of the activities are 
intended to be carried out other than for the purpose of the public functions of 
the authorities. 

Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 

Council Policy to improve the health and wellbeing of staff and residents of 
the borough 

Health Services Contracts that provide Services relating to health care provision but not social 
care. 

Horizontal Arrangement  Contract or arrangement with another authority with the aim of achieving 
objectives the authorities have in common in connection with the exercise of 
their public functions,   
solely in the public interest. 

IR35 HRMC regulations regarding working regulations and TAX for agency 
workers, interims and consultants. 

Key Decision  Council’s governance process for projects that meet the Key Decision 
criteria. 

Known Risk  
 

Means: 
a) Could jeopardise the satisfactory performance of the contract, but 
b) Because of its nature, could not be addressed in the contract as 

awarded and 
c) Was identified in the Tender or transparency notice for award, 

detailing a description of the risk and possibility of modification 

Legislation Legal regulations set out by the Government. 

Light Touch Services The Services set out in the Public Procurement Regulations 2024 that cover 
areas in Schedule 3; namely Adult social care and other areas listed in 
schedule 3. 

Local Supplier Supplier that is based in the London Borough of Enfield 

Modern Slavery Charter Charter signed by the Council to support the eradication of Modern Slavery; 
specifically, within the Council supply chain. 

Non-Key Officer Report Part of the Reports Process for Non-Key Officer Decisions. 

Notification A Notice placed in the public domain to notify the market of Contracting 
Activity to ensure transparency. 

Novation A Council Contract that is moved from one Supplier to another. 

Open Framework A scheme of frameworks that provides for the award of successive 
frameworks on substantially the same terms. 

Operational Processes Processes that are not set out in the CPRs but support the process of 
Contracting Activity and are operational in nature. 

Page 248

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance%2FReports%2Dprocess%2DROD%2Dguidance%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance&OR=Teams%2DHL&CT=1713349584540&clickparams=eyJBcHBOYW1lIjoiVGVhbXMtRGVza3RvcCIsIkFwcFZlcnNpb24iOiI0OS8yNDAzMTQxNDcxOCIsIkhhc0ZlZGVyYXRlZFVzZXIiOmZhbHNlfQ%3D%3D


   

 

 

 

 

139 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

Other Authority Where a Standard Corporate Report Template is not used within a Service, 
the authority to procurement must be set out clearly in some other report, 
email or policy etc. (See Standard Corporate Report Template). 

Performance Bond A bond issued by an insurance company or a bank to guarantee satisfactory 
completion of a project by a Supplier. 

Platinum or Gold 
Contract 

Contract classified as Platinum or Gold that will be either high value, high 
risk, complex or all the aforementioned. 

Price Quality Ratio Award criteria set out in the Procurement Principles on the ratio of Price and 
Quality within a Tender. 

Procurement Act 
Thresholds. 
Procurement Threshold 

Threshold set over which the Procurement Legislation applies.  

Procurement Act 2023 
(PA23) 

Procurement Legislation covering public procurement. Came into effect 28th 
October 2024. 

Procurement Assurance 
Group (PAG) 

Procurement Assurance Group, that oversees procurement assurance, and 
robust procurement governance is in place. 

Procurement Code  Document that supports the CPR’s and sets out the processes and 
governance to be followed for all Contracting Activity.  Provides more 
detailed information and links to supporting information to ensure compliance 
with these rules. 

Procurement Legislation  Procurement Legislation covering Public Contract requirements for England. 

 Procurement Act 2023 

 Provider Selection Regime 

 Public Contract Regulations 2015 

Procurement Principles Set of Principles set out to meet Council requirements and may change from 
time to time. 

Procurement System The Councils digital platform used for e-Tendering, Contract management 
and Contract register, used to meet legislative requirements. 

Property Procedure 
Rules 

Rules set out to manage property procurement and form part of the 
constitution  

Provider Selection 
Regime (PSR) 

Procurement Legislation came into effect January 2024. Covers Health 
Services Contracts. A set of rules for procuring health care Services set out 
in the Health Care Services (Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023. 

Provider Selection 
Regime Code 

Document that supports the CPRs and sets out rules and operational 
processes in relation to the PSR. 

Public Procurement 
Regulations 2015 

Procurement legislation came into effect 2015.  Only applied to contracts let 
under this legislation. 

Public Contract A Contract of a kind specified in Procurement Legislation: 
A contract with a value of not less than the Procurement Threshold and: 

 Not an Exempted Contract 

 A framework 

 A concession contract 

Page 249

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


   

 

 

 

 

140 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

Regulated Below 
Threshold Contract 

Contracts covered by the Procurement Act. Contracts let via Procurement 
Act 2023 which are below Threshold. 

Quotation A formal statement or promise usually submitted by a potential Supplier in 
response to a request for a quotation to supply specified Supplies, Works or 
Services required by a purchaser at specific prices within a specific time 
frame.  (A quotation should be distinguished from an Estimate, which is not a 
fixed price). 
N.B. A Contract arises on acceptance of a quotation. Unless otherwise 
specified a quotation may be subject to the Supplier's terms and conditions of 
business and those terms and conditions become part of the Contract.  
Therefore, a request for quotations should specify that the quotation is 
subject to the Council’s terms and conditions.  

Resilience Requirements Resilience Requirements needed by the Council to mitigate risk in 
emergencies 

Schools Code Code setting out modifications within the Procurement Act 2023 for Schools. 

Services Services such as maintenance of equipment, transportation, consultancy, 
technical Services. etc. as defined by the Procurement Legislation. 

Service Department. 
The Service 

Department or team within the Council, commissioning or carrying out 
Contracting Activity, who define the requirement and manage the Contract. 

SME 
(Small, Medium 
Enterprise) 

Small and medium sized enterprise supplier as defined in section 123 of the 
Procurement Act 2023. 

Special Service Vehicle A special purpose vehicle (also referred to as an SPV) is a legal entity 
created for a limited purpose. It’s created by a parent or primary company to 
isolate financial risks. In other words, in the event a parent company were to 
go bankrupt, the SPV company (which is essentially legally separate) will 
not be affected). 

Standard Corporate 
Report Template 

Standard Corporate Report Template to be used for any decision that meets 
the KD threshold of expenditure/savings of £500k or more and/or has a 
significant impact on the community in two or more wards. Should also be 
used for all Portfolio decisions whether they are Key or Non-Key 

Supplier A person/ company that will provide Goods, Service or Works to the Council.  
A bidder within a competitive process. 

Supplies Can be tangible object delivered in relation to a Contract.  See also Goods. 

Supplier Resilience Tool Tool used to ascertain the risk in the supply chain and the Supplier risk. 

Transparency Regulations relating to what is to be published in the public domain relating to 
Contracting Activity 

Teckal Company Is a specific type of entity used by Public Authorities to deliver local services 
without going through a competitive Tender Process. 

Page 250

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance%2FReports%2Dprocess%2DROD%2Dguidance%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance&OR=Teams%2DHL&CT=1713349584540&clickparams=eyJBcHBOYW1lIjoiVGVhbXMtRGVza3RvcCIsIkFwcFZlcnNpb24iOiI0OS8yNDAzMTQxNDcxOCIsIkhhc0ZlZGVyYXRlZFVzZXIiOmZhbHNlfQ%3D%3D
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

141 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

Tender A sealed bid submitted in response to an invitation to Tender, which invitation 
contains detailed information on requirements including a specification and 
terms and conditions 

Termination Where a Contract or procurement activity is stopped or ended (terminated). 

The Council London Borough of Enfield 

Threshold The value at which Contracting Activity must follow Procurement Legislation 
processes.   

Value for Money (VFM) Value for Money (VFM) is a balanced judgement about finding the best way 
to use public resources to deliver policy objectives.  

Variation Any alteration, modification, addition to or deletion of any requirement of the 
Contract terms or specification. 

Vertical Arrangement A contract between a contracting authority and a person that is controlled 
by—  

b. the contracting authority,  
c. the contracting authority acting jointly with one or more other 

contracting authorities,  
d. another contracting authority, where that authority also controls the 

contracting authority referred to in paragraph (a), or  
d. another contracting authority acting jointly with one or more other 

contracting authorities, where the authorities acting jointly also control 
the contracting authority referred to in paragraph (a).  

Works The outcome of building or civil engineering as defined under the 
Procurement Legislation.  

Page 251



   

 

 

 

 

142 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

43. Useful Documents 

 
  

Document Supports 

Sustainable procurement policy 
Sustainable procurement check list 
 

Council Policy on Sustainable and Ethical Procurement. 

Checklist Ensures that all elements of the procurement activity are 
carried out compliantly.  This should be used to support 
all procurement activity. 

Contract Management Guidance Ensures that Contracts are managed effectively 

Procurement Quick Quote guidance Helps guide you into what process to follow 

London Tenders Guidance London Tenders Portal Guide. This is a step-by-step user 
guide for LTP.  

Equalities in Procurement Guide to 
Suppliers. 
Fairer Enfield Policy 

Equalities in Procurement guides to follow. 
 
Enfield’s Fairer Enfield Policy 

Suite of Request for quotation 
documents 

Request for quotation pack to be used for self-service: 
 
Self-Serve Process Flow 
Specification Guidance & Template 
Invitation to quote (ITQ) 
Contract Templates* 
 

Page 252

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Enfield_Sustainable_Procurement_Policy.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BDD722179-754E-4306-8995-9BEF1F7659E4%7D&file=Sustainable_Procurement_Check_List_may%202020.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B7D4592E8-D4AB-4DDA-A5A4-C022BFF64022%7D&file=Procurement_checklist_2020.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B80A098B0-3D11-4FB4-B614-76771505108E%7D&file=Contract%20management%20Guide%202019.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE33B0C8D-E8CB-43D0-99B1-724B551A0C48%7D&file=Quick%20Procurement%20Guidance%202.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/procurement-ltp.aspx
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0021/20379/Equalities-in-procurement-suppliers-guide-Business-and-licensing.pdf
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0021/20379/Equalities-in-procurement-suppliers-guide-Business-and-licensing.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranetchiefexec/SitePages/Equality,-Diversity-and-Inclusion.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/procurement-selfservice%C2%A350k+.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/procurement-selfservice%C2%A350k+.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2Fprocurement%2Dselfservice%C2%A325k%2B%2FSelf%2DServe%2DProcess%2D%2D6%2D%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2Fprocurement%2Dselfservice%C2%A325k%2B
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Specification%20Writing%20Guidance%20%26%20Template.docx?d=w81a9d4a1497e4a2e8fdfc994fba7406d&csf=1&web=1&e=Ko0g1i
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Specification%20Writing%20Guidance%20%26%20Template.docx?d=w81a9d4a1497e4a2e8fdfc994fba7406d&csf=1&web=1&e=Ko0g1i
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/ITQ%202023/Invitation%20to%20Quote%20(ITQ).docx?web=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents%2FContracts%20Legal%20Precedents%20v%205&viewid=1c56929d%2D0865%2D493e%2Da9c6%2D6989f14e4fca


   

 

 

 

 

143 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

44. Terminology Changes from PCR 2015 

 

Public Contract Regulations 
2015 Terminology 

Procurement Act 2023 Wording 

“In-scope procurement” “Covered procurement” - Section 1 (1) (b)/ 
Section 11 (1) PA23 

“Prior Information Notice (PIN)” “Planned Procurement Notice” – Section 15 (2) 
PA23 

“Contract Notice” “Tender Notice” – Section 21 (2) PA23 

“Contract Award Notice” “Contract Details Notice” – Section 53 (2) PA23 

“Standstill Notice” “Assessment Summary” – Section 50 (4) PA23 

“Selection Criteria” “Conditions of Participation” – Section 22 (2) 
PA23 

“Most Economically 
Advantageous Tender” 

“Most Advantageous Tender” – Section 19 (2) 
PA23 

“VEAT Notice” “Transparency Notice” – Section 44 (2) PA23 

“Further Competition” “Competitive Selection Process” Section 46 (10) 
PA23 

“In-scope procurement” “Covered procurement” 

“Prior Information Notice (PIN)” “Planned Procurement Notice” 

“Contract Notice” “Tender Notice” 

“Contract Award Notice” “Contract Details Notice” 

“Standstill Notice” “Assessment Summary” 

“Selection Criteria” “Conditions of Participation” 

“Most Economically 
Advantageous Tender” 

“Most Advantageous Tender” 

“VEAT Notice” “Transparency Notice” 

“Further Competition”  

“Central Purchasing Body” “Centralised Procurement Authority” - Section 1 
(4) PA23 

“Prompt payment report” (under 
Reg 113 PCR 2015) 

“Payments Compliance Notice” - Section 69 (2) 
PA23 

“Below-Threshold Procurement” “Regulated Below-Threshold contract” – Section 
84 PA23 

“Award Decision Notice” “Contract Award Notice” – Section 50 (4) PA23 

“Economic and Financial 
Standing” 

“Legal and Financial Capacity” – Section 22 (1) 
(a) PA23 

“Technical and professional 
ability” 

“Technical ability” - Section 22 (1) (a) PA23 
,Section 36(1)(b) & Section 85 

“Direct Award (under FA, not 
mini competition)” 

“Award Without Competition” – Section 45 (4) 
PA23 

“Dynamic Purchasing System” “Dynamic Market (in part)”- Sections 34 (8) & 35 

Page 253



   

 

 

 

 

144 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

(1) PA23 

“Evaluation Methodology” “Assessment Methodology” – Section 23 (3) 
PA23 

“Modification Notice” “Contract Change Notice” - Section 75 (3) PA23 

“Negotiated procedure without 
Notice” 

“Direct Award” - Section 41 PA23 

“Pre-Market Engagement” “Preliminary Market Engagement” – Section 16 
PA23 

“Procurement 
Process/Procedure” 

“Competitive Tendering Procedure” – Section 20 
(2) PA23 

“Qualifying Organisation” “Public Service Mutual” – Section 33 (6) PA23 

“Restricted 
Procedure/Competitive 
Dialogue/Competitive Procedure 
with Negotiation” 

“Multi-Staged Procedure” – Para 146 Ex Notes 

“Selection Stage” “Participation Period”- Sections 54 (3) PA23 

“Supplier subject to Mandatory 
Exclusion” 

“Excluded Supplier” - Section 57 (1) PA23 

“Supplier subject to 
Discretionary Exclusion” 

“Excludable Supplier” - Section 57 (2) PA23 

“Tender Stage” “Tendering Period” – Section 54 (5) PA23 

“Teckal/ In-House Contracts” “Vertical Arrangement” – Schedule 2 PA23 

“Hamburg / Collaboration” “Horizonal Arrangement” – Schedule 2 Part 1 
Section 3(2) 

“Buyer Profile” “Pipeline Notice” – Section 93 (3) PA23 

“Invitation to Tender” “Associated Tender Documents” – Section (4) 
PA23 

N/A “Below-Threshold Tender Notice” - Section 87 
(5) PA23 

N/A “Conflicts Assessment” - Section 83 PA23 

N/A “Contract Termination Notice” – Section 80 
PA23 

N/A “Convertible Contract” – Section 74 (1) PA23 

N/A “Debarment List” – Section 62 PA23 

N/A “Dynamic Market Notice” – Schedule 39 PA23 

N/A “Preliminary Market Engagement Notice”- 
Sections 17 PA23 

N/A “Procurement Termination Notice” – Section 55 
PA23 

N/A “Connected Person”, “Associated Person” 
“Subcontractor” 

N/A “Special Regime Contract” – Section 10 PA23 

N/A “Treaty State Supplier” – Section 19 (3) PA23 

Page 254



   

 

 

 

 

145 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

N/A  “Central Digital Platform” – Reg 5(2) PR24  

N/A  “Competitive Flexible Procedure” - Section 
(20(2)(b) PA23 

N/A “Exempted Contract” - Sch 2 PA23 

N/A “National Security Unit for Procurement” 

N/A “Open Framework Agreement” – Section 49 
PA23 

 
 
 
 

Page 255



   

 

 

 

 

146 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D 
Provider Selection Regime 
 

Provider Selection Regime Code 

PROVIDER SELECTION REGIME (PSR) CODE ................................................................................ 148 

1. INTRODUCTION...................................................................................................................... 148 

2. SCOPE OF THE PSR .............................................................................................................. 149 

3. BASIC SELECTION CRITERIA .............................................................................................. 151 

4. KEY CRITERIA ........................................................................................................................ 151 

5.  PROCUREMENT PROCESS – ROUTES TO MARKET......................................................... 152 

5.5 OVERVIEW OF ROUTES TO MARKET ............................................................................................. 154 
5.6 DIRECT AWARD PROCESS A (EXISTING PROVIDER)....................................................................... 156 
5.12 DIRECT AWARD PROCESS B (PATIENT CHOICE) ............................................................................ 156 
5.16 DIRECT AWARD PROCESS C (RETAINING INCUMBENT SUPPLIER) .................................................. 157 
5.21 MOST SUITABLE PROVIDER PROCESS ......................................................................................... 158 
5.27 COMPETITIVE PROCESS (MULTI PROVIDER PROCESS) ................................................................... 159 

6.  STANDSTILL PROCESS AND DECISIONS DURING STANDSTILL ................................... 160 

7.  MODIFICATIONS OF CONTRACTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS .......................... 162 

7.7 PERMITTED MODIFICATIONS ........................................................................................................ 162 
7.9 MODIFICATIONS TO CONTRACTS ORIGINALLY AWARDED UNDER DIRECT AWARD PROCESS A OR B: .. 162 
7.13 MODIFICATIONS THAT ARE NOT PERMITTED .................................................................................. 164 
7.17 CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS IN URGENT SITUATIONS ...................................................................... 164 

8.  URGENT AWARD OR MODIFICATION ................................................................................. 164 

9.  ABANDONMENT OF, OR REPETITION OF STEPS IN A PROCUREMENT ........................ 165 

10.  FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS .............................................................................................. 165 

10.5 ADDITIONAL PROVIDER PARTIES OF A FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT DURING ITS TERM ........................ 166 
10.8 CONTRACTS BASED ON A FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT .................................................................... 166 

11.  EXCLUSIONS .......................................................................................................................... 167 

12.  CONFLICTS OF INTEREST .................................................................................................... 167 

12.9 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST ASSESSMENTS ...................................................................................... 169 

13.  TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS .......................................................................................... 169 

14.  TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS ..................................................................................... 170 

15.  INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS.......................................................................................... 172 

15.4 ANNUAL SUMMARY ..................................................................................................................... 173 

16.  GLOSSARY OF TERMS ......................................................................................................... 174 

Page 256



   

 

 

 

 

147 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 257



   

 

 

 

 

148 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

Provider Selection Regime (PSR) Code 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The PSR came into force on 01 January 2024 and replaced the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015, when procuring Health Care Services  covered by CPV codes set 
out under Schedule 1 (Relevant Health Care Services). 

1.2 This document details the requirements for carrying out compliant procurement using 
the Provider Selection Regime (PSR). This PSR Code (Code), MUST be used in 
conjunction with the Contract Procedure Rules (Rules), AND the Procurement Code, 
which forms the Councils Contract Standing Orders in how to carry out contracting 
activity for PSR processes. These documents serve as a roadmap for Service 
Departments, outlining the key principles, procedures, and best practices to uphold 
throughout all contracting activity in relation to PSR. 

1.3 Procurement Services, will lead all in scope PSR Contracting Activity unless 
agreed otherwise/with Procurement Services to ensure strict compliance with 
the relevant legislation, adoption of best practices, and achievement of Value 
for Money (VFM).  Procurement Services reserves the right to manage any 
PSR Contracting Activity due to either risk to the Council (including reputational 
risk) or complexity. 

1.4 The CPRs and Procurement Code must be followed in addition to this Code for all: 

(i) Council Governance,  

(ii) Financial assessments, Security  

(iii) Procurement Assurance Group,  

(iv) Insurance  

 

1.5 The PSR Legislation, CPRs and this Code apply to all Contracts and 
Contracting activity covered by the Common Procurement Vocabulary 
(CPV) codes set out under Schedule 1 (Relevant Health Care Services) and 
meets the PSR principles as summarised below, regardless of value.  

1.6 PSR Principles require the commissioner to: 

(i) act with a view to: 

a.  securing the needs of the people who use the Services 

b. improving the quality of the Services; and 

Page 258

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance%2FContract%20Procedure%20Rules%20%28CPRs%29%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FShared%20Documents%2FProcurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B6BC2D49E-7057-4642-A0B3-462325122FB3%7D&file=Procurement%20Instruction%20Form%20(PIF).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/regulation/4/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/regulation/4/made


   

 

 

 

 

149 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

c.  improving the efficiency of the Services, including through 
integrated service delivery with other Health Care Services, 
health related Services or social scare Services 

(ii) act transparently, fairly, and proportionately 

 

1.7 This Code applies to any of the PSR procurement processes, which includes 
the following: 

(i) Direct Award Process A 

(ii) Direct Award Process B 

(iii) Direct Award Process C 

(iv) Most Suitable Provider processes 

(v) The Competitive Process 

(vi) Variations to Contracts covered by the PSR 

(vii) Frameworks let via the PSR 

1.8 This document explains the Rules and operational processes to be followed 
when carrying out Contracting Activity; it is not intended as a replacement for 
training. Service Departments and officers who carry out regular Contracting 
activity including Contract Management are recommended to look on iLearn for 
training courses or speak to Procurement Services regarding training via 
procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk. 

1.9 Procurement Services intranet site is kept up to date to support Service 
Departments. It is expected that Service Departments will review the site 
content including Rules, Code and guidance, prior to contacting Procurement 
Services for support. 

1.10 The PSR is not exempt from using the Procurement System and must be used 
for all Contracts over £5k to ensure they are on the Council’s Corporate 
Contract Register. Service Departments must maintain a record of all Contracts 
let via PSR for Annual Summary requirements (Rule 15) 

 

2. Scope of the PSR 

2.1 The Council is required to follow the PSR when arranging Relevant Health 
Care Services, irrespective of whether the providers they are considering are 
from the NHS, the independent, or voluntary sector.  The PSR covers 
procurement by: 

Page 259

mailto:procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
file:///R:/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Corporate%20-%20New%20Folder/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Manual%20New%20CPR's%20%20July%202020%20v3.docx
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

150 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

(i) NHS England 

(ii) Integrated trusts and foundation trusts 

(iii) Local authorities or combined authorities 

2.2 In scope Contracts are listed in the PSR Common Procurement Vocabulary 
codes (CPV) under Schedule 1 (Relevant Health Care Services) of the PSR. 
Any procurement of these in scope Contracts that fall outside of these Rules 
and the PSR will be non-compliant. For any doubt in determining whether a 
requirement is ‘in-scope’ of the PSR, consult Procurement Services. 

 

2.3 Procurements that are not in scope of the PSR: 

(i) Goods (medicines, medical equipment) 

(ii) Social Care Services 

(iii) Non-Health Care Services or health-adjacent Services (e.g. Capital 
Works, business consultancy, catering) that do not provide health care 
to an individual 

(iv) Any Contract that is covered by the Procurement Act 2023.  Refer to the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 

2.4 If the procurement relates to a mixed Contract (a Contract comprising of a 
mixture of in-scope Health Care Services and out of scope Services or Goods), 
the PSR and this Code will apply when both the below grounds are met: 

(i) The main subject matter of the procurement is a relevant health care 
service(s) in England. This means that the health care service element 
must be more than 50% of the estimated total value of the Contract. 

(ii) That the Service Department is of the view that the other Goods or 
Service could not reasonably be supplied under a separate Contract. 
This means that the Service Department is of the view that procuring the 
Health Care Services and the other Goods and Services separately 
might or might be likely to have a material adverse impact on the 
Service Department’s ability to act in accordance with the PSR 
Principles (see 1.5 for the PSR Principles). 

2.5 When procuring to award a Contract under the PSR, the Service Department 
must identify which PSR route to market process is applicable for the Health 
Care Services they are arranging.  

The options for the routes to market under the PSR are as follows (See 
paragraph 5 below for details): 

Page 260

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made


   

 

 

 

 

151 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

(i) Direct Award Processes: A, B or C 

(ii) Most Suitable Provider Process 

(iii) Competitive Process 

(iv) Call-Off under an established PSR Framework Agreement 

 

3. Basic Selection Criteria 

3.1 The Service Department must not award a Contract to or conclude a 
Framework Agreement with a Supplier who does not meet the Basic Selection 
Criteria set out in Rule 3.3. 

3.2 This does not apply to: 

(i) Where Direct Award A or Direct Award B is followed 

(ii) Where the Contract is a Framework Agreement 

3.3 Basic Selection Criteria that the Supplier must meet may relate to: 

(i) Suitability to pursue a particular activity 

(ii) Economic and financial standing (see CPRs Rule 11) 

(iii) Technical and professional ability 

 

4. Key Criteria 

4.1 All the Key Criteria must be considered, when following: 

(i) direct award process C,  

(ii) the most suitable provider process,  

(iii) or the competitive process. 

4.2 How they are considered must be recorded. The Council expects that none of 
the key criteria are discounted. Service Departments are expected to be aware 
of wider requirements or duties when considering procurement decisions, such 
Social Value commitment, and the need to ensure value for money when 
arranging Health Care Services. The flexibilities offered by the regime do not 
mean that Service Departments do not have to comply with those obligations 

4.3 The Key Criteria are: 

Page 261

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/the-provider-selection-regime-statutory-guidance/#annex-d-key-criteria
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/the-provider-selection-regime-statutory-guidance/#annex-d-key-criteria


   

 

 

 

 

152 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

(i) Quality and innovation - that is the need to ensure good quality 
Services and the need to support the potential for the development and 
implementation of new or significantly improved Services or processes 
that will improve the delivery of health care and health outcomes. 

(ii) Value - that is the need to strive to achieve good value in terms of the 
balance of costs, overall benefits and the financial implications of a 
proposed Contracting arrangement. 

(iii) Integration, collaboration and service sustainability - that is the 
extent to which Services can be provided in: 

a) An integrated way (including with other Health Care Services, 
health related Services or social care Services 

b) A collaborative way (including with providers and with persons 
providing health related Services or social care Services) 

c) A sustainable way (which includes the stability of good quality 
Health Care Services or service continuity of Health Care 
Services). 

(iv) Improving access, reducing health inequalities, and facilitating 
choice - that is ensuring accessibility to Services and treatments for all 
eligible patients, improving health inequalities and ensuring that patients 
have choice in respect of their health care. 

(v) Social value - that is whether what is proposed might improve 
economic, social and environmental wellbeing in the geographical area 
relevant to a proposed Contracting arrangement. 

4.4 For more information follow guidance. 

 

5. Procurement Process – Routes to Market 

5.1 The Service Department must ensure that the right decision-making process is 
followed when appraising the different routes to market and recommending 
which procurement process to utilise. A clear audit trail of the decision-making 
process and assessment of bid(s) must be kept and retained to comply with the 
record keeping obligations under the PSR (Information Requirements Rule 15) 
and in case it may have to be produced for the PSR Review Panel. 

5.2 It must be recognised that Value for Money can only be achieved via a 
competitive exercise. 

Page 262

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/provider-selection-regime-getting-to-the-right-decision/


   

 

 

 

 

153 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

5.3 All Direct Awards must use the PSR Direct Award Form and be presented at 
PAG regardless of value. 

5.4 All other Contracting Activity must come to PAG over £100k and follow the 
Gateway Process. 

 

Page 263

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/PSR%20Direct%20Award%20Form.xlsx?d=w32f0c88daff444f0836f080409c1c34a&csf=1&web=1&e=oWEUYf


   

 

 

 

 

154 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

5.5 Overview of Routes to Market 

Direct Award Processes 
The Most Suitable Provider 
Process 

The Competitive Process 

A B C Allows the Service Department 
to make a judgement on which 

The Service Department 
cannot use any of the other 

P
age 264



   

 

 

 

 

155 

October 2024 

 

 

 

 

The existing provider is 
the only capable 
provider, and the 
Council is satisfied that 
the Services are 
capable of being 
provided by the existing 
provider. 

 

It cannot be used to set 
up a Framework 
Agreement 

Service Users have a choice of providers, 
and the number of providers is not restricted 
by the Service Department. 

 

The Service Department offer Contracts to all 
providers to whom an award can be made 
because they meet all requirements in 
relation to the provision of the Relevant 
Health care Services to Service Users. 

 

The Service Department has arrangements 
in place to enable providers to express an 
interest in providing the Relevant Health care 
Services. 

 

It cannot be used to set up a Framework 
Agreement 

 

The existing provider 
is:  

(i) satisfying the 
existing Contract,  

(ii) will likely satisfy 
the proposed new 
Contract to a 
sufficient standard, 
and  

(iii) considerable 
change threshold is 
not met.  

 

It cannot be used to 
set up a Framework 
Agreement. 

 

provider is most suitable based 
on the 5 (five) key criteria and 
basic selection criteria, and to 
award a Contract without 
competitive tender. 

 

It cannot be used to set up a 
Framework Agreement 

processes or wishes to run a 
competitive exercise. 

  

P
age 265



   

 

 

 

 

156 

October 2024 

 

 

5.6 Direct Award Process A (existing provider) 

5.7 The Service Department must follow Direct Award Process A, where: 

(i) there is an existing provider of the relevant Health Care Services to 
which the proposed Contracting arrangements relate, 

(ii) the Service Department is satisfied that the relevant Health Care 
Services to which the proposed Contracting arrangements relate are 
capable of being provided only by the existing provider due to the nature 
of the relevant Health Care Services, and 

(iii) the procurement is not to conclude a Framework Agreement. 

5.8 The Service Department does not need to refer to the 5 (five) Key Criteria for 
this process but make careful consideration as to whether there really is no 
other provider who can deliver the Contract and maintain a record to support 
this decision. 

5.9 The Service Department must publish a notice within 30 days of Contract 
being awarded. 

5.10 Ensure that robust audit trail is maintained of decision making, that it is kept 
with the Contract and uploaded to the LTP. 

5.11 For more information follow guidance. 

 

5.12 Direct Award Process B (patient choice) 

5.11 The Service Department must follow Direct Award Process B, where: 

(i) the proposed Contracting arrangements relate to relevant Health Care 
Services in respect of which a patient is offered a choice of provider. 

(ii) the number of providers is not restricted by the Service Department. 

(iii) the Service Department will offer Contracts to all providers to whom an 
award can be made because they meet all requirements in relation to 
the provision of the relevant Health Care Services to patients. 

(iv) the Service Department has arrangements in place to enable providers 
to express an interest in providing the relevant Health Care Services, 
and 

(v) the procurement is not to conclude a Framework Agreement. 

5.12 The Service Department does not need to refer to the 5 (five) Key Criteria for 
this process. 

Page 266

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx


   

 

 

 

 

157 

October 2024 

 

 

5.13 The Service Department must publish a notice within 30 days of Contract 
being awarded. 

5.14 Ensure that robust audit trail is maintained of decision making, that is kept with 
the Contract and uploaded to the LTP. 

5.15 For more information follow guidance. 

 

5.16 Direct Award Process C (retaining incumbent Supplier) 

5.17 The Service Department must follow Direct Award Process C, where: 

(i) the Service Department is not required to follow Direct Award Process A 
or Direct Award Process B 

(ii) the term of an existing Contract is due to expire, and the Service 
Department proposes a new Contract to replace that existing Contract at 
the end of its term. 

(iii) The proposed contracting arrangements are permitted under the 
Considerable Change Threshold where: 

a) The proposed contracting arrangements are materially different 
in character to the existing contract when that existing contract 
was entered into or 

b) Changes in the relevant Health Care Services to which the 
proposed contracting arrangement relate (compared with the 
existing Contract) are attributable to a decision of the Service 
Department. 

c) The lifetime value for the proposed contracting arrangements is 
at the least £500,000 higher than the lifetime value of the 
existing Contract when that existing Contract was entered into 
and 

d) The lifetime value of the proposed contracting arrangements is 
at least 25% higher than the lifetime value of the existing 
Contract when that existing Contract was entered into. 

(iv) the Service Department is of the view that the existing provider is 
satisfying the existing Contract and will likely satisfy the proposed 
Contract to a sufficient standard, and 

(v) the procurement is not to establish a Framework Agreement 

Page 267

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx


   

 

 

 

 

158 

October 2024 

 

 

(vi) the procurement is not to award a Contract for newly established 
Services. 

5.18 The Service Department must: 

(i) Consider and document how the Key Criteria and the basic selection 
criteria were assessed in the decision that the existing Supplier is 
satisfying the original Contract and will likely satisfy the proposed 
Contract Submit a notice of intention to award Contract to the existing 
supplier. 

(ii) Observe Standstill Period. 

(iii) Comply with standstill and where no written representations are 
received, enter into Contract and submit a notice of award of Contract 
within 30 days of the Contract being awarded  

(iv) If relevant representations are received, please consult with 
Procurement Services and Legal Services, prior to entering into 
Contract. 

(v) Ensure that robust audit trail is maintained of decision making, that it is 
kept with the Contract and uploaded to the LTP. 

5.19 Lifetime value of a Contract means the total value of the Contract over the full 
length of the Contract. If there is an option to extend stated explicitly in the 
Contract, then the value of the extension should also be considered in the 
lifetime value. Unplanned modifications made to the Contract during its term 
are not to be included in this calculation. 

5.20 For more information follow guidance. 

 

5.21 Most Suitable Provider Process  

5.22 The Service Department must follow Most Suitable Provider Process where: 

(i) the Service Department is not required to follow Direct Award Process A 
or B and does not wish to or cannot follow Direct Award Process C 

(ii) the Service Department is of the view, considering likely providers and 
all relevant information available to the Service Department at the time, 
that is likely to be able to identify the most suitable provider, and 
satisfying the existing Contract and will likely satisfy the proposed 
Contract to a sufficient standard, and 

(iii) the procurement is not to conclude a Framework Agreement. 

5.23 The Service Department must: 

Page 268

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx


   

 

 

 

 

159 

October 2024 

 

 

(i) Publish a notice of intention to follow the Most Suitable Provider 
process. 

(ii) Identify the potential providers who may be suitable with reference to 
the Key Criteria and the basic selection criteria (must not complete this 
step before the end of 14 days after the day of the publication of the 
notice under (i). 

(iii) Assess and document the potential providers identified against the Key 
Criteria and the basic selection criteria to identify the preferred supplier. 

(iv) Submit for publication a notice of intention to make an award to the 
preferred provider. 

(v) Observe Standstill Period.  

(vi) Comply with standstill and where no written representations are 
received enter into Contract and submit a notice of award of Contract 
within 30 days of the Contract being awarded. 

5.24 If relevant representations are received, please consult with Procurement 
Services and Legal Services, prior to entering into Contract. 

5.25 Ensure that robust audit trail is maintained of decision making, that it is kept 
with the Contract and uploaded to the LTP. 

5.26 For more information follow guidance. 

 

5.27 Competitive Process (multi provider process) 

5.28 The Service Department must follow the Competitive Process where: 

(i) The Service Department is not required to follow Direct Award Process 
A or B 

(ii) The Service Department cannot or does not wish to follow Direct Award 
Process C or the Most Suitable Provider Process  

(iii) The procurement is to establish a Framework Agreement 

5.29 The Service Department must: 

(i) Prepare a Service Specification setting out the Council’s requirements 
for the service (in doing so, the Service Department may consider 
undertaking a pre-market engagement).  

(ii) Determine the award criteria taking into account the Key Criteria and 
applying the basic selection criteria 

(iii) Submit a notice for publication inviting tenders for the Contract 

Page 269

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx


   

 

 

 

 

160 

October 2024 

 

 

(iv) Assess tenders submitted in accordance with the published award 
criteria.  

(v) Once a decision is taken in accordance with the Council governance 
process, send out feedback letters to the successful and unsuccessful 
Tenderers including the information set out in the Schedule 9 of the 
PSR. 

(vi) Submit for publication a notice of intention to make an award to the 
preferred provider 

(vii) Observe Standstill Period  

(viii) Comply with standstill and where no written representations are 
received enter into Contract and submit a notice of award of Contract 
within 30 days of the Contract being awarded 

(ix) If relevant representations are received, please consult with 
Procurement Services and Legal Services, prior to entering into 
Contract. 

 

5.30 Where, having taken steps to follow a particular process chosen at its 
discretion in accordance with Rule 5.1, the Service Department decides that a 
different process would be more suitable, the Service Department may decide 
to abandon the procurement in accordance with Rule 9 abandonment of or 
repletion of steps and follow a different process in accordance with this Rule. 

5.31 Ensure that robust audit trail is maintained of decision making, that is kept with 
the Contract and uploaded to the LTP. 

5.32 For more information follow guidance. 

 

6. Standstill Process and Decisions During Standstill  

6.1 Following Direct Award Process C, the Most Suitable Provider Process, and 
the Competitive Process, the standstill period of eight working days (which 
may be extended) must be followed, following the publication of the Intention 
to Award a Contract Notification.  

6.2 The Standstill Period begins on the day after the day a notice of intention to 
award or conclude is published on the UK e-notification service in accordance 
with the regulations. 

6.3 Any provider of the Services to which the Contract or Framework Agreement 
relates who: 

(i) is aggrieved by the decision, and 

Page 270

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx


   

 

 

 

 

161 

October 2024 

 

 

(ii) believes that there has been a failure to comply with the PSR 
Legislation, 

(iii) may make written representations to the Council before midnight at the 
end of the 8th working day after the day the standstill period begins. 

6.4 The Standstill Period allows the Council to consider any representations 
received and to respond as appropriate. The Service Department must allow 
the provider five working days to consider the feedback before closing the 
Standstill Period. 

6.5 The Standstill Period should be extended if the representation is to be 
considered by the Internal PSR Review Panel or external Independent Patient 
Choice and Procurement Panel (IPCPP). Procurement Services and Legal 
Services must be contacted to convene an Internal PSR Review Panel. The 
Internal PSR review Panel will be made up of officers from across the Service 
Department who are impartial and have not been involved in the Procurement 
Process. 

6.6 No Contract or Framework Agreement can be awarded, entered into or 
concluded during the standstill period. 

6.7 If a representation is received, then the Service Department must: 

 

(i) ensure that the provider has been afforded the opportunity to explain or 
clarify their representation 

(ii) Provide an indicative timeframe for when the representation might be 
considered by 

(iii) Provide any information requested by the provider that the Service 
Department is required to keep under PSR legislation Regulation 24 

(iv) must consider the representation(s) made, and review evidence and 
information used to make the original decision 

(v) must consider whether the representation has merit, ie in identifying 
that process has not been correctly followed 

(vi) must decide whether to return to an earlier Step, abandon the process, 
or award the Contract as originally intended. 

(vii) must communicate the decision promptly to all interested parties and 
wait at least five working days before closing the standstill period. 

 

Page 271



   

 

 

 

 

162 

October 2024 

 

 

7. Modifications of Contracts and Framework Agreements 

7.1 There will be situations where Contracts or Framework Agreements need to 
be modified to reflect/account for changes to services/circumstances during 
their term.  All Contract modifications must be via the Contract Extension 
Variation Pro-Forma and presented at PAG. 

7.2 One aim of the regime is to avoid processes that only bring limited value to 
people who use the services. Therefore, this regime allows for certain 
modifications to be made to Contracts or Framework Agreement during their 
term without reassessment of the existing provider. 

7.3 Depending on circumstance, permitted modifications can be made without 
following a new provider selection process, but in some cases will require the 
publication of transparency notices. 

7.4 Modifications, which make an existing Contract or Framework Agreement 
materially different in character are not permitted under the regime and require 
a new provider selection process to be undertaken. Further information on 
permitted and not permitted modifications is given below. 

7.5 The Service Department is expected to consider this section in conjunction 
with the modifications (variations) provisions of the relevant Contract or sub-
contract. 

7.6 The provisions in this section must only be used for modification of Contracts 
during their term and not to circumvent the PSR regulations when a Contract 
ends and a new one needs to be awarded.  For more information follow 
guidance. 

 

7.7 Permitted Modifications 

7.8 Under this regime, some modifications are permitted and so do not require a 
new selection process.  In all cases the Service Department must ensure that 
it maintains clear decision-making audit trail and maintains these within the 
LTP. 

7.9 Modifications to Contracts originally awarded under direct award 
process A or B:  

(i) Where the original Contract was awarded under direct award process A 
or B and the modification does not materially alter the character of the 
Contract, then the modification is permitted. Audit trail must be 
recorded as to why not materially different. 

(ii) If that modification is attributable to a decision of the Service 
Department and the cumulative change in the lifetime value of the 

Page 272

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B675A42CB-09E8-45C8-A620-741FC3FA6D46%7D&file=Contract%20Extension%20&%20Variation%20proforma.docx=&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B675A42CB-09E8-45C8-A620-741FC3FA6D46%7D&file=Contract%20Extension%20&%20Variation%20proforma.docx=&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx


   

 

 

 

 

163 

October 2024 

 

 

Contract since it was entered into is £500,000 or more, the modification 
is still permitted, but the Service Department must publish a 
transparency notice. 

7.10 Where the original Contract was awarded under direct award process C, the 
most suitable provider process, or the competitive process (including 
agreements), or where the Contract was originally awarded under the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015, then modifications are permitted in the following 
instances: 

(i) The modification is clearly and unambiguously provided for in the 
Contract or Framework Agreement documents (i.e., the scope and 
nature of the potential change has been described in detail in the 
existing Contract). 

(ii) The modification is solely a change in the identity of the provider due to 
succession into the position of provider following corporate changes 
(e.g., as the result of a corporate takeover, merger, acquisition or 
insolvency), and where the relevant authority is satisfied that the 
provider meets the basic selection criteria. 

(iii) The modification is made in response to external factors beyond the 
control of the relevant authority and the provider, including but not 
limited to changes in: 

a) patient or service user volume 

b) prices in accordance with a formula provided for in the Contract 
documents (e.g., uplifts in prices due to index linking) which do 
not render the Contract or agreement materially different in 
character. 

(iv) The modification is attributable to a decision of the Service Department 
or Council and does not materially alter the character of the Contract or 
Framework Agreement, and the cumulative change in the lifetime value 
of the Contract or Framework Agreement, compared to its value when it 
was entered into, is under £500,000 or under 25%. 

7.11 If the Service Department makes a permitted modification (to a Contract that 
was originally awarded under direct award process C, the most suitable 
provider process, and the competitive process or where the Contract was 
originally awarded under the Publics Regulations 2015), it must publish a 
transparency notice where all the below apply: 

(i) that modification is attributable to a decision of the Service Department 
or Council   

(ii) the cumulative change in the lifetime value of the Contract or 
Framework Agreement is £500,000 or more. 

Page 273



   

 

 

 

 

164 

October 2024 

 

 

7.12 Contracts entered into before the commencement of the PSR (1 January 
2024) must be modified in line with these rules and the PSR Legislation. 

7.13 Modifications that are not permitted 

7.14 Modifications that make the existing Contract or Framework Agreement 
materially different in character are not permitted without undertaking a new 
provider selection process.  

7.15 Modifications are also not permitted where the original Contract was awarded 
following direct award process C, the most suitable provider process, or the 
competitive process (including Framework Agreements), or where the original 
Contract was awarded under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and 
where: 

(i) the decision to make the modification is attributable to the Service 
Department or Council and it represents (a) a cumulative change of 
25% or more in the lifetime value of the original Contract or Framework 
Agreement and (b) £500,000 or more compared to the lifetime value of 
the original Contract or Framework Agreement (when it was entered 
into). 

7.16 In these cases, the Council must follow the appropriate decision-making 
process to select a provider (or group of providers) for the substantially 
changed service. 

 

7.17 Contract modifications in urgent situations 

7.18 Please see section on urgent awards or modification for details of the 
circumstances this ground applies and the transparency/publication 
requirements. 

 

8. Urgent Award or Modification 

8.1 In justified circumstances, the Service Department may make an Urgent 
Award or Modification where it considers that: 

(i) an award or modification must be made urgently, 

(ii) the reason for the urgency was not foreseeable by and not attributable 
to the Service Department, and 

(iii) delaying the award of the Contract or modification to satisfy the 
requirements of regulations 6 to 13 of the PSR Legislation would be 
likely to pose a risk to patient or public safety. 

Page 274



   

 

 

 

 

165 

October 2024 

 

 

8.2 Urgent decisions during Standstill Period are permitted under Regulation 14(3) 
where the Service Department are waiting for advice from the Panel during 
Standstill period, the existing Contract is likely to expire before the end of the 
standstill period and, it is considered necessary or expedient to modify the 
existing contract prior to the new Contract to ensure continuity. 

(i) The Service Department is expected to limit the Contract term or 
Contract Modification to that which is strictly necessary 

(ii) It is expected that it will be no longer than 12 months. If longer must 
justify the reason and record the decision. 

(iii) Must keep records of the decision making, including a justification for 
using an urgent award. 

8.3 All Direct Awards made under this Rule must be via the PSR Direct Award 
Form, be approved at the correct level of the organisation and have a clear 
audit trail of decision making. For more information follow guidance. 

 

9. Abandonment of, or Repetition of Steps in a Procurement 

9.1 Where the Service Department want to abandon a Contracting Activity or 
repeat steps then they must do so in line with legislation and speak to 
Procurement Services prior to any action. 

 

10. Framework Agreements 

10.1 In these Rules, a Framework Agreement is an agreement between one or 
more relevant authorities and one or more providers. 

10.2 The Service Department must contact Procurement Services if they want to 
establish a Framework Agreement the Competitive Process to establish a 
Framework Agreement. 

10.3 A Framework Agreement must, when established, identify the relevant 
authorities which may award Contracts based on the Framework Agreement. 

10.4 The term of a Framework Agreement must not exceed 4 years, other than in 
exceptional cases where the Service Department is satisfied that the subject-
matter of the Framework Agreement justifies a longer term. 

 

Page 275

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/PSR%20Direct%20Award%20Form.xlsx?d=w32f0c88daff444f0836f080409c1c34a&csf=1&web=1&e=oWEUYf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/PSR%20Direct%20Award%20Form.xlsx?d=w32f0c88daff444f0836f080409c1c34a&csf=1&web=1&e=oWEUYf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B6BC2D49E-7057-4642-A0B3-462325122FB3%7D&file=Procurement%20Instruction%20Form%20(PIF).docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

166 

October 2024 

 

 

10.5 Additional provider parties of a Framework Agreement during its term 

10.6 The Service Department may, during the term of a Framework Agreement, 
select further providers to be party to the Framework Agreement and the rules 
for doing so should be clearly set out within the Service Department’s 
procurement documents and the terms and conditions of the Framework 
Agreement itself. 

10.7 The Service Department must follow the Competitive Process to select such 
further providers, in the same way as when setting up the Framework 
Agreement initially.   

 

10.8 Contracts based on a Framework Agreement 

10.9 A Contract based on a Framework Agreement may only be awarded in 
accordance with this Rule. 

10.10 Contracts based on a Framework Agreement must not entail substantial 
modifications to the terms laid down in that Framework Agreement. 

10.11 Where a Framework Agreement is established with a single provider, the 
Service Department may award a Contract without a competition in 
accordance with that Framework Agreement.  The PSR Direct Award Form is 
to be used to record this and be presented at PAG for review in line with 
Service Department policy. 

10.12 Where a Framework Agreement is established with more than one provider, 
the Service Department may award a Contract either without a competition or 
by following the Competitive Process, such choice being at the discretion of the 
Service Department but must be made in accordance with call-off mechanisms 
set out within the Framework Agreement. 

10.13 Where the Service Department awards a Contract based on a Framework 
Agreement without a competition, the Service Department must submit for 
publication on the UK e-notification service a notice of the award. The notice 
must: 

(i) include the information set out in Schedule 2 of the legislation, and 

(ii) be submitted for publication within 30 days of the Contract being 
awarded. 

10.14 Where a Service Department follows the Competitive Process to award a 
Contract based on a Framework Agreement, the Service Department must not 
publish a notification, but invite all providers who are party to the framework 
agreement to submit an offer. 

Page 276

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/PSR%20Direct%20Award%20Form.xlsx?d=w32f0c88daff444f0836f080409c1c34a&csf=1&web=1&e=oWEUYf


   

 

 

 

 

167 

October 2024 

 

 

 

11. Exclusions 

11.1 Subject to Rule 5, the Service Department must not award a Contract to a 
provider and may exclude a provider from a procurement process under these 
Rules, where the Service Department would be obliged to exclude the provider 
from participation in a procurement procedure under Regulation 57 of the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

11.2 For more information follow guidance. 

 

112. Conflicts of Interest 

12.1 Where a ‘Conflict of Interest’ may occur, it is a good practice to routinely 
declare and manage such conflicts of interest. This is a part of good 
governance and is critical for maintaining public confidence in the Service 
Department’s decision-making and in protecting the Service Department and 
the Council from risks.   

12.2 The Service Department must take appropriate measures to effectively 
prevent, identify and remedy conflicts of interest arising in the conduct of 
procurement processes under these Rules. Throughout the Contracting Activity 
the potential conflicts of interest assessment must be kept under review and 
revised/updated at each stage of Contracting activity. Records off the 
assessments must be kept and uploaded to the LTP to ensure a clear audit 
trail. 

12.3 For the purposes of this Rule: 

(i) the concept of conflicts of interest includes any situation where an 
individual has, directly or indirectly, a financial, economic, or other 
personal interest which might be perceived to compromise their 
impartiality and independence in the context of the procurement process, 
and 

(ii) any such individual is required to recuse themselves from the decision- 
making process of that procurement process. 

12.4 Any individual with a conflict of interest must remove themselves from the 
decision-making process of the procurement process. 

12.5 The personal and professional interests of all individuals involved in decisions 
about provider selection need to be declared, recorded, and managed 
appropriately, following the Service Department’s established conflicts of 
interest arrangements. This includes being clear and specific about the nature 

Page 277

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/PRN00853-Provider-Selection-Regime-direct-award-process-A-end-to-end-process-map-October-2023.xlsx


   

 

 

 

 

168 

October 2024 

 

 

of any interest and of any conflict that may arise about a particular decision, 
and how any conflicts are managed for each decision. To fulfil the 
transparency requirements under this regime, the Service Department must 
keep internal records of individuals’ conflicts of interest and how these were 
managed and upload them into the LTP. 

12.6 Actions to mitigate conflicts of interest when making procurement decisions 
are expected to be proportionate and to seek to preserve the spirit of collective 
decision-making wherever possible. Mitigating actions are expected to 
account for a range of factors, including the impact that the perception of an 
unsound decision might have, and the risks and benefits of having a particular 
individual involved in making the decision. Mitigations may include: 

(i) excluding a conflicted person from both the discussion and the decision-
making 

(ii) excluding the conflicted individual and securing technical or local expertise 
from an alternative, unconflicted source 

(iii) arranging decision-making structures so a range of views and 
perspectives are represented, rather than potentially conflicted individuals 
being in the majority 

(iv) convening a committee without the conflicted individual present, e.g., 
when dealing with particularly difficult or complex decisions where 
members may not be able to agree, or to prevent an unsound decision 
being taken and/or the appearance of bias. 

12.7 The Service Department is expected to clearly distinguish between those 
individuals who are involved in formal decision-making and those whose input 
informs decisions but who are not involved in decision-making itself (such as 
through shaping the Service Department’s understanding of how best to meet 
patients’ needs and deliver care for its population). The way conflicts of interest 
are managed is expected to reflect this distinction. For example, where 
independent providers (including those in the VCSE sector) hold Contracts for 
Services, it would be appropriate and reasonable for the Service Department to 
involve them in discussions, such as about pathway design and service 
delivery, particularly at place level. However, this would be clearly distinct from 
any considerations around Contracting and commissioning, from which they 
would be excluded. 

12.8 Any conflicts of interests and how they were managed must be published 
alongside the confirmation of the decision to select a provider 
(see transparency). When the decision is made by a committee/group, it is 
advised that the interests of the committee/group are declared and not the 
names of individuals in the committee/group to whom they relate. When the 
decision is made by an individual, then conflicts of interest are declared 
against the individual’s job title rather than their name. 

Page 278

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/the-provider-selection-regime-statutory-guidance/#transparency


   

 

 

 

 

169 

October 2024 

 

 

 

12.9 Conflicts of interest assessments  

12.10 Before publishing a tender or transparency notice in relation to procurement 
the Service Department must prepare a conflicts of interest assessment in 
relation to the procurement.  

(i) A conflicts assessment must include details of:  

a) conflicts or potential conflicts of interest identified in accordance 
with definition above (duty to identify), and  

b) any steps the Contracting authority has taken or will take for the 
purposes (duty to mitigate).  

 

12.11 If the Service Department is aware of circumstances that it considers are likely 
to cause a reasonable person to wrongly believe there to be a conflict or 
potential conflict of interest, a conflicts assessment must also include details of 
any steps the Service Department has taken or will take to demonstrate that 
no such conflict or potential conflict exists. 

(i) The Service Department must  

a) keep any conflict-of-interest assessment under review,  

b) revise the assessment as necessary, and  

c) when publishing any relevant notice, confirm that a conflicts 
assessment has been prepared and revised in accordance with this 
section.  

d) To fulfil the transparency requirements under this Rule, the Service 
Department must keep internal records of individuals’ conflicts of 
interest and how these were managed. 

 

13. Termination of Contracts 

13.1 The Service Department must ensure that each Contract awarded contains 
provisions enabling its termination by the Service Department if: 

(i) the Contract has been subject to modifications that are not permitted 
under the PSR regime (see Contract modifications) without following a 
new provider selection process, 

(ii) the provider, at the time of the Contract award, should have been 
excluded from the procurement process in line with the exclusion 
criteria set out in Regulation 20 or the legislation. 

Page 279



   

 

 

 

 

170 

October 2024 

 

 

13.2 The provisions allowing the termination of a Contract may address how such 
terminations would take place, e.g., by setting out a notice for terminations 
and by addressing any consequential matters that may arise from that 
termination. 

13.3 If the Contract does not contain specific provisions allowing the Service 
Department to terminate on the grounds specified in Rule 11, there is an 
implied term of any Contract awarded under the PSR that the Service 
Department may do so by giving reasonable notice. 

13.4 Termination proforma & PAG. 

 

14. Transparency Requirements 

14.1 The PSR provides for greater flexibility and allows the Service Department to 
award Contracts without using a competitive process, where appropriate. This 
means that other checks and balances need to be in place to ensure that the 
PSR is complied with and that the flexibilities are used appropriately and in the 
best interest of Service Users. 

14.2 Transparency requirements: 

Transparency 
Notice 

PSR Process 
Published 
Where 

Timescales 

Publishing the 
intended 
approach in 
advance 

The Most Suitable Provider Process 

 

Find a 
Tender via 
E-Tendering 
system 

Within 30 
days of the 
Contract 
being 
awarded. 

Publishing a 
notice for a 
competitive 
tender 

 The Competitive Process 

 Establishing a Framework Agreement 

Find a 
Tender via 
E-Tendering 
system 

Within 30 
days of the 
Contract 
being 
awarded. 

Publishing the 
intention to 
award notice 

 Direct Award Process C 

 The Most Suitable Provider Process 

 The Competitive Process 

 Establishing a Framework Agreement 

Find a 
Tender via 
E-Tendering 
system 

At the start 
of the 
standstill 
period. 

Page 280



   

 

 

 

 

171 

October 2024 

 

 

 Contracts based on a Framework 
Agreement following competition 

Publishing a 
confirmation of 
award notice 

 Direct Award Process A 

 Direct Award Process B 

 Direct Award Process C 

 The Most Suitable Provider process 

 The Competitive process 

 Establishing a Framework Agreement 

 Contracts based on a Framework 
Agreement without competition 

 Contracts based on a Framework 
Agreement following competition 

Find a 
Tender via 
E-Tendering 
system 

Within 30 
days of the 
Contract 
being 
awarded. 

Publishing a 
notice for 
Contract 
modifications 

 Direct Award Process A 

 Direct Award Process B 

 Direct Award Process C 

 The most suitable provider process 

 The Competitive Process 

 Establishing a Framework Agreement 

 Contracts based on a Framework 
Agreement without competition 

 Contracts based on a Framework 
Agreement following competition 

Find a 
Tender via 
E-Tendering 
system 

Within 30 
days of the 
modification 
or the 
Contract or 
Framework 
Agreement. 

Annual 
Summary 
Publication 

Details how many Contracts were 
awarded in the financial year using 
various provider selection processes 
and the notice must include all the 
information in section 16.4 below 

Find a 
Tender via 
E-Tendering 
system 

Publish 
annually on 
a publicly 
accessible 
free of 
charge 
website. 

 

Page 281



   

 

 

 

 

172 

October 2024 

 

 

14.3 All notifications must be made via the Procurement System. 

 

15. Information Requirements 

15.1 The PSR also requires Service Departments to report annually all Contract let 
under the PSR legislation with decision making criteria. 

(i) The PSR sets out the need to keep a proper decision-making audit and 
maintain all documents to evidence the decision taken.  The Service 
Department’s Procurement System must be used for all Contracts over 
the value set out in the Procurement Code. Ensuring all communication 
with bidder’s clarification questions, the usage of any standard 
templates with all documentation relating to the process maintained 
and stored within the Portal (including an executed (signed) copy of the 
Contract awarded) to ensure a clear audit trail and Contract record. 

15.2 The Service Department is responsible for ensuring that it meets the 
information requirements under the PSR. These must be maintained by the 
Service Department as a report format and in the Procurement System and 
updated as required. These records may be requested as part of a review 
during the standstill period (see Rule 6).  

15.3 Records MUST include: 

(i) the name of any provider to whom it awards a Contract 

(ii) the name of any provider who is a party to a Framework Agreement 

(iii) the address of the registered office or principal place of business of each 
provider referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) 

(iv) the decision-making process followed, including the identity of 
individuals making decisions 

(v) where Direct Award Process C or the Most Suitable Provider Process 
was followed, a description of the way in which the key criteria were 
considered, and the basic selection criteria were assessed when 
making a decision 

(vi) where the Competitive Process was followed, a description of the way 
in which the key criteria were considered, the basic selection criteria 
were assessed, and Contract or framework award criteria were 
evaluated when making a decision 

(vii) the reasons for decisions made under these Regulations 

(viii) declared conflicts or potential conflicts of interest 

(ix) how any conflicts or potential conflicts of interest were managed for 
each decision 

Page 282

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

173 

October 2024 

 

 

(x) where a procurement is abandoned, the date on which it is abandoned. 

 

15.4 Annual Summary 

15.5 The Service Department is required to be published online, free of charge an 
annual summary of its Contracting activity for the provision of relevant Health 
Care Services, which must include: 

(i) the number of Contracts awarded in the year to which the summary 
relates where Direct Award Process A, Direct Award Process B or 
Direct Award C was followed. 

(ii) the number of Contracts awarded in the year to which the summary 
relates where the Most Suitable Provider Process was followed. 

(iii) the number of Contracts awarded in the year to which the summary 
relates where the Competitive Process was followed. 

(iv) the number of Framework Agreements concluded in the year to which 
the summary relates. 

(v) the number of Contracts awarded based on a Framework Agreement in 
the year to which the summary relates 

(vi) the number of Contracts awarded, and modifications made in reliance 
on regulation 14 (urgent award or modification) in the year to which the 
summary relates 

(vii) the number of new providers to whom a Contract was awarded in the 
year to which the summary relates 

(viii) the number of providers who held a Contract in the previous year but 
no longer hold any Contracts in the year to which the summary relates 

(ix) the number of written representations made in accordance with 
regulation 12(3) and received during standstill periods which ended in 
the year to which the summary relates and a summary of the nature 
and impact of those representations. 

15.6 The Service Department must also publish an annual report of the results of 
the monitoring of these regulations and how non-compliance is addressed. 

15.7 It is the responsibility of the Service Department to maintain a record of all 
Contracts let, the decision-making process and necessary information to meet 
the reporting requirements, as set out within the PSR. 

  

Page 283



   

 

 

 

 

174 

October 2024 

 

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Considerable 
Change Threshold 

Change that does not fall outside of the definition of a 
considerable change within the legislation. 

Contract Means an agreement between the Service Department and any 
other organisation, including another public authority, made by 
formal agreement or by issue of a letter of acceptance or official 
purchase order for works, supplies or Services. 

Corporate Contract 
Register 

Corporate Register of Contracts held by the P&C Hub within the 
London Tenders Portal 

Framework 
Agreement 

An agreement with suppliers which sets out the terms and 
conditions under which specific purchases can be made 
throughout the term of the agreement and which where 
necessary has been tendered in accordance with EU 
Procurement 

Goods Tangible products that can be consumable or non-consumable. 

Modification Any alteration, change, addition to or deletion of any requirement 
of the Contract terms or specification. 

Procurement 
System 

The Procurement System E-procurement portal to be used to 
meet e procurement regulations. 

PSR Code Document that supports this document and sets out the 
processes and governance to be followed for all procurements.  
Provides more detailed information and links to supporting 
information to ensure compliance these rules. 

Procurement Act 
2023 

Means all relevant external procurement rules and regulations 
applying in England. 

Written 
Representations/ 

Representations 

Representations from Suppliers in regard to contracting activity, 
where they may have a challenge regarding the activity. 

Services Services such as maintenance of equipment, transportation, 
consultancy, technical Services. etc. as defined by the current 
Public Contract Regulations. 

Page 284



   

 

 

 

 

175 

October 2024 

 

 

Service 
Department 

Departments within the Service Department. 

Supplier A company that will provide goods, service or works to the 
Service Department after a competitive process.  

Supplies Can be tangible object delivered in relation to a Contract.  See 
also goods. 

Tender A sealed bid submitted in response to an invitation to tender, 
which invitation contains detailed information on requirements 
including a specification and terms and conditions 

Transparency 
Notice 

 

Variation Any alteration, modification, addition to or deletion of any 
requirement of the Contract terms or specification. 

Works The outcome of building or civil engineering as defined under 
Schedule 2 of the Public Contract Regulations 2006, as amended 

 

  

Page 285



   

 

 

 

 

176 

October 2024 

 

 

 

Appendix E 
Light Touch Services Code 

Light Touch Services Contract Code 

Use hyperlink index to go to relevant section 

 

Contents 

Light Touch Services Contract Code 

1. Introduction – Rule 1 

2. Purpose – Rule 2 

3. Application 

4. Reserving Contracts for Light Touch Services to public services mutuals 

5. Transparency – Rule 3 

6. Roles and Responsibilities – Rule 5 

7. Direct Award and Exceptions to Competitive Tendering 

8. Frameworks Agreements & Dynamic Markets Systems – Rule 18 

9. Procurement Thresholds – Rule 21 

10. Advertising And Notifications – Rule 24 

11. Award Criteria and Evaluation – Rule 26 

12. Contract Award and Execution – Rule 28 

13. Contract Modifications, Novation & Termination to Contracts – Rule 30 

14. Contract Management – Rule 31 

15. Glossary - Defined Terms 

16. Useful Documents 

 

  

Page 286



   

 

 

 

 

177 

October 2024 

 

 

1. Introduction – Rule 1 

1.1 This Light Touch Services Code (Code), MUST be used in conjunction with 
the Contract Procedure Rules (Rules), the Procurement Code and form the 
Council Contract Procured Rules in how to carry out Contracting Activity. This 
document, together with the Rules, serves as a roadmap for Service 
Departments, outlining the key principles, procedures, and best practices to 
uphold throughout all Contracting activity. The Rules form part of the Council's 
Constitution and mandatory. 

1.2 Contracting Activity requires strategic decision-making, risk management, and 
fostering mutually beneficial relationships with vital Suppliers. By adhering to 
this Code, the Council can manage cost savings, mitigation of risks, maintain 
compliance with regulations, and ultimately contribute to the Council’s plan. 

1.3 All Council Officers at whatever role in the Council involved in Contracting 
activity must read this Code and the Rules to ensure there is a thorough 
understanding of how to carry out the steps within the sourcing lifecycle to 
ensure best practice and compliance to Council and UK Procurement 
Legislation.  

1.4 Specifically, this document is intended to support understanding of the 
Contract Procedure Rules and how to implement them in regard to Light 
Touch Services Contracts. The Procurement Code sets out the operational 
elements of the Procurement Process and these should be followed in 
conjunction with the CPR’s; and this Code, these documents together 
constitute the Contract Procedure Rules (Rules). 

 

2. Purpose – Rule 2 

2.1 The purpose of the Rules and this Code is to ensure that the Council is 
compliant for Light Touch Services Contracts and Procurement Act 2023 
Legislation (PA23).  Suppliers can take legal action where the Council does 
not apply the Rules or follow Legislation and therefore it is important to protect 
the Council from risk of challenge. 

2.2 Light Touch Contracts are Contracts for certain social, health, education and 
other public Services and are subject to more flexible procurement rules. One 
thing these Services have in common is that they are Services provided 
directly to individuals or groups of people and therefore warrant special 
treatment and greater flexibility.  

2.3 This Code deals only with the specific provisions that apply to Light Touch 
Contracts, for Health Care Services Contracts see the PSR Code. 

Page 287

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

178 

October 2024 

 

 

2.4 Where there are no specific provisions, there is no difference for Light Touch 
Contracts and reference should be made to the Rules and Procurement Code. 

2.5 The Procurement Act Section 9 (Light Touch Contracts) defines a ‘Light Touch 
Contract’ and provides for regulations to specify which Services (referred to in 
the regulations as ‘Light Touch Services’) can be procured under a Light 
Touch Contract. 

2.6 Procurement Regulations 2024 Schedule 1 (the Regulations) specifies which 
Services are Light Touch Services by description and reference to 
corresponding Common Procurement Vocabulary (CPV) codes. Light Touch 
Contracts (that are not exempted Contracts) are Public Contracts if they are 
above the PA23 for the type of Contract. 

2.7 PA23 Legislation (Reserving contracts to public service mutuals, Section 33) 
permits certain Light Touch Contracts to be reserved for public service 
mutuals, as long as the Contract term is for 5 years or less. 

 

3. Application 

3.1 A Light Touch Contract is a contract wholly or mainly for the supply of 
Services, as stated above and specified in Rule 2.6. 

3.2 The specific Light Touch provisions in PA23 apply in procurements where: 

a) the Light Touch Contract is a public contract; and 

b) the procurement is not a regulated health procurement as defined in 
regulations made under the National Health Service Act 2006. 

3.3 A Light Touch Contract is a Public Contract where: 

(i) the estimated total Contract value exceeds the relevant financial 
Threshold; and 

(ii) the Contract is not an exempted Contract as defined in the Act (see 
guidance on exempted Contracts). 

3.3 Financial Threshold 

Light Touch Contract Threshold 

Concession Contract that is a Light 
Touch Contract 

£5,372,609 

All other Light Touch Contracts £663,540 

 

Page 288

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2024/9780348259728/schedule/1


   

 

 

 

 

179 

October 2024 

 

 

4. Reserving Contracts for Light Touch Services to public 
Services mutuals 

4.1 PA23 permits the Council to reserve certain types of Contracts for public 
sector mutuals (Section 33). This ability complements the social value agenda 
and can help the Council to deliver on social value commitments by awarding 
Contracts to Suppliers that have such priorities aligned to the Councils Plan. 
Whilst reserving Contracts is encouraged, doing so must be considered in the 
wider context of value for money. 

4.2 Public service mutuals are organisations that: 

(i) operate for the purpose of delivering public Services and mainly for 
the purpose of delivering one or more ‘reservable Light Touch 
Services’ (see paragraph 23 below) 

(ii) are not for profit, or provide for the distribution of profits only to its 
members; and 

(iii) are under the management and control of their employees  

4.3 In order to be awarded a ‘reserved Contract’, a public service mutual must be 
a ‘qualifying public service mutual’, which means that it must not have entered 
into a reserved Contract for the same kind of Light Touch Services with the 
same Contracting authority in the preceding three years. 

4.4 The types of Light Touch Contracts that can be reserved under PA23 Section 
33 are those for the supply of ‘reservable Light Touch Services’, which are 
identified by an “R” next to the description of the service in Schedule 1 in the 
Regulations. 

4.5 Where a Contract is being reserved to a public service mutual, Section 33(2) 
requires the Council to use the competitive flexible procedure as, unlike the 
open procedure, it allows for the exclusion of Suppliers who do not meet this 
requirement. 

4.6 PA23 under Section 33(4) requires the Council to disregard any Tenders from 
Suppliers that are not qualifying public service mutuals in assessing Tenders 
under Section 19 when carrying out such a procedure. This can be done at the 
participation stage or as part of the assessment of tenders, depending on how 
the procedure is structured. 

 

5. Transparency – Rule 3 

5.1 The PA 2023 demands more transparency during the whole sourcing lifecycle, 
including, procurement, variations and extensions, terminations, and Contract 
Management. It is important to ensure that all transparency notifications are 

Page 289



   

 

 

 

 

180 

October 2024 

 

 

actioned through the lifetime of the Contract.  Failure to comply with the 
notifications is a failure to comply with Procurement Legislation and may result 
in a challenge, it may also affect extensions and modifications in the future. 

5.2 Light Touch Contracts must be advertised using a Tender Notice unless a 
Direct Award justification applies. The Council is required to determine 
whether Suppliers are Excluded or Excludable Suppliers and consider conflicts 
of interest before awarding the Contract. Transparency will be maintained 
through publication requirements, including requirements for a Contract Award 
Notice, a Contract Details Notice and, when the estimated total Contract value 
is over £5 million, publication of a redacted copy of the Contract. 
 

5.3 Table of main Notifications: 

(i) Planned procurement Notice 

(ii) Preliminary Market Engagement Notice 

(iii) Tender Notice 

(iv) Tender Notice (amended) 

(v) Dynamic Market Notice(s) 

(vi) Transparency Notice (Direct Award) 

(vii) Contract Award Notice 

(viii) Contract Details Notice 

(ix) Copies of Contracts (redacted) 

(x) Procurement Termination Notice 

(xi) Payments Compliance Notice 

(xii) Contract Performance Notice(s) 

(xiii) Contract Change Notice 

(xiv) Contract Termination Notice 

(xv) Below threshold procurement tender notices 

(xvi) Below threshold award notice 

(xvii) Pipeline Notice 

5.4 The Light Touch Services has different timescales for some Notifications. 
These are set out Rule 24. 
 

5.5 Under the Procurement Act 2023 the Council is obligated to report: 

(i) Percentage of Suppliers paid within 30 days  

(ii) Payments of over £30,000 to Suppliers is published quarterly.   

Page 290



   

 

 

 

 

181 

October 2024 

 

 

5.6 These payment reports include ALL public Contracts, which include all Light 
Touch Services Contracts and User Choice Contracts. This means that these 
Contracts now need to be entered onto the London Tenders Portal for 
recording, so that Payment Notifications can include these see Rule 10. 
 
 

6. Roles and Responsibilities – Rule 5 
 
6.1 All Officers or 3rd parties/consultants involved in Contracting Activity must 

ensure that they are aware of the Council’s Governance, Contract Procedures 
Rules, and the operational rules within this Procurement Code. As a Local 
Authority we have a duty to protect the public purse. 

 
6.2 All roles and responsibilities are set out in the Rules and this Code. Officers 

carrying out Contracting Activity for Light Touch Services must ensure they 
apply the correct Rules set out in this Code and Procurement Code. 
 

7. Direct Award and Exceptions to Competitive Tendering – Rule 9 

7.1 Carrying out competitive Contracting Activity is the best way to ensure VFM. 
Direct Award is only permitted in the limited circumstances set out in this Rule 
or if one of the grounds under Schedule 5 of the Procurement Act 2023 
applies. Refer to the CPRs and Procurement Code for process for Direct 
Award. 

 
7.2 Section 41 (Direct award in special cases) permits the Council to award a 

Contract without first running a competitive tender process when a direct 
award justification (set out in PA23 Schedule 5) applies. Whilst other 
justifications may be relevant, there is a specific justification for Contracts for 
‘user choice Services’ and those set out below may be particularly relevant. 
See Procurement Code and CPRs. 

 
7.3 Transparency Notifications apply when directly awarding a Light Touch 

Contract. 
 
7.4 Contract for User Choice Contracts were exempt from the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 but are now part of the Procurement Act 2023.  Direct 
Award is permissible however, but the Contracts must be recorded to ensure 
compliance to Transparency regulations, and Payment Notifications. 
 

7.5 Direct Award for User Choice Services Contracts  
 

A User Choice Contract must be one that meets all of the criteria set out in 
the Current Procurement Legislation.  

(i) Must be set out in the Light Touch CPV codes 

Page 291

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1348/schedule/1/made


   

 

 

 

 

182 

October 2024 

 

 

(ii) Must be for the benefit of a particular individual or Service recipient  

(iii) Services where the Council are legally required to consider the views 
of the individual, or their carer, in relation to the supply of Services 

(iv) To use this ground the following conditions must be met: 

(b)  the individual or carer has expressed a preference as to who 
should supply the Service, or the nature of the Services is such 
that only one Supplier is capable of providing the Service, and 
the Council considers that it is not in the best interests of the 
individual to carry out a competitive procurement process.  

7.6 Refer to the Procurement Code for recording these Contracts. 

 

8. Frameworks Agreements & Dynamic Markets – Rule 18 
 
8.1 The definition of a Light Touch Contract under PA23 includes a ‘Light Touch 

Framework Agreement’, which is a Contract that provides for the future award 
of Contracts that are wholly or mainly for Light Touch Services. 

 
8.2 Where a Framework Agreement that is not a Light Touch Contract is being 

used for the award of Contracts for Light Touch Services, PA23 applies in full, 
including, for example, the competitive selection process set out in the 
Framework Agreement. 

 
8.3 The PA23 Section 45(9) provides that Section 45(3 to 5) about the selection 

processes for the award of Contracts and what information must be included 
in the Framework Agreement does not apply when a Framework Agreement is 
a Light Touch Contract (i.e. it is a Framework Agreement wholly or mainly for 
the future award of Light Touch Contracts). 

 
8.4 The PA23 Section 46(11) states rules around competitive selection processes 

does not apply where the Framework Agreement is a Light Touch Contract. 
 
8.5 The PA23 Section 47(5)(c) states that the rules governing the maximum term 

of a Framework Agreement does not apply to Framework Agreements which 
are Light Touch Contracts. 
 
 

9. Procurement Thresholds – Rule 21 
 
9.1 The estimated total Contract Value determines the which part of the 

Procurement Act 2023 needs to be followed and informs the route to market. 
 

Page 292

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

183 

October 2024 

 

 

9.2 Light Touch Services Contracts have their own Threshold as set out below in 
the table.  All thresholds are inclusive of VAT, when calculating the Contract 
value. 

 
9.3 Thresholds: 

Category 
Value Including 
VAT 

Value Excluding 
VAT 

Goods and Services £214,904 £179,086 

Light Touch 
Services  

£663,540 £552,950 

Works £5,372,609 £4,477,174 

Concessions £5,372,609 £4,477,174 

 
9.4 Contracts below the Threshold are referred to in the Procurement Act 2023 as 

‘Regulated Contracts’, and there are rules that apply to these Contracts in 
addition to Council Governance.  

 
9.5 If a Light Touch Services Regulated Contract is varied in value and the value 

brings the Contract over the Light Touch Services Contract threshold, the 
Contract becomes a ‘Converted Contract’, and this Contract must now follow 
the PA23 Act as an above threshold Contract or ‘Covered Contract’. If the 
value of the Contract is unknown, then a full above Threshold procurement 
must be carried out. (See Rule 17 of the CPRs). 
 

9.6 The Duty to consider Lots (Section 18) applies to Light Touch Contracts and 
requires the Council to consider whether the requirement could be broken into 
Lots and the Services supplied under more than one Contract. However, for 
Light Touch Contracts Regulation 18(2)(q) provides that there is no 
requirement to provide a justification in the Tender Notice if not dividing the 
Contract into Lots.  
 

9.7 Contracting authorities awarding Light Touch Contracts are subject to the 
same provisions relating to competitive tender procedures as apply when 
awarding other types of Contracts. 

 
9.8 The participation and tender periods for Light Touch Contracts are not 

mandated by section 54 (Time limits) of PA23, allowing for Light Touch 
Services to be procured more swiftly. However, the Council must ensure that 
timescales are reasonable, for example, having regard to the nature of the 
requirement and the complexity of the Contract being awarded. 
 

Page 293



   

 

 

 

 

184 

October 2024 

 

 

9.9 Modifying a section 19 procurement (Section 31(2)(b)) allows modifications to 
a competitive flexible procedure, even if they are considered to be substantial, 
to be made before the deadline for submission of final tenders where the 
procurement is for a Light Touch Contract. 
 

9.10 When making such modifications the Council must: 
(i) ensure such modifications are in line with the procurement 

objectives at section 12 of PA23 
(ii) consider revising any applicable timescales because of such 

modification 
(iii) notify the participating Suppliers of such changes, where a 

participation period applies. 
 

9.11 See the Procurement Code for more details on this. 

 

Page 294

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

185 

October 2024 

 

 

Estimated Total 
Contract Value 
including VAT 

& possible 
extensions. 

Minimum 
No. of 
Quotations 

& Local 
Quotations 

Evaluation & 
Supplier 
Selection 

Additional Requirements 
(if applicable) 

Method of issuing a Contract  Advertising or 
Notification 

Responsibility for 
Procurement Process 

Regulated Below Threshold Contracts Process 

Up to £30,000. 
Must be done 
via the 
Procurement 
System if over 
£5,000.  

1 quote. 

Must seek 
local Supplier 
in the first 
instance. 

Seek ‘best 
and final 
offer’. 

Check if 
Supplier is on 
Debarred list or 
should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 

 

Must seek best and final 
offer to ensure VFM. 

 Use of Purchase Order for 
Goods and Services, and 
limited Works Contracts 
only (see Procurement 
Code) or 

 Contract Template (or other 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) for more 
complex requirements or 
where the level of risk needs 
to be addressed.  

Advertising not 
required. 

 

Self-service in line with 
Rules and Procurement 
Legislation. 

 

Contracts from 
£30,001 to 
£100,000 for 
Goods and 
Services. 

3 quotes 

2 local 
Suppliers in 
the first 
instance 

Ensure 
Suppliers meet 
conditions of 
participation and 
evaluation 
criteria. See 

If less than three quotes 
are received the Service 
must seek the relevant 
level of approval within 
their Service to award and 
must ensure that VFM has 
been demonstrated. The 

 Use of Purchase Order for 
Goods and Services. For 
construction (Works and 
Services) See Procurement 
Code. or 

 Contract Template (or other 

Advertising not 
required where 
quotations are 
by invitation only 
from particular 
or pre-selected 

Self-service via the 
Procurement System 
and in line with the 
Rules and Procurement 
Code. Must be visible 

on the Council’s 
Corporate Contract 

P
age 295

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranethub/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

186 

October 2024 

 

 

Or 

£30,001 to 
£500,000 for 
Works 

Where VFM 
is better met 
by going to 
the open 
market then 
this must be 
the first 
option. 

Rule 25 

 

Check that 
Suppliers are 
not on Debarred 
list or should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 

Ensure conflict 
of interest is 
assessed. 

 

decision must be recorded 
in writing and the decision 
retained in the 
Procurement System. 

Once selected winning 
bidder must ask for best 
and final offer to obtain 
VFM. 

Refer to the Construction 
Guide for Works Contracts. 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) for more 
complex requirements, or 
where the level of risk needs 
to be addressed.  

Please also refer to Rule 31 for 
requirements for sealing. 

Ensure added to the Key 
Decision List if Contract award is 
over £500,000. 

Suppliers. 

Where open 
competition 
takes place then 
a Below 
Threshold 
Tender Notice 
must be 
published. See 
Procurement 
Code . 

In all cases 
must publish a 
Regulated 
Contract Details 
Notice. 

Register to meet 

Transparency code. 

Must publish a 
Regulated Contracts 
Details Notice on the 
Central Digital Platform 
via the Procurement 
System for award. 

 

Contracts above 
£100,000 to 
PA23 Threshold5 
for Goods and 
Services  

Or 

£500,000 to 

5 quotes. 

2 Local 
Suppliers 
where 
possible. 

Where VFM 
is better met 

If less than five quotes are 
received the Service must 
seek the relevant level of 
approval within their 
Service to award and must 
ensure that VFM has been 
demonstrated. The 
decision must be recorded 
in writing and the decision 

Up to £500,000: 

 Signature on Contract 
Template (or other form of 

Contract approved by Legal 
Services) or sealed by Legal 
Services if required 

Advertising not 
required where 
quotations are 
by invitation only 
from particular 
or pre-selected 
Suppliers. 

Where open 

Self-service via the 
Procurement System 
and in line with the 
Procurement 
Legislation. Must be 
visible on the Contract 
register to meet 
Transparency 

                                                 
5 *The Procurement Legislation thresholds change regularly, so please refer to the Procurement Code or intranet pages for up-to-date figures. 

 

P
age 296

mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B13B9DA41-B0B5-4CD8-8BC6-F951B85618B1%7D&file=Contracts%20Register.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx


   

 

 

 

 

187 

October 2024 

 

 

PA23 Threshold 
for Works: 

Or  

£100,000 to 
Light Touch 
Threshold for 
Light Touch 
Services 

 

by going to 
the open 
market then 
this must be 
the first 
option. 

retained in the 
Procurement System. 

The decision must be 
recorded in writing and all 
documentation supporting 
the decision retained in the 
Procurement System. 

Once selected winning 
bidder must ask for best 
and final offer to obtain 
VFM. 

Refer to the Construction 
Guide for Works Contracts. 

Over £500,000: 

 Contract Template (or other 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) sealed by 
Legal Services 

Please refer Rule 31 
(requirements for sealing) 

 

 

competition 
takes place then 
a Below 
Threshold 
Tender Notice 
must be 
published. 

In all cases 
must publish a 
Regulated 
Contract Details 
Notice. 

 

regulations. 

Must publish a 
Regulated Contract 
Details Notice on the 
Central Digital Platform 
via the Procurement 
System for award. 

 

Public Contracts Process 

Above PA23 
Threshold6 for 
Goods, Services 
and Works and 
Light Touch 
Services 

Follow 
Procurement 
Legislation 
processes. 

Consider how 
to develop 
local market 

Ensure 
Suppliers meet 
conditions of 
participation and 
evaluation 
criteria. 

Check that 

A fully compliant process 
must be carried out in 
accordance with the 
processes set out in the 
PA23 for Public Contracts. 

Possible routes to market: 

Up to £500,000: 

 Signature on Contract 
Template (or other form of 

Contract approved by Legal 
Services) or Sealed by Legal 
Services if required 

Notifications 
must be 
published in line 
with the PA23 
and the 
Procurement 
Code. 

Project managed by 
Procurement Services 
with engagement from 
Legal Services as 
appropriate. 

All procurements over 
the PA23 Threshold 

                                                 
6
  *The Procurement Legislation thresholds change regularly, so please refer to the Procurement Code or intranet pages for up-to-date figures. 

 

P
age 297

mailto:Procurement.support@enfield.gov.uk
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Contract%20Procedure%20Rules%20(CPRs).pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

188 

October 2024 

 

 

within the 
procurement 
and social 
value. 

Suppliers are 
not on Debarred 
list or should be 
Excluded or are 
Excludable. 

 

Ensure conflict 
of interest is 
assessed. 

 Open Procedure 

 Competitive Flexible 
Procedure 

 Frameworks 

 Dynamic Markets 

 Light Touch  

Over £500,000: 

 Contract Template (or other 

form of Contract approved by 
Legal Services) sealed by 
Legal Services 

Please refer to Rule 31. 

Ensure added to the Forward 

Plan if award is over £500,000. 

(See Light 
Tough Code) for 
all Notifications. 

Notifications 
apply if 
Procurement 
Process is 
Terminated. 

Standstill 
periods must be 
followed. 

must follow processes 
set out in the PA23 and 
the Procurement Code. 

 

Service departments 
are responsible for: 

 Specification 

 Governance & 
authority 

 Evaluation 

 

 

P
age 298

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
http://governance.enfield.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=329&RD=0&bcr=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

189 

October 2024 

 

 

10.   Advertising And Notifications – Rule 24 
 
10.1 The Procurement Act 2023 places more emphasis on transparency and 

stipulates that notices are published at stages throughout Contracting activity.  
Service Departments must ensure that these notices are adhered to and 
carried out in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023 to ensure 
compliance to Council Rules and Procurement Legislation.  There are some 
differences for Light Touch Services Contract.  See table below: 

 

Page 299

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23Advertising


   

 

 

 

 

190 

October 2024 

 

 

10.2 Notifications are now required at the following points and not all of these apply at all levels of procurement.  
See tables below: 

Procurement 
Lifecycle 

Notices for 
Regulated Below 
Threshold 
Contracts 

Mandatory or 
Optional 

Contract Brief 
Description 

When: 

Plan Below Threshold 
Tender Notice 

Mandatory 
If carrying out an 
open process 

A notice inviting tenders or 
quotations for Contracts 
with an estimated value 
below the relevant 
threshold 

Prior to starting procurement for a 
Regulated Below Threshold Contract via 
open process  
 
For all Regulated Below Threshold 
Contracts that are advertised (i.e. not where 
tenders are invited from particular or pre-
selected Suppliers) 

Procure Contract Details 
Notice- Below 
threshold 

Mandatory A notice setting out that 
the Council has entered 
into a below threshold 
Contract 
 

For all Regulated Below Threshold 
Contracts (above £30k and below 
threshold) as soon as reasonably 
practicable after entering into the Contract   

Procurement 
Lifecycle 

Notices for 
Covered 
Contracts 

Mandatory or 
Optional 

Contract Brief 
Description 

When: 

Plan UK1 
Pipeline 
Notification 

Mandatory List of all procurement 
projects for Contracts over 
£2m to be reprocured in 
the next 18 months. 

Within 56 days of the start of the financial 
year. 

Define UK2 
Preliminary 

Mandatory* 
*Unless set out in the 

A notice to announce that 
the Council is planning to 

Before publishing a tender notice for all 
Covered Contracts (above threshold 

P
age 300



   

 

 

 

 

191 

October 2024 

 

 

Market 
engagement 
Notice 

tender 
documentation and 
Tender Notification 
as to why 

conduct, or has conducted, 
a pre-market engagement 
exercise 
Contract 

modification). 
Mandatory for covered procurements if a 
preliminary market engagement is carried 
out unless the Council can provide the 
justification for not doing so in the tender 
notice. 

Procure UK3 
Planned 
Procurement 
Notice 

Optional A notice setting out the 
Council’s intention to 
commence a procurement 
in the future 

If intention is to reduce the procurement 
timescales, it must be published at least 40 
days but no more than 12 months before 
the tender notice is published 

Procure UK4 
Tender Notice 
 

Mandatory A Notice setting out the 
Council’s intention to 
award a public Contract 
and commence a 
procurement process 
Contract 

Prior to starting procurement exercise for 
Contract all Public Contracts 
(Above threshold procurement) 
Both for open and competitive flexible 
procedure. 
 

Procure UK5 
Transparency 
Notice 

Mandatory (Except 
for User Choice 
Contracts) 

A notice setting out that 
the Council intends to 
make a Direct Award 
relying on the permitted 
grounds for a Direct Award 
in the PA23 

Prior to award 

Procure UK6 
Contract Award 
Notice 

Mandatory 
(Except for User 
Choice Contracts) 

A notice setting out that 
the Council intends to 
award a Contract 
 

After issuing Assessment Summaries and 
prior to award of   (Above threshold 
Contract) and the publication starts the 
Standstill Period 
 

Procure UK7 Mandatory A notice setting out that Within 30 days beginning with the day the 

P
age 301



   

 

 

 

 

192 

October 2024 

 

 

Contract Details 
Notice 
 
Redacted Version 
of the Contract 
and 
 
Publication of 
Contract with 
modification 

(Except for User 
Choice Contracts) 

the Council has entered 
into a Contract 
 

Public Contract is entered into (including 
Frameworks) or within 120 days for Light 
Touch Contracts. 
 

Mandatory (for all 
Contracts over £5m) 

A copy of the Contract with 
a value above £5m must 
be published after: 
(iii) redacting sensitive 

commercial 
information; and  

(iv) (ii) complying with the 
UK GDPR. 

 
After Contract Modification 

Within 90 days of the public Contract being 
entered into or within 180 days for 
Light Touch Services Contract. 
 
Within 90 days from the date of the 
modification.  

Procure UK12 
Procurement 
Termination 
Notice 

Mandatory A notice that the Council 
has decided to abandon a 
procurement after 
publishing a tender or 
transparency notice 
 

As soon as reasonable after making the 
decision to abandon 

Procure UK 13 to 16 
Dynamic Market 
notice 

Mandatory  A set of notices on the 
establishment and running 
of Dynamic Markets 

When advertising, 
establishing, changing or 
terminating a dynamic market 

Manage UK8 
Contract Payment 
notice  
 

Mandatory (Except 
for Concession 
Contracts and 
Contracts awarded 
by Schools) 

Details of payments of 
more than £30k made by 
the Council under a Public 
Contract  
 

Quarterly    
 

P
age 302



   

 

 

 

 

193 

October 2024 

 

 

Manage UK9 
Contract 
Performance 
Notice 

Mandatory for all 
Contracts over £5m 
in value let under 
PA23 or all 
Convertible Contracts 
where a modification 
takes the Contract 
value above £5m 
(Except for Light 
Touch Contracts.  
Concession 
Contracts are exempt 
from KPI publication 
but must publish for 
poor 
performance/breach) 

A notice publishing 
information in relation to: 
(iii) Performance 

assessment against 
key performance 
indicators in the 
Contract 
 

(iv) Supplier poor 
performance/breach 
of contract 

(iii) Once in every 12 months during the 
lifecycle of the Contract and on 
termination. 
 

(iv) Where there is a breach or the 
Supplier is not performing, and has 
not improved, then before the end of 
period of 30 days starting on which a 
particular breach or failure to 
perform. 

Manage UK10 
Contract Change 
Notice 

Mandatory prior to a 
qualifying 
modification taking 
place (copy of 
modified contract for 
Public Contracts over 
£5m to be published) 
(Except for Light 
Touch Contracts) 

Contract Change notice: A 
notice setting out that the 
Council intends to modify a 
Public Contract or a 
Convertible Contract 
 

Before modification of a Convertible 
Contract (Contract where the modification 
will result in a Regulated Contract being 
converted to a Covered Contract i.e. above 
threshold) 
Exemptions apply for certain modifications 
in value and term of the Contract – please 
see Rule 29. 

Manage UK11 
Contract 
Termination 

Mandatory 
(Except for User 
Choice Contracts)  

A notice setting out that a 
covered Contracts has 
been terminated or has 

Before the end of 30 days from the date of 
Termination (Termination means expiry, 
discharge, termination by a party, rescission 

P
age 303



   

 

 

 

 

194 

October 2024 

 

 

Notice expired or come to an end 
Contract. 

or via a Court order). 

Manage UK17 
Payments 
Compliance 
Notice 

Mandatory (Except 
for Concession 
Contracts and 
Contracts award by 
Schools). 

Details of the Council’s 
performance against the 
30-day payment terms in 
Contracts. 

Twice annually - Before the end of the 
period of 30 days beginning with the last 
day of a Reporting Period. Reporting Period 
is every six-month period ending on 31st 
March or 30th September. 

 
 

 

P
age 304



 

 

 

11. Award Criteria and Evaluation – Rule 26 
 
11.1 Section 23(6) (Award criteria) allows additional factors to be taken into 

account in award criteria for Light Touch Contracts, such as to reflect that 
a service recipient may have the right to exercise their choice or that 
proximity of the provider and service user may be important for the 
effective and efficient supply of Services (i.e. not having numerous care 
providers criss-crossing a county). 
 

11.2 See CPRs and Procurement Code. 
 

12. Contract Award and Execution – Rule 28 
 
12.1 Light Touch Services Contracts are exempt from a standstill period, but 

the Council has taken a view that it will abide by this Rule as good practice 
and mitigation of risk. Therefore, the Council should apply the mandatory 
standstill period of eight (8) working days beginning with the day on which 
the Contract Award Notice is published. 

 
12.2 There is no obligation to set out the standstill period in the Contract Award 

Notice for Light Touch Services, but this must be included where a 
voluntary standstill period is to be observed.  
 

13. Contract Modifications, Novation & Termination to Contracts 
– Rule 30 

 
13.1 Light Touch Services Contracts are modifiable under the PA23. 
 
13.2 PA23 allows the modification of Light Touch Contracts, without having to 

apply the other provisions of the section (Section 74(2) (Modifying a public 
Contract). In addition, in accordance with section 75(6) (Contract change 
notices), modification of a Light Touch Contract does not require the 
publication of a Contract change notice. Again, this reflects the overall 
intent to maintain less onerous light touch rules. 

 
13.3 Light Touch Contracts may therefore be modified under the Act in any 

circumstances, provided Contracting authorities have regard to the 
procurement objectives in section. 

 
13.4 See CPRs and Procurement Code for more details.  

 
 

14. Contract Management – Rule 31 
 
14.1 Light Touch Contracts are exempt from publishing 3 Key Performance 

Indicators for Contracts over £5m. 
 
14.2 Light Touch Contracts must publish a Contracts Details Notice within 120-

day time period after the Contract is entered into. A copy of the redacted 

Page 305

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23VariationsToContracts
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

196 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

signed Contract must be published within a 180-day time period of the 
date that it is entered into, if the estimated value exceeds £5 million. 

 
14.3 Light Touch Contracts are exempt from publishing performance 

notifications in regard to a breach or failure to perform. 
 
 

15. Glossary - Defined Terms 
 

Advertising Where Request for Quotations and Tenders are advertised to 
the open market for opportunity. 

Aggregation Is the requirement to add together the estimated value of 
separate Contracts for meeting a single requirement.  
Procurement Legislation expressly prohibits the splitting of 
requirements into smaller units or orders to avoid the process 
relating to Public Contracts. 

Concessions A type of Contractual arrangement under which, rather than 
paying the Supplier to deliver a work or service, the Council 
grants the Supplier the right to exploit an opportunity and 
receive some or all of its income from third parties (e.g. the 
public), retaining the profit.   

Contract Means an agreement between the Council and any other 
organisation, including another public authority, made by 
formal agreement or by issue of a letter of acceptance or 
official purchase order for Works, Supplies or Services. 

Contracting 
Activity 

Any action, process of decision making that relates to the 
creation of a Contract for the supply of Goods, Services or 
Works.  Including all elements of the sourcing cycle from 
market research, engagement, Tendering, evaluation, award, 
and Contract management to the end of the Contract term 
including Termination. 

Contract 
Management 

The management and monitoring of a Contract to ensure 
delivery and performance; including commercial elements and 
payments. 

Contract 
Manager 

Person responsible for the management of Council Contract to 
ensure delivery of performance and outcomes. 

Page 306



   

 

 

 

 

197 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

Contract 
Management 
Framework 

The Councils Contract management framework, that sets out 
requirements for Service Departments to ensure that 
Contracts are effectively managed to deliver VFM. 

Contract 
Templates 

Standardised Contracts to be used by Service Departments 
and procuring officers that have been drawn up by Legal 
Services for the Contracting of Goods and Services (for 
Works, industry standard construction contracts such as the 
JCT or NEC suite are generally used). 

Convertible 
Contract 

A below Threshold Contract, that after modification has 
become a Public Contract, and therefore has become a 
Converted Contract. 

Council’s 
Constitution 

Documents (s) that sets out how the Council is governed. 

 

Debarred 
Supplier 

Supplier that is on the Cabinets Office list of Debarred 
Suppliers. 

Directors Means Directors and Executive Directors of Enfield Council 

Direct Award Entering into a Contract where no competition has taken 
place. 

Dynamic Market Arrangement for the purpose of the Council awarding Public 
Contract by reference to Suppliers’ participation in the 
arrangements. 

Exception Contracting Activity where Direct Award is permissible in 
certain circumstances. 

Excluded & 
Excludable 
Suppliers 

Supplier that can be Excluded in line with the discretionary or 
mandatory requirements for exclusion. 

Extension Facility to extend a Contract term.  

Page 307

https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252
https://governance.enfield.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=252


   

 

 

 

 

198 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

Framework 
Agreement 

An agreement with Suppliers which sets out the terms and 
conditions under which specific purchases can be made 
throughout the term of the agreement and which where 
necessary has been Tendered in accordance with 
Procurement Legislation. 

Council 
Governance 
Reports 

Reports set out as standard templates by Governance 
Department to be used for decisions and authority, or for Key 
Decision Process. See Non-Key Officer Report 

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Strategy 

Council Policy to improve the health and wellbeing of staff and 
residents of the borough 

Health Services Contracts that provide Services relating to health care 
provision but not social care. 

Key Decision  Council’s governance process for projects that meet the Key 
Decision criteria. 

Known Risk  
 

Means: 

5.1.1.1 Could jeopardise the satisfactory performance of 
the contract, but 

5.1.1.2 Because of its nature, could not be addressed in 
the contract as awarded and 

5.1.1.3 Was identified in the Tender or transparency 
notice for award, detailing a description of the risk and 
possibility of modification 

Legislation Legal regulations set out by the Government. 

Light Touch 
Services 

The Services set out in the Public Procurement Regulations 
2024 that cover areas in Schedule 3; namely Adult social care 
and other areas listed in schedule 3. 

Local Supplier Supplier that is based in the London Borough of Enfield 

Non-Key Officer Part of the Reports Process for Non-Key Officer Decisions. 

Page 308

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance%2FReports%2Dprocess%2DROD%2Dguidance%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance&OR=Teams%2DHL&CT=1713349584540&clickparams=eyJBcHBOYW1lIjoiVGVhbXMtRGVza3RvcCIsIkFwcFZlcnNpb24iOiI0OS8yNDAzMTQxNDcxOCIsIkhhc0ZlZGVyYXRlZFVzZXIiOmZhbHNlfQ%3D%3D


   

 

 

 

 

199 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

Report 

Notification A Notice placed in the public domain to notify the market of 
Contracting Activity to ensure transparency. 

Novation A Council Contract that is moved from one Supplier to another. 

Open 
Framework 

A scheme of frameworks that provides for the award of 
successive frameworks on substantially the same terms. 

Operational 
Processes 

Processes that are not set out in the CPRs but support the 
process of Contracting Activity and are operational in nature. 

Other Authority Where a Standard Corporate Report Template is not used 
within a Service, the authority to procurement must be set out 
clearly in some other report, email or policy etc. (See Standard 
Corporate Report Template). 

Platinum or Gold 
Contract 

Contract classified as Platinum or Gold that will be either high 
value, high risk, complex or all the aforementioned. 

Price Quality 
Ratio 

Award criteria set out in the Procurement Principles on the 
ratio of Price and Quality within a Tender. 

Procurement Act 
Thresholds. 

Procurement 
Threshold 

Threshold set over which the Procurement Legislation applies.  

Procurement Act 
2023 (PA23) 

Procurement Legislation covering public procurement. Came 
into effect 28th October 2024. 

Procurement 
Assurance 
Group (PAG) 

Procurement Assurance Group, that oversees procurement 
assurance, and robust procurement governance is in place. 

Procurement 
Code  

Document that supports the CPR’s and sets out the processes 
and governance to be followed for all Contracting Activity.  
Provides more detailed information and links to supporting 
information to ensure compliance with these rules. 

Page 309

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B4F6DF736-B68E-4207-9B03-B32F57EB287A%7D&file=Non-Key-Officer-Decision-Report-Template.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Procurement%20Manual.pdf


   

 

 

 

 

200 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

Procurement 
Legislation  

Procurement Legislation covering Public Contract 
requirements for England. 

 Procurement Act 2023 

 Provider Selection Regime 

 Public Contract Regulations 2015 

Procurement 
Principles 

Set of Principles set out to meet Council requirements and 
may change from time to time. 

Procurement 
System 

The Councils digital platform used for e-Tendering, Contract 
management and Contract register, used to meet legislative 
requirements. 

Provider 
Selection 
Regime (PSR) 

Procurement Legislation came into effect January 2024. 
Covers Health Services Contracts. A set of rules for procuring 
health care Services set out in the Health Care Services 
(Provider Selection Regime) Regulations 2023. 

Provider 
Selection 
Regime Code 

Document that supports the CPRs and sets out rules and 
operational processes in relation to the PSR. 

Public 
Procurement 
Regulations 
2015 

Procurement legislation came into effect 2015.  Only applied to 
contracts let under this legislation. 

Public Contract A Contract of a kind specified in Procurement Legislation: 

A contract with a value of not less than the Procurement 
Threshold and: 

 Not an Exempted Contract 

 A framework 

 A concession contract 

Regulated 
Below Threshold 
Contract 

Contracts covered by the Procurement Act. Contracts let via 
Procurement Act 2023 which are below Threshold. 

Quotation A formal statement or promise usually submitted by a potential 
Supplier in response to a request for a quotation to supply 
specified Supplies, Works or Services required by a purchaser 

Page 310

https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login
https://procontract.due-north.com/Login/Login


   

 

 

 

 

201 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

at specific prices within a specific time frame.  (A quotation 
should be distinguished from an Estimate, which is not a fixed 
price). 

N.B. A Contract arises on acceptance of a quotation. Unless 
otherwise specified a quotation may be subject to the 
Supplier's terms and conditions of business and those terms 
and conditions become part of the Contract.  Therefore, a 
request for quotations should specify that the quotation is 
subject to the Council’s terms and conditions.  

Services Services such as maintenance of equipment, transportation, 
consultancy, technical Services. etc. as defined by the 
Procurement Legislation. 

Service 
Department. 

The Service 

Department or team within the Council, commissioning or 
carrying out Contracting Activity, who define the requirement 
and manage the Contract. 

SME 

(Small, Medium 
Enterprise) 

Small and medium sized enterprise Supplier as defined in 
section 123 of the Procurement Act 2023. 

Standard 
Corporate 
Report Template 

Standard Corporate Report Template to be used for any 
decision that meets the KD threshold of expenditure/savings of 
£500k or more and/or has a significant impact on the 
community in two or more wards. Should also be used for all 
Portfolio decisions whether they are Key or Non-Key 

Supplier A person/ company that will provide Goods, Service or Works 
to the Council.  

A bidder within a competitive process. 

Supplies Can be tangible object delivered in relation to a Contract.  See 
also Goods. 

Supplier 
Resilience Tool 

Tool used to ascertain the risk in the supply chain and the 
Supplier risk. 

Page 311

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance%2FReports%2Dprocess%2DROD%2Dguidance%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2FGovernance%2DGuidance&OR=Teams%2DHL&CT=1713349584540&clickparams=eyJBcHBOYW1lIjoiVGVhbXMtRGVza3RvcCIsIkFwcFZlcnNpb24iOiI0OS8yNDAzMTQxNDcxOCIsIkhhc0ZlZGVyYXRlZFVzZXIiOmZhbHNlfQ%3D%3D
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B073A1A77-E4A2-4238-9C1C-664FF9666E36%7D&file=Supplier-Resilience-Tool.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

202 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

Transparency Regulations relating to what is to be published in the public 
domain relating to Contracting Activity 

Tender A sealed bid submitted in response to an invitation to Tender, 
which invitation contains detailed information on requirements 
including a specification and terms and conditions 

Termination Where a Contract or procurement activity is stopped or ended 
(terminated). 

The Council London Borough of Enfield 

Threshold The value at which Contracting Activity must follow 
Procurement Legislation processes.   

Value for Money 
(VFM) 

Value for Money (VFM) is a balanced judgement about finding 
the best way to use public resources to deliver policy 
objectives.  

Variation Any alteration, modification, addition to or deletion of any 
requirement of the Contract terms or specification. 

 
 

16. Useful Documents 

Document Supports 

Procurement Code How to carry out procurement and what steps to 
take (this document) 
 

Sustainable & Ethical 
Procurement Policy 
Sustainable procurement 
check list 
 

Council’s Policy on Sustainable and Ethical 
Procurement 

Procurement Checklist Ensures that all elements of the procurement 
activity are carried out compliantly.  
 
This should be used to support all procurement 
activity 
 

Contract Management 
Framework 

Ensures that Contracts are managed effectively 
 

Page 312

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Enfield_Sustainable_Procurement_Policy.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20&%20Guidance/Enfield_Sustainable_Procurement_Policy.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BDD722179-754E-4306-8995-9BEF1F7659E4%7D&file=Sustainable_Procurement_Check_List_may%202020.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BDD722179-754E-4306-8995-9BEF1F7659E4%7D&file=Sustainable_Procurement_Check_List_may%202020.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B7D4592E8-D4AB-4DDA-A5A4-C022BFF64022%7D&file=Procurement_checklist_2020.doc&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B80A098B0-3D11-4FB4-B614-76771505108E%7D&file=Contract%20management%20Guide%202019.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7B80A098B0-3D11-4FB4-B614-76771505108E%7D&file=Contract%20management%20Guide%202019.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true


   

 

 

 

 

203 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

 

  

Procurement Quick Quote 
guidance 

Helps guide you into what process to follow 
 

London Tenders Guidance London Tenders Portal Guide. 
 
This is a step-by-step user guide for LTP 
 

Equalities in Procurement 
Guide to Suppliers. 
Fairer Enfield Policy 
 

Equalities in Procurement guides to follow. 
Enfield’s Fairer Enfield Policy 

Suite of Request for 
quotation documents 

Request for quotation pack to be used for self-
service: 

 Self-Serve Process Flow 

 Specification Guidance & Template 

 Invitation to quote (ITQ) 

 Contract Templates* 

Page 313

https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE33B0C8D-E8CB-43D0-99B1-724B551A0C48%7D&file=Quick%20Procurement%20Guidance%202.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:x:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/_layouts/15/Doc.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BE33B0C8D-E8CB-43D0-99B1-724B551A0C48%7D&file=Quick%20Procurement%20Guidance%202.xlsx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/procurement-ltp.aspx
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0021/20379/Equalities-in-procurement-suppliers-guide-Business-and-licensing.pdf
https://www.enfield.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0021/20379/Equalities-in-procurement-suppliers-guide-Business-and-licensing.pdf
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/Intranetchiefexec/SitePages/Equality,-Diversity-and-Inclusion.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/procurement-selfservice%C2%A350k+.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SitePages/procurement-selfservice%C2%A350k+.aspx
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/SiteAssets/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2Fprocurement%2Dselfservice%C2%A325k%2B%2FSelf%2DServe%2DProcess%2D%2D6%2D%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fintranetprocurement%2FSiteAssets%2FSitePages%2Fprocurement%2Dselfservice%C2%A325k%2B
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Specification%20Writing%20Guidance%20%26%20Template.docx?d=w81a9d4a1497e4a2e8fdfc994fba7406d&csf=1&web=1&e=Ko0g1i
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/Procurement%20Policy%20%26%20Guidance/Specification%20Writing%20Guidance%20%26%20Template.docx?d=w81a9d4a1497e4a2e8fdfc994fba7406d&csf=1&web=1&e=Ko0g1i
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetprocurement/Shared%20Documents/ITQ%202023/Invitation%20to%20Quote%20(ITQ).docx?web=1
https://enfield365.sharepoint.com/sites/intranetlawandgovernance/legal/Forms/AllItems.aspx?FolderCTID=0x0120007A34B4D14EA06948B462CD523C4B4A40&id=%2Fsites%2Fintranetlawandgovernance%2Flegal%2FLegal%20Precedents%2FContracts%20Legal%20Precedents%20v%205&viewid=1c56929d%2D0865%2D493e%2Da9c6%2D6989f14e4fca


   

 

 

 

 

204 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

Appendix F 
Schools Code 
 

Schools Procurement Code 

Use hyperlink index to go to relevant section 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .........................................................................................205 

2. Getting Started ....................................................................................205 

3. Procurement System ...........................................................................206 

4. Introduction – Rule 1 ...........................................................................206 

5. Purpose – Rule 2 ................................................................................207 

6. Transparency – Rule 3 ........................................................................208 

7. Procurement Governance and Assurance – Rule 6 ............................208 

8. Annual Procurement Plan – Rule 7 .....................................................209 

9. Insurance – Rule 9 ..............................................................................209 

10. Financial Due Diligence and Security– Rule 12 ..................................209 

11. Business Continuity – Rule 13 ............................................................209 

12. Contracting Activity Governance – Approvals – Rule 15 .....................209 

13. Record Keeping – Rule 32 ..................................................................209 

14. Contracts, Terms and Conditions – Rule 33 ........................................210 

 

 

  

Page 314



   

 

 

 

 

205 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 

15.1 This Schools Procurement Code (Code), MUST be used in conjunction 
with the Procurement Code and Contract Procedure Rules (Rules) and 
form the Council Contract Standing Orders in how to carry out Contracting 
Activity. This document, together with the Procurement Code and Rules, 
serves as a roadmap for Schools, outlining the key principles, procedures, 
and best practices to uphold throughout all Contracting activity. 

15.2 Contracting Activity requires strategic decision-making, risk management, 
and fostering mutually beneficial relationships with vital suppliers. By 
adhering to this Code, the Council can manage cost savings, mitigation of 
risks, maintain compliance with regulations, and ultimately contribute to 
the Council’s plan. 

15.3 All Schools Officers at whatever role involved in Contracting activity must 
read this Code and the Rules to ensure there is a thorough understanding 
of how to carry out the steps within the Sourcing Cycle to ensure best 
practice and compliance to Council and UK Procurement Legislation.   

15.4 Contracting Activity means: 

(i) Procurement (all elements of the process) 

(ii) Direct Awards 

(iii) Exceptions & Waivers 

(iv) Variation & extensions 

(v) Terminations 

(vi) Novations 

(vii) Contract Management 

 

(ii) Getting Started 

16.1 This document explains what elements of the Rules and Procurement 
Code do not apply to Schools.  

16.2 Schools need to abide by the Rules and the Procurement Code unless 
stated otherwise. 

16.3 Throughout this document and the Rules, a ‘Procuring Officer’ is the 
person carrying out Contracting Activity, or the client working with 

Page 315



   

 

 

 

 

206 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

Procurement Services, or 3rd party/consultant working on behalf of the 
school. 

16.4 The Procurement Act 2023 (PA23) brings Contract Management into 
procurement legislation for the first time.  It is important that Contract 
Managers are familiar with these Rules and apply them as required.  

16.5 For the first time there are several procurement legislations in place. 
Schools must ensure that the correct procurement legislation is applied to 
Contracts.  

(i) Contracts let under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 will 
remain under this legislation until the natural end date of the 
Contract or Framework agreement, therefore variations and 
extensions must be carried out under this legislation.   

(ii) Contracts let under the Procurement Act 2023 must follow this 
legislation.   

(iii) Contracts that fall under the Provider Selection Regime (PSR) must 
follow that legislation, even if they were let under the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (see PSR Code). 

 

(iii) Procurement System 

3.1 The Council Procurement System is the London Tenders Portal and is to 
be used for all Contracting activity over £5k.  Schools do not need to use 
the Council Procurement System but are expected to comply with the 
Procurement Act 2023 in regard to E-Tendering as set out in Procurement 
Act 2023 (Section 96 (1)). Schools must ensure that any portal used must 
be free of charge, generally available and must be accessible to people 
with a disability. . Any third party used should use a tendering portal. See 
Rule 31 on record keeping. 

 

(iv) Introduction – Rule 1 

18.1 Authority run schools are subject to the Councils Contract Procedure 
Rules. These are mandatory. Procurement is the biggest area of failure for 
Schools. 

 

Page 316

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/54/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2023/9780348252613


   

 

 

 

 

207 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

(v) Purpose – Rule 2 

19.1 The purpose of the Rules is to ensure that the Council and its schools are 

compliant to all UK and Council rules and legislation.  Suppliers can take 

legal action where the Council does not apply the Rules or follow 

Legislation and therefore it is important to protect the Council from risk of 

challenge.  

Page 317



   

 

 

 

 

208 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

(vi) Transparency – Rule 3 

20.1 Schools are exempt from some of the Procurement Act 2023 notifications. 

A planed procurement Notice  

Pipeline Notice  

Preliminary Market Engagement Notice  

A Tender Notice  

Dynamic Market Notice  

Contract Award Notice  

Procurement Termination Notice  

Contract Details Notice  

Contract Change Notice  

Payments Compliance Notice Exempt 

Contract Performance Notice  

Contract Termination Notice  

Transparency Notice (Direct Award)  

Below threshold procurement tender 
notice 

Exempt 

Below threshold award notice Exempt 

Payment notification Exempt 

 

(vii) Procurement Governance and Assurance – Rule 6 

21.1 Schools are now bound by the Procurement Assurance Group. 

 

Page 318



   

 

 

 

 

209 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

(viii) Annual Procurement Plan – Rule 7 

22.1 Schools do not have to provide information to Procurement Services for 
the Annual Procurement plan.  However, for good practice schools should 
have a procurement plan for the 1 – 2 years of work. 

 

(ix) Insurance – Rule 9 

23.1 Schools are not bound by the Councils insurance levels. 

 

(x) Financial Due Diligence and Security– Rule 12 

24.1 Schools should carry out their own Financial Economic Standing tests. 

 

(xi) Business Continuity – Rule 13 

25.1 Schools do not need to comply with having business continuity plans for 
Emergency Planning, however it is good practice to ensure that key 
supplier have business continuity plans in place and are tested.  School 
must follow any guidance from DofE for this area. 

 

(xii) Contracting Activity Governance – Approvals – 
Rule 15 

26.1 Schools must follow their own governance for schools. 

 

(xiii) Record Keeping – Rule 32 

27.1 Schools should ensure that all records are kept in a central location, in line 
with the Procurement Act 2023: 

(i) 3 years from date the contract is entered into or if awarded but not 
entered into from the date of award. See section 98 of PA23. 

 

Page 319

file://///lbe.local/fileserver/Resource/ProcurementandCommissioningHub/Procurement%20Operations%20&%20Governance/CPR's%20Folder/Procurement%20Guidance%20041217.docx%23Security


   

 

 

 

 

210 

Last Updated 05.06.2024 

 

 

 

(xiv) Contracts, Terms and Conditions – Rule 33 

28.1 Schools do not need to apply the implied terms of 30-day payment terms. 

 

 
 

Page 320



Document is Restricted

Page 321 Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	4 Annual Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Report for 2023/24
	5 Annual Schools Internal Audit Report for 2023/24
	6 Review of the Member T&D Programme
	7 Annual Report on Contract Procedure Rules, Waivers and Procurement Services Update for 2023/24
	8 Update and amendment of the Councils Contract Procedure Rules
	11 Meridian Water Risks and Issues Report

